
1 January 8, 2024 
 

BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION AGENDA 
JANUARY 8, 2024 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 151 MARTIN 
7:30 P.M. 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Elaine McLain, Mayor 
 

II. ROLL CALL 
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk  
 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS, 
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF 
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

 
IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA 

 
V. CONSENT AGENDA 

All items listed on the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion 
and approved by a roll call vote.  There will be no separate discussion of the items unless a 
Commissioner or citizen so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the general order 
of business and considered under the last item of new business. 

A. Resolution to approve the City Commission regular meeting minutes of December 18, 
2023. 

 
B. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 

dated December 20, 2023 in the amount of $1,378,750.34. 

C. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 
dated January 4, 2024 in the amount of $1,091,382.32. 

D. Resolution to amend the 2024 Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and Insurance to include 
a change in the Birmingham Museum’s research fee from $25 to $30 per hour. 

E. Resolution to install all-way stop control at the intersections of Columbia St and Villa Rd 
and Columbia St and Haynes St.  Further, to direct the Chief of Police and the City Clerk 
to sign the traffic control orders on behalf of the City. 

F. Resolution to enter into a lease agreement with Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC in the 
amount of $850.00 per year with annual inflationary adjustments for an encroachment of 
360 sq. ft. of right-of-way for private residential balconies at 479 S. Old Woodward. 

G. Resolution to accept the resignation of Cynthia Rose from the Board of Review, to thank 
her for her service and direct the City Clerk to begin the process of filling the vacancy. 

 



2 January 8, 2024 
 

H. Resolution to award the Redding Road Sewer and Water Main Improvements Project #9-
23(S) to FDM Contracting, Inc. in the amount of $2,957,637.00 and a 5% construction 
contingency for a total of $3,105,518.85. In addition, to authorize the Mayor and City 
Clerk to sign the agreement on behalf of the City contingent upon execution of the 
agreement and meeting all insurance and bonding requirements by FDM Contracting, Inc. 
Funding for this project has been budgeted in the following accounts: 

Fund Account Fund ID Number Project Award 5% 
Contingencies Total 

Major Street Fund 202.0-449.001-981.0100 $1,167,173.89  $58,358.69  $1,225,532.59  
Sidewalk Fund 101.0-444.000-981.0100 $101,927.92 $5,096.40 $107,024.31 
Sewer Fund 590.0-537.000-981.0100 $913,043.84  $45,652.19  $958,696.03  
Water Fund 591.0-544.000-981.0100 $775,491.35  $38,774.57  $814,265.92  
 

AND 
To approve the appropriation and amendment of the fiscal year 2023/2024 budget as 
follows: 
 
Sewer Fund: 
Revenues: 
590.0-000.000-400.0000 Draw from Net Position  $548,700 
Total Revenue        $548,700 
 
Expenditures: 
590.0-537.000-981.0100  Public Improvement   $548,700 
Total Expenses       $548,700 
 
Water Fund: 
Revenues: 
591.0-000.000-400.0000 Draw from Net Position  $324,270 
Total Revenue        $324,270 
 
Expenditures: 
591.0-544.000-981.0100  Public Improvement   $324,270 
Total Expenses       $324,270 
 

VI. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

VII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Public Hearing of Necessity -  Edgewood Road Project #6-24 (S) Water and Sewer Lateral 
Special Assessment District 



3 January 8, 2024 
 

1. WHEREAS, Notice was given pursuant to Section 94-7 of the City Code, to each 
owner or party-in-interest of property and lots to be assessed, by first class mail, 
and by publication in a newspaper generally circulated in the City; and  

WHEREAS, The City Commission has conducted a public hearing and has 
determined to proceed with the project of replacing sewer services 50 years of age 
or older or of material that are not acceptable for City standards and replacing 
water services that are less than 1 inch in diameter on Edgewood Road between 
E. Lincoln Street and E. Southlawn Blvd.; and 

WHEREAS, The City has previously established a policy requiring replacement 
of sewer services 50 years of age or older or of material that are not acceptable 
for City standard and water services less than 1 inch in diameter and the City street 
is open for repairs or reconstruction; and 

WHEREAS, The City Commission, after the public hearing, has determined that 
the Edgewood Road Project, the replacement of sewer services that are 50 years 
of age or older or of material that are not acceptable for City standards, the 
replacement of water services that are less than 1 inch in diameter, is a necessity 
and is in the best interest of the City; and  

WHEREAS, The Commission has approved the detailed plans and estimates of 
cost prepared by the City Engineer; and 

 

WHEREAS, Formal bids have been received and the actual cost of sewer service 
and water service replacement has been determined; and 

WHEREAS,  The City Engineer has determined the boundaries of sewer service 
lateral and water service laterals located within the limits of the following streets 
shall be installed as part of the Edgewood Road Project (Contract #4-23(S)): 
Edgewood Road – E. Lincoln Street to E. Southlawn Blvd.; and  

WHEREAS, The formula used in making the assessment is 100% of the 
contractor’s charge for replacing the lateral service that is 50 years of age or older 
or constructed of materials that are not acceptable for City standard and water 
service that is less than 1 inch in diameter within the public right-of-way between 
the utility and the property line (calculated at the rate of $170.00 per foot of sewer 
service pipe and $110.00 per foot of water service pipe). 

THEREFORE LET IT BE RESOLVED, The City Commission has determined that 
the scope of the public improvement as described is in the best interest of the City 
and will benefit the properties listed in the assessment roll, and the City 
Commission directs the Manager to prepare a Special Assessment Roll and present 
the same to the City Commission for confirmation and further set a Public Hearing 
and give notice on January 22, 2024.  

Sewer Lateral SAD 



4 January 8, 2024 
 

Parcel ID / Sidewell Number Street Address 
19-36-402-049 280 E. Lincoln 
19-36-403-032 400 E. Lincoln 
19-36-402-023 1204 Edgewood 
19-36-402-024 1212 Edgewood  
19-36-402-025 1236 Edgewood 
19-36-402-027 1260 Edgewood 
19-36-402-028 1272 Edgewood 
19-36-402-030 1300 Edgewood 
19-36-402-032 1332 Edgewood 
19-36-402-033 1348 Edgewood 
19-36-402-035 1416 Edgewood 
19-36-402-036 1450 Edgewood 
19-36-402-038 1486 Edgewood 
19-36-402-039 1498 Edgewood 

 

Water Lateral SAD 

Parcel ID / Sidewell Number Street Address 

19-36-402-023 1204 Edgewood 
19-36-402-027 1260 Edgewood 
19-36-402-029 1288 Edgewood 
19-36-402-030 1300 Edgewood 
19-36-402-032 1332 Edgewood 
19-36-402-035 1416 Edgewood 
19-36-402-036 1450 Edgewood 
19-36-402-037 1472 Edgewood 
19-36-402-039 1498 Edgewood 

B. Resolution to direct the Engineering Department to proceed with final design of the 
Arlington Street and Shirley Project to include the planned improvements to the sewer 
and water systems, and the full reconstruction of the streets within the project area that 
will meet the City standards for an improved street with a 5 foot sidewalk on each side of 
the road as indicated in Exhibit A. 

C. Resolution to approve the proposed design for N. Old Woodward and Oakland Ave 
between Woodward Ave and N. Old Woodward Ave with enhanced green space along 
Oakland Ave, a permanent bus stop loading area with an island, and a permanent bump 
out at the northwest corner of N. Old Woodward and Willits St. as pictured in Exhibit A. 

D. Commission Items for Future Discussion. A motion is required to bring up the item for 
future discussion at the next reasonable agenda, no discussion on the topic will happen 
tonight.  



5 January 8, 2024 
 

E. Commission discussion on items from a prior meeting. 
1. Speed Mitigation Report 
2. Adding Brandon Street to the Shirley & Arlington Project 

IX. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 
 

X. COMMUNICATIONS 
 

XI. REPORTS 
A. Commissioner Reports 

1. Notice of Intention to Appoint to the Cable Casting Board 
2. Notice of Intention to Appoint to the Board of Review 
3. Notice of Intention to Appoint to the Parks and Recreation Board 

B. Commissioner Comments 
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas 
D. Legislation 
E. City Staff 
   
INFORMATION ONLY  
 

XI!. ADJOURN 
Should you wish to participate in this meeting, you are invited to attend the meeting in person or 
virtually through ZOOM:   https://zoom.us/j/655079760       Meeting ID: 655 079 760  
You may also present your written statement to the City Commission, City of Birmingham, 151 Martin 
Street, P.O. Box 3001, Birmingham, Michigan 48012-3001 prior to the hearing.   
 
NOTICE:  Individuals requiring accommodations, such as mobility, visual, hearing, interpreter or other assistance, for 
effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk's Office at (248) 530-1880 (voice), or (248) 644-
5115 (TDD) at least one day in advance to request mobility, visual, hearing or other assistance.  
Las personas que requieren alojamiento, tales como servicios de interpretación, la participación efectiva en esta reunión 
deben ponerse en contacto con la Oficina del Secretario Municipal al (248) 530-1880 por lo menos el día antes de la 
reunión pública. (Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964). 

https://zoom.us/j/655079760
tel:%28248%29%20530-1880


1 

Birmingham City Commission Minutes 
December 18, 2023 

Municipal Building, 151 Martin 
7:30 p.m. 

Vimeo Link: https://vimeo.com/895978107 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Elaine McLain, Mayor, opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance. 

II. ROLL CALL
City Clerk Bingham called the roll. 

Present: Mayor McLain 
MPT Schafer  
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Longe 

Absent: None 

Staff: City Manager Ecker; City Clerk Bingham, Assistant City Engineer Borton, Assistant 
City Manager Clemence, Planning Director Dupuis, Assistant City Manager Fairbairn, 
Communications Director Gamboa, Finance Director Gerber, Police Chief Grewe, City Attorney 
Kucharek, Parks and Recreation Manager Laird, Department of Public Services Director Zielinski 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS,
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

Appointments 
12-285-23 Board of Review

The Commission interviewed Guy DiPlacido for the appointment. 

MOTION: Nomination by Commissioner Longe:  
To appoint Guy DiPlacido to the Board of Review as a regular member to serve a three-year term 
to expire December 31, 2026. 

VOICE VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Longe 
MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 

5A

https://vimeo.com/895978107


2 December 18, 2023

Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 

Nays, None 

12-286-23 Board of Ethics

The Commission interviewed Judy Doyle for the appointment. 

MOTION: Nomination by Commissioner Baller:  
To appoint Judy Doyle as an alternate member to the Board of Ethics to serve a three-year term 
to expire June 30, 2026. 

VOICE VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Longe 
MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 

Nays, None 

12-287-23 Multi-Modal Transportation Board

The Commission interviewed Z. Rosie Koul for the appointment. 

MOTION: Nomination by Commissioner Baller:  
To appoint Z. Rosie Koul as a regular member to the Multi-Modal Transportation Board to serve 
the remainder of a three-year term to expire March 24, 2025. 

VOICE VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Longe 
MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 

Nays, None 

CC Bingham swore in the appointees. 

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA

V. CONSENT AGENDA

5A



3 December 18, 2023

12-288-23 Consent Agenda

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Baller, seconded by Commissioner Longe: 
To move the Consent Agenda with the exception of Items D, I, and J. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
Commissioner Host 
Commissioner Longe 
MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 

Nays, None 

A. Resolution to approve the City Commission meeting minutes of November 27, 2023.

B. Resolution to approve the City Commission Workshop meeting minutes of December 4,
2023.

C. Resolution to approve the City Commission meeting minutes of December 4, 2023.

E. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments,
dated December 14, 2023 in the amount of $1,662,667.77.

F. Resolution to amend the Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and Insurance as presented
and to adopt the revised Public Records Policy, effective January 1, 2024.

G. Resolution to set a public hearing date of January 22, 2024 to consider the Special Land
Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 34350 Woodward Ave &
909-911 Haynes Street – Fred Lavery Porsche.

H. Resolution to set a public hearing date of January 22, 2024 to consider the lot combination
of 34350 Woodward Ave and 909-911 Haynes Street, Fred Lavery Porsche, parcel # 19-
36-281-022 and parcel # 19-36-281-030.

K. Motion to adopt an ordinance amendment to Chapter 114, Utilities, Article II.-Water
Supply Systems, Division 3.-Fire Protection, Sec. 114-93 to prohibit the obstruction of fire
lanes and fire hydrants and add that a violation of this section will result in a civil infraction
with a $500 fine.

12-289-23 Warrant List Dated 12/07/2023 (Item D)

The Mayor noted a payment for $100 made to the 48th District Court. 

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Longe, seconded by Commissioner Baller: 
To approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated December 7, 
2023 in the amount of $1,661,581.50. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 

5A



 

 

4 December 18, 2023 

    Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 

 
   Nays, None 
 
12-290-23 Edgewood Road Project #6-24 (S) Set Public Hearing Dates for Hearing  

of Necessity and Confirmation of the Roll for Water and Sewer Laterals 
Special Assessment District (S.A.D.)  (Item I) 

 
Commissioner Baller recommended that all projects be planned based on the City’s newer 
evaluation criteria. Since this project was planned based on prior criteria, he recommended that 
this project not be advanced. 
 
Commissioner Long advocated for the project, noting that the redundancy in the water lines 
would be beneficial and that the opportunity to add a retention pond in St. James Park would 
also be beneficial. 
 
Staff answered informational questions from the Commission. 
 
It was noted that the most appropriate time to discuss the necessity of this project would be at 
the hearing of necessity, so that the public would have an opportunity to participate. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Baller, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To set the Public Hearing of Necessity for the replacement and improvement of water and sewer 
laterals meeting the requirements for assessment for all properties within the project area on 
Edgewood Road between Lincoln and E. Southlawn on Monday, January 8, 2024, at 7:30 P.M.; 
 
If necessity is determined on January 8, 2024, to meet on Monday, January 22, 2024, at 7:30 
P.M., for the purpose of conducting the public hearing to confirm the Assessment of the Roll for 
the replacement and improvement of water and sewer laterals meeting the requirements for 
assessment, for all properties within the project area on Edgewood Road between Lincoln and E. 
Southlawn. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
    Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 

 
   Nays, None 
 
12-291-23 Clarification to Recently Amended Ordinance Chapter 114, Utilities,  

5A



 

 

5 December 18, 2023 

Sec. 93 Obstructing Hydrants/Fire Lanes (Item J) 
 
Staff answered informational questions from the Commission. 
 
Commissioner Haig clarified that he wanted to make sure that evidence of a violation would be 
provided for protection of the City’s interests. 
 
He was advised that photographs of this type of violation would be taken as evidence. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Haig, seconded by Commissioner Longe: 
To adopt an ordinance amendment to Chapter 114, Utilities, Article II.-Water Supply Systems, 
Division 3.-Fire Protection, Sec. 114-93 to prohibit the obstruction of fire lanes and fire hydrants 
and add that a violation of this section will result in a civil infraction with a $500 fine. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
    Commissioner Host 
    Commissioner Longe 

Commissioner Haig 
MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 

 
   Nays, None 
 

VI. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
CM Ecker presented the report and added that Toys for Tots was collecting new, unwrapped toys 
for children through December 21, 2023 at the Fire Department and at City Hall.  
 
Staff answered informational questions from the Commission. 
 
Commissioner Baller commended the City and PC Grewe for their leadership regarding Woodward 
noise concerns. 
 
The Mayor explained that aspects of the Woodward noise remediation process were still being 
negotiated at the State Legislative level. The Mayor encouraged residents to contact State Senator 
McMorrow via the Senator’s website to share concerns regarding noise on Woodward. 
 
Commissioner Host commended Staff on the welcome packets for new residents and encouraged 
the City to coordinate with the Birmingham newcomers group to welcome new residents. 
 

VII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS 
12-292-23 Public Hearing for 377 Hamilton Row – Birmingham Sushi Cafe –  

Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan & Design Review PH – 377 
Hamilton Row – Bham Sushi SLUP 

5A



 

 

6 December 18, 2023 

 
The Mayor opened the public hearing at 8:28 p.m.  
 
PD Dupuis presented the item. Chris Tower, attorney, spoke on behalf of the applicant. 
 
Seeing no public comment, the Mayor closed the public hearing at 8:33 p.m. 
 
Staff answered informational questions from the Commission. 
 
Commissioners made the following comments in the course of discussion: 

● When changes are made to an establishment, the establishment should also be required 
to come into compliance with all present ordinances. 

 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Baller, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To approve the Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 377 
Hamilton Row – Birmingham Sushi Cafe.  
AND  
To authorize the City Clerk to complete the Local Approval Notice at the request of Kim Fam 
Birmingham Sushi, Inc., and to approve the transfer of the Class C Liquor License from D&D 
Hospitality, LLC. to Kim Fam Birmingham Sushi, Inc. with a new SDM Liquor License, Sunday 
Sales permit (AM and PM) and Outdoor Service area on public property to Kim Fam Birmingham 
Sushi, Inc. that will be located at 377 Hamilton Row, Birmingham, Oakland County, MI.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
    Commissioner Longe 

MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 

    Commissioner Haig 
    Commissioner Host 
    

Nays, None 
 
12-293-23 Public Hearing to amend Article 4, Section 4.54 of the Zoning  

Ordinance to add flexibility to screening requirements for waste 
receptacles and ground-mounted mechanical/electrical equipment 

The Mayor opened the public hearing at 8:38 p.m.  
 
PD Dupuis presented the item.  
 
Seeing no public comment, the Mayor closed the public hearing at 8:42 p.m. 
 
Commissioners made the following comments in the course of discussion: 

● The Planning Board and Staff were to be thanked for their expertise and work on the item. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Host, seconded by Commissioner Haig: 

5A



 

 

7 December 18, 2023 

To adopt an ordinance to amend Article 4, Section 4.54 of the Zoning Ordinance to add flexibility 
to screening requirements for waste receptacles and ground-mounted mechanical/electrical 
equipment. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
    Commissioner Longe 

MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 

    Commissioner Haig 
    Commissioner Host 
    

Nays, None 
 
12-294-23 Public Hearing – Parks and Recreation Master Plan 
 
The Mayor opened the public hearing at 8:43 p.m.  
 
PRM Laird introduced the item. Paul Urbiel and Jane Dixon of McKenna presented the item. 
 
Seeing no public comment, the Mayor closed the public hearing at 9:10 p.m. 
 
Staff and McKenna answered informational questions from the Commission. 
 
Commissioners made the following comments in the course of discussion: 

● This Plan was modern, focused on inclusivity and sustainability, was a pleasure to read, 
and thorough. It was both aspirational and included strategic goals, and included flexibility 
in terms of certain aspects and funding sources; 

● The Parks and Recreation Board, DPS Staff, and McKenna team deserved to be 
commended for their work on the Plan; 

● The recommended flexibility in funding sources was valuable; 
● The Plan seemed to focus more heavily on parks than it did on the potential recreation 

aspect, including events; 
● While residents may be satisfied with the City’s present recreational offerings, if they were 

informed of other local municipalities’ more robust recreational offerings they may be 
interested in a increase in recreational offerings as well; 

● This Plan recognized that the City’s parks attract people from the metro area, which is 
something to be embraced. When people visit Birmingham to access the parks, they also 
spend money in Birmingham, and it sets the City apart; and, 

● The south well site was previously designated a park by the Commission, and was 
designated a commercial destination by the 2040 Plan, so this Plan should acknowledge 
the potential overlap and lack of conflict between the two uses at that site. 

 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Long, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
We have completed our public hearing for the Parks and Recreation Master Plan, and the 
Commission suggests that references to the south well site minipark also include a notation that 
this site is identified as a potential commercial destination in the 2040 Plan. 
 

5A



 

 

8 December 18, 2023 

ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
    Commissioner Longe 

MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 

 
   Nays, None 
 
12-295-23 Parks and Recreation Master Plan Adoption 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Haig, seconded by Commissioner Longe: 
To adopt a resolution to approve the 2024-2028 Parks and Recreation Master Plan, and further 
to direct the City Clerk to certify the resolution with signature.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
    Commissioner Longe 

MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 

 
   Nays, None 
 
12-296-23 Citywide Wayfinding & Signage Master Plan 
 
PD Dupuis presented the item. Staff and the Corbin design team (Corbin) answered informational 
questions from the Commission.  
 
Commissioners made the following comments in the course of discussion: 

● This Plan could be seen as an exercise in branding as much as wayfinding. The kiosks 
may be somewhat anachronistic. It would be helpful to get a broad variety of public 
feedback on the proposals included in the Plan. Corbin should include all of the signage 
in town within its purview, including the signage in the parking decks, signage explaining 
how on-street parking works around town, the signage in the parks, and City Hall’s 
address. A banner across Main Street to indicate upcoming events would be appropriate 
to add to this Plan. This Plan should not be approved presently; rather, the Committee 
should be encouraged to continue its work and to return with an updated Plan; 

● It was appropriate to have experts in the field make recommendations on best practices 
for wayfinding and branding. The golf courses should receive more wayfinding and 
signage. While technology can be helpful for wayfinding, out-of-town visitors and older 
residents would likely derive benefit from the kiosks. This Plan could be approved with the 
understanding that other work to create aligned wayfinding and signage in the City would 
occur in the future; and, 

● Rescoping this project to have it include all signage within the City would be appropriate. 
The kiosks are likely to be beneficial, and including a QR code on the kiosks would expand 

5A



 

 

9 December 18, 2023 

their usefulness. Soliciting some broad public feedback on the proposals could be 
appropriate. Approval of the concept of the Plan could occur, to provide guidelines for 
future wayfinding and signage projects in the City. 

 
A number of Commissioners agreed that no private businesses should be featured on the 
wayfinding and signage, that the Haynes Square signage recommendations should be eliminated, 
that wayfinding and signage for the Rouge River should be included, that the Ad Hoc Committee 
should be made permanent for the purpose of reviewing wayfinding and signage projects within 
the City. 
 
The Commission also commended the Committee and Corbin for their work on the Plan.  
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Haig, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To adopt the concepts contained within Citywide Wayfinding and Signage Plan for the City of 
Birmingham. 
 
Commissioner Schafer said this would be a great first step, that it should be expanded upon, that 
certain smaller aspects could be changed, and that creating a permanent Committee would be 
appropriate.  
 
It was noted that this motion would allow City administration to proceed with initiating some of 
the projects recommended in the Plan. 
 
Commissioner Host spoke in support of the Plan and in support of a permanent Committee being 
established.  
 
Commissioner Baller commended the Committee. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
    Commissioner Longe 

MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 

 
   Nays, None 
 
Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Audit Presentation 
 
FD Gerber introduced the item. Timothy St. Andrew and Philip Femminineo of Plante Moran 
presented the item. Staff and the Plante Moran team answered informational questions from the 
Commission. 
 
It was noted that the Mayor would submit some updated information regarding the Cable Board. 
 
12-297-23 Funding Agreement for the 48th District Court 
 

5A



 

 

10 December 18, 2023 

CM Ecker and CA Kucharek presented the item and answered informational questions from the 
Commission. 
 
Commissioners made the following comments in the course of discussion: 

● The City’s payments to the Court have exceeded the City’s revenues from the Court in 
2023, and that has been the case in the last few years as well; 

● If the City were to opt out of the 48th District Court funding agreement, the City would 
have to find a way to provide court services elsewhere. Despite the fact that the City 
currently invests more into the 48th District Court than it receives in revenues, the cost of 
funding a new court somewhere else would likely exceed that loss; 

● While some of the political subdivisions presently make a profit from the Court’s operation, 
Birmingham does not. Given that no option on the table would substantially relieve this 
inequity, it would likely not benefit the City to continue pursuing relief of the inequity at 
this time. Option three would also not serve the City well. In looking at the average case 
load, Bloomfield Hills has a case load more similar to the subdivisions than to the funding 
units. Litigation against Bloomfield Hills would likely not be beneficial for that reason; and,  

● This is a complex situation without a simple solution. CM Ecker has made progress in 
communicating with the other subdivisions and funding units, and it is possible that a 
more equitable situation could be achieved. The City must have court services available 
for its residents. Options one or two would be more appropriate than option three. 

 
It was noted that the Commission could choose to combine options one and two for a two-part 
motion, if deemed appropriate. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Longe, seconded by MPT Schafer: 
To adopt a resolution to continue to participate in the current funding agreement with Bloomfield 
Township and West Bloomfield Township;  
 
AND 
 
To adopt a resolution to approve an Addendum to the existing funding agreement with Bloomfield 
Township and W. Bloomfield Township and to authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to sign the 
agreement on behalf of the City, subject to the approval of the Political Subdivision Distribution / 
Funding Agreement by all four political subdivisions. 
 
Commissioner Host said he would not support the motion, opining that the City needs to be 
fiscally responsible, that the situation was unfair, and that the 48th District Court needed to 
reduce its expenses.    
 
Commissioner Long explained that the expenses of opting out of the current funding agreement 
would likely represent amounts in significant excess of the City’s present loss in funding the 48th 
District Court. He noted that in addition, the costs to provide court services separately from the 
48th District Court would also likely be in excess of that loss. He noted that this topic is re-
evaluated by the Commission annually and that the City could choose to proceed differently at 
the end of 2024 if no increase in equity is achieved through negotiations in the coming year. He 
observed that the Court is implementing electronic filing, which is likely to result in savings for 
the Court. Commissioner Long also noted that the City has increased its utilization of the Court’s 

5A



 

 

11 December 18, 2023 

services in an attempt to address noise on Woodward, and that it was prudent to proceed with 
the present motion for the Court’s upcoming budget year as a result.  
 
Commissioner Haig requested that the Court pursue financial support from the State for the Court-
implemented, State-mandated activities currently funded by the funding units. 
 
Commissioner Longe noted that the motion regarded an agreement between municipal parties. 
She noted that the present motion could be passed, and that the Commission could then explore 
other potential options for relief from the County or State level as a further action.  
 
Public Comment 
Staff answered a question from a member of the public regarding the leadership of the other 
involved municipalities.  
 
Mark Barron, resident of Birmingham and judge at the 48th District Court, made a number of 
comments regarding the preceding discussion. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
    Commissioner Longe 

MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 

 
   Nays, Commissioner Host 
 
The Commission recessed briefly, and returned from recess. 
 
Commission Items for Future Discussion 
 
12-298-23 Adding Brandon to the Shirley-Arlington Improvement Project 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Baller, seconded by Commissioner Long: 
To include Brandon in the Shirley-Arlington improvement project. 
 
Commissioner Host said this was a reasonable request.   
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
    Commissioner Longe 

MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 

 
   Nays, None 
 
Commission Discussion On Items From A Prior Meeting 

5A



 

 

12 December 18, 2023 

 
Commissioner Baller thanked Staff for the reports on bistro compliance and sport courts. 
 
12-299-23 Closed Session Pursuant to MCL § 15.268 Sec. 8(e) of the Open  

Meetings Act 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Long, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To meet in closed session to discuss pending litigation pursuant to MCL § 15.268 Sec. 8(e) of the 
Open Meetings Act regarding John Reinhart, et al v City of Birmingham; U.S. District Court Case 
No.:  2:22-cv-11074-MAG-DRG, and The New 555 Commercial, LLC, The New 555 Residential, 
LLC, Manorwood Properties, LLC and Associates of 555, LP v City of Birmingham, State of 
Michigan Department of Licensing & Regulatory Affairs, Michigan Administrative Hearing System, 
Michigan Tax Tribunal Docket No.: 22-000772-TT, Property Nos.:  08-19-36-210-001, 08-19-36-
210-003, and 08-19-36-210-005, which was appealed to the Michigan Court of Appeals bearing 
Docket 364563, and currently appealed to the Michigan Supreme Court bearing Docket No.: 
165973. 
 
AND  
 
To meet in closed session to discuss pending litigation pursuant to MCL § 15.268 Sec. 8(e) of the 
Open Meetings Act regarding Caroline Ashleigh, et al v City of Birmingham, Oakland County Circuit 
Court Case No.: 23-202347-NZ.   
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
    Commissioner Longe 

MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 

 
   Nays, None 
 
It was noted that the closed session would be entered into after all other agenda items were 
completed, and that action would be taken after the closed session. 
 
The Commission went into closed session at 12:07 a.m. 
 
The Commission returned from closed session at 12:34 a.m. 
 
12-300-23 Action Subsequent to the Closed Session  
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Host, seconded by Commissioner Long: 
To direct the City Manager and the City Attorney to engage the services, based upon further due 
diligence, of an attorney the City has been speaking to from Plunkett Cooney, in regards to 
retaining their services to defend the City on a lawsuit from 13 residents against the City for 
sewer backup claims. The City Manager and City Attorney would speak with the attorney, Audrey 
Forbush, on December 19, 2023 to gain more information. If the City Manager and City Attorney 

5A



 

 

13 December 18, 2023 

find that satisfactory, the City Manager and City Attorney will enter into an agreement to engage 
Plunkett Cooney’s services. If the City Manager and City Attorney find the answers to the due 
diligence are not to their satisfaction, then the City Manager and City Attorney would return to 
the Commission at a later date with other suggestions. 
 
The Mayor thanked Staff for their work. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor McLain 
    Commissioner Longe 

MPT Schafer 
Commissioner Long 
Commissioner Baller 
Commissioner Haig 
Commissioner Host 

 
   Nays, None 
 

VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 
 

IX. COMMUNICATIONS 
A. Letter from Jim Mirro dated November 15, 2023 

 
X. REPORTS 

A. Commissioner Reports 
The Mayor reported back from a phone call with State Senator McMorrow, meetings of the MML’s 
Women in Government, the Woodward MDOT meeting with CM Ecker, and a meeting of the South 
Oakland County Mayor’s Association. 
 
MPT Schafer reported back from the first board meeting of Birmingham Youth Assistance. 
 

B. Commissioner Comments 
 
Commissioner Haig sought clarification from Staff regarding the Open Meetings Act and individual 
Commissioner-resident conversations. 
 
Staff provided clarification. 
 
Commissioner Long described his interaction with an individual resident and his response to said 
interaction. He noted that, contrary to the Commissioner’s verbally stated wishes, the resident 
left documentation in the Commissioner’s mailbox after their interaction. The Commissioner 
explained that he subsequently provided the unopened documentation to the City Clerk. He 
explained that any conversations between an individual resident and an individual Commissioner 
regarding items that will come before the Commission should occur exclusively during an open 
meeting of the Commission. The Commissioner explained how correspondence could be 
appropriately provided to the Commission. The Commissioner said that all Commissioners should 

5A



 

 

14 December 18, 2023 

be able to trust that their colleagues are behaving with these guidelines in mind, in order to 
preserve debate for open meetings and in order for the Commission to do its best work. 
 
The Mayor said that Commissioners being approached by residents outside of open meetings to 
discuss matters before the Commission is a safety issue. She noted that Commission decisions 
need to occur within an open meeting, and that Commissioners need to avoid being lobbied 
regarding items that will be before the Commission.   
 
Commissioner Longe noted that her home was visited by the same individual resident referenced 
by Commissioner Long, and stated that she declined meeting with the resident and receiving 
documentation from the resident. She explained that having an individual conversation with the 
resident could have created the public impression of unfairness. She noted that the Commission 
could have a publicly-noticed special meeting outside of City Hall, if deemed appropriate, where 
all interested parties could provide input.  
 
Commissioner Long and Longe emphasized that Commissioners are required not only to avoid 
actual violations of their legal and ethical obligations, but also to avoid giving the potential 
impression of a violation of their legal and ethical obligations.  
 
MPT Schafer noted that her home was visited twice by the same individual resident referenced 
by Commissioners Long and Longe, and stated that she did not interact with said resident. 
 
Commissioner Host suggested that the Commission might find it appropriate to have a special 
meeting regarding the topic. 
 
It was stated that Jim Mirro submitted a packet before the evening’s Commission meeting, that 
the packet was provided to the City Clerk and the City Manager, and that both the packet and a 
separate letter from another resident regarding the Shirley-Arlington matter would be included in 
the Commission’s next agenda packet.  
 
It was noted that when such correspondence for the Commission is submitted to the City Clerk, 
it should be specified that the correspondence is for the Commission. 
 
Commissioner Baller said there were lessons to be learned from this process, and that 
Commissioners could remain informed by watching the City’s public meetings. He said he wanted 
the process to improve each time it occurs. 
 
The Mayor said process, preparation, and training would create consistency.  
 

C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas 
D. Legislation 
E. City Staff 
   

INFORMATION ONLY  
 

XI. ADJOURN 
The Mayor adjourned the meeting at 12:37 a.m. 

5A



 

 

15 December 18, 2023 

    
 
 

 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk  Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 
 

 

5A



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

12/20/2023

01/08/2024

PAPER CHECK

466,481.0048TH DISTRICT COURT000855*295644

100.00ADCO CONSTRUCTION SERVICESBDREFUND295645

100.00ALLEN BROTHERS INC.BDREFUND295646

200.00Allied Construction and RestorationBDREFUND295647

195.00AMERICAN ALLIANCE OF MUSEUMS002638295649

150.00JOBMATCH LLC DBA APPLICANTPRO008977*295650

900.00APPLIED IMAGING007033295651

100.00ARANEAE INCBDREFUND295652

1,450.00ARMANDO GIUSEPPE INCBDREFUND295653

100.00ARNOLD ROOFING & CONSTRUCTION INCBDREFUND295654

500.00ASPEN CONSTRUCTION INCBDREFUND295656

200.00ASTAPOVICH, ELENABDREFUND295657

139.64AT&T006759295658

720.00BALIAN LEGAL, PLC009609295659

200.00BARBAT, MASONBDREFUND295660

200.00BARONE CONSTRUCTIONBDREFUND295661

125.98BATTERIES PLUS BULBS003012295662

80.00BERESFORD COMPANY009682295663

180.00BIG BEAVER PLUMBING,HEATING INC.000522295665

602.50BIRMINGHAM LOCKSMITH INC000524295666

100.00BLOOMFIELD CONSTRUCTION COBDREFUND295667

1,231.60BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526295668

1,000.00BOYCE, REX AND JANELLEBDREFUND295669

100.00BRICKWORKS PROPERTY RESTORATIONBDREFUND295670

5,926.00BUTCHER & BUTCHER CONSTRUCTION CO008799295671

100.00CAPELLA CARE LLCBDREFUND295672

564.00CAPITAL TIRE, INC.007732295673

1,750.00CAR TRUCKING INC000571*295674

200.00CAROL BACAK-EGBO009597295675

4,260.00CDW GOVERNMENT INC000444*295676

100.00CEDAR RESTORATION INCBDREFUND295677

100.00CEDAR RESTORATION, INC.BDREFUND295678

1,460.00COASTAL DESIGN & BUILDBDREFUND295680

1,575.08CONSUMERS ENERGY000627*295681

6,453.90CORBIN DESIGN, INC009656295682

13.25DEALER AUTO PARTS009309295684

100.00DIMAMBRO CONSTRUCTION LLCBDREFUND295685

95.00RONALD L. DIX007498*295686

500.00DRYMEDIC RESTORATION NOVI LLCBDREFUND295688

36.52DTE ENERGY000179*295689

159.11DTE ENERGY000179*295690

34.16DTE ENERGY000179*295691 5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

12/20/2023

01/08/2024

42.96DTE ENERGY000179*295692

135.42DTE ENERGY000179*295693

9,044.71DTE ENERGY000180*295694

45,414.68DVM UTILITIES009340*295695

89.04FERGUSON ENTERPRISES, INC.007136295697

788.00FLEIS AND VANDENBRINK ENG. INC007314*295698

732.85FOSTER BLUE WATER OIL007212295699

792.00FRAILBERG & PERNIE PLLC009387*295700

380.00GAY GLICKOFFMISC*295701

223.14GORDON FOOD004604*295702

100.00GREAT LAKES LANDSCAPE DESIGN, INCBDREFUND295703

200.00HANSONS GROUP LLCBDREFUND295706

2,525.00HM HOMES LLCBDREFUND295708

1,385.57HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*295709

2,212.10HORIZON COMMUNICATIONS CO. INC009029295710

1,200.00HORTON, JASON MBDREFUND295711

173.02HOWLEY AGENCY SALES006801*295712

4,455.00HYDROCORP000948295713

100.00INFINITY HOMES & COBDREFUND295715

769.23INTERMEDIA. NET INC009551295718

1,276.79INTERSTATE BATTERIES OF SE MICH000342295719

420.00IRENE S WASSEL009401*295720

1,149.75J.T. EXPRESS, LTD.000344295721

862.75JENETTE MAITZ009559*295722

4,643.76JERRY'S TIRE INC008564295723

960.00JUSTIN ZAYID009403*295724

59.90KROGER COMPANY000362*295725

1,080.00LAW OFFICE OF BRIAN P. FENECH009386*295726

75.00LERMA, INC008518295727

2,500.00LIVEWELL CUSTOM HOMES LLCBDREFUND295729

449.00MADISON GENERATOR SERVICE INC003934295730

68.79MASTERS TELECOM009546295731

230.00STATE OF MICHIGAN000646*295732

10.00STATE OF MICHIGAN004368*295733

500.00MORGAN HELLER & ASSOCIATESBDREFUND295735

200.00NORTHERN SIGN CO INCBDREFUND295737

450.00OAKLAND COMMUNITY COLLEGE002853295738

496.00PARAGON LABORATORIES INC009151295740

1,150.00PRM CUSTOM BUILDERS LLCBDREFUND295743

78.00PTS COMMUNICATIONS, INC006625*295744

385.00RANDAZZO MECHANICAL HTG  CLGBDREFUND295745

690.00REDGUARD FIRE & SECURITY INC008852295746

500.00SACHSE CONSTRUCTIONBDREFUND295747

5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

12/20/2023

01/08/2024

220.82SAM'S CLUB/SYNCHRONY BANK002806*295748

159.00SECURE DOOR, LLC006590*295749

919.38SHERWIN WILLIAMS COMMERCIAL009796295750

880.47SHI INTERNATIONAL CORP.008815295751

170.19REBEKAH SPRINGER008396*295752

967.78STATE OF MICHIGAN002809295754

45.00STATE OF MICHIGANMISC*295755

20,164.00THE CINCINNATI INSURANCE COMPANY009590*295756

500.00THOMAS SEBOLD & ASSOCIATES, INBDREFUND295757

515.50TOTAL ENERGY SYSTEMS, LLC009785295758

40,684.00TRAFFIC & SAFETY CONTROL SYSTEMS009552295759

200.00TRI-PUPS INCBDREFUND295760

21.45TURNER SANITATION, INC004379295761

600.00UNITED MASONRY & HARDSCAPE LLCBDREFUND295762

52.50US FIGURE SKATING ASSOC.001279*295763

184.80VAN DYKE GAS CO.000293*295764

365.98VERIZON WIRELESS000158*295765

308.16VERIZON WIRELESS000158*295766

89.88VERIZON WIRELESS000158*295767

10,000.00Vibe of Birmingham, LLCBDREFUND295768

500.00WALLSIDE INCBDREFUND295770

1,000.00WILLS & HIMLE WILLS REVOC LVNG TRSTBDREFUND295771

200.00WINSTON AND SONS HOME IMPROVEMENT LBDREFUND295772

300.00WOODCRAFT DESIGN AND BUILDBDREFUND295773

48.25XEROX CORPORATION008391*295774

5,000.00YBARRA, ARMANDO GBDREFUND295775

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $671,677.36

EFT TRANSFER

5,717.57AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC009126" "

363.46AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC009126*" "

169.00ANCESTRY.COM009472" "

775.00APWA000881" "

(3.90)ARBOR DAY FOUNDATION009778" "

289.00ASCE/MEMBERSHIP001843" "

356.10AWS009521" "

525.12BOTANICAL PAPERWORKSCC MISC" "

12.00BUZZSPROUT.COM009638" "

956.09COMCAST008955*" "

465.16COMCAST BUSINESS007774" "

2,050.30CONSTANT CONTACT, INC.006172" "

102.00EGLE009562" "

110.00ELECTROCYCLE, INC.009622" "

612.40ETSY, INC009363" " 5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

12/20/2023

01/08/2024

23.17 GO DADDY009427" "

(11.74)GOOGLE009571" "

160.00 ICC INC005990*" "

486.57 JET'S PIZZA005710" "

44.98 JET'S PIZZA005710*" "

37.14 JIMMY JOHNSCC MISC" "

154.47 KROGER COMPANY000362*" "

430.00 LIGHTS FOR CHRISTMASCC MISC" "

781.00 MAMC004855" "

270.00 MGIA-MICHIGAN GREEN INDUSTRY ASSOC.004663" "

127.20 MJ AWARDS001169" "

600.00 NATIONAL RECREATION & PARK001854" "

28.00 OAKLAND PRESS006117" "

1,014.25 PAPA JOE'S MARKET004457" "

160.00 PAYPAL INC.005637*" "

314.20 PENSKE TRUCK LEASING009528" "

219.87 PITNEY BOWES INC002518" "

239.19 POSTMASTER000801" "

14.99 THE DETROIT NEWS009756" "

104.39 VISTAPRINT009789" "

393.97 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC009126" "

266.25 COMCAST008955*" "

103.00 INTERNATIONAL ASSC OF ARSON INVEST003814" "

50.00 MEMA002076" "

83.00 MICHIGAN FIRE INSP SOCIETY005271" "

2,917.38 NFPA001010" "

124.36 PEARSON EDUCATIONCC MISC" "

250.94 RADIOPARTSCC MISC" "

100.00 THE BIRMINGHAM TAILORCC MISC" "

40.00 PAYPAL INC.005637" "

509.94 MENARDSCC MISC" "

4,002.30 NFPA003567" "

86,770.73 BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD OF MICHIGAN009593*" "

SUBTOTAL EFT TRANSFER $113,308.85

ACH TRANSACTION

1,314.88 ABEL ELECTRONICS INC002284*9685

700.00 ABS- AUTOMATED BENEFIT SVCS, INC008847*9686

357.51 AIRGAS USA, LLC0037089687

90.92 ARAMARK REFRESHMENT SERVICES009576*9688

720.00 BATTI LAW PLLC009383*9689

18,070.59 BEIER HOWLETT PC000517*9691

25,633.25 BEIER HOWLETT PC000517*9692

5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

12/20/2023

01/08/2024

2,379.00 BELL EQUIPMENT COMPANY000518*9693

6,559.00 BIRMINGHAM LAWN MAINTENANCE, INC0066839694

21,864.00 BIRMINGHAM LAWN MAINTENANCE, INC006683*9694

57.97 BIRMINGHAM OIL CHANGE CENTER, LLC007624*9695

76.50 BLUE WATER INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS INC000542*9696

364.00 LISA MARIE BRADLEY003282*9697

225.73 CINTAS CORPORATION0006059698

28.65 CINTAS CORPORATION0006059699

5,046.08 CITY OF BIRMINGHAM #255009752*9700

57.25 CONTRACTORS CONNECTION INC0013679703

4,648.40 CROWN CASTLE FIBER LLC009195*9704

82.45 DETROIT CHEMICAL & PAPER SUPPLY007359*9705

127.71 DORNBOS SIGN & SAFETY INC000565*9706

750.00 CONNIE FOLK000929*9707

520.46 GRAINGER000243*9708

360.00 HB LAW, PLLC009382*9709

5,956.06 HUBBELL ROTH & CLARK INC0003319711

309.13 HUBBELL ROTH & CLARK INC000331*9711

2,352.00 IDUMESARO LAW FIRM, PLLC009390*9712

65.88 J.C. EHRLICH CO. INC.007870*9713

30,556.95 J.H. HART URBAN FORESTRY0002619714

179,166.81 JACKLYN CONTRACTING, LLC009619*9715

5,538.20 JAX KAR WASH002576*9716

5,747.89 JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.0034589717

1,658.23 JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*9717

651.00 HAILEY R KASPER007827*9719

2,086.45 KONE INC004085*9720

748.50 LAIRD PLASTICS INC002438*9721

720.00 LAMB LEGAL CONSULTING SERVICES009392*9722

13,084.20 MCCI, LLC008611*9724

773.98 NETWORK SERVICES COMPANY007755*9727

152.50 NYE UNIFORM COMPANY006359*9728

360.00 ORLANDO LAW PRACTICE PC009395*9729

1,576.48 OSCAR W. LARSON CO.002767*9730

50,047.21 PAMAR ENTERPRISES INC003351*9731

253.00 PENCHURA, LLC006027*9732

190,028.70 PRECISION CONCRETE CUTTING INC0088669733

769.99 PRINTING SYSTEMS INC.009794*9734

1,512.00 SECURE-CENTRIC INC0093019735

1,715.00 WINDCAVE INC0097839737

411.62 WITMER PUBLIC SAFETY GROUP INC0091289738

7,488.00 YELLOW DOOR LAW009379*9739

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $593,764.135B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

12/20/2023

01/08/2024

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $1,378,750.34

5B



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

01/04/2024

01/08/2024

PAPER CHECK

1,448.421157 LAKE PARK RESIDENTIAL TRUSTTAXMISC*295776

11,853.00ACCUFORM PRINTING & GRAPHICS, INC009346*295777

40.00ACTION MAT & TOWEL RENTAL, INC006638295778

300.00ADVANCED RENOVATIONS INCBDREFUND295779

500.00ALL SEASON GUTTERS INC003233295780

53.88AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC009126295781

1,000.00ARMANDO GIUSEPPE INCBDREFUND295782

1,583.00ARTECH PRINTING INC000500295783

65.00ARTECH PRINTING INC000500*295783

394.28AT&T006759295784

158.12AT&T006759295785

3,141.92AT&T006759*295786

874.62AT&T MOBILITY003703*295787

746.00BAYSCAN TECHNOLOGIES009213295788

657.80BEDROCK EXPRESS LTD009568295789

100.00BEGININ, IVANKA YBDREFUND295790

133.02BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526295791

491.36BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526*295791

2,681.12CASS COLLISION CLAWSON, INC008959295792

100.00CLAVENNA, CARLO FBDREFUND295793

1,650.85CLEAR RATE COMMUNICATIONS, INC008006295794

6,084.12CONSUMERS ENERGY000627*295795

124.99COOL THREADS EMBROIDERY008512295796

563.95COOL THREADS EMBROIDERY008512*295796

308.46DEMCO, INC000575295797

1,860.00DIVISION 6 FABRICTAION & INSTALLATI009800*295798

183.87DTE ENERGY000179*295799

524.12DTE ENERGY000179*295800

76.79DTE ENERGY000179*295801

31.57DTE ENERGY000179*295802

3.95DTE ENERGY000179*295803

14.87DTE ENERGY000179295804

1,728.94DTE ENERGY000179*295805

47.99DTE ENERGY000179*295806

334.85DTE ENERGY000179*295807

6,732.05DTE ENERGY000179*295808

1,677.23DTE ENERGY000179*295809

5,449.21DTE ENERGY000179*295810

3,313.90DTE ENERGY000179*295811

14.87DTE ENERGY000179*295812

1,729.72DTE ENERGY000179*295813

47.68DTE ENERGY000179*295814 5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

01/04/2024

01/08/2024

147.67 DTE ENERGY000179*295815

59.60 DTE ENERGY000179*295816

591.45 DTE ENERGY000179*295817

445.75 DTE ENERGY000179*295818

5,720.06 DTE ENERGY000179*295819

736.10 MICHAEL J DUL & ASSOC INC002704295820

160.00 E-Z-GO DIVISION OF TEXTRON INC000274*295821

2,430.00 ETNA SUPPLY001495*295822

1,045.88 FARHAT ENTERPRISES INCTAXMISC*295823

2,811.37 FARMINGTON COMM. LIBRARY000585295824

17,170.62 FLEIS AND VANDENBRINK ENG. INC007314*295825

9,672.51 GERALD VOLASTAXMISC*295826

250.75 MADELINE GOLD009556*295827

8,273.72 GREAT LAKES WATER AUTHORITY008007*295828

226.91 GRID 4 COMMUNICATIONS INC.006666*295829

322.00 GA BUSINESS PURCHASER LLC000249295830

413.16 GUARDIAN ALARM000726*295831

100.00 HESSLING, JOSEPH WBDREFUND295832

1,521.24 HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*295833

3,472.41 INGRAM LIBRARY SERVICES001090295834

300.00 INTERCITY NEONBDREFUND295835

1,906.25 JENETTE MAITZ009559*295836

2,417.88 JERRY'S TIRE INC008564295837

1,208.94 JERRY'S TIRE INC008564*295837

1,676.26 JOHN R. SPRING & TIRE CENTER INC.000347295838

2,380.45 KONICA MINOLTA BUSINESS SOLUTIONS004904295839

300.00 KONICA MINOLTA BUSINESS SOLUTIONS004904295840

33.07 KROGER COMPANY000362*295841

602.00 CANDACE KUK-LAFERLE007096*295842

857.50 LEARN TO SKATE USA008188*295843

1,052.11 LITHIA MOTORS, INC SUPPORT SERVICES009375295844

1,000.00 LIVE WELL CUSTOM HOME LLCBDREFUND295845

1,000.00 LYNCH CUSTOM HOMESBDREFUND295846

3,319.50 MACALLISTER RENTALS007910*295847

350.00 MARC DUTTON IRRIGATION INC002648*295848

45,134.88 MCKENNA ASSOCIATES INC000888295849

11,535.35 MICHAEL RAAD & SANDY LAHOUDTAXMISC*295850

315.00 MICHIGAN ASSOCIATION OF MAYORS003001*295851

68,925.84 MICHIGAN DEPT. OF TRANSPORATION004687*295852

36,036.75 MICHIGAN RECREATIONAL CONSTRUCTION006227*295853

550.22 MIKE SAVOIE CHEVROLET INC000230295854

2,375.00 MKSK INC008319295855

100.00 MMA002671295856

5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

01/04/2024

01/08/2024

462.49 MML LIABILITY AND PROP POOLMISC*295857

2,528.61 MOBILE HEALTH RESOURCES007163*295858

1,000.00 NELSON BROS SWR & PLBG SVC INCBDREFUND295859

5,628.00 NEWMIND GROUP, INC006723295860

966.46 NILFISK, INC.005431*295861

315.00 NORTH BREATHING AIR, LLC008687295862

200.00 NORWOOD HOMES LTDBDREFUND295863

30.00 OAKLAND COUNTY REGISTER OF DEEDS009791*295864

223.47 ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC009478*295865

629.00 OLIVIA PARKIN009578*295866

100.00 PERFORMANCE ROOF SYSTEMS LLCBDREFUND295867

100.00 PERRY, JOSHUABDREFUND295868

4,241.40 PLANTE MORAN TRUSTTAXMISC*295869

4,478.70 POWERPHONE009364295870

45.04 PROGRESSIVE PLUMBING SUPPLY CO009614*295871

500.00 RENEWAL BY ANDERSENBDREFUND295872

100.00 RODRIGUEZ, FRANCISBDREFUND295873

100.00 ROGERS DESIGN BUILD SVS LLCBDREFUND295874

154.82 SAM'S CLUB/SYNCHRONY BANK002806*295875

581.00 SESAC001551*295876

278.30 SHARE CORPORATION009548295877

100.00 SMOLYANOV HOME IMPROVMENTBDREFUND295878

1,158.00 SP+ CORPORATION007907295879

845.00 SUCCESS COMMUNICATIONS, INC.005863295880

53,042.00 SUPERIOR SCAPE, INC006749*295881

900.00 THOMAS M MARKUS009254*295882

311.00 TRAFFIC & SAFETY CONTROL SYSTEMS009552*295883

500.00 TRI PHASE COMMERCIAL CONST LLCBDREFUND295884

315.00 TURNER SANITATION, INC004379*295885

200.00 VALENTI, MICHAELBDREFUND295886

308.00 VAN DYKE GAS CO.000293*295887

962.84 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*295888

904.74 VERIZON WIRELESS000158*295889

172.98 WEINGARTZ SUPPLY CO.000299295890

843.47 WELLS FARGO VENDOR FIN SERV009026295891

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $380,999.04

ACH TRANSACTION

750.00 ROBERT ABRAHAM JR.008649*9742

750.00 GRANT ANKNEY007510*9743

750.00 TREVOR BAKER008009*9744

750.00 RANDY BEARDEN009042*9745

303,647.00 BELL EQUIPMENT COMPANY0005189746

634.31 BELL EQUIPMENT COMPANY000518*9746 5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

01/04/2024

01/08/2024

1,783.80 BIRMINGHAM LAWN MAINTENANCE, INC006683*9747

750.00 STEVEN BONORA009095*9748

750.00 DUSHAWN BRANDY009304*9749

750.00 SHAUN BROWN009355*9750

552.00 CLAIRE CHUNG009122*9751

363.78 CINTAS CORPORATION0006059752

178.02 CINTAS CORPORATION000605*9753

28.65 CINTAS CORPORATION0006059754

166.86 CINTAS CORPORATION000605*9755

955.19 CONTRACTORS CLOTHING CO0026689756

1,163.30 COVERTTRACK GROUP INC0095799757

750.00 MARSHALL CRAWFORD007638*9758

423.00 DELTA TEMP SERVICES INC0091819759

423.00 DELTA TEMP SERVICES INC009181*9759

750.00 CHRISTOPHER DEMAN006999*9760

488.24 DORNBOS SIGN & SAFETY INC000565*9761

500.00 JANA ECKER003801*9762

720.00 EGANIX, INC.007538*9763

579.50 FIRE SYSTEMS OF MICHIGAN LLC001230*9764

750.00 BRENDT FREDERICK009357*9765

750.00 BRIAN FREELS007289*9766

3,793.88 G2 CONSULTING GROUP LLC007807*9767

750.00 HUNTER GILLICK008648*9768

996.66 GRAINGER000243*9769

750.00 JASON GRANROTH008105*9770

90.00 HAYES PRECISION INC001672*9771

360.00 HB LAW, PLLC009382*9772

15,760.54 HUBBELL ROTH & CLARK INC0003319773

750.00 THOMAS I. HUGHES003824*9774

750.00 TREVOR HULBERT009303*9775

7,016.62 INSIGHT INVESTMENT008851*9776

31,890.68 J.H. HART URBAN FORESTRY0002619777

600.00 JCC CREATIVE LLC0092499778

689.15 JCR SUPPLY INC0092989779

565.50 JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*9780

750.00 CHRISTOPHER JUDKINS007244*9781

364.00 HAILEY R KASPER007827*9782

70,160.00 KLM SCAPE & SNOW LLC0063709783

750.00 ADAM KNOWLES007511*9784

750.00 KYLE KRAFT009287*9785

1,308.20 LEE & ASSOCIATES CO., INC.005550*9786

294.00 KAREN LINGENFELTER007977*9787

78.78 LOWER HURON SUPPLY CO INC003527*9788

5C



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

01/04/2024

01/08/2024

750.00 MARC SCHWARTZ009582*9789

750.00 STEVEN MCINERNEY009555*9790

1,868.37 MIDWEST TAPE0020139791

750.00 MARK MISCHLE007306*9792

750.00 RYAN NEUVILLE009096*9793

31,658.00 NEXT007856*9794

220.00 NYE UNIFORM COMPANY006359*9795

750.00 OWEN BACHUSZ009204*9796

750.00 DAVID PAPANDREA003963*9797

455.05 PEPSI COLA001753*9798

74,696.31 PRECISION CONCRETE CUTTING INC0088669799

417.12 QUENCH USA INC0067299800

750.00 JESSICA RAK008875*9801

12,812.58 RKA PETROLEUM003554*9802

9,346.98 ROAD COMM FOR OAKLAND CO000478*9803

208.00 ROSE PEST SOLUTIONS001181*9804

29,191.74 SAFEWARE INC.0068329805

750.00 JEFFREY SCHEMANSKY007898*9806

750.00 JEREMY SHULTZ009305*9807

750.00 MICHAEL SLACK006591*9808

750.00 NICHOLAS SLANDA007899*9809

750.00 ALAN SOAVE003466*9810

76,801.00 SOCRRA0002549811

750.00 NICK SOPER007245*9812

775.00 JUSTIN STRASSBURG009356*9813

281.45 TOTAL ARMORED CAR SERVICE, INC.002037*9814

750.00 JEREMY TURNER009708*9815

172.02 ULINE005806*9816

155.00 VIGILANTE SECURITY INC000969*9817

750.00 RYAN WISEMAN007900*9818

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $710,383.28

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $1,091,382.32

5C



MEMORANDUM 
Museum 

DATE: December 26, 2023  

TO: Jana Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Leslie Pielack, Museum Director 

SUBJECT: Amendment to City Fee Schedule’ Museum Research Fee 

INTRODUCTION: 

The City Commission annually reviews and adopts the Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and 
Insurance. This includes the amount of any bond required to be posted, amount of insurance 
required to be carried, or fees to obtain any license to engage in the operation, conduct or carrying 
on of any trade, profession, business or privilege for which a license or permit is required by the 
provisions of the Birmingham City Code. 

An amendment is requested to the 2024 City fee schedule approved by the City Commission on 
December 18, 2023.  The Birmingham Museum recommends an increase in its hourly research 
fee from $25 to $30.   

BACKGROUND: 

The Birmingham Museum provides research services to the public, charged at a rate of $25 per 
hour. This rate has been unchanged for over ten years. Due to increases in the actual cost to 
provide the service and to reflect the cost of these services as charged by similar area museums, 
the Birmingham Museum proposes an increase to its research fee to $30 to reflect increases in 
actual cost (A), consistency with area institutions (D), and inflation (F).   

CHANGE CODES AS LISTED ON THE FEE SCHEDULE 
A Fee has remained the same for many years 
B Proposed fee covers current costs 
C Pass through costs that reflect actual cost of service 
D Fee consistent with neighboring communities 
E New Fee 
F Increase to cover normal inflationary increase 
G No longer provide this service 
H Other 

5D



LEGAL REVIEW: 

None. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
Increases in Museum revenue from the proposed fee increase will help offset operating costs.  

SUSTAINABILITY COMMENTS: 

None. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 

None. 

SUMMARY:

As a result of the annual review of City fees, City Departments recommended changes to update 
the 2024 Fee Schedule, which were approved by the City Commission on December 18, 
2023. The Birmingham Museum is requesting an amendment to the 2024 Fee Schedule to 
reflect a change in its research fee from $25 to $30 per hour, in keeping with actual costs, 
inflation, and to reflect fees charged by area museums for this service. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

Proposed Fee Schedule (Museum) 

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 

Make a motion adopting a resolution to amend the 2024 Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and 
Insurance to include a change in the Birmingham Museum’s research fee from $25 to $30 per 
hour. 

5D



 FEE PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

$100.00
$550.00

$100.00
$250.00
$500.00
$400.00
$800.00

additional fees 
will apply
$250.00

$25.00 $30.00 A, D, F Pielack

Security Deposit, returnable
Up to 20 people-resident

Hourly Rate

Up to 20 people- non resident
21-100 people-resident
21-100 people-non-resident
Over 100 people

Security Deposit, returnable
Insurance: Standard Insurance Requirements and Hold Harmless Agreement

Research Requests

MUSEUM
Limited Use Fee-Allen House

Cleaning Deposit, returnable
2 hrs. of approved private use - Allen House, first floor only, with event specific rider and agreement 

Limited Use Fee-Park/Grounds

5D



MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 

DATE: January 2, 2024 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Ryan J. Kearney, Police Captain 

APPROVED BY: Scott A. Grewe, Chief of Police 

SUBJECT:  Columbia Street Stop Signs 

INTRODUCTION: 
The City received requests to evaluate traffic safety measures for the intersections 
along Columbia Street.  Residents noted cut-through traffic and speeding south of E. Maple. 
There is also substantial on-street parking due to the condominium complexes in the 
corridor contributing to sight-distance issues at the intersections along Columbia. 

BACKGROUND: 
Columbia is a residential street south of E. Maple between S. Adams Rd and S. Eton St. Columbia 
shares intersections with Yosemite Blvd, Villa Rd, Hazel St, Bowers St, and Haynes St.   

The City’s transportation consultants, Fleis & Vandenbrink (F&V), performed a field study on 
Monday, 
November 13, 2023, to review the intersection sight distance concerns noted by residents. The 
current signage along Columbia is as follows: 

• Two-way STOP control is provided at the east/west approaches of Columbia at all study
intersections, except Haynes, where a YIELD sign is posted on the Columbia southbound
approach.

• A “No Parking Here to Corner” sign is located on the north leg of the intersection of
Columbia and Yosemite along the east side of Columbia.

• “No Parking Here to Corner” signs are located on the south leg of the intersection of
Columbia and Villa along both sides of Columbia.

The study utilized guidance from the Michigan Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices and 
applicable criteria, including evaluation of the crash history, traffic volumes, and sight distance 
at the intersections, with the following findings: 

5E



1. Speed, volume, and crash history data did not meet the criteria for increased traffic
control.

2. The intersection of Columbia and Villa does not have the necessary intersection sight
distance to operate as a two-way stop. Line of sight obstructions were identified from
the on-street parking both north and south of the intersection on Columbia Street.

3. The intersection of Columbia and Haynes does not have the necessary sight distance to
operate as yield-controlled due to line-of-sight obstructions.

The study was presented to the Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MMTB) on December 5, 2023. 
A motion was made to recommend all-way stop control to the City Commission at the intersections 
of Columbia and Villa and Columbia and Haynes, which carried 5-0. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
A minimal cost will be associated with the City adding stop signs at the intersections, estimated 
to be less than $500.00. 

SUSTAINABILITY: 
N/A 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The traffic study was presented at a public meeting before the MMTB on December 5, 2023. 

SUMMARY: 
Resident complaints were received for safety concerns with speed and sight distance issues at 
intersections along the Columbia St Corridor.  A traffic study was conducted to determine possible 
mitigation measures, resulting in a recommendation to install all-way stop control at the 
intersections of Columbia and Villa and Columbia and Haynes due to sight-distance obstructions. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. MMTB packet from December 5, 2023, including memo and F&V traffic study.
2. MMTB Minutes from the December 5, 2023, meeting.

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to install all-way stop control at the intersections of Columbia 
St and Villa Rd and Columbia St and Haynes St.  Further, to direct the Chief of Police and the City 
Clerk to sign the traffic control orders on behalf of the City. 

5E



MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 

DATE: November 30, 2023 

TO: Multi-Modal Transportation Board 

FROM: Brooks Cowan, City Planning  
Ryan Kearney, Police Captain    
Melissa Coatta, Engineering Department 
Brad Strader, MKSK    
Julie Kroll, Fleis & Vandenbrink 

SUBJECT: Columbia Street Corridor– All-Way Stop Intersection Evaluations 

INTRODUCTION 
The City received resident requests to evaluate traffic safety measures for the intersections 
along Columbia Street.   

BACKGROUND 
Columbia is a residential street south of E Maple between S Adams Rd and S Eton St.  Columbia 
shares intersections with Yosemite Blvd, Villa Rd, Hazel St, Bowers St, and Haynes St. 

Residents have noted a large amount of cut-through and speeding traffic from E Maple and 
substantial on-street parking due to the condominium complexes in the corridor contributing to 
sight-distance issues at the intersections of Columbia. 

EVALUATION 
City Traffic Consultants, Fleis & Vandenbrink (F&V) performed a field study on Monday, 
November 13, 2023, to review the intersection sight distance concerns noted by residents 
requesting traffic control.  The current signage for intersection control is as follows: 

• Two-way STOP control is provided on the minor street approaches at all study
intersections, except Haynes, where a YIELD sign is posted on the Columbia southbound
approach.

• A ‘No Parking Here to Corner’ sign is located on the north leg of the intersection of
Columbia and Yosemite along the east side of Columbia.

• ‘No Parking Here to Corner’ signs are located on the south leg of the intersection of
Columbia and Villa along both sides of Columbia.

5E



The study utilized guidance from the Michigan Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices and 
applicable criteria, including evaluation of the Crash History, Traffic Volumes, and Sight Distance 
at the intersections, which resulted in the following: 
 

1. The intersection of Columbia and Villa does not have the necessary intersection sight 
distance to operate as a two-way stop.  Line of sight obstructions were identified from 
the on-street parking both north and south of the intersection on Columbia Street. 

2. The intersection of Columbia and Haynes does not have the necessary sight distance to 
operate as yield-controlled due to line-of-sight obstructions. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Motion to recommend All-way stop control to the City Commission at the intersections of 
Columbia St & Villa Rd and Columbia St & Haynes St. 

5E



 
 
 
 

MEMO 

27725 Stansbury Boulevard, Suite 195 
Farmington Hills, MI 48334 

P: 248.536.0080 
F: 248.536.0079 

823870 Columbia Corridor-All Way Stop Evaluation FINAL Memo 11-28-2023  www.fveng.com 

 VIA EMAIL: RKearney@bhamgov.org 

To: 
Cpt. Ryan Kearney 
Birmingham Police Department  

From: 
Julie M. Kroll, PE, PTOE 
Paul Bonner, EIT 
Fleis & VandenBrink Engineering 

Date: November 28, 2023 

Re: 
Columbia Street Corridor 
All Way Stop Intersection Evaluations 

Fleis & VandenBrink (F&V) staff is pleased to present this memo to the City of Birmingham for your use in 
evaluating the recommended traffic control signing for the Columbia Street intersections, shown in Figure 1 
below. This study was performed to determine if All Way Stop Control is recommended at the intersections on 
Columbia Street south of Maple Road: 

1. Columbia Street & Yosemite Boulevard 4. Columbia Street & Villa Road 
2. Columbia Street & Hazel Street  5. Columbia Street & Bowers Street 
3. Columbia Street & Haynes Street 

 
FIGURE 1: STUDY INTERSECTION LOCATION MAP 

 

5E



City of Birmingham | Columbia Street Corridor All Way Stop Evaluation 
November 28, 2023 │ Page 2 of 5 

823870 Columbia Corridor-All Way Stop Evaluation FINAL Memo 11-28-2023   

The guidance regarding regulatory traffic measures is provided in the Michigan Manual of Uniform Traffic 
Control Devices (MMUTCD) Sections 2B.04, 2B.06, and 2B.07. Additional information is provided in the 
American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) Geometric Design of Highway 
and Streets (Green Book). F&V referenced the MMUTCD and additional documents to evaluate the existing 
intersection conditions and develop recommendations. The results of the analysis and recommendations are 
included herein. 

FIELD REVIEW  

F&V staff performed a field review of the study intersections on Monday, November 13, 2023, to review the 
intersection, sight distance, and concerns as noted by residents requesting traffic control. The photos taken 
during the field visit are attached. 

Key findings from the field review are summarized below: 

 Two-Way STOP control is provided on the minor street approaches at all of the study intersections, 
with the exception of Haynes Street, where a YIELD sign is posted on the Columbia Street southbound 
approach. 

 A No Parking Here To Corner sign is located on the north leg of the intersection of Columbia Street and 
Yosemite Boulevard along the east side of Columbia Street.  

 No Parking Here To Corner signs are located on the south leg of the intersection of Columbia Street 
and Villa Road along both sides of Columbia Street.  

INTERSECTION CONTROL ANALYSIS 

The study intersections along Columbia Street are four-leg intersections with two-way stop control on the minor 
approaches with the exception of the intersection of Columbia Street at Haynes Street is a T-intersection with 
a YIELD sign along southbound Columbia Street. Section 2B.07 of the MMUTCD provides a set of criteria to 
evaluate in order to determine when the installation of multi-way stop should be considered at an intersection. 
The applicable criterion includes the evaluation of the Crash History, Traffic Volumes, and Sight Distance at the 
intersection.  

A. TRAFFIC VOLUMES  

A. The vehicular volume entering the intersection from the major street approaches (total of both 
approaches) averages at least 300 vehicles per hour, for any 8 hours of an average day. 

B. The combined vehicular, pedestrian, and bicycle volume entering the intersection from the minor street 
approaches (total of both approaches) averages at least 200 units per hour for the same 8 hours, with 
an average delay to minor-street vehicular traffic of at least 30 seconds per vehicle during the highest 
hour; but 

C. If the 85th-percentile approach speed of the major-street traffic exceeds 40 mph, the minimum vehicular 
volume warrants are 70 percent of the values provided in Items 1 and 2. 

When no single criterion is satisfied, but where Criteria A, B, and the Crash Criteria are all satisfied to 80 percent 
of the minimum values. Criterion C is excluded from this condition. 

 The Birmingham Police Department collected speed and volume data on the Columbia Street corridor. 

B. SIGHT DISTANCE  

Locations where a road user, after stopping, cannot see conflicting traffic and is not able to negotiate the 
intersection unless conflicting cross traffic is also required to stop. 

 F&V evaluated intersection sight distance at all of the study intersections in accordance with the 
guidelines outlined in the AASHTO Green Book. Speed data was collected in April 2023 by the 
Birmingham Police Department that showed an 85th percentile speed of 25 mph that was used in the 
sight distance evaluation. 
 
 

5E



City of Birmingham | Columbia Street Corridor All Way Stop Evaluation 
November 28, 2023 │ Page 3 of 5 

823870 Columbia Corridor-All Way Stop Evaluation FINAL Memo 11-28-2023   

C. CRASH HISTORY 

Five or more reported crashes in a 12-month period that are susceptible to correction by a multi-way stop 
installation. Such crashes include right-turn and left-turn collisions as well as right-angle collisions.  

 The Birmingham Police Department provided five (5) years of crash for the Columbia Street corridor. 

COLUMBIA STREET & YOSEMITE BOULEVARD  

A. TRAFFIC VOLUMES: The volume data at the intersection does not meet the volume thresholds.  

B. SIGHT DISTANCE: The intersection of Columbia Street and Yosemite Boulevard provides the necessary 
sight distance to continue to operate as a Two-Way Stop controlled intersection.  

C. CRASH HISTORY: The most recent five (5) years of crash data for the intersection of Columbia Street 
and Yosemite Boulevard were evaluated and indicated that only two (2) crashes occurred that could 
be corrected by changes in traffic control devices. 

The results of the analysis show that All-Way Stop control is not recommended for the intersection of 
Columbia Street and Yosemite Boulevard. The analysis results are summarized below.  

COLUMBIA STREET & VILLA ROAD 

A. TRAFFIC VOLUMES: The volume data at the intersection does not meet the volume thresholds.  

B. SIGHT DISTANCE:  The results of the sight distance evaluation indicates that the intersection of Columbia 
Street and Villa Road does not have the necessary intersection sight distance to operate as a two-way 
stop intersection. Line of sight obstructions were identified from the on-street parking both north and 
south of the intersection on Columbia Street.   

C. CRASH HISTORY: The most recent five (5) years of crash data for the intersection of Columbia Street 
and Villa Road were evaluated and indicated that no crashes occurred that could be corrected by multi-
way stop control.  

The results of the analysis show that All-Way Stop control is recommended for the intersection of 
Columbia Street and Villa Road. The analysis results are summarized below.  

COLUMBIA STREET & HAZEL STREET 

A. TRAFFIC VOLUMES: The volume data at the intersection does not meet the volume thresholds.  

B. SIGHT DISTANCE: The intersection of Columbia Street and Hazel Street provides the necessary sight 
distance to continue to operate as a Two-Way Stop controlled intersection.  

C. CRASH HISTORY: The most recent five (5) years of crash data for the intersection of Columbia Street 
and Hazel Street were evaluated and indicated that no crashes occurred that could be corrected by 
multi-way stop control. 

The results of the analysis show that All-Way Stop control is not recommended for the intersection of 
Columbia Street and Hazel Street. The analysis results are summarized below.  

COLUMBIA STREET & BOWERS STREET 

A. TRAFFIC VOLUMES: The volume data at the intersection does not meet the volume thresholds.  

B. SIGHT DISTANCE: The intersection of Columbia Street and Bowers Street provides the necessary sight 
distance to continue to operate as a Two-Way Stop controlled intersection.  

C. CRASH HISTORY: The most recent five (5) years of crash data for the intersection of Columbia Street 
and Bowers Street were evaluated and indicated that no crashes occurred that could be corrected by 
multi-way stop control. 

The results of the analysis show that All-Way Stop control is not recommended for the intersection of 
Columbia Street and Bowers Street. The analysis results are summarized below.  

  

5E



City of Birmingham | Columbia Street Corridor All Way Stop Evaluation 
November 28, 2023 │ Page 4 of 5 

823870 Columbia Corridor-All Way Stop Evaluation FINAL Memo 11-28-2023   

COLUMBIA STREET & HAYNES STREET 

A. TRAFFIC VOLUMES: The volume data at the intersection does not meet the volume thresholds.  

B. SIGHT DISTANCE: The results of the sight distance evaluation indicates that the intersection of Columbia 
Street and Haynes Street does not have the necessary intersection sight distance to operate as a Yield 
controlled intersection due to line of sight obstructions. 

C. CRASH HISTORY: The most recent five (5) years of crash data for the intersection of Columbia Street 
and Haynes Street were evaluated and indicated that no crashes occurred that could be corrected by 
multi-way stop control. 

The results of the analysis show that All-Way Stop control is recommended for the intersection of 
Columbia Street and Haynes Street.  

SUMMARY 

The results of the multi-way stop evaluation at the study intersection are summarized below: 
 

Multi-Way Stop Sign Criterion (MMUTCD Section 2B.07) 
Yosemite Villa Hazel Bowers Haynes 

Met? Met? Met? Met? Met? 

A. Traffic 
Volumes 

A. The vehicular volume entering the 
intersection from the major street 
approaches (total of both approaches) 
averages at least 300 vehicles per hour 
for any 8 hours of an average day. 

B. The combined vehicular, pedestrian, and 
bicycle volume entering the intersection 
from the minor street approaches (total of 
both approaches) averages at least 200 
units per hour for the same 8 hours, with 
an average delay to minor-street vehicular 
traffic of at least 30 seconds per vehicle 
during the highest hour; but 

C. If the 85th-percentile approach speed of 
the major-street traffic exceeds 40 mph, 
the minimum vehicular volume warrants 
are 70 percent of the values provided in 
Items 1 and 2. 

When no single criterion is satisfied, but where 
Criteria A, B, and the Crash Criteria are all 
satisfied to 80 percent of the minimum values.  
Criterion C is excluded from this condition. 

No No No No No 

B. Sight 
Distance 

Locations where a road user, after stopping, 
cannot see conflicting traffic and is not able to 
negotiate the intersection unless conflicting cross 
traffic is also required to stop. 

No Yes No No Yes 

C. Crashes 

Five or more reported crashes in a 12-month 
period that are susceptible to correction by a 
multi-way stop installation. Such crashes include 
right-turn and left-turn collisions as well as right-
angle collisions. 

No No No No No 

Multi-Way Stop Control Recommended No Yes No No Yes 

 
  

5E



City of Birmingham | Columbia Street Corridor All Way Stop Evaluation 
November 28, 2023 │ Page 5 of 5 

823870 Columbia Corridor-All Way Stop Evaluation FINAL Memo 11-28-2023   

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Based on the results of this study, All-Way Stop control is recommended for each of the following intersections: 

 Columbia Street & Villa Road, and 

 Columbia Street & Haynes Street.  

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this engineering analysis, please do not hesitate to contact 
our office. 

cc:  Brooks Cowan, City Planner 
 Melissa Coatta, PE, City Engineer 
 
Attachments: Sight Distance Exhibits 

Intersection Photos 
 

5E



  

5E



  

Parked Cars 

Tree 

Parked Cars 

Tree 

5E



  

5E



  

5E



 

5E



 

Eastbound Yosemite Boulevard approach at Columbia Street 
Looking North 

5E



  

Westbound Yosemite Boulevard approach at Columbia Street 
Looking North 

 5E



 

Westbound Yosemite Boulevard approach at Columbia Street 
Looking South 

 5E



 

Eastbound Villa Road approach at Columbia Street  
Looking South 

5E



  

Eastbound Villa Road approach at Columbia Street  
Looking North 

 5E



  

Westbound Villa Road approach at Columbia Street  
Looking North 

 5E



 

Westbound Villa Road approach at Columbia Street  
Looking South 

 5E



 

Westbound Hazel Street approach at Columbia Street 
Looking West 

5E



  

Westbound Hazel Street approach at Columbia Street 
Looking South 

 5E



 

Eastbound Hazel Street approach at Columbia Street  
Looking South 

5E



 

Eastbound Hazel Street approach at Columbia Street  
Looking North 

5E



  

Eastbound Hazel Street approach at Columbia Street  
Looking North 

 5E



 

Eastbound Hazel Street approach at Columbia Street  
Looking South 

 5E



 

Westbound Bowers Street approach at Columbia Street 
Looking North 

5E



  

Westbound Bowers Street approach at Columbia Street 
Looking South 

 5E



 

Westbound Bowers Street approach at Columbia Street 
Looking West 

 5E



 

Eastbound Bowers Street approach at Columbia Street 
Looking South 

5E



  

Eastbound Bowers Street approach at Columbia Street 
Looking North 

5E



 

Eastbound Bowers Street approach at Columbia Street 
Looking South 

 5E



 

Eastbound Bowers Street approach at Columbia Street 
Looking North 

 5E



  

Eastbound Haynes Street approach at Columbia Street 
Looking North 

5E



 

Westbound Haynes Street approach at Columbia Street 
Looking North 

5E



 

Southbound Columbia Street approach at Haynes Street 
Looking East 

5E



 

Southbound Columbia Street approach at Haynes Street 
Looking South 

5E



.....

City of Birmingham

Report a Concern
Admin

Reference #: RAC-2023-00807 Date Entered: 10/30/2023 9:27:00 AM
Source: GovAlert Date In Progress:
Status: Closed Closed Date: 10/31/2023

Disposition: No Issue

Concern Details
Type: Street Signage

Description: Why are there no Stop Signs on Columbia? —it’s a race track!
Address: N/A , N/A

Block: Lot:
Location: near 355 Columbia St, Birmingham, MI

Complainant Details
Name: Brad Host

Address:
Email: Braddhost@gmail.com Phone # (248) 219-2249

Property Owner Details
Name:

Address:
Email:

Work Details
Total Hours: 0.00 Total Labor: $0.00

Total Material: $0.00 Total Cost: $0.00

Status Date Assigned Date Completed Employee Assigned Work Cost License Plate #

Violation Details
Notice Date: Comply Date:

Status Date Abated Ordinance Comments

Summons Details

Summons # Issue Date Ordinance Disposition

Notes

Date & Time By Note Type Note
10/31/2023 1:25:00 PM Scott Grewe Internal Note

5E



City Of Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
Thursday, December 5, 2023 

151 Martin Street, City Commission Room 205, Birmingham, MI 

Minutes of the regular meeting of the City of Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board held 
Thursday, December 5, 2023. Chair White convened the meeting at 6:00 p.m.  

A. Rollcall 
Present: Chair Doug White; Board Members Mark Doolittle, David Hocker, Joe Zane;  

Alternate Board Members Gordon Davies, Patrick Hillberg 
 
Absent: Vice Chair Tom Peard; Board Member Victoria Policicchio; Student  

Representatives Sophie Hanawalt, Angie Sharma 
 
Staff:   Senior Planner Cowan; City Engineer Coatta, City Transcriptionist Eichenhorn,  

Police Captain Kearney, Parks & Forestry Foreman McGaughey, Department of  
Public Services Director Zielinski 

 
DNR:  Lawrence Sobson 
 
F&V:  Julie Kroll 
 
MKSK: Brad Strader 
 
F. New Business 

1. Columbia Ave All-Way Stop Review  
 
SP Cowan introduced the item and Ms. Kroll presented the item. Ms. Kroll answered informational 
questions from the Board. 
 
Motion by Mr. Zane 
Seconded by Chair White to recommend All-way stop control to the City Commission 
at the intersections of Columbia St & Villa Rd and Columbia St & Haynes St. 
 
Motion carried, 6-0.  
 
VOICE VOTE  
Yeas:  Doolittle, Davies, White, Hillberg, Zane, Hocker 
Nays:  None 
 
 

 

Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 
 

5E



MEMORANDUM 
Planning Division 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

APPROVED: 

SUBJECT:  

December 28, 2023 

Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 

Nicholas Dupuis, Planning Director 

479 S. Old Woodward – Lease Agreement 

INTRODUCTION: 
The development at 479 S. Old Woodward is a five story mixed-use building with residential units 
on floors four and five. The residential units on the fourth floor have balconies that project into 
the right-of-way, which requires the property owner to enter into a lease with the City of 
Birmingham for the use of this air space. 

BACKGROUND: 
On March 22, 2023 (Agenda – Minutes), the Planning Board moved to approve the Final Site Plan 
and Design review application for the development with several conditions, one of which being 
that the applicant obtain approval for the balcony projections into the right-of-way from the City 
Commission through a lease agreement due to the requirements of Article 4, Section 4.74 
(D)(4)(c)(ii): 

“Permanent architectural features such as windows, balconies, overhangs and 
other architectural features that encroach into the right of way above 8’ may be 
approved by the Planning Board, Design Review Board and/or the Historic District 
Commission provided that they do not extend 2’ or more into the right of way or 
create an obstruction and that the encroachment complies with the design review 
standards set forth in Article 07 of the Birmingham Chapter 126 - Zoning. 
Encroachments that extend more than 2’ into the right of way will also require the 
approval of the City Commission through a lease agreement.” 

The total encroachment of balcony projections beyond 2 ft. was determined to be 360 sq. ft. from 
10 balconies that are 18 feet long. This figure was produced by Burgoyne Appraisal Company, 
who was secured to provide the analysis for fair market value of the air space. The appraisal 
was reviewed in-depth by the City Attorney. 

5F

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Agenda%20FULL%20(REDUCED)%20-%203-22-23.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/PB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED-PROTECTED)%20-%203-22-23.pdf


LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed this item as to form and content and has no concerns. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
The lease agreement is structured as an $850.00 per year lease payable to the City of Birmingham 
with annual inflationary adjustments. 

SUSTAINABILITY: 
There are no sustainability issues in regards to the proposed lease agreement. 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
No public communications are required for this agenda item. 

SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission consider entering into a lease agreement 
with Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC in the amount of $850.00 per year with annual inflationary 
adjustments for an encroachment of 360 sq. ft. of right-of-way for private residential balconies 
at 479 S. Old Woodward. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
• Executed Lease Agreement
• Appraisal by Burgoyne appraisal company

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to enter into a lease agreement with Birmingham Tower 
Partners, LLC in the amount of $850.00 per year with annual inflationary adjustments for an 
encroachment of 360 sq. ft. of right-of-way for private residential balconies at 479 S. Old 
Woodward. 

5F



{01850189.DOCX;4 }1

LEASE OF AIR PREMISES 

THIS LEASE OF AIR PREMISES (“Lease”), dated as of ________________, 2024 (the “Commence-
ment Date”), is made by and between THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, a Michigan municipal corporation 
(“Landlord”), whose address is 151 Martin Street, Birmingham, Michigan 48009, and BIRMINGHAM 
TOWER PARTNERS, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company (“Tenant”), whose address is 251 East 
Merrill St., #205, Birmingham, Michigan 48009. 

For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, Land-
lord and Tenant hereby agree as follows: 

SECTION 1  BACKGROUND. 

A. Tenant owns real property located in the City of Birmingham (the “City”), Oakland County, Mich-
igan, having a street address of 479 South Old Woodward and more particularly described in Exhibit A 
hereto (the "BTP Property"). Tenant’s final site plan for development of a mixed use residential-commer-
cial building on the BTP Property (the “Project”) received final approval from Landlord on _March 22, 
2023___, as depicted on Exhibit B hereto (the “Final Site Plan”). 

B. The Final Site Plan includes ten (10) balconies for the use and enjoyment of occupants of
the fourth floor residential units, some of which encroach approximately four feet (4’) into the public side-
walk right-of-way.   

C. Landlord’s zoning ordinance at Article 4, 4.74SS-01 (D.4.ii and iii) provides that permanent
architectural feature such as balconies that encroach into the right-of-way by more than two feet (2’) may 
be approved by the Planning Board, which has been formally granted, and be evidenced by a lease 
agreement approved by the City Commission. 

D. This Lease evidences the terms and conditions upon which the City approves the exclusive
rights of Tenant and the occupants of the residential units to construct, use, lease, occupy, maintain, 
repair, replace and remove any and all balconies extending approximately four (4’) into the public right-
of-way as depicted in the Final Site Plan (the “Balconies”). 

E. Landlord and Tenant mutually agree that this Lease is an essential component of the Pro-
ject.  

SECTION 2  DEMISED AIR PREMISES; USE.  

A. Landlord hereby grants, demises and lets to Tenant, and Tenant hereby takes and hires from Land-
lord, on the terms, covenants and agreements hereinafter provided, those portions of the public right-of-way im-
mediately adjacent to the Project into which Tenant constructs the Balconies, and all air space above the lowest 
physical component of each such Balcony (collectively, the “Demised Air Premises”) 

B. Tenant, and its architects, contractors, consultants, vendors, licensees, vendors, tenants, occu-
pants, and guests, shall have the exclusive right to use the Demised Air Premises for the construction, operation, 
use, occupancy, repair, maintenance, alteration, and removal of the Balconies, and for any other legal use or 
purpose in connection therewith.   

C. Title to the Balconies, together with all fixtures, components, attachments, additions, improvements,
alterations, and personal property connected thereto or located within the Demised Air Premises shall at all time 
remain in Tenant and/or its designee(s).   

5F



{01850189.DOCX;4 }2

SECTION 3  TERM.  The term of this Lease shall commence on the Commencement Date and expire ninety-
nine (99) years after the Commencement Date (the “Term”); provided, however, that Tenant and Landlord shall 
have the right to terminate this Lease at any time upon delivering written notice of termination at least one hundred 
days prior to the effective date of such termination.   

SECTION 4  RENT.  

A. Commencing on the Commencement Date and continuing through the Term, Tenant agrees to
pay to Landlord, as “Rent”, the sum of Eight Hundred Fifty and 00/100 Dollars ($850.00) per year, payable on 
or before the Commencement Date and January 1 of each calendar year of the Term.  Rent shall be paid to 
the Birmingham City Hall office address first shown above, or at such other place as Landlord from time to 
time may designate in written notice to Tenant. If this Lease is terminated on a day other than December 31, 
Rent for such partial calendar year shall be prorated per diem and returned to Tenant. The Lease will be 
adjusted annually by the Consumer Price Index for the Detroit-Warren-Dearborn area as published by the 
U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics.  The Lease amount will be adjusted annually by multiplying the current Lease 
amount by the index for the month of the anniversary date of the Lease and dividing by the index from the 
same month from the previous year.  If no index is published for the month of the anniversary date, the index 
from the prior month will be used for the purposes of calculating the annual adjustment.  This value has been 
determined by a fair market value analysis (attached as Exhibit C). 

B. Any Rent which is not paid within thirty (30) days after receipt by Tenant of written notice from
Landlord that the same is overdue will be subject to interest at a per annum rate equal to the prime rate 
announced in the Wall Street Journal (the “Default Rate”) on the date when the Rent became due, but in any 
event not in excess of the maximum interest rate permitted by law. Such interest shall be due and payable as 
additional Rent on or before the next yearly installment of Rent is due and will accrue until paid from the date 
that such Rent was due and payable under this Lease. 

SECTION 5  TRANSFER.  Tenant may, without Landlord’s written consent, assign or transfer any 
right, title or interest under, in or to this Lease or sublet or license the whole or any portion of the 
Demised Air Premises, including, without limitation, in connection with a sale of all or any portion of 
the BTP Property or in pledge or assignment of this Lease or any right, title or interest in all or any 
part of the Demised Air Premises, to any lender, financial institution or investor.  

SECTION 6  INSURANCE.  

A. During the Term, Tenant shall maintain or cause to be maintained, at its expense, the
following insurance: 

(i) Commercial General Liability Insurance on an "Occurrence Basis" with limits of liability
not less than $2,000,000.00 per occurrence, combined single limit, Personal Injury, Bodily Injury and 
Property Damage, and include the following extensions: (A) contractual liability, (B) products and com-
pleted operation, (C) independent contractors coverage; (D) broad form general liability extension or 
equivalent; and (E) deletion of explosion, collapse and underground (XCU) exclusions, if applicable; 

(ii) during initial construction of the Project, builders risk insurance covering such risks,
in such amounts and with such companies as reasonable and customarily maintained in southeast-
ern Michigan; and 

(iii) workers' compensation insurance, including employers’ liability coverage, in
amounts and in accordance with all applicable statues of the State of Michigan. 

B. All coverages shall be with insurance companies licensed and admitted to do business
in the State of Michigan. The insurance under Section 6.A. shall include an endorsement stating the 
following: "Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation or Non-Renewal shall be sent 

5F



{01850189.DOCX;4 }3

to: City of Birmingham, P.O. Box 3001, 151 Martin Street, Birmingham, Michigan 48012." Commer-
cial General Liability Insurance shall include an endorsement stating the following shall be Additional 
Insureds: The City of Birmingham including all elected and appointed officials, all employees and 
volunteers, all boards, commissions and/or authorities and board members, including employees 
and volunteers thereof. This coverage shall be primary to any coverage that may be available to the 
additional insured, whether any other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. Upon 
written request from Landlord (not more often than once per year), Tenant shall provide Landlord 
certificates or other evidence of such insurance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any insurance re-
quired under Section 6.A. may be obtained in connection and/or combined with Tenant's insurance 
for the Project so long as the requirements of this Section 6 are satisfied. 

SECTION 7  INDEMNITY.  Tenant shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Landlord, including 
Landlord's elected and appointed officials, employees and volunteers, against any and all claims, 
demands, suits or losses, including all costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees connected therewith, 
and for any damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from Landlord, its 
elected and appointed officials, employees or volunteers (collectively, “Costs and Damages”), by 
reason of personal injury, including bodily injury and death, and/or property damage, including loss 
of use thereof, to the extent such Costs and Damages are directly attributable to the negligence or 
intentional misconduct of Tenant, its architects, contractors, consultants, vendors, licensees, ten-
ants, occupants or guests within the Demised Air Premises.  Tenant shall not be legally or equitably 
liable or responsible for any Costs and Damages caused by or resulting from the acts or omissions 
of Landlord or its elected or appointed officials, employees, volunteers or contractors. 

SECTION 8  DAMAGE.  If any Balcony or components thereof located within the Demised Air Prem-
ises is/are destroyed by fire or other casualty during the Term, then that portion of the Demised Air 
Premises in which such Balcony was located shall, in Tenant’s sole discretion, be excluded from the 
definition of Demised Air Premises, unless and until such time thereafter that Tenant elects, in its 
sole discretion, to replace, rebuild or restore such Balcony and/or components. No such destruction 
or damage shall terminate this Lease and it shall continue in full force and effect.  

SECTION 9  NON-DISTURBANCE AND ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES.  Landlord shall, without 
charge, within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s request: (a) enter into a Subordination, Non-disturbance 
and Attornment Agreement(s) (“SNDA”) in form reasonably satisfactory to Tenant, in favor of Tenant 
and Tenant’s lender, and (b) certify by written instrument that this Lease is unmodified and in full 
force and effect, the date through which Rent has been paid, that Tenant is not in default under this 
Lease, and such other information as Tenant and/or its lender may reasonably request. 

SECTION 10  OWNERSHIP OF IMPROVEMENTS.  Tenant shall own and have the right to take 
the depreciation deductions under the tax laws for the Balconies, together with all fixtures, compo-
nents, attachments, additions, improvements, alterations and personal property connected thereto 
or located within the Demised Air Premises. 

SECTION 11  DEFAULT.  If Tenant fails to pay the initial Rent payment as provided above and such 
failure is not cured within ten (10) days after Tenant’s receipt of written notice from Landlord or 
Tenant fails to perform any material covenant or agreement under this Lease and such failure is not 
cured within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s receipt of written notice from Landlord (or if such failure 
cannot with due diligence be cured within such 30-day period, then such time as may be necessary 
to cure the same with due diligence), then Landlord shall have the right to declare a default and, as 
its sole remedy, either: (i) place a lien on the BTP Property for the unpaid Rent or any damages 
incurred by Landlord as a direct result of such default, or (ii) seek specific performance of such 
covenant or obligations. It is acknowledged and agreed that, regardless of the default, Landlord shall 
not, in any event, have the right, option or remedy to terminate this Lease, Landlord waiving and 
releasing any such right, option or remedy which may exist at law or equity. 

5F



{01850189.DOCX;4 }4

SECTION 12  QUIET ENJOYMENT.  Landlord agrees, covenants and warrants that, notwithstanding 
the fact that the Demised Air Premises is situated in the City right-of-way, as long as this Lease remains 
in effect, Tenant shall peaceably, quietly and exclusively have, hold and enjoy the Demised Air Premises 
for the Term hereby granted without molestation or disturbance by any person or entity and free of any 
and all easements, encumbrances or adverse matters within Landlord’s control. 

SECTION 13  NOTICES.  All notices and communications under this Lease (“Notice”) shall be in 
writing and addressed and delivered to the parties’ respective addresses first above written (or such 
other address as designated by a party in accordance with this Section) by: (a) registered mail, return 
receipt requested, postage prepaid (in which case Notice shall be deemed given on the date the 
return receipt is signed or refused), or (b) nationally-recognized overnight courier, prepaid and 
marked for “next day” delivery (in which case Notice shall be deemed given on the next business 
day after deposit with the overnight courier). All notices sent to Landlord shall be sent to the attention 
of the Birmingham City Manager unless otherwise provided herein. A copy of all notices to Landlord 
shall also be sent to the Birmingham City Attorney, Mary Kucharek, at 3001 W. Big Beaver Road, Suite 
600, Troy, Michigan, 48084-3103. All notices sent to Tenant shall be sent to the attention of the Doraid 
Markus at the Tenant’s address listed above. A copy of all notices to Tenant shall also be sent to Bradley 
F. Scobel, 2000 Town Center, Ste., 1500, Southfield, Michigan 48075.

SECTION 14  BINDING ON SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.  All· covenants, agreements, provisions 
and conditions of this Lease shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, and 
their respective successors and assigns.  

SECTION 15  MISCELLANEOUS.  

A. This Lease may not be amended, modified, terminated, released or discharged, in whole or
in part, except by an instrument in writing signed by all of the parties hereto. 

B. If any term, covenant, condition or provision of this Lease or the application thereof to
any person or circumstances shall, at any time or to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable, the 
remainder of this Lease, or the application of such term or provision to other persons or circumstances 
shall not be affected thereby, and each term, covenant, condition and provision of this Lease 
shall be valid and be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

C. This Lease shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan. When-
ever the contents of any provision shall require it, the singular number shall be held to include the plural 
number and vice versa, and the neuter gender includes the masculine and the feminine. The captions of 
this Lease are solely for convenience and shall not be deemed a part of this Lease for the purposes 
of construing the meaning thereof or any other purpose.   

D. This Lease contains the entire agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the Demised
Air Premises, and all prior agreements, whether oral or written, with respect thereto are hereby merged 
in and superseded by the terms and conditions of this Lease. 

E. No waiver of any covenant or condition contained in this Lease, or of any breach of any such
covenant or condition, shall constitute a waiver of any subsequent breach of such covenant or condition 
by either party, or justify or authorize the non-observance on any other occasion of the same or any other 
covenant or condition hereof of either party. 

F. Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof,
shall be settled either by commencement of a suit in Oakland County Circuit Court, the 48th District Court 
or by arbitration. If both parties elect to have the dispute resolved by arbitration, it shall be settled pursuant 
to Chapter 50 of the Revised Judicature Act for the State of Michigan and administered by the American 
Arbitration Association with one arbitrator being used, or three arbitrators in the event any party’s claim 

5F



{01850189.DOCX;4 }5

exceeds $1,000,000. Each party shall bear its own costs and expenses and an equal share of the arbi-
trator’s and administrative fees of arbitration. Such arbitration shall qualify as statutory arbitration pursu-
ant to MCL §600.5001 et seq., and the Oakland County Circuit Court or any court having jurisdiction shall 
render judgment upon the award of the arbitrator made pursuant to this Agreement. The laws of the State 
of Michigan shall govern this Agreement, and the arbitration shall take place in Oakland County, Michi-
gan.   In the event that the parties elect not to have the matter in dispute arbitrated, any dispute between 
the parties may be resolved by the filing of a suit in a federal or state court with jurisdiction over Oakland 
County, Michigan. 

SECTION 16  SHORT FORM LEASE.  Within thirty (30) days of receipt of request from Landlord or 
Tenant, each party will promptly execute and deliver a short form of this Lease in recordable form, setting 
forth the names and addresses of the parties, reference to this Lease, the description of the Demised Air 
Premises, the date of commencement and expiration of this Lease, Tenant’s right to build, alter, repair, 
improve, change or demolish structures, improvements and fixtures in the Demised Air Premises, and 
such other information as either party may reasonably request. The short form Lease may be recorded by 
either party, at that party’s expense. 

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW] 

5F



5F



{01850189.DOCX;4 }7

LANDLORD: 
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

By: 
Elaine McLain, Mayor 

By: 
Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 

Date signed by Lessor: , 2024 

APPROVED: 

Jana Ecker, City Manager 
(Approved as to substance) 

Mary M. Kucharek, City Attorney 
(Approved as to form) 

Mark A. Gerber, Finance Director 
(Approved as to Finances) 

5F



 

 

 

Exhibit A 
Legal Description for Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC property known as                

479 S. Old Woodward Ave, Birmingham, MI 48009 

 

T2N, R10E, SEC 36 ASSESSOR'S PLAT NO 13 LOT 7 MORE PARTICULARY DESC AS BEG 
AT SW LOT COR, TH N 34-27-40 W 80.56 FT, TH N 54-49-38 E 234.96 FT, TH S 18-42-
04 E 21.15 FT, TH ALG CURVE TO LEFT, RAD 6939.63 FT, CHORD BEARS S 19-03-46 E 
66.47 FT, DIST OF 66.47 FT, TH S 55-47-59 W 211.54 FT TO BEG 10-8-21 FR 011 & 

012  

5F



NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION

REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY
APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR
DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS
PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

BIRMINGHAM
TOWERS
MIXED USE
OLD WOODWARD AT HAZEL STREET
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN

MARKUS
MANAGEMENT
GROUP, LLC
251 EAST MERRILL STREET
SUITE #205
BIRMINGHAM, MI, 48009

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:
JANUARY 03, 2023

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

PB

JPB

DES. PB

2017-093

www.peagroup.com
t: 844.813.2949

REVIEW PER CITY         3-14-2023

COVER SHEET

COVER

BIRMINGHAM TOWERS MIXED USE
OLD WOODWARD  AVENUE  AT  HAZEL  STREET

Exhibit B

5F



NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION

’

REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY
APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR
DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS
PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

NORTH

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

BIRMINGHAM
TOWERS
MIXED USE
OLD WOODWARD AT HAZEL STREET
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN

MARKUS
MANAGEMENT
GROUP, LLC
251 EAST MERRILL STREET
SUITE #205
BIRMINGHAM, MI, 48009

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:
JANUARY 03, 2023

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

PB

JPB

DES. PB

2017-093

www.peagroup.com
t: 844.813.2949

0 10 20 40

SCALE: 1" = 20'

REVIEW PER CITY         3-14-2023

TOPOGRAPHIC
SURVEY

C-1.0
5F



NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION

’

REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY
APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR
DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS
PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

NORTH

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

BIRMINGHAM
TOWERS
MIXED USE
OLD WOODWARD AT HAZEL STREET
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN

MARKUS
MANAGEMENT
GROUP, LLC
251 EAST MERRILL STREET
SUITE #205
BIRMINGHAM, MI, 48009

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:
JANUARY 03, 2023

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

PB

JPB

DES. PB

2017-093

www.peagroup.com
t: 844.813.2949

0 10 20 40

SCALE: 1" = 20'

REVIEW PER CITY         3-14-2023

SITE PLAN

C-3.0
5F



NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION

REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY
APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR
DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS
PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

NORTH

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

BIRMINGHAM
TOWERS
MIXED USE
OLD WOODWARD AT HAZEL STREET
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN

MARKUS
MANAGEMENT
GROUP, LLC
251 EAST MERRILL STREET
SUITE #205
BIRMINGHAM, MI, 48009

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:
JANUARY 03, 2023

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

PB

JPB

DES. PB

2017-093

www.peagroup.com
t: 844.813.2949

0 10 20 40

SCALE: 1" = 20'

REVIEW PER CITY         3-14-2023

PRELIMINARY
UTILITY PLAN

C-6.0
5F



NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION

REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY
APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR
DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS
PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

BIRMINGHAM
TOWERS
MIXED USE
OLD WOODWARD AT HAZEL STREET
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN

MARKUS
MANAGEMENT
GROUP, LLC
251 EAST MERRILL STREET
SUITE #205
BIRMINGHAM, MI, 48009

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:
JANUARY 03, 2023

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

PB

JPB

DES. PB

2017-093

www.peagroup.com
t: 844.813.2949

REVIEW PER CITY         3-14-2023

NOTES AND
DETAILS

C-8.1
5F



NOT  FOR  CONSTRUCTION

REVISIONS

CAUTION!!
THE LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES AS SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING ARE ONLY
APPROXIMATE.  NO GUARANTEE IS EITHER EXPRESSED OR
IMPLIED AS TO THE COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE EXCLUSIVELY RESPONSIBLE FOR
DETERMINING THE EXACT UTILITY LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS
PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

NORTH

PROJECT TITLE

CLIENT

BIRMINGHAM
TOWERS
MIXED USE
OLD WOODWARD AT HAZEL STREET
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN

MARKUS
MANAGEMENT
GROUP, LLC
251 EAST MERRILL STREET
SUITE #205
BIRMINGHAM, MI, 48009

ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:
JANUARY 03, 2023

DRAWING TITLE

DRAWING NUMBER:

PEA JOB NO.

DN.

P.M.

PB

JPB

DES. PB

2017-093

www.peagroup.com
t: 844.813.2949

0 10 20 40

SCALE: 1" = 20'

REVIEW PER CITY         3-14-2023

= FRONTAGE TREES

KEY

PRELIMINARY
LANDSCAPE

PLAN

L-1.0
5F



NO SCALE

LOCATION MAP

SITE

BIRMINGHAM TOWERS (MIXED USE)
469-479 SOUTH OLD WOODWARD

BIRMINGHAM, MI 48009

OWNER/DEVELOPER:

BIRMINGHAM TOWER PARTNERS LLC
251 EAST MERRILL ST, STE 204

BIRMINGHAM, MI 48009

co
py

rig
ht

   
   

   
   

24
00

 S
O

U
TH

 H
U

R
O

N
 P

AR
KW

AY
 +

 A
N

N
 A

R
BO

R
, M

I 4
81

04
P:

 7
34

.9
75

.2
40

0 
+ 

F:
 7

34
.9

75
.2

41
0

W
W

W
.B

O
W

ER
SA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

BO
W

ER
S 

+ 
AS

SO
C

IA
TE

S,
 IN

C
.

SHEET + NUMBER

SHEET + TITLE

ISSUE + DATE

PROJECT + NUMBER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
+ 

IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
C

O
N

SU
LT

AN
T 

+ 
N

AM
E

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
 T

O
W

ER
S

M
IX

ED
 U

SE
O

LD
 W

O
O

D
W

AR
D

 A
VE

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
, M

IC
H

IG
AN

22-222

20
22

T1.00

TITLE SHEET

22222T100B.dwg

03 JAN 2023 SITE SUB.
23 FEB 2023 SITE RESUB
14 MAR 2023 CITY SUB

ARCHITECT

BOWERS + ASSOCIATES, INC.
2400 S. HURON PARKWAY

ANN ARBOR, MICHIGAN 48104
T: 734.975.2400

STRUCTURAL ENGINEERCIVIL ENGINEER

MEP ENGINEERLANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

5F



9'-4"

2'
-0

"

9'-0"

18
'-0

"

16
'-6

"
3'

-1
"

18
'-0

"

20'-0"

SITE PLAN
SCALE: 1" = 10'

co
py

rig
ht

   
   

   
   

24
00

 S
O

U
TH

 H
U

R
O

N
 P

AR
KW

AY
 +

 A
N

N
 A

R
BO

R
, M

I 4
81

04
P:

 7
34

.9
75

.2
40

0 
+ 

F:
 7

34
.9

75
.2

41
0

W
W

W
.B

O
W

ER
SA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

BO
W

ER
S 

+ 
AS

SO
C

IA
TE

S,
 IN

C
.

SHEET + NUMBER

SHEET + TITLE

ISSUE + DATE

PROJECT + NUMBER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
+ 

IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
C

O
N

SU
LT

AN
T 

+ 
N

AM
E

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
 T

O
W

ER
S

M
IX

ED
 U

SE
O

LD
 W

O
O

D
W

AR
D

 A
VE

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
, M

IC
H

IG
AN

22-222

20
23

SP1.00

SITE PLAN

22222MAST1b.dwg

22 FEB 2023 SITE RESUB
03 MAR 2023
14 MAR 2023 CITY SUB.

S.
 O

LD
 W

O
O

D
W

AR
D

 A
VE

N
U

E
(1

00
' W

ID
E)

HAZEL STREET (50' WIDE)

W
O

O
D

W
AR

D
 A

VE
N

U
E 

/ M
-1

(2
00

' W
ID

E)

DN

UP

5F



SECOND BASEMENT PARKING
SCALE: 18" = 1'-0"

co
py

rig
ht

   
   

   
   

24
00

 S
O

U
TH

 H
U

R
O

N
 P

AR
KW

AY
 +

 A
N

N
 A

R
BO

R
, M

I 4
81

04
P:

 7
34

.9
75

.2
40

0 
+ 

F:
 7

34
.9

75
.2

41
0

W
W

W
.B

O
W

ER
SA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

BO
W

ER
S 

+ 
AS

SO
C

IA
TE

S,
 IN

C
.

SHEET + NUMBER

SHEET + TITLE

ISSUE + DATE

PROJECT + NUMBER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
+ 

IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
C

O
N

SU
LT

AN
T 

+ 
N

AM
E

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
 T

O
W

ER
S

M
IX

ED
 U

SE
47

9 
S 

O
LD

 W
O

O
D

W
AR

D
 A

VE
BI

R
M

IN
G

H
AM

, M
IC

H
IG

AN

22-222

20
22

A1.00A

LEVEL 2
BASEMENT

PARKING PLAN

03 NOV 2022 TENANT REV
20 DEC 2022 OWN. REV
23 DEC 2022 PKG CALC
03 JAN 2023 SITE SUB.
06 JAN 2023 OWN. REV.
07 FEB 2023 OWN REV
23 FEB 2023 SITE RESUB
03 MAR 2023
14 MAR 2023 CITY SUB.

33 SPACES (BASEMENT LEVEL 2)
PARKING

MECHANICAL

1 2

3 4 5 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23

242829303132

RAMP

ELEV. LOBBY

ELEV.
ELEV.

STAIR

STAIR

TOTAL BUILDING : 18,175 SQ.F

LINE OF FLOOR
ABOVE

6 7

252627
UP

DN

MECH

LINE OF
PROPOSED
FOUNDATION

33

MIRROR

5F



8'-0" 8'-0" 8'-0"

LOWER LEVEL PARKING
SCALE: 18" = 1'-0"

co
py

rig
ht

   
   

   
   

24
00

 S
O

U
TH

 H
U

R
O

N
 P

AR
KW

AY
 +

 A
N

N
 A

R
BO

R
, M

I 4
81

04
P:

 7
34

.9
75

.2
40

0 
+ 

F:
 7

34
.9

75
.2

41
0

W
W

W
.B

O
W

ER
SA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

BO
W

ER
S 

+ 
AS

SO
C

IA
TE

S,
 IN

C
.

SHEET + NUMBER

SHEET + TITLE

ISSUE + DATE

PROJECT + NUMBER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
+ 

IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
C

O
N

SU
LT

AN
T 

+ 
N

AM
E

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
 T

O
W

ER
S

M
IX

ED
 U

SE
47

9 
S 

O
LD

 W
O

O
D

W
AR

D
 A

VE
BI

R
M

IN
G

H
AM

, M
IC

H
IG

AN

22-222

20
22

A1.00B

LEVEL 1
BASEMENT

PARKING PLAN

03 NOV 2022 TENANT REV
20 DEC 2022 OWN. REV
23 DEC 2022 PKG CALC
03 JAN 2023 SITE SUB.
06 JAN 2023 OWN. REV.
07 FEB 2023 OWN REV
23 FEB 2023 SITE RESUB
03 MAR 2023
14 MAR 2023 CITY SUB.

31 SPACES (BASEMENT LEVEL 1)

PARKING

MECHANICAL

MECHANICAL

BIKES

1 2

3 4 5 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23

242526272829

RAMP

ELEV. LOBBY

ELEV. ELEV.

STAIR

STAIR

6 7

UP

DN

DN

UP

MECH

TOTAL BUILDING : 18,175 SQ.F

30

MIRRORMIRROR

31

5F



9'-4"

2'
-0

"

9'-0"

18
'-0

"

16
'-6

"
3'

-1
"

18
'-0

"

20'-0"

FIRST (GROUND)LEVEL FLOOR PLAN
SCALE: 18" = 1'-0"

co
py

rig
ht

   
   

   
   

24
00

 S
O

U
TH

 H
U

R
O

N
 P

AR
KW

AY
 +

 A
N

N
 A

R
BO

R
, M

I 4
81

04
P:

 7
34

.9
75

.2
40

0 
+ 

F:
 7

34
.9

75
.2

41
0

W
W

W
.B

O
W

ER
SA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

BO
W

ER
S 

+ 
AS

SO
C

IA
TE

S,
 IN

C
.

SHEET + NUMBER

SHEET + TITLE

ISSUE + DATE

PROJECT + NUMBER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
+ 

IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
C

O
N

SU
LT

AN
T 

+ 
N

AM
E

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
 T

O
W

ER
S

M
IX

ED
 U

SE
O

LD
 W

O
O

D
W

AR
D

 A
VE

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
, M

IC
H

IG
AN

22-222

20
22

A1.01

FIRST (GROUND) LEVEL
FLOOR PLAN

03 NOV 2022 TENANT REV
20 DEC 2022 OWN. REV
23 DEC 2022 PKG CALC
03 JAN 2023 SITE SUB.
06 JAN 2023 OWN. REV
08 FEB 2023 OWN REV
23 FEB 2023 SITE RESUB
02 MAR 2023 OWN REV
03 MAR 2023
14 MAR 2023 CITY SUB.

MAIN LEVEL
4,290 SQUARE FEET

APARTMENT/
OFFICE LOBBY

526 SQUARE FEET

RESTAURANT.

ELEV. LOBBY

ELEV. ELEV.

STAIR

RAMP
STAIR

ELECTRICAL
ROOM

TRASH/RECYCLE
ROOM

LOADING

OVERHEAD DOOR

JAN.
CLO.

MAIL

TOTAL FLOOR S.F : 18,175 S.F

W
O

O
D

W
AR

D
 A

VE
N

U
E 

(1
00

' R
.O

.W
.)

HAZEL STREET (50' R.O.W)

SO
U

TH
 O

LD
 W

O
O

D
W

AR
D

 (1
00

' R
.O

.W
.)

982 SQ. FT.

EXISTING STRUCTURE

PARKING
12 SPACES + 11 STACK

23 TOTAL

PA
C

KA
G

ESFDC

CORRIDOR

T

UTILITY

MIRROR

REMOVABLE
BOLLARDS
-TYP

MIRROR

LOADING DEPTH
(40' x 12')

FIRE COMMAND
200 SF

1 2 3 4 5 6

12 11 10 9 8 7

5F



co
py

rig
ht

   
   

   
   

24
00

 S
O

U
TH

 H
U

R
O

N
 P

AR
KW

AY
 +

 A
N

N
 A

R
BO

R
, M

I 4
81

04
P:

 7
34

.9
75

.2
40

0 
+ 

F:
 7

34
.9

75
.2

41
0

W
W

W
.B

O
W

ER
SA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

BO
W

ER
S 

+ 
AS

SO
C

IA
TE

S,
 IN

C
.

SHEET + NUMBER

SHEET + TITLE

ISSUE + DATE

PROJECT + NUMBER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
+ 

IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
C

O
N

SU
LT

AN
T 

+ 
N

AM
E

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
 T

O
W

ER
S

M
IX

ED
 U

SE
O

LD
 W

O
O

D
W

AR
D

 A
VE

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
, M

IC
H

IG
AN

22-222

20
22

A1.02

SECOND LEVEL
FLOOR PLAN

03 NOV 2022 TENANT REV
20 DEC 2022 OWN. REV
23 DEC 2022 PKG CALC
03 JAN 2023 SITE SUB.
06 JAN 2023 OWN. REV
08 FEB 2023 OWN REV
23 FEB 2023 SITE RESUB
03 MAR 2023
10 MAR 2023
14 MAR 2023 CITY SUB.

SECOND LEVEL FLOOR PLAN
SCALE: 18" = 1'-0"

16169 SQ. FT.

OFFICE SPACE

ELEV. LOBBY

ELEV. ELEV.

STAIR

STAIR

TRASH
CHUTE

TOTAL BUILDING : 18175 SQ.F

EXISTING STRUCTURE

SHAFT

5F



co
py

rig
ht

   
   

   
   

24
00

 S
O

U
TH

 H
U

R
O

N
 P

AR
KW

AY
 +

 A
N

N
 A

R
BO

R
, M

I 4
81

04
P:

 7
34

.9
75

.2
40

0 
+ 

F:
 7

34
.9

75
.2

41
0

W
W

W
.B

O
W

ER
SA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

BO
W

ER
S 

+ 
AS

SO
C

IA
TE

S,
 IN

C
.

SHEET + NUMBER

SHEET + TITLE

ISSUE + DATE

PROJECT + NUMBER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
+ 

IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
C

O
N

SU
LT

AN
T 

+ 
N

AM
E

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
 T

O
W

ER
S

M
IX

ED
 U

SE
O

LD
 W

O
O

D
W

AR
D

 A
VE

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
, M

IC
H

IG
AN

22-222

20
22

A1.03

THIRD LEVEL
FLOOR PLAN

03 NOV 2022 TENANT REV
20 DEC 2022 OWN. REV
23 DEC 2022 PKG CALC
03 JAN 2023 SITE SUB.
06 JAN 2023 OWN. REV
08 FEB 2023 OWN REV
23 FEB 2023 SITE RESUB
03 MAR 2023
10 MAR 2023
14 MAR 2023 CITY SUB.

THIRD LEVEL FLOOR PLAN
SCALE: 18" = 1'-0"

16169 SQ. FT.

OFFICE SPACE

ELEV. LOBBY

ELEV. ELEV.

STAIR

STAIR

TRASH
CHUTE

TOTAL BUILDING : 18175 SQ.F

EXISTING STRUCTURE

5F



REF.

KK

Q

Q

QQ

402319VALTONTOILET

KK

REF.

2'-10"

K

K

REF.

402319VALTONTOILET

K

K

REF.

402319VALTONTOILET

KK

REF.

402319VALTONTOILET

K

K

KK

FRPSHOWER RECEPTORARCHERK-9479

402319VALTONTOILET

KK K

K

FRPSHOWER RECEPTORARCHERK-9479

402319VALTONTOILET

KK

402319VALTONTOILET

95078 GUARD+SHOWER RECEPTOR

VITREOUS CHINABATHROOM SINK

402319VALTONTOILET

VITREOUS CHINABATHROOM SINK

K K

KK K

K

FRPSHOWER RECEPTORARCHERK-9479

402319VALTONTOILET

K

K

KK

FRPSHOWER RECEPTORARCHERK-9479

402319VALTONTOILET

KK

402319VALTONTOILET

K K

402319VALTONTOILET

co
py

rig
ht

   
   

   
   

24
00

 S
O

U
TH

 H
U

R
O

N
 P

AR
KW

AY
 +

 A
N

N
 A

R
BO

R
, M

I 4
81

04
P:

 7
34

.9
75

.2
40

0 
+ 

F:
 7

34
.9

75
.2

41
0

W
W

W
.B

O
W

ER
SA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

BO
W

ER
S 

+ 
AS

SO
C

IA
TE

S,
 IN

C
.

SHEET + NUMBER

SHEET + TITLE

ISSUE + DATE

PROJECT + NUMBER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
+ 

IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
C

O
N

SU
LT

AN
T 

+ 
N

AM
E

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
 T

O
W

ER
S

M
IX

ED
 U

SE
O

LD
 W

O
O

D
W

AR
D

 A
VE

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
, M

IC
H

IG
AN

22-222

20
22

A1.04

FOURTH LEVEL
FLOOR PLAN

03 NOV 2022 TENANT REV
20 DEC 2022 OWN REV
23 DEC 2022 PKG CALC
03 JAN 2023 SITE SUB.
10 FEB 2023 OWN REV
23 FEB 2023 SITE RESUB
03 MAR 2023
14 MAR 2023 CITY SUB.

FOURTH LEVEL FLOOR PLAN
SCALE: 18" = 1'-0"

3BD/2.5 BATH
2385 SQ. FT.

2BD/2BATH
1232 SQ. FT. 2BD/2BATH

1224 SQ. FT.

1BD/1BATH
1013 SQ. FT.

1BD/1BATH
978 SQ. FT.

1BD/1BATH
950 SQ. FT.

1BD/1BATH
916 SQ. FT.

2BD/2BATH
1309 SQ. FT.

ELEVATOR LOBBY

2BD/2BATH
1235 SQ. FT.

ELEV
ELEV

STAIR

CORRIDOR

STAIR

TRASH
RECYCLE

1

2 3

6

7

891011

TOTAL BUILDING : 18175 SQ.F

MECH

2BD/2BATH
1235 SQ. FT.

4

2BD/2BATH
1235 SQ. FT.

5

W

D

W

D

W

D

W

D W

D

W D

W

D
W

D

W

D
W D

WD

EXISTING STRUCTURE

5F



K

K

FRPSHOWER RECEPTORARCHERK-9479

KK

402319VALTONTOILET

VITREOUS CHINABATHROOM SINK

KK

FRPSHOWER RECEPTORARCHERK-9479

K

K

FRPSHOWER RECEPTORARCHERK-9479

KK

FRPSHOWER RECEPTORARCHERK-9479

KK K

K

FRPSHOWER RECEPTORARCHERK-9479

402319VALTONTOILET

K

K

KK

FRPSHOWER RECEPTORARCHERK-9479

402319VALTONTOILET

K

K

KK

FRPSHOWER RECEPTORARCHERK-9479

402319VALTONTOILET

K

K

402319VALTONTOILET

KK

QQ

FRPSHOWER RECEPTORARCHERK-9479

FRPSHOWER RECEPTORARCHERK-9479

402319VALTONTOILET

KK

FIFTH LEVEL FLOOR PLAN
SCALE: 18" = 1'-0"

co
py

rig
ht

   
   

   
   

24
00

 S
O

U
TH

 H
U

R
O

N
 P

AR
KW

AY
 +

 A
N

N
 A

R
BO

R
, M

I 4
81

04
P:

 7
34

.9
75

.2
40

0 
+ 

F:
 7

34
.9

75
.2

41
0

W
W

W
.B

O
W

ER
SA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

BO
W

ER
S 

+ 
AS

SO
C

IA
TE

S,
 IN

C
.

SHEET + NUMBER

SHEET + TITLE

ISSUE + DATE

PROJECT + NUMBER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
+ 

IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
C

O
N

SU
LT

AN
T 

+ 
N

AM
E

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
 T

O
W

ER
S

M
IX

ED
 U

SE
O

LD
 W

O
O

D
W

AR
D

 A
VE

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
, M

IC
H

IG
AN

22-222

20
22

A1.05

FIFTH LEVEL
FLOOR PLAN

03 NOV 2022 TENANT REV
20 DEC 2022 OWN. REV
23 DEC 2022 PKG CALC
03 JAN 2023 SITE SUB.
10 FEB 2023 OWN REV
23 FEB 2023 SITE RESUB
03 MAR 2023
14 MAR 2023 CITY SUB.

2 BD/2 BATH
2028 SQ. FT.

1BD/1BATH
782 SQ. FT.

1 BED/1 BATH
883 SQ. FT.

1BD/1BATH
806 SQ. FT.

ELEV. LOBBY

ELEV. ELEV.

STAIR

STAIR

TRASH /
RECYCLE

CORRIDOR

2BD/2BATH
1185 SQ. FT.

2BD/2BATH
1184 SQ. FT.

1BD/1BATH
785 SQ. FT.

OUTDOOR
SPACE

1

2 4 5

6

891011

TOTAL BUILDING SQ.F: 18175

1BD/1BATH
991 SQ. FT.

MECH

7

1BD/1BATH
855 SQ. FT.

1BD/1BATH
765 SQ. FT.

2BD/2BATH
1184 SQ. FT.

3

OUTDOOR
SPACE

OUTDOOR
SPACE

OUTDOOR
SPACE

OUTDOOR
SPACE

OUTDOOR
SPACE

OUTDOOR
SPACE

OUTDOOR
SPACE

W

D

W

D

W

D

W

D

W

D

W

D

W D W D W D

W D

EXISTING STRUCTURE

W D

5F



SIXTH LEVEL  PLAN (TERRACE) - 6,629 SF
SCALE: 18" = 1'-0"

co
py

rig
ht

   
   

   
   

24
00

 S
O

U
TH

 H
U

R
O

N
 P

AR
KW

AY
 +

 A
N

N
 A

R
BO

R
, M

I 4
81

04
P:

 7
34

.9
75

.2
40

0 
+ 

F:
 7

34
.9

75
.2

41
0

W
W

W
.B

O
W

ER
SA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

BO
W

ER
S 

+ 
AS

SO
C

IA
TE

S,
 IN

C
.

SHEET + NUMBER

SHEET + TITLE

ISSUE + DATE

PROJECT + NUMBER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
+ 

IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
C

O
N

SU
LT

AN
T 

+ 
N

AM
E

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
 T

O
W

ER
S

M
IX

ED
 U

SE
O

LD
 W

O
O

D
W

AR
D

 A
VE

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
, M

IC
H

IG
AN

22-222

20
22

A1.06

SIXTH LEVEL
FLOOR PLAN

03 NOV 2022 TENANT REV
21 DEC 2022 OWN REV
23 DEC 2022 PKG CALC
03 JAN 2023 SITE SUB.
23 FEB 2023 SITE RESUB
03 MAR 2023
14 MAR 2023 CITY SUB.

SCREENEED
MECHANICAL

SPACE

ROOF SCREEN/ACOUSTICAL
BARRIER

ROOF SCREEN/ACOUSTICAL
BARRIER

MECHANICAL
SHAFT/SPACE

ELEVATOR
LOBBY

ELEVATORS

EGRESS
STAIR

DOWN

PLANTER

PERGOLA STRUCTURE
BELOW - TYP.

LINE OF APARTMENT
BELOW

ROOF TOP PATIO
(DRAINAGE PAVERS)

EG
R

ES
S

EG
R

ES
S

PLANTER

PLANTER

EGRESS
STAIR

DOWN

ROOF SUPPORT

EDGE OF ROOF ABOVE

TERRACE RAILING
BELOW - TYP.

GUARD RAIL

LOWER LEVEL
BALCONIES-TYP.

ROOF TOP PATIO
(DRAINAGE PAVERS)

RTU #1 RTU #4 M.A.U.

ALUMINUM FRAMED
TEMPERED GLASS GUARDRAIL

RTU #3

EXHAUST

RTU #5
GARAGE

RTU #2

5F



co
py

rig
ht

   
   

   
   

24
00

 S
O

U
TH

 H
U

R
O

N
 P

AR
KW

AY
 +

 A
N

N
 A

R
BO

R
, M

I 4
81

04
P:

 7
34

.9
75

.2
40

0 
+ 

F:
 7

34
.9

75
.2

41
0

W
W

W
.B

O
W

ER
SA

R
C

H
.C

O
M

BO
W

ER
S 

+ 
AS

SO
C

IA
TE

S,
 IN

C
.

SHEET + NUMBER

SHEET + TITLE

ISSUE + DATE

PROJECT + NUMBER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
+ 

IN
FO

R
M

AT
IO

N
C

O
N

SU
LT

AN
T 

+ 
N

AM
E

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
 T

O
W

ER
S

M
IX

ED
 U

SE
O

LD
 W

O
O

D
W

AR
D

 A
VE

BI
R

M
IN

G
H

AM
, M

IC
H

IG
AN

22-222

20
23

A3.00

ROOF PLAN

22222 A300.dwg

23 FEB 2023 SITE RESUB
14 MAR 2023 CITY SUB.

ROOF PLAN
SCALE: 18" = 1'-0"

TERRACE ROOF BELOW

MECHANICAL AREA
OPEN TO ABOVE

TERRACE CANOPY ROOF
ROOF DRAIN - TYP.

TOP OF MECHANICAL
SCREEN WALL

MECHANICAL AREA
OPEN TO ABOVE

ROOFTOP UNIT
NOT TO SCALE

NOTE:
CURB IS 12" TALL

5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 1 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

November 25, 2023 

Doraid Markus 
Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC 
251 E. Merrill, Suite 205 
Birmingham MI  48009 

Re: Appraisal Report of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks (“Subject Parcel”) 
Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
479 S. Old Woodward Avenue (“Development Parcel”) 
City of Birmingham, Oakland County, Michigan 

Gentlemen: 

In compliance with your request, I have inspected and analyzed the above captioned parcels of real 
estate and prepared this real estate appraisal.  The purpose of this report is to address the market 
value of the balcony easement over public sidewalks (the “Subject Parcel”) associated with and 
adjoining the “Development Parcel” of land located at 479 South Old Woodward Avenue in the City of 
Birmingham located just west of Woodward Avenue (M-1) and south of downtown (generally centered 
at Old Woodward Avenue and Maple Road).  The Development Parcel is zoned B-3 Office Residential 
by the City of Birmingham.

I have considered the appraisal assignment and am familiar with the scope of the analysis that will be 
required.  The appraisal will be performed in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional 
Appraisal Practice (USPAP), and the Codes of Ethics of the International Right-of-Way Association 
and American Society of Appraisers.  The effective Date of Valuation for this report is November 15, 
2023. 

This appraisal is an Appraisal Report per USPAP in an appropriate format for negotiation with the City 
of Birmingham. While not expected to be used for litigation purposes, the appraisal will use the 
standard Michigan definitions applicable to right-of-way acquisition and eminent domain.  The 
easement to be appraised is a two-foot overhang into the airspace above the public sidewalk to allow 
for the integration of balconies associated with a mixed-use residential development on the 
Development Parcel located at 479 South Old Woodward Avenue, within the City of Birmingham, 
Oakland County, Michigan.  

The Subject Property is adjoining the Development Parcel and located in Section 36, Town 2 North, 
Range 10 East, in the City of Birmingham, Oakland County, Michigan.  More specifically, both the 
Subject Parcel and the Development Parcel are located on the north side of Hazel Street between 
South Old Woodward Avenue and Woodward Avenue (M-1).  The development parcel has frontage 
on all three streets/thoroughfares, including South Old Woodward Avenue and South Old Woodward 
Avenue. The Development Parcel is the assemblage of two separately identified parcels of land 
formerly identified as 469 South Old Woodward Avenue (0.14± net acres) and 479 South Old 
Woodward Avenue (0.28± net acres).  The two sale parcels were combined in 2017 to create a 0.42 
net acre parcel identified as 479 South Old Woodward Avenue (the Development Parcel).  The two 
tax parcels comprising the Development Parcel are also identified as Tax Parcels 19-36-208-011 and 
19-36-208-012.  An aerial reproduction of the property is depicted on Page Four.

Exhibit C

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 2 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

Doraid Markus, Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC 
Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
479 S. Old Woodward Avenue 
City of Birmingham, Oakland County, Michigan 
Page Two of Three 
November 25, 2023 

The assembled Development Parcel consists of 0.42± acres or just over 18,000 square feet net of any 
existing road right of way.  The Development Parcel is trapezoidal in shape and all utilities are available 
to the site.  The Development Parcel has 81 lineal feet of frontage on South Old Woodward Avenue, 
87 lineal feet of frontage on Woodward Avenue (M-1), and 211½ lineal feet of frontage on Hazel Street.  
The adjoining Development Parcel is primarily zoned B-3 Office Residential.  In addition to typical road 
and utility easements, the appraiser is not aware of any other easements that may affect the value of 
the Subject or Development Parcels.  The legal description of the two parcels comprising assembled 
land (the Development Parcel) is provided later in this report. 

It is my understanding that the City of Birmingham is requiring the property owner to purchase 
easements (or enter into an airspace lease) to accommodate the extension of four stories of balcony 
over the public sidewalk and has required an appraisal of the air space to be encumbered.  A two-foot 
overhang is permitted without an easement or lease, but a four-foot overhang is proposed.  As a result, 
this report addresses the market value of a two-foot easement, containing 360 square feet. 

Renderings of the west (South Old Woodward), south (Hazel Street), and East (Woodward Avenue or 
M-1) elevations of the building under construction, showing the balconies, are included later in this 
report.  There are balconies only on floor 4 that are the subject of this appraisal.  The balconies on 
these three elevations extend into the right-of-way by four feet, encroaching by two feet beyond the 
permitted two feet.  A typical section showing the encroachment is also included later in the report.  a 
permanent structure that is at least 8 feet above grade, such as a balcony, may encroach up to 2 
feet.  The area of concern for this appraisal is the additional 2-foot that the ten balconies extend 
beyond what is permitted.  All 10 of the balconies are 18 (17’ 8”) feet wide.  They are at least 35 feet 
above the sidewalk.  There are only balconies on one story, the fourth.  Using 18 feet for the width, 
the total easement will contain 360 square feet as follows. 

10 balconies x 18 feet x 2 foot = 360 square feet 

The client for this appraisal is Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC.  Intended users of this report include 
Doraid Markus of Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC.  as the client and owner of the Development 
Parcel, as well as Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC’s legal representatives, if any.  It is expected that 
representatives for the City of Birmingham will also see this appraisal, although they are not intended 
users.  Use of this report by others is not intended by the appraiser.  This appraisal is prepared in 
accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Foundation 
and the Codes of Ethics and Standards of the International Right-of-Way Association and the 
American Society of Appraisers. 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 3 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

Doraid Markus, Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC 
Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
479 S. Old Woodward Avenue 
City of Birmingham, Oakland County, Michigan 
Page Three of Three 
November 25, 2023 

Given that the Subject Parcel is airspace above a public right-of-way, there are obviously no 
comparable sales of similar parcels or easements available. The methodologies of this report are 
applied to the Development Parcel and that unit valuation is extrapolated to the Subject Parcel in a 
method referred to as Across the Fence (AFT) valuation.  While the airspace that comprises the 
subject property does not have the attributes or potential uses as real estate applicable to the 
Development Parcel, it is reasonable to use the unit rate applicable to the Development Parcel to help 
determine the value of the adjoining the easement.  When appraising properties similar to the Subject 
Parcel with unusual shapes and/or configurations that have associated property rights them that are 
being combined with adjoining properties, appraisers do not generally apply a discount for size and 
shape, nor apply a plottage or assembly premium.  The underlying unit value used is determined form 
“Across the Fence.” 

The interest appraised is the unencumbered fee simple estate of the subject property.  This appraisal 
is based on several assumptions, limiting conditions and restrictions on disclosure and use that are 
included later in this document.  Based on the information and analysis presented in the following 
report, it is my opinion that the market value of the subject easement as proposed as of November 15, 
2023 is as summarized below.  

FOUR-FOOT AIRSPACE EASEMENT CONTAINING 360 SQUARE FEET MARKET VALUE $9,500 
(THIS PRESUMES A SINGLE ONE-TIME PAYMENT) 

ALTERNATIVELY, ANNUAL RENTAL IN LIEU OF SINGLE PAYMENT $850 PER YEAR

EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE OPINION NOVEMBER 15, 2023 

This appraisal is based upon the property as I find it and upon certain details and limiting conditions 
attached hereto and made a part hereof, without any consideration of title, restrictions or tax history 
that might impair its value.  I have no interest in this property or any property in the immediate vicinity 
and my fee is in no way contingent upon the amount of value herein reported.  I have performed no 
services, as an appraiser or in any other capacity, regarding the property that is the subject of this 
report within the three-year period immediately preceding acceptance of this assignment. 

Respectfully submitted, 

David Edward Burgoyne, ASA, SR/WA, R/W-AC 
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser (Michigan) #1205-000222 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 4 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

A. Aerial Photograph and Development Parcel Identification 

Owner of Record: Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC 

Address of Development Parcel: 479 S. Old Woodward Avenue  
North Side of Hazel Street, City of Birmingham 

County of Oakland, State of Michigan 

Development Parcel Identification: Tax Parcels 19-36-208-011 and 19-36-208-012  

Current Use of Development Parcel: Five Story Building Planned 

Highest and Best Use: Office/Residential Mixed Use as Zoned 

Date of Appraisal Report: November 25, 2023 

Date of Valuation: November   15, 2023 

Appraiser: David Edward Burgoyne, ASA, SR/WA, R/W-AC 
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser (Michigan) - #1205-000222 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 5 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Letter of Transmittal  

SECTION I - GENERAL DATA 

A.  Aerial Photo and Development Parcel Identification Page ................  ..........   4 
B.  Table of Contents ...  ..........  ..........  .........  ..........  ..........  ....................  ..........   5 
C.  Summary of Salient Facts .  ..........  .........  ..........  ..........  ....................  ..........   6 
D.  Legal Description  ..  ..........  ..........  .........  ..........  ..........  ....................  ..........   7 
E.  Zoning  ...................  ..........  ..........  .........  ..........  ..........  ....................  ..........   7 
F.  Sale History of Property ....  ..........  .........  ..........  ..........  ....................  ..........   8 
G.  Ownership, Occupancy and Contact With the Owner ..  ....................  ..........   9 
H.  Interest Appraised ..  ..........  ..........  .........  ..........  ..........  ....................  ..........   9 
I.  Purpose of the Appraisal ...  ..........  .........  ..........  ..........  ....................  ..........   9 
J.  Discussion of the Appraisal Problem and Scope of Work .................  .......... 10 
K.  Intended Use and Intended Users  .........  ..........  ..........  ....................  .......... 14 
L. Personal Property ..  ..........  ..........  .........  ..........  ..........  ....................  .......... 14 
M.  Environmental Conditions .  ..........  .........  ..........  ..........  ....................  .......... 14 

SECTION II-VALUATION OF SUBJECT REAL ESTATE  

A.  Description of Development Parcel ........  ..........  ..........  ....................  .......... 15 
B.  Present Use of Development Parcel ......  ..........  ..........  ....................  .......... 19 
C.  Highest and Best Use of Development Parcel ..  ..........  ....................  .......... 19 
D. Estimated Value Via Cost Approach ......  ..........  ..........  ....................  .......... 20 
E.  Estimated Value Via Income Approach ..  ..........  ..........  ....................  .......... 21 
F.  Estimated Value Via Direct Sales Comparison Approach .................  .......... 21 
G. Correlation and Conclusion of Value ......  ..........  ..........  ....................  .......... 29 

SECTION III – CERTIFICATION 

Certification of David E. Burgoyne, ASA, SR/WA.........  ....................  .......... 30 
Limiting Conditions and Restrictions on Disclosure and Use ............  .......... 31 

SECTION IV – ADDENDA 

Comparable Sale Write-Ups 
Ordinance Re: Overhanging Structures 
Qualifications of Appraiser 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 6 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

C. Summary of Salient Facts 

Property Owner: Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC 

Property Type: Office/retail and Residential Mixed Use. 

Improvements:  Five Story Mixed Use Building Under Construction 

Shape of Lot: Trapezoid  

Utilities: Subject site is serviced by public water and sanitary sewer 
service.  All other typical public and/or utilities are available. 

Road Frontage: 81 Lineal Feet on South Old Woodward Avenue 
87 Lineal Feet on Woodward Avenue (M-1) 
211½ Lineal Feet on Hazel Street   

Zoning: The parcel is zoned B-3 Office Residential by the City of 
Birmingham. 

Highest & Best Use: Office and Residential Mixed-Use as Zoned 

Topography: Level and at grade with surrounding road frontages.  

Land Area: 0.42 acres or just over 18,000 square feet  

Date of Appraisal Report: November 25, 2023. 

Effective Date of Valuation: November 15, 2023 

Market Value of Two-Foot Airspace Easement of 360 Square feet $9,500 
(This presumes a single one-time payment) 

Alternatively, Annual rental in Lieu of Single Payment $850 per year 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 7 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

D. Legal Description of Ownership 

The Subject Parcel being appraised is a proposed 360 square foot airspace easement 

overhanging the public sidewalk adjoining the Development Parcel.  The adjoining 

Development Parcel, known as Tax Parcels 19-36-208-011 and 19=-36-208-012, is legally 

described as follows: 

E.  Zoning 

The Development Parcel is zoned B-3 Office Residential by the City of Birmingham.  The 

zoning ordinance for the City of Birmingham can be viewed in its entirety at the following 

website link:  

https://online.encodeplus.com/regs/birmingham-mi/doc-viewer.aspx#secid--1

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 8 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

F. Sale History of Property 

The Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) requires the appraiser to 

report all sales of the subject occurring within three years prior to the date of value.  The 

subject parcel was purchased in June 2017 well over three years before the effective date of 

valuation. 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 9 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

G. Ownership, Occupancy and Contact with the Owner 

The Development Parcel is owned by Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC.  The Subject Parcel 

is owned by the City of Birmingham.  David E. Burgoyne ASA, SR/WA, R/W-AC inspected 

both properties.  The comparable sales were also inspected and photographed on June 20, 

2023.  Contact with Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC., as client has been with Doraid Markus 

and Architect Scott Bowers as representatives of Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC.  Messrs. 

Markus and Bowers were very helpful and provided elevations, drawing, plans, documents, 

and purchase and sale details regarding the properties.  

H. Interest Appraised 

The interest appraised is a proposed airspace easement over the adjoining sidewalks 

benefitting the unencumbered fee simple estate of the Development Parcel.  

I. Purpose of the Appraisal 

The purpose of this report is to establish the market value of the Subject Parcel, being the 

airspace easements over the adjoining sidewalks and right-of-way that comprise the Subject 

Property.  With respect to the scope of this assignment, it is important to define the important 

terms governing the preparation of this appraisal.  The following pages include definitions and 

comments relative to the application of these fundamental concepts and standards.   

Just Compensation - “Whenever private property is taken for a public purpose, the 

Constitution commands that the owner shall be paid just compensation. Just compensation is 

the amount of money that will put the person whose property has been taken in as good a 

position as the person would have been in had the taking not occurred. The owner must not 

be forced to sacrifice or suffer by receiving less than full and fair value for the property. Just 

compensation should neither enrich the individual at the expense of the public, nor the public 

at the expense of the individual.” (M CIV JI 90.05) 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 10 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

Market Value - "The highest price estimated in terms of money that the property will bring if 

exposed for sale on the open market, with a reasonable time allowed to find a purchaser with 

knowledge of all the uses and purposes to which it is adapted, and for which it is capable of 

being used. The amount of money which the property would bring if it were offered for sale by 

one who desired, but was not obliged to sell, and was bought by one who was willing but not 

obliged to buy. What the property would bring in the hands of the prudent seller, at liberty to 

fix the time and conditions of the sale. What the property would sell for in negotiations resulting 

in a sale between an owner, willing but not obliged to sell, and a willing buyer not obliged to 

buy. What the property would be reasonably worth on the market for a cash price allowing a 

reasonable time within which to affect the sale.” (M CIV JI 90.06) 

Highest and Best Use - "Highest and Best Use" is defined as the most profitable and 

advantageous use the owner may make of the property even if the property is presently used 

for a different purpose, or is vacant, so long as there is a market demand for such use” (M 

CIV JI 90.09). Typically, the highest and best use must be physically possible, legally 

permissible, economically feasible and maximally productive. (Appraisal Institute - The 

Appraisal of Real Estate, Fifteenth Edition (2020), pp. 306-308). 

J.  Discussion of the Appraisal Problem and Scope of Work 

The purpose of this report is to address the market value of proposed balcony easements that 

overhang the public sidewalks abutting the Development Parcel (the Subject Parcel).  The 

properties are positioned wrapping the southwest corner of South Old Woodward Avenue and 

Hazel Street as well as the southeast corner of Woodward Avenue (M-1) and Hazel Street 

Road in the City of Birmingham, south of its downtown area.  The Development Parcel is 

zoned B-3 Office Residential by the City of Birmingham.   

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 11 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

This appraisal is an Appraisal Report per USPAP in an appropriate format for negotiation with 

the City of Birmingham. While not expected to be used for litigation purposes, the appraisal 

will use the standard Michigan definitions applicable to right-of-way acquisition and eminent 

domain.  The easement to be appraised is a two-foot overhang extending into the airspace 

above the public sidewalk associated with a mixed-use office and residential development 

located at 479 South Old Woodward Avenue within the City of Birmingham, Oakland County, 

Michigan.  

“Easement” is defined on Page 11 of the Glossary of The International Right of 

Way Association’s publication Principles of Right of Way (2006) as: 

“A non-possessory interest held by one person in property of another with the 

first person is accorded partial use of the property for a specific purpose.  An 

easement restricts but does not abrogate the fee owner's right to the use and 

enjoyment of the property.”   

“An easement is a non-possessory interest one has in the property of another 

for a specific purpose.  Easements may involve the right to use only the 

property’s surface, only the airspace above the real estate, only its surface, or 

any combination of the three.  Easement rights may be granted exclusively to 

one user or not exclusively, to benefit many uses they may be affirmative or 

negative and affirmative easement conveys an affirmative right to the grantee 

to enter on the real estate of another for a specific purpose.  A negative 

easement restricts the real estate owner whose property is burdened by the 

easement. (Chapter 2, P4 of The International Right of Way Association’s 

publication Principles of Right of Way (2006)) 

Easements and their value are also discussed in Section 4.6.5. of the Uniform 

Appraisal Standards for Federal Land Acquisitions prepared by the Appraisal 

Foundation, Washington DC 2016. [The Yellow Book] on Page 168: 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 12 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

The specific terms and impact of each specific easement must be carefully considered.   

In terms of underlying land value, one does not specifically appraise the City’s sidewalk, the 

airspace above it, nor individual strips of land (some measuring as little one foot by ten feet).  

The appraiser believes the application of a “through the fence” valuation methodology is 

appropriate.  Through the fence, also referred to as “across the fence” (ATF), is a well-

established valuation concept whereby the unit value of a parcel of land is based on the value 

of abutting land.  In other words, the value of the Subject Property as unencumbered will be 

established as what it is worth as part of a larger parcel, without specific consideration 

accorded to its relative position within subject, its relative size, or the fact that it is airspace 

only.  Doing this results in a balanced and uniform evaluation of the Subject Parcel’s market 

value.  After determining the underlying ATF value, the market value of the easement over 

said land is determined as a percentage of the fee value. 

The scope of work for this assignment involved examining conveyances of land in and near 

Birmingham’s downtown area, with particular emphasis on those having a similar highest and 

best use to the subject.  Relevant transactions are used as comparables the Direct Sale 

Comparison analysis.  Other documents reviewed include the a land survey of the 

Development Parcel and various other assessing and tax records specific to the Development 

Parcel.   

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 13 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

This appraisal of the Subject Parcel is a logical process which involves the collection of both 

general and specific data relevant to both the Subject and Development Parcels, 

determination of the highest and best use as of the date of valuation, selection of the 

appropriate approaches to value, and subsequent application of those approaches.  The three 

basic approaches to value are the Replacement Cost Less Depreciation Approach (or, simply 

the Cost Approach) the Income Approach and the Direct Sales Comparison Approach. 

The Cost Approach is a method in which the value of a property is derived by estimating the 

replacement cost of the improvements and deducting the estimated depreciation.  This 

approach is based on the assumption that the replacement cost new sets the upper limit of 

building value, provided that the improvements represent the highest and best use of the land.  

The Cost Approach was considered but was deemed not relevant to the valuation issues for 

this assignment.  

The Income Approach is an appraisal technique in which the anticipated net income is 

processed to indicate the capital amount of the investment that produces the net income.  The 

capital amount, called the capitalized value, is in effect the sum of the anticipated annual rents 

less the loss of interest to the time of collection.  The Cost Approach was considered but was 

deemed not relevant to the valuation issues for this assignment as an airspace easement 

over land.  

The Direct Sales Comparison Approach is an appraisal technique in which the value is 

predicated upon prices paid in arms-length market transactions and prices asked 

demonstrated by current listings for similar properties.  Unusual financing terms paid or 

offered must be reflected in terms of cash or in terms equivalent to cash.  Given the availability 

of relevant sales data, the Direct sales Comparison approach will be used to establish the 

market value of the Subject Parcel.   

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 14 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

K. Intended Use and Intended Users 

The client for this appraisal is Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC, as owners of the 

Development Parcel.  Intended users of this report include Doraid Markus of Birmingham 

Tower Partners, LLC., as the client and owner of the Development Parcel, as well as 

Birmingham Tower Partners, LLC’s legal representatives, if any, and their architect Scott 

Bowers.  It is expected that representatives for the City of Birmingham will also see this 

appraisal, although they are not intended users.  Use of this report by others is not intended 

by the appraiser.  This appraisal is prepared in accordance with the Uniform Standards of 

Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Foundation and the Codes of Ethics and 

Standards of the International Right-of-Way Association and the American Society of 

Appraisers. 

L. Personal Property 

No equipment or personal property is considered in this appraisal report.   

M. Environmental Conditions 

We have assumed the subject to be free of hazardous waste or toxins.  The existence of 

toxins or hazardous material, which may or may not be present on the property, was not 

observed by the appraiser.  The appraiser has no knowledge of the existence of such 

materials on or in the property.  The appraiser, however, is neither trained nor qualified to 

detect hazardous materials.  The presence of asbestos, urea-formaldehyde foam insulation, 

heavy metals, petroleum distillates, solvents, radioactive or other potentially hazardous 

materials may affect the value of the property.  This determination of market value is 

predicated on the assumption that there is no such material present at the subject property 

that would cause a diminution in value.  No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions 

or for any expertise or knowledge required to discover them.  The client, and any other 

interested party, is urged to retain an expert trained in the detection of toxins and hazardous 

substances, if desired.   

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 15 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

SECTION II - VALUATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY 

A. Description of Development Parcel 

The Subject Property is adjoining the Development Parcel and located in Section 36, Town 2 

North, Range 10 East, in the City of Birmingham, Oakland County, Michigan.  More 

specifically, both the Subject Parcel and the Development Parcel are located on the north side 

of Hazel Street between South Old Woodward Avenue and Woodward Avenue (M-1).  The 

development parcel has frontage on all three streets/thoroughfares, including South Old 

Woodward Avenue and South Old Woodward Avenue. The Development Parcel is the 

assemblage of two separately identified parcels of land formerly identified as 469 South Old 

Woodward Avenue (0.14± net acres) and 479 South Old Woodward Avenue (0.28± net acres).  

The two sale parcels were combined in 2017 to create a 0.42 net acre parcel identified as 479 

South Old Woodward Avenue (the Development Parcel).  The two tax parcels comprising the 

Development Parcel are also identified as Tax Parcels 19-36-208-011 and 19-36-208-012.  A 

survey of the property is depicted below. 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 16 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

The assembled Development Parcel consists of 0.42± acres or just over 18,000 square feet 

net of any existing road right of way.  The Development Parcel is trapezoidal in shape and all 

utilities are available to the site.  The Development Parcel has 81 lineal feet of frontage on 

South Old Woodward Avenue, 87 lineal feet of frontage on Woodward Avenue (M-1), and 

211½ lineal feet of frontage on Hazel Street.  The adjoining Development Parcel is primarily 

zoned B-3 Office Residential.  In addition to typical road and utility easements, the appraiser 

is not aware of any other easements that may affect the value of the Subject or Development 

Parcels.  The legal description of the two parcels comprising assembled land (the 

Development Parcel) is provided later in this report. 

It is my understanding that the City of Birmingham is requiring the property owner to purchase 

easements (or enter into an airspace lease) to accommodate the extension of four stories of 

balcony over the public sidewalk and has required an appraisal of the air space to be 

encumbered.  A two-foot overhang is permitted without an easement or lease, but a four-foot 

overhang is proposed.  As a result, this report addresses the market value of a two-foot 

easement, containing 360 square feet. 

Renderings of the west (South Old Woodward), south (Hazel Street), and East (Woodward 

Avenue or M-1) elevations of the building under construction, showing the balconies, are 

included later in this report.  There are balconies only on floor 4 that are the subject of this 

appraisal.  The balconies on these three elevations extend into the right-of-way by four feet, 

encroaching by two feet beyond the permitted two feet.  A typical section showing the 

encroachment is also included later in the report.  a permanent structure that is at least 8 feet 

above grade, such as a balcony, may encroach up to 2 feet.  The area of concern for this 

appraisal is the additional 2-foot that the ten balconies extend beyond what is permitted.  All 

10 of the balconies are 18 (17’ 8”) feet wide.  There are only balconies on one story, the fourth.  

Balconies are indicated by red dots in the following elevations of the South, West, and East 

side of the proposed building.  Rendering showing the balconies follow the elevations.  Using 

18 feet for the width, the total easement will contain 360 square feet as follows. 

10 balconies x 18 feet x 2 foot = 360 square feet 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 17 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 18 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

A rendering of the West and South (Hazel Street) elevation is reproduced above.  The 

rendering of the East (and South) elevation is reproduced below. 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 19 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

B. Present Use of Development Parcel 

The adjoining Development Parcel had been improved with two older low-rise commercial 

building but is currently being developed as a five-story mixed-use building that contains retail 

at street level, two floors of offices, and two upper floors of residential units, including a single 

floor with ten overhanging balconies. This development is what causes the need for the two-

foot airspace easement over the public right-of-way. 

C. Highest and Best Use of Development Parcel 

"Highest and Best Use" is defined by Courts in Michigan as the most profitable and 

advantageous use the owner may make of the property even if the property is presently used 

for a different purpose, or is vacant, so long as there is a market demand for such use” (M 

CIV JI 90.09).  Typically the highest and best use must be “the reasonably probable use of 

property that results in the highest value” (Appraisal Institute - The Appraisal of Real Estate, 

Fifteenth Edition - Page 305).   

The following offers a more detailed analysis of the Highest and Best Use criteria: 

1. Physically Possible: The site must possess adequate size, shape, and soil 
conditions to support the proposed use. 

2. Legally Permissible: The proposed use of the property must conform to all local 
and state zoning and use restrictions for the site. 

3. Financially Feasible: The proposed use must be capable of providing a net return 
to the property owner. 

4. Maximally Productive: Of those physically possible, legally permissible, and 
financially feasible uses, the highest and best use for a 
property is that use which provides the greatest net return 
to the property owner over a given period of time. 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 20 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

These criteria should usually be considered sequentially.  It makes no difference that a use is 

financially feasible if it is physically impossible to construct the improvement or if such a use 

is not legally permitted.  Only when there is a reasonable possibility that one of the prior 

unacceptable conditions can be changed is it appropriate to continue with the analysis.  The 

fact that the land adjoining the Subject Parcel is currently being developed for office, retail, 

and residential mixed-use, and has been historically used, for commercial use demonstrates 

that this use is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible.  Given the B-3 

Office Residential Business, its specific physical attributes, the current planned five-story 

building, and its location in the City of Birmingham, the maximally productive use is judged to 

be consistent with its current mixed-use development.  Therefore, the highest and best use 

of the Development Parcel is determined to be for mixed office/retail and residential use.  

There is no alternative use that is more profitable and advantageous that the owner could 

make of the property.   Of course, while the actual Subject Parcel, as an airspace easement 

overhanging public sidewalks, does not have a separate highest and best use for 

development, it is value as such, consistent with the valuation of the adjoining Development 

Parcel, in an application of ATF valuation. 

D. Estimated Value via Cost Approach 

The Cost Approach is a method in which the value of a property is derived by estimating the 

replacement cost of the improvements, deducting therefrom the estimated depreciation and 

then adding the market value of the land.  Depreciation is loss in value due to any cause.  This 

depreciation represents the degree by which the improvements suffer in comparison with 

totally new substitute improvements.  As this is an appraisal of an airspace easement over 

public right-of-way (being land) only, the Cost Approach does not have direct application to 

this assignment and is not utilized.  

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 21 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

E. Estimated Value Via Income Approach 

The Income Approach is typically applied to properties that are designed and built as income 

producing investment properties.  The most appropriate determinant in establishing value for 

a property designed and built for its income producing capability is to consider the quantity 

and quality of that income.  The Income Approach to value properly reflects the behavior of 

typical market participants (investors) who base their investment decisions on the quantity 

and quality of that income stream.  As this is an appraisal of an airspace easement over a 

public right-of-way (being land) only, the Income Approach was considered but rejected as 

inapplicable to the appraisal problem.   

F. Estimated Value via Direct Sales Comparison Approach  

The Direct Sales Comparison approach is an appraisal technique in which the market value 

is predicated upon prices paid in arms-length market transactions and prices asked 

demonstrated by current listings for similar properties.  Unusual financing terms paid or 

offered must be reflected in terms of cash or in terms equivalent to cash.  

The first step in determining the market value of the instant airspace easements being 

appraised is determining the 100% unencumbered fee value of the land to be encumbered.  

Although the easements are to encumber the airspace over a city-owned public sidewalk, the 

value of the land within those easements is directly comparable to the market value of the 

Birmingham Tower Partners site as if vacant on an ATF basis.  The unit rate applicable to the 

0,.42 acre Development Parcel is, therefore, the starting point for the easement appraisal. 

The Subject Property is adjoining the Development Parcel and located in Section 36, Town 2 

North, Range 10 East, in the City of Birmingham, Oakland County, Michigan.  More 

specifically, both the Subject Parcel and the Development Parcel are located on the north side 

of Hazel Street between South Old Woodward Avenue and Woodward Avenue (M-1).  The 

development parcel has frontage on all three streets/thoroughfares, including South Old 

Woodward Avenue and South Old Woodward Avenue. The Development Parcel is the 

assemblage of two separately identified parcels of land formerly identified as 469 South Old 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 22 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

Woodward Avenue (0.14± net acres) and 479 South Old Woodward Avenue (0.28± net acres).  

The two sale parcels were combined in 2017 to create a 0.42 net acre parcel identified as 479 

South Old Woodward Avenue (the Development Parcel).  The two tax parcels comprising the 

Development Parcel are also identified as Tax Parcels 19-36-208-011 and 19-36-208-012.  A 

survey of the property is depicted below. 

The assembled Development Parcel consists of 0.42± acres or just over 18,000 square feet 

net of any existing road right of way.  The Development Parcel is trapezoidal in shape and all 

utilities are available to the site.  The Development Parcel has 81 lineal feet of frontage on 

South Old Woodward Avenue, 87 lineal feet of frontage on Woodward Avenue (M-1), and 

211½ lineal feet of frontage on Hazel Street.  The adjoining Development Parcel is primarily 

zoned B-3 Office Residential.  In addition to typical road and utility easements, the appraiser 

is not aware of any other easements that may affect the value of the Subject or Development 

Parcels.  The legal description of the two parcels comprising assembled land (the 

Development Parcel) was provided earlier in this report. 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 23 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

It is my understanding that the City of Birmingham is requiring the property owner to purchase 

easements (or enter into an airspace lease) to accommodate the extension of four stories of 

balcony over the public sidewalk and has required an appraisal of the air space to be 

encumbered.  A two-foot overhang is permitted without an easement or lease, but a four-foot 

overhang is proposed.  As a result, this report addresses the market value of a two-foot 

easement, containing 360 square feet. 

In addition to typical road and utility easements, the appraiser is not aware of any other 

easements that may affect the value of the property.  The legal description of the assembled 

Development Parcel was previously provided. 

Five comparable sales within and near downtown Birmingham have been identified and are 

summarized below.  All five sales are located in the City of Birmingham, but Sale #3 has a 

vastly inferior location east of town on the north side of 14 Mile Road in an area of modest 

office development.  Sales 4 and 5 are truly located in Downtown Birmingham, west of 

Woodward Avenue, and enjoy superior locations are compared to the subject property.  The 

subject location is also superior to Sales 1 and 2, located West of Woodward Avenue.  Sales 

4, and 5 are also considerably smaller than the subject property, while Sale 2 is larger. 

COMPARABLE VACANT COMMERCIAL LAND SALES - BIRMINGHAM

# 

Location of 

Comparable 

Sale 

Date 

Sale 

Price 

Land Size / 

Zoning 

Unit 

Rate 

1 

770 S. Adams Road 
South of Haynes Street 

City of Birmingham 

MAY 
2021 

$6,200,000 
+ $126,695 
Demo costs 

28,760 SF 
0.66 Acres B-2 
+ MU-3 & MU-5 

$219.98 PSF 
$9,582,435 PA 

2 

1000 Haynes Street 
West of S. Adams Road 

City of Birmingham 

MAY 
2021 

$2,500,000 
+ $122,705 
Demo costs 

60,759 SF 
1.40 Acres B-2 
+MU-3 & MU-5 

$43.17 PSF 
$1,880,298 PA 

1 
and 

2 

Wrapping Corner of  
Adams & Haynes 

City of Birmingham 

MAY 
2021 

$8,700,000 
+ $249,400 
Demo costs 

89,519 SF 
2.06 Acres B-2 
+MU-3 & MU-5 

$99.98 PSF 
$4,355,000 PA 

3 

2101 E. 14 Mile Road 
At NEC of Mansfield Road 

City of Birmingham 

NOV 
2020 

$400,000 14,850 SF 
0.34 Acres 

O-1 

$26.94 PSF 
$1,173,333 PA 

4 

460 N. Old Woodward 
Between Ravine & Euclid Aves. 

City of Birmingham 

SEPT 
2018 

$1,450,000 
+  $29,000 
Demo costs 

5,532 SF 
0.13 Acres 

D-2 

$267.35 PSF 
$11,645,922 PA 

5 

277 Pierce Street 
At NEC of E. Merrill Street 

City of Birmingham 

SEPT 
2016 

$3,150,000 
+  $75,500 
Demo costs 

4,829 SF 
0.11 Acres 

D-4 

$667.94 PSF 
$29,095,626 PA 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 24 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

Please note that when improved properties are purchased to be developed as vacant land 

(like Comparable Sales 1, 2, 4, and 5), not only do the existing improvement not contribute to 

the price or value of the sale property, demolition costs must be added to the sale price in 

analyzing the comparable sale and determining an appropriate unit rate for comparison.  

Comparable 1 is located at 770 S. Adams Road in the Triangle District of the City of 

Birmingham.  Land within the Triangle District is bordered by E. Maple Avenue, S. Adams 

Road and Old Woodward Avenue.  This purchase, along with Comparable 2, comprise the 

Development Parcel adjoining the Subject Parcel addressed in this appraisal.  The slightly 

irregular site consists of 28,760± square feet or 0.66± acres net existing road right of way.  

The sale from 770 Adams, LLC to FHS Birmingham, LLC occurred on May 21, 2021 for 

$6,200,000.  At the time of the sale, the site was improved with a13,866 square foot two-story 

commercial building.  Both buildings were demolished in 2022 at a cost of $249,400.  The 

building size of Sale 1 represents 50.8% of the total size of both buildings.  Multiplying the 

building size by 50.8% yields $126,695 as the allocated demolition cost for the building.  This 

increases the sale price to $6,326,695 and the unit rates to $219.98 per square foot and 

$9,582,435 per acre.  The sale parcel has 172 feet of frontage on S. Adams Road and all 

utilities are available to the site.  The sale parcel is primarily zoned B-2 General Business but 

also lies within the Triangle District and is overlayed Mixed Use-3 and Mixed Use-5 by the 

City of Birmingham. 

Comparable 2 is located at 1000 Haynes Street, west of S. Adams Road in the Triangle 

District of the City of Birmingham.  Land within the Triangle District is bordered by E. Maple 

Avenue, S. Adams Road and Old Woodward Avenue.  This purchase, along with Comparable 

1, comprise the Development Parcel adjoining the Subject Parcel addressed in this appraisal.  

The irregular site consists of 60,759± square feet or 1.40± acres net existing road right of way.  

The sale from Citizen Bank N.A. to FHS Birmingham, LLC occurred on May 21, 2021 for 

$2,500,000.  At the time of the sale, the site was improved with a13,444 square foot two-story 

commercial building.  Both buildings were demolished in 2022 at a cost of $249,400.  The 

building size of Sale 2 represents 49.2% of the total size of both buildings.  Multiplying the 

building size by 49.2% yields $122,705 as the allocated demolition cost for the building.  This 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 25 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

increases the sale price to $2,622,705 and the unit rates to $43.17 per square foot and 

$1,880,298 per acre.  The sale parcel has 198 feet of frontage on Haynes Street, 59.9 feet on 

S. Adams Road and 307.1 feet on S. Worth Street.  All utilities are available to the site.  The 

sale parcel is primarily zoned B-2 General Business but also lies within the Triangle District 

and is overlayed Mixed Use-3 and Mixed Use-5 by the City of Birmingham. 

Please note that these two sale parcels have been combined and construction of a new 

development is currently underway on the Development Parcel.  The combined land size of 

the property is 89,519 square feet or 2.06 net acres and the combined sale price is 

$8,700,000.  Adding demolition costs for both buildings of $249,400 increases the total sale 

price to $8,949,400.  This equates to a combined unit rate of $99.97 per square foot or 

$4,354,783 per acre.  The address of the new development is 707 S. Worth Street and is 

further identified as Tax Parcel 19-36-283-026. 

Comparable 3 is located at 2101 E. 14 Mile Road at the northeast corner of Mansfield Road, 

in the City of Birmingham.  The site consists of 14,850 square feet or 0.34 acres net existing 

road right of way.  The site was vacant at the time of the sale.  The sale from Kelly Building 

and Development Company to Thirty One Real Estate, LLC (Michigan Smile Design) occurred 

on November 25, 2020 for $400,000.  This equates to a unit rate of $26.94 per square foot or 

$1,173,333 per net acre.  The rectangular parcel has 135 feet of frontage on E. 14 Mile Road 

and 110 feet on Mansfield Road.  All utilities are available to the site and the land is zoned O-

1 Office District. 

Comparable 4 is located at 460 N. Old Woodward Avenue, between Ravine and Euclid 

Avenues, in the City of Birmingham.  The rectangular site consists of 5,532± square feet or 

0.127± acres net existing road right of way.  The sale from Junior League of Birmingham MI 

to 460 Parkview occurred on September 4, 2018 for $1,450,000.  At the time of the sale, the 

site was improved with a 3,232 square foot commercial building.  A demolition permit was 

issued in June of 2022 and  a new commercial building was issued in January 2013.  The 

demolition costs in 2021 for Sales 1 and 2 established a rounded unit rate for demolition of 

$9.00 per square foot.  Multiplying the building size of 3,232 square feet by $9.00 per square 

foot yields estimated demolition costs of $29,088, rounded to $29,000.  This increases the 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 26 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

sale price to $1,479,000 and the unit rates to $267.35 per square foot and $11,645,922 per 

acre.  The parcel has 46 feet of frontage on N. Old Woodward Avenue and all utilities are 

available to the site.  The parcel is zoned D-2 and lies within the Downtown Overlay District. 

Comparable 5 is located at 277 Pierce Street, at the northeast corner of E. Merrill Street, in 

the City of Birmingham.  The rectangular site consists of 4,829± square feet or 0.11± acres 

net existing road right of way.  The sale from Secontine Family, LP to 277 Development 

Associates, LLC occurred on September 6, 2016 for $3,150,000.  At the time of the sale, the 

site was improved with an 8,387 square foot commercial building.  The demolish cost in 2021 

for Sales 1 and 2 established a rounded unit rate for demolition of $9.00 per square foot.  

Multiplying the building size of 8,387 square feet by $9.00 per square foot yields estimated 

demolition costs of $75,483, rounded to $75,500.  This increases the sale price to $3,225,500 

and the unit rates to $667.35 per square foot and $29,095,626 per acre.  The parcel has 

49.926 feet and 97.08 feet of frontage on Pierce and E. Merrill Streets, respectively.  All 

utilities are available to the site and the parcel is zoned D-4 and lies within the Downtown 

Overlay District. 

The five sales clearly support a unit rate of between $150 and $200 for the Development 

Parcel.  The unit rate supported by the five sales is also consistent with $175 per square foot 

for the subject property.  Sale #3 at about $27 per square foot is vastly inferior to the subject 

location, while Sales #4 and #5 are truly located in Downtown Birmingham (west of Woodward 

Avenue and north of the subject) and, at $267 per square foot and $668 per square foot, enjoy 

vastly superior locations as a result.  The two sales are also smaller than the subject. 

Therefore, based on the foregoing analysis, it is my opinion that the market value on a unit 

basis of the Subject Property using the Direct Sales Comparison approach to value as of 

November 15, 2023 is $175 per square foot.  This can be applied to the area proposed for 

within the easement, 360 square feet, to determine the unencumbered fee value of the subject 

easement area.  Multiplying 360 square feet by $175 per square foot yields $63,000 the 

unencumbered fee value of the subject easement area before consideration of the easement 

rights.  The market value of said easement is, therefore, some percentage of $63,000. 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 27 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

Please note that I have appraised perhaps a thousand easements throughout my 39 years as 

a real estate appraiser: easements of all types.  The market value of an easement is based 

upon its impact upon the servient estate, in this case the city of Birmingham. Generally, the 

benefit to the dominant estate, my client, is not considered in valuing the easement. Of course, 

regardless, the maximum benefit that would accrue to the property owner, Birmingham Tower 

Partners LLC is $63,000, the unencumbered fee value of the property involved. 

In many ways one could also argue that the impact upon the City of Birmingham, their property 

rights, and the sidewalk over which the balconies hang is zero, as balconies located at least 

35 feet in the air do not interfere with the use of the sidewalk in any way.  Indeed, the existing 

sidewalk has no real development potential or independent market value, and the proposed 

use of the airspace easement is perhaps the only way to viably monetize the property rights 

for the Subject Parcel. However, this is equally inappropriate as an easement does involve 

the acquisition of a property right from the city, which should be compensated. 

While not particularly impactful, the property rights being taken are more than nominal and do 

benefit the property owner.  Nominal easements are often valued at five to 10% of the 

unencumbered fee value of the land and rarely do easements with minor impact, such as the 

subject easement, exceed 20% of the unencumbered fee value. It is therefore my opinion that 

a percentage between 10 and 20% appropriately compensates the city of Birmingham for the 

acquisition of this airspace easement overhanging their public sidewalk.  While the answer 

could be only 10%, or as much as 20%, it is my opinion that a percentage at the midpoint or 

15% is appropriate.  Fifteen percent of $63,000 (the unencumbered fee value of the property 

subject to the easements) is $9,450.  This is rounded to $9,500 as my opinion of the market 

value of the airspace easement.  This means that a single one-time payment of $9,500 from 

Birmingham Tower Partners LLC. to the City of Birmingham would appropriately compensate 

them for the acquisition of this airspace easement.  Please note that this is a single one-time 

lump-sum payment. 

Market Value of Two-Foot Easement containing 360 Square feet $9,500 
(This presumes a single one-time payment) 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 28 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

Although it is typical for permanent easements to be paid for with a single lump sum payment 

as indicated above, I was also asked to estimate on annual rental payment as an alternative 

to a single lump sum payment. An annual rental payment is based upon an appropriate rate 

of return applied to the market value of the easement.  As a result, it is necessary to determine 

an appropriate rate of return.  Land lease rates are gleaned from RealtyRates.com, a real 

estate rate survey published quarterly.  The most recent chart is included on the page 

following.  

Given the small magnitude and low risk, a rate of return of between eight and ten percent is 

supported by the table of published rates.  A rate of 9% is considered appropriate.  Multiplying 

$9,500 as the market value of the airspace easement as a single lump-sum payment by 9% 

yields an equivalent annual payment of $850 per year, rounded. 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 29 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

Annual rental in Lieu of Single Payment  $850 per year 

These opinions are based on the foregoing analysis and all available facts relevant to the 

subject parcel.  It is subject to assumptions and limiting conditions attached hereto and made 

a part hereof.  It cannot be considered apart from those conditions and this report. 

G. Correlation and Conclusion of Value  

The method of valuation employed, the Direct Sales Comparison Approach, is the method 

deemed most appropriate in the valuation of the subject.  The Direct Sales Comparison 

Approach is clearly preferred in that it is the method of valuation that most closely resembles 

the motivations of buyers and sellers in the market for this type of property.  The Direct Sales 

Comparison Approach is directly based on confirmed, empirical market data.   

The Reproduction Cost Less Depreciation Approach and Income Approach were considered 

but rejected as not applicable to the appraisal problem.  The Direct Sales Comparison 

Approach to value established a market value for the 160 square foot easement of $9,500 for 

the subject property as of November 15, 2023.  Likewise, an alternative equivalent annual 

payment of $850 per year is also appropriate. 

TWO -FOOT AIRSPACE EASEMENT CONTAINING 360 SQUARE FEET $9,500 
(THIS PRESUMES A SINGLE ONE-TIME PAYMENT) 

ALTERNATIVELY, AN ANNUAL RENTAL IN LIEU OF SINGLE PAYMENT $850 PER YEAR

EFFECTIVE DATE OF VALUE OPINION NOVEMBER 15, 2023 

These opinions are based on the foregoing analysis and all available facts relevant to the 

subject parcel.  It is subject to assumptions and limiting conditions attached hereto and made 

a part hereof.  It cannot be considered apart from those conditions and this report. 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 30 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

CERTIFICATION OF DAVID E. BURGOYNE, ASA, SR/WA

I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, unless specifically noted 
otherwise.  The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct.  The reported 
analyses, opinions and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions, limiting 
conditions and restrictions on disclosure and use.  They are my personal, impartial, and 
unbiased professional analyses, opinions and conclusions. 

I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report.  I 
have no personal interest with respect to the parties involved.  I have no bias with respect to 
the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved in this assignment. My 
engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting 
predetermined results. 

My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon development or 
reporting of a predetermined value or direction of value that favors the cause of the client, the 
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a 
subsequent event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal. 

My analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared, 
in conformity with the requirements of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice of the Appraisal Foundation. 

I have made a personal interior and exterior inspection of the subject property.  I have 
performed no services, as an appraiser or in any other capacity, regarding the property that 
is the subject of this report within the three-year period prior to acceptance of this assignment.  
No one, except for Richard J. Antio #1201-004039, assisted with this assignment.  Mr. Antio  
assisted with market research and preparing certain sections of the appraisal report.  

My analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this review report was prepared 
in conformity with the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice of the American Society of Appraiser and the Code of Ethics and Professional 
Standards of the International Right of Way Association. 

As of the date of this report, I have completed the continuing education program for 
Designated members of the American Society of Appraiser and the International Right of Way 
Association.  The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the American Society of 
Appraiser and the International Right of Way Association relating to review by their duly 
authorized representatives. 

In my opinion, the market value of the subject airspace easement as a lump-sum payment as 
of November 15, 2023 is $9,500.  An annual lease payment would be $850 per year. 

David E. Burgoyne, ASA, SR/WA, R/W-AC, Certified General Real Estate Appraiser (Michigan) 
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser #1205-000222

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 31 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

THIS APPRAISAL IS SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING LIMITING CONDITIONS 
& RESTRICTIONS UPON DISCLOSURE AND USE (Page One of Two Pages) 

Use of this appraisal report is contingent upon fulfillment of the appraisal contract, whether 
written or oral.  Upon full payment of all sums due the appraiser, this appraisal report becomes 
property of the client subject to all restrictions upon disclosure and use included herein and 
made a part hereof.  The report and its conclusions will not be released to a third party by the 
appraiser or his employees without the client's consent.  This limitation on release does not 
apply to market data or other information obtained by the appraiser for use within the report. 

Neither all nor part of the contents of this report, especially conclusions as to value and the 
identity and affiliations of the appraiser, shall be disseminated to the public through advertising 
media, public relations media, news media, sales media or any other public means of 
communication without the prior written consent and specific approval of the appraiser. 

No responsibility is assumed for matters legal in character nor is any opinion rendered as to 
title, which is assumed to be good.  All existing liens and encumbrances have been 
disregarded except, as noted otherwise, and the property is appraised as though free and 
clear, under responsible ownership and competent management. 

No engineering survey or analysis of the property has been made.   

Unless expressly indicated within this report, no regulated wetlands or other environmentally 
sensitive areas, such as woodlands, were observed on the property. 

Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of toxins or hazardous material, which 
may or may not be present on the property, was not observed by the appraiser. The appraiser 
has no knowledge of the existence of such materials on or in the property. The appraiser, 
however, is neither trained nor qualified to detect hazardous materials.  The presence of 
asbestos, urea-formaldehyde foam insulation, heavy metals, petroleum distillates, solvents, 
radioactive or other potentially hazardous materials may affect the market value of the 
property.  This determination of fair market value is predicated on the assumption that there 
is no such material present at the subject property that would cause a diminution in value.  No 
responsibility is assumed for any such conditions or for any expertise or knowledge required 
to discover them.  The client, and any other interested party, is urged to retain an expert 
trained in the detection of toxins and hazardous substances, if desired. 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 32 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

THIS APPRAISAL IS SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING LIMITING CONDITIONS & 
RESTRICTIONS UPON DISCLOSURE AND USE (Page Two of Two Pages) 

Comparable sales data and sources are confidential and for purposes of this report only.  The 
maps, sketches and photographs included in this report are included to assist in locating and 
identifying parcels and comparable sales.  Map and sketch details are approximate and no 
responsibility is assumed for accuracy. 

Property rights appraised are, unless otherwise indicated, fee simple interest subject to 
recorded or known restrictions and easements, if any. 

Unit values applied to the subject parcel as a whole are applicable only to the entire parcel as 
defined.  All unit values or other means of comparison should not be applied to other 
properties or individual sub-parcels or divisions of the subject.  It is also inappropriate to make 
a partition based upon fractional or minority ownership interests, unless specifically addressed 
within the appraisal report. 

Values assigned to improvements covered by this report are in proportion to the contribution 
made by said improvements to the market value of the property as a whole. 

Real estate appraisers in Michigan are required by law to be licensed.  This licensure is 
administrated and appraisers are regulated by the Department of Licensing and Regulatory 
Affairs, PO Box 30004, Lansing, Michigan 48909. 

The legal description furnished is assumed to be correct.  Other information identified in this 
report as being furnished by others is believed to be reliable but no responsibility is assumed 
for its accuracy. 

This is an Appraisal Report as defined by the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice (USPAP). 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 33 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

ADDENDA 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 34 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

COMPARABLE LAND SALE 1 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 35 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

COMPARABLE LAND SALE 1 

Location: 770 S. Adams Road, South of Haynes Street 
City of Birmingham, Oakland County 

Tax ID#: Tax Parcel 19-36-283-016 - Original Number 

Date of Sale: May 21, 2021 

Sale Price: $6,326,695 ($6,200,000 + $126,695 demo costs) 

Land Area: 28,760± square feet - 0.66± net acres 

Unit Price: $219.98 per square foot - $9,582,435 per net acre (including demo) 

Dimensions/Shape: Slightly irregular 

Zoning: B-2 General Business 
Parcel is located in the Triangle District 
Overlaid Mixed Use-3 and Mixed Use-5 

Utilities: All available 

Frontage: 172 LF on S. Adams Road 

Grantor: 770 Adams, LLC 

Grantee: FHS Birmingham, LLC 

Verification: Buyer and Property Transfer Affidavit 

Remarks: The site was improved with a 2 story building consisting of 13,866 SF. 
The building and site improvements, along with the building at 1000 Haynes, 

were demolished at a total cost of $249,400.  The prorated demo costs allocated to 
Sale 1 is $126,695.  Sales 1 and 2 were combined and are currently being developed. 

The new development is identified as 707 S. Worth Street (Tax #19-36-283-026). 
The combined unit rate is $99.97 PSF or $4,354,783 PA ($8,949,400/89,519 SF) 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 36 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

COMPARABLE LAND SALE 2 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 37 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

COMPARABLE LAND SALE 2 

Location: 1000 Haynes Street, West of S. Adams Road 
City of Birmingham, Oakland County 

Tax ID#: Tax Parcel 19-36-283-024 - Original Number 

Date of Sale: May 21, 2021 

Sale Price: $2,622,705 ($2,500,000 + $122,705 demo costs) 

Land Area: 60,759± square feet - 1.40± net acres 

Unit Price: $43.17 per square foot - $1,880,298 per net acre 

Dimensions/Shape: Irregular 

Zoning: B-2 General Business 
Parcel is located in the Triangle District 
Overlaid Mixed Use-3 and Mixed Use-5 

Utilities: All available 

Frontage: 198 LF on Haynes, 59.9 LF on S. Adams Road, 307.1 LF on S. Worth 

Grantor: Citizens Bank, N.A. 

Grantee: FHS Birmingham, LLC 

Verification: Buyer’s Settlement Statement 

Remarks: The site was improved with a 2 story building consisting of 13,444 SF. 
The building and site improvements, along with the building at 770 S. Adams, 

were demolished at a total cost of $249,400.  The prorated demo costs allocated to 
Sale 2 is $122,705.  Sales 1 and 2 were combined and are currently being developed. 

The new development is identified as 707 S. Worth Street (Tax #19-36-283-026). 
The combined unit rate is $99.97 PSF or $4,354,783 PA ($8,949,400/89,519 SF) 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 38 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

COMPARABLE LAND SALE 3 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 39 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

COMPARABLE LAND SALE 3 

Location: 2101 E. 14 Mile Road, at NEC of Mansfield Road 
City of Birmingham, Oakland County 

Tax ID#: Tax Parcel 20-31-455-006 

Date of Sale: November 25, 2020 

Sale Price: $400,000 

Land Area: 14,850 square feet - 0.34 net acres 

Unit Price: $26.94 per square foot - $1,173,333 per net acre 

Dimensions/Shape: Rectangular – 135’ x 110’ 

Zoning: O-1, Office District 

Utilities: All available 

Frontage: 135 LF on E. 14 Mile Road 
110 LF on Mansfield Road 

Grantor: Kelly Building and Development Company 

Grantee: Thirty One Real Estate, LLC (Michigan Smile Design) 

Verification: Assessing records and CoStar 

Remarks: The vacant site was improved with a 4,140 square foot dental clinic in 2021 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 40 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

COMPARABLE LAND SALE 4 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 41 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

COMPARABLE LAND SALE 4 

Location: 460 N. Old Woodward Avenue 
Between Ravine and Euclid Avenues 

City of Birmingham, Oakland County 

Tax ID#: Tax Parcel 19-25-330-008 

Date of Sale: September 4, 2018 

Sale Price: $1,479,000 ($1,450,000 + $29,000) 

Land Area: 5,532 square feet - 0.127 net acres 

Unit Price: $267.35 per square foot - $11,645,922 per net acre 

Dimensions/Shape: Rectangular – 46’ x 120.26’ (averaged) 

Zoning: Parcel is zoned D-2 in the Downtown Overlay District 

Utilities: All available 

Frontage: 46 LF on N. Old Woodward Avenue 

Grantor: Junior League of Birmingham MI 

Grantee: 460 Parkview 

Verification: Assessing records 

Remarks: A demolition permit was issued in June of 2022 and a permit for 
construction of a new commercial building was issued on January 13, 2023. 

Sales 1 and 2 were demolished in 2021 at a total cost of $249,400.  This 
equates to a unit rate of $9.00 per square foot (rounded).  Applying this unit 

to the building size of 3,232 SF by the demolition unit rate established in Sales 
1 and 2 of $9.00 PSF yields demolition costs of 29,088, rounded to $29,000. 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 42 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

COMPARABLE LAND SALE 5

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 43 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

COMPARABLE LAND SALE 5 

Location: 277 Pierce Street, at NEC of E. Merrill Street 
City of Birmingham, Oakland County 

Tax ID#: Tax Parcel 19-36-201-010 - Original Number 

Date of Sale: September 6, 2016 

Sale Price: $3,225,500 ($3,150,000 + $75,500 demo costs) 

Land Area: 4,829± square feet - 0.11± net acres 

Unit Price: $667.94 per square foot - $29,095,626 per net acre 

Dimensions/Shape: Rectangular – 49.82’ x 96.92’ (averaged) 

Zoning: Parcel is zoned D-4 in the Downtown Overlay District 

Utilities: All available 

Frontage: 49.82 LF on Pierce Street 
97.08 LF on E. Merrill Street 

Grantor: Secontine Family Limited Partnership 

Grantee: 277 Development Associates, LLC 

Verification: Broker’s Selling Statement (Signature) 

Remarks: The site was improved with an existing building consisting of 8,387 SF. 
The building was demolished circa 2021 and a five story commercial condo 

building was constructed in 2022.  The new Tax ID#’s are 19-36-201-023-24-25. 
Multiplying the building size of 8,387 SF by the demolition unit rate established in 
Sales 1 and 2 of $9.00 PSF yields demolition costs of 75,483, rounded to $75,500. 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 44 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 45 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 46 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 47 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 48 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 49 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 50 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 51 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 52 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 53 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

5F



Real Estate Appraisal of Balcony Easements over Public Sidewalks 
Adjoining 18,000 Square Foot Development Parcel Located at Hazel and South Old Woodward 

City of Birmingham - Page 54 –Oakland County, Michigan 
© Burgoyne Appraisal Company LLC. 400 Congdon Street, Chelsea, Michigan 48118-1206 

5F



MEMORANDUM 
Clerk’s Office 

DATE:    January 2, 2024

TO: , City Manager 

FROM: Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: Board of Review Member Resignation 

INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND: 
The Board of Review Regular Member Cynthia Rose submitted her resignation from the board 
effective December 18, 2023. This creates a vacancy for the remainder of her three-year term 
set to expire December 31, 2024. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
None 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
None 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The City Clerk’s office will publish a notice of intention to appoint this position, post the vacancy 
on the “Boards and Commissions Opportunities” portion of the City’s website and include it in the 
City’s digital news vehicles as publication schedules permit.  

SUMMARY: 
The City Commission is being asked to accept the resignation of Cynthia Rose from the Board of 
Review, thank her for her service, and to direct the City Clerk to begin the process of filling the 
vacancy. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. Resignation letter dated December 18, 2023.

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
To make a motion to accept the resignation of Cynthia Rose from the Board of Review, to 
thank her for her service and direct the City Clerk to begin the process of filling the vacancy.  

5G



Mya Brown <mbrown@bhamgov.org>

Board of Review
Rose, Cynthia <cynthia.rose@cbrealty.com> Mon, Dec 18, 2023 at 12:07 PM
To: Mya Brown <mbrown@bhamgov.org>, "crose@cbwm.com" <crose@cbwm.com>, Clerks Office
<ClerksOffice@bhamgov.org>

Good morning, Mya,

Unfortunately, a�er many years serving on this board, I need to resign my appointment.

Best Regards,
Cindy Rose
(248) 752-2667

From: Mya Brown <mbrown@bhamgov.org>
Sent: Monday, December 11, 2023 4:32 PM
To: crose@cbwm.com <crose@cbwm.com>; Clerks Office <ClerksOffice@bhamgov.org>
Subject: Board of Review
 
[Quoted text hidden]
*Wire Fraud is Real*.  Before wiring any money, call the intended recipient at a number you know
is valid to confirm the instructions. Additionally, please note that the sender does not have authority
to bind a party to a real estate contract via written or verbal communication.

5G

mailto:mbrown@bhamgov.org
mailto:crose@cbwm.com
mailto:crose@cbwm.com
mailto:ClerksOffice@bhamgov.org


MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Department 

DATE: January 3, 2024 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Melissa A. Coatta, City Engineer  

SUBJECT: Redding Road Project  
Contract #9-23(S) Contract Award 

INTRODUCTION: 
The City received and opened bids for the Redding Road Project Contract #9-23(S) on November 
21, 2023.  Four (4) bids were received for consideration, and the Engineering Department 
recommends awarding this contract to FDM Contracting, Inc.  

BACKGROUND: 
The Redding Road Project includes the replacement of water main and storm sewer on Redding 
Road between Lake Park Drive and Woodward Avenue, and the repaving of the roadway.  The 
City will also install a sidewalk on the north side of Redding Road between Lake Park Drive and 
the Rouge River where no sidewalk exists while public investments are being made in this project. 

The Redding Road Project was presented to the Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MMTB) on 
March 3, 2022.  As part of the pavement replacement, the City will place new curb and gutters 
along with replacing driveway approaches, improving sidewalk ramps as needed, and narrow the 
island between the two approaches at Woodward.  In addition, the project also includes the 
construction of 57 feet of 12” diameter storm sewer and two catch basins on Mill Race at the 
Lakeside Drive intersection to capture storm water runoff.  This new storm sewer could be 
incorporated into a bioretention feature in the future to infiltrate runoff.  A Sidewalk Special 
Assessment District for this project was presented to the City Commission on November 27, 2023 
for a Hearing of Necessity and on December 4, 2023 for a Confirmation of Roll.  The SAD was 
approved by City Commission.       

The Engineering Department opened bids on November 21, 2023. Four (4) bids were received, 
as listed in the attached summary. The low bidder was FDM Contracting, Inc. with their bid of 
$2,957,637.00 for Paving Alternate #1 (concrete road) and $2,925,983.00 for Paving Alternate 
#2 (asphalt road with concrete curb and gutter).  The low bid of $2,957,637.00 (for concrete 
road) was approximately $392,146.00 higher (13.3%) than the engineer's estimate.  Factors that 

5H



 
 
 
 
 

2 
 

influence bid pricing include rising material and labor costs.  The low bidder priced asphalt 
pavement $31,654.00 lower in cost than concrete pavement.  The Engineering Department 
recommends proceeding with concrete pavement on this project due to a minor increase in price 
for a material that has a longer lifespan. 
 
FDM Contracting, Inc. has completed projects for the City in the past, including the 
Westwood/Oak/Raynale Project completed in 2023. Based on their performance on previous 
projects, we are confident that they are fully qualified to perform the type of work included in the 
Redding Road Sewer and Water Main Project.  
 
As required for all City construction projects, FDM Contracting, Inc. has submitted a 5% bid 
security with their bid which will be forfeited if they do not provide signed contracts, bonds, and 
insurance required by the contract following the award by the City Commission.   

 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City's standard contract language was used for this bidding document which the City Attorney 
had reviewed and approved. No legal issues exist based on the documentation. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
This project is budgeted for in the 2023/2024 fiscal year.  The street and sidewalk portions of the 
low bid are within the budget.  However, the sewer and water portions are over budget by 
$548,700 and $324,270.  Budget amendments are required for the sewer and water costs 
exceeding the budgeted amount.  The total construction cost for the project is estimated to be 
$3,105,518.85 which includes the FDM Contracting, Inc. bid amount of $2,957,637.00 and a 5% 
construction contingency. The project award will be funded by the following accounts:  
 

Fund Account Fund ID Number Project Award 5% 
Contingencies Total 

Major Street Fund 202.0-449.001-981.0100 $1,167,173.89  $58,358.69  $1,225,532.59  
Sidewalk Fund 101.0-444.000-981.0100 $101,927.92 $5,096.40 $107,024.31 
Sewer Fund 590.0-537.000-981.0100 $913,043.84  $45,652.19  $958,696.03  
Water Fund 591.0-544.000-981.0100 $775,491.35  $38,774.57  $814,265.92  
 
SUSTAINABILITY: 
This project will install new sidewalk on the north side of Redding Road east of Lakepark Drive to 
link existing areas of sidewalk.  This will improve non-motorized transportation routes in this area.  
In addition, the new storm sewer will include two (2) hydrodynamic separator structures to 
capture trash, debris, and sediment from the storm sewer prior to discharging into the Rouge 
River. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Property owners received notification of the sidewalk special assessment district. The Engineering 
Department will be holding a property owner meeting prior to the start of construction to discuss 
the project and to answer questions.  Communication with property owners in the project will be 
included in the general project announcement. 
   
 
  

5H



 
 
 
 
 

3 
 

SUMMARY: 
The Engineering Department recommends the Redding Road Project Contract #9-23(S) be 
awarded to FDM Contracting, Inc.   
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

• Project Area Maps 
• Bid Summary 
• Hubbell, Roth & Clark, Inc. Recommendation Letter 
• Contract 
• Plans 

 
SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to award the Redding Road Sewer and Water Main 
Improvements Project #9-23(S) to FDM Contracting, Inc. in the amount of $2,957,637.00 and a 
5% construction contingency for a total of $3,105,518.85. In addition, to authorize the Mayor 
and City Clerk to sign the agreement on behalf of the City contingent upon execution of the 
agreement and meeting all insurance and bonding requirements by FDM Contracting, Inc. 
Funding for this project has been budgeted in the following accounts: 
 

Fund Account Fund ID Number Project Award 5% 
Contingencies Total 

Major Street Fund 202.0-449.001-981.0100 $1,167,173.89  $58,358.69  $1,225,532.59  
Sidewalk Fund 101.0-444.000-981.0100 $101,927.92 $5,096.40 $107,024.31 
Sewer Fund 590.0-537.000-981.0100 $913,043.84  $45,652.19  $958,696.03  
Water Fund 591.0-544.000-981.0100 $775,491.35  $38,774.57  $814,265.92  
 
AND 
To approve the appropriation and amendment of the fiscal year 2023/2024 budget as follows: 
 
Sewer Fund: 

Revenues: 
590.0-000.000-400.0000 Draw from Net Position  $548,700 
Total Revenue        $548,700 
 
Expenditures: 
590.0-537.000-981.0100  Public Improvement   $548,700 
Total Expenses       $548,700 

 
Water Fund: 

Revenues: 
591.0-000.000-400.0000 Draw from Net Position  $324,270 
Total Revenue        $324,270 

 
Expenditures: 
591.0-544.000-981.0100  Public Improvement   $324,270 
Total Expenses       $324,270 

 

5H

https://cms7.revize.com/revize/birmingham/Document_Center/Department/Engineering/04_Redding_Road_Contract.pdf
https://cms7.revize.com/revize/birmingham/Document_Center/Department/Engineering/05_Redding_9(23)_Final_Plan_Set.pdf


Redding Road Project
Project Limits

5H



Mill Race Storm Sewer
Project Limits

5H



BID TABULATION Bids Due: November 21, 2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

REDDING ROAD SEWER AND WATER MAIN IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT

CONTRACT #9-23(S)

F.D.M. Contracting Inc. Pamar Enterprises, Inc Diponio Contracting

49156 Van Dyke 31604 Parmar Court 51251 Simone Industrial Dr

Shelby Twp, Michigan 48317 New Haven, Michigan 48048 Shelby Twp, Michigan 48316

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

DIVISION 1: Road Reconstruction General

1. Curb and Gutter, Rem 48 LF 20.00$          960.00$               17.00$          816.00$               13.00$          624.00$               

2. Pavt, Rem 5,891 SY 10.00$          58,910.00$          15.00$          88,365.00$          18.00$          106,038.00$        

3. HMA Drive, Rem 106 SY 10.00$          1,060.00$            12.00$          1,272.00$            20.00$          2,120.00$            

4. Conc Drive, Rem 249 SY 10.00$          2,490.00$            13.00$          3,237.00$            23.00$          5,727.00$            

5. Subgrade Undercutting 520 CY 35.00$          18,200.00$          65.00$          33,800.00$          70.00$          36,400.00$          

6. Erosion Control, Inlet Filter 35 EA 100.00$         3,500.00$            80.00$          2,800.00$            150.00$         5,250.00$            

7. Erosion Control, Silt Fence 1000 LF 3.00$            3,000.00$            1.65$            1,650.00$            3.00$            3,000.00$            

8. Aggregate Base, 8 inch, 21AA, MDOT 6135 SY 18.00$          110,430.00$        15.00$          92,025.00$          20.00$          122,700.00$        

9. Aggregate Base, 6 inch, 21AA, MDOT 755 SY 15.00$          11,325.00$          14.00$          10,570.00$          19.00$          14,345.00$          

10. Maintenance Aggregate 100 TON 38.00$          3,800.00$            20.00$          2,000.00$            70.00$          7,000.00$            

11. Road Grade Biaxial Geogrid 1540 SY 4.00$            6,160.00$            2.00$            3,080.00$            3.00$            4,620.00$            

12. 6" Perforated Pipe Underdrain (No Sock) 2,489 LF 22.00$          54,758.00$          14.00$          34,846.00$          30.00$          74,670.00$          

13. Hand Patching 10 TON 450.00$         4,500.00$            395.00$         3,950.00$            450.00$         4,500.00$            

14. HMA Approach 38 TON 420.00$         15,960.00$          370.00$         14,060.00$          250.00$         9,500.00$            

15. HMA, 3EML 79 TON 355.00$         28,045.00$          315.00$         24,885.00$          250.00$         19,750.00$          

16. HMA, 5EML 34 TON 400.00$         13,600.00$          350.00$         11,900.00$          300.00$         10,200.00$          

17. Post, Steel, 3 pound 280 VF 12.00$          3,360.00$            10.00$          2,800.00$            10.00$          2,800.00$            

18. Sign, Type III, Erect, Salv 20 EA 100.00$         2,000.00$            50.00$          1,000.00$            50.00$          1,000.00$            

19. Sign, Type III, Rem 34 SF 25.00$          850.00$               10.00$          340.00$               10.00$          340.00$               

20. Sign, Type IIIA 62 SF 25.00$          1,550.00$            20.00$          1,240.00$            20.00$          1,240.00$            

21. Sign, Type IIIB 29 EA 25.00$          725.00$               20.00$          580.00$               20.00$          580.00$               

22. Sign, Type III, Rem, Salv 20 EA 50.00$          1,000.00$            150.00$         3,000.00$            20.00$          400.00$               

23. Ground Mtd Sign Support, Rem 26 EA 25.00$          650.00$               10.00$          260.00$               10.00$          260.00$               

24. Pavt Mrkg, Polyurea, 12 inch, Crosswalk 808 LF 7.00$            5,656.00$            5.95$            4,807.60$            5.95$            4,807.60$            

25. Barricade, Type III, High Intensity, Double Sided, 

Lighted, Oper

20 EA  $        100.00  $           2,000.00  $          75.00  $           1,500.00  $          75.00 1,500.00$            

26. Barricade, Type III, High Intensity, Double Sided, 

Lighted, Furn

20 EA 25.00$          500.00$               0.01$            0.20$                  0.01$            0.20$                  

27. Channelizing Device, 42 inch, Fluorescent, Furn 100 EA 25.00$          2,500.00$            16.00$          1,600.00$            16.00$          1,600.00$            

28. Channelizing Device, 42 inch, Flourescent, Furn 100 EA 1.00$            100.00$               0.01$            1.00$                  0.01$            1.00$                  

29. Lighted Arrow, Type C, Furn 1 EA 1,000.00$      1,000.00$            500.00$         500.00$               500.00$         500.00$               

30. Lighted Arrow, Type C, Oper 1 EA 100.00$         100.00$               0.01$            0.01$                  0.01$            0.01$                  

31. Plastic Drum, Fluorescent, Furn 100 EA 30.00$          3,000.00$            23.00$          2,300.00$            23.00$          2,300.00$            

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2023\9-23(S)_REDDING\Bidding\Bid_Tab\Bid_Tab_9-23S Page 15H



BID TABULATION Bids Due: November 21, 2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

REDDING ROAD SEWER AND WATER MAIN IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT

CONTRACT #9-23(S)

F.D.M. Contracting Inc. Pamar Enterprises, Inc Diponio Contracting

49156 Van Dyke 31604 Parmar Court 51251 Simone Industrial Dr

Shelby Twp, Michigan 48317 New Haven, Michigan 48048 Shelby Twp, Michigan 48316

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

32. Plastic Drum, Fluorescent, Oper 100 EA 1.00$            100.00$               0.01$            1.00$                  0.01$            1.00$                  

33. Sign Cover 5 EA 50.00$          250.00$               25.00$          125.00$               25.00$          125.00$               

34. Sign, Type B, Temp, Prismatic, Furn 1100 SF 6.00$            6,600.00$            5.00$            5,500.00$            5.00$            5,500.00$            

35. Sign, Type B, Temp, Prismatic, Oper 1,100 SF 1.00$            1,100.00$            0.01$            11.00$                0.01$            11.00$                

36. Sign, Type B, Temp, Prismatic, Special, Furn 300 SF 12.00$          3,600.00$            10.00$          3,000.00$            10.00$          3,000.00$            

37. Sign, Type B, Temp, Prismatic, Special, Oper 300 SF 1.00$            300.00$               0.01$            3.00$                  0.01$            3.00$                  

38. Driveway, Nonreinf, Conc, 6 inch 538 SY 57.00$          30,666.00$          57.00$          30,666.00$          80.00$          43,040.00$          

39. Curb and Gutter, Conc, Det C6 76 LF 44.00$          3,344.00$            35.00$          2,660.00$            35.00$          2,660.00$            

40. Curb and Gutter, Conc, 18" Wide (Birmingham 

Roll)

48 LF 44.00$          2,112.00$            25.00$          1,200.00$            25.00$          1,200.00$            

41. Turf Establishment 4,715 SY 20.00$          94,300.00$          5.00$            23,575.00$          10.00$          47,150.00$          

42. Mulch, 3 inch 50 SY 20.00$          1,000.00$            25.00$          1,250.00$            4.00$            200.00$               

SUBTOTAL DIVISION 1 505,061.00$     417,175.81$     546,662.81$     

DIVISION 2A : PAVING ALTERNATE No.1 

43. Station Grading, Alternate No. 1 14.5 STA 6,500.00$      94,250.00$          6,500.00$      94,250.00$          14,000.00$    203,000.00$        

44. Conc Pavt, Nonreinf, 7 inch, with Integral 6" Curb 5,131 SY 63.00$          323,253.00$        57.00$          292,467.00$        57.00$          292,467.00$        

45. Pavt Gapping 200 LF 30.00$          6,000.00$            25.00$          5,000.00$            25.00$          5,000.00$            

46. Rem Curing Compound, for Longit Mrkg, 12 inch 808 LF 4.00$            3,232.00$            2.95$            2,383.60$            2.95$            2,383.60$            

SUBTOTAL DIVISION 2A : PAVING 

ALTERNATE No. 1 - CONCRETE
426,735.00$     394,100.60$     502,850.60$     

DIVISION 2B : PAVING ALTERNATE No. 2

47. Station Grading, Alternate No. 2 14.5 STA 6,500.00$      94,250.00$          7,000.00$      101,500.00$        14,500.00$    210,250.00$        

48. HMA, 3EML 720 TON 135.00$         97,200.00$          122.25$         88,020.00$          152.00$         109,440.00$        

49. HMA, 4EML 480 TON 136.00$         65,280.00$          124.00$         59,520.00$          152.00$         72,960.00$          

50. HMA, 5EML 360 TON 138.00$         49,680.00$          125.00$         45,000.00$          175.00$         63,000.00$          

51. Curb and Gutter, Conc, 18" Wide (Birmingham 

Roll)

2,421 LF 33.00$          79,893.00$          20.00$          48,420.00$          20.00$          48,420.00$          

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2023\9-23(S)_REDDING\Bidding\Bid_Tab\Bid_Tab_9-23S Page 25H



BID TABULATION Bids Due: November 21, 2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

REDDING ROAD SEWER AND WATER MAIN IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT

CONTRACT #9-23(S)

F.D.M. Contracting Inc. Pamar Enterprises, Inc Diponio Contracting

49156 Van Dyke 31604 Parmar Court 51251 Simone Industrial Dr

Shelby Twp, Michigan 48317 New Haven, Michigan 48048 Shelby Twp, Michigan 48316

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

52. Curb and Gutter, Conc, 18" Wide, Spillout 

(Reverse)

266 LF 33.00$          8,778.00$            22.00$          5,852.00$            22.00$          5,852.00$            

SUBTOTAL DIVISION 2B : PAVING 

ALTERNATE No. 2 - ASPHALT
395,081.00$     348,312.00$     509,922.00$     

DIVISION 3 - SEWER

53. Dr Structure, Rem 19 EA 800.00$         15,200.00$          350.00$         6,650.00$            800.00$         15,200.00$          

54. Sewer, Rem, Less than 24 inch 1,052 LF 35.00$          36,820.00$          5.00$            5,260.00$            30.00$          31,560.00$          

55. Water & Sewer Allowance 50,000 DLR 1.00$            50,000.00$          1.00$            50,000.00$          1.00$            50,000.00$          

56. Storm Sewer, C1 IV, 12 inch, Tr Det A 388 LF 120.00$         46,560.00$          195.00$         75,660.00$          140.00$         54,320.00$          

57. Storm Sewer, C1 IV, 15 inch, Tr Det A 41 LF 135.00$         5,535.00$            218.00$         8,938.00$            160.00$         6,560.00$            

58. Storm Sewer, C1 IV, 18 inch, Tr Det A 47 LF 150.00$         7,050.00$            285.00$         13,395.00$          180.00$         8,460.00$            

59. Storm Sewer, C1 IV, 21 inch, Tr Det A 67 LF 185.00$         12,395.00$          295.00$         19,765.00$          200.00$         13,400.00$          

60. Storm Sewer, C1 IV, 30 inch, Tr Det A 485 LF 260.00$         126,100.00$        326.00$         158,110.00$        270.00$         130,950.00$        

61. Sewer Tap, 12 inch 3 EA 1,500.00$      4,500.00$            1,950.00$      5,850.00$            800.00$         2,400.00$            

62. Sewer Tap, 21 inch 1 EA 2,500.00$      2,500.00$            2,750.00$      2,750.00$            1,500.00$      1,500.00$            

63. CCTV Sewer Acceptance Inspection 1 LS 10,000.00$    10,000.00$          1,449.48$      1,449.48$            8,500.00$      8,500.00$            

64. Adjust Structure Cover 13 EA 700.00$         9,100.00$            600.00$         7,800.00$            1,700.00$      22,100.00$          

65. Manhole Cover, Type 1040B 21 EA 750.00$         15,750.00$          500.00$         10,500.00$          800.00$         16,800.00$          

66. Dr Structure Cover, Type 5000M4 16 EA 750.00$         12,000.00$          550.00$         8,800.00$            800.00$         12,800.00$          

67. Manhole Cover, Type 1040ZPT 2 EA 1,000.00$      2,000.00$            550.00$         1,100.00$            900.00$         1,800.00$            

68. Dr Structure, 24 inch dia 12 EA 3,500.00$      42,000.00$          3,000.00$      36,000.00$          1,700.00$      20,400.00$          

69. Dr Structure, 48 inch dia 1 EA 5,000.00$      5,000.00$            3,500.00$      3,500.00$            2,800.00$      2,800.00$            

70. Dr Structure, 60 inch dia 3 EA 6,500.00$      19,500.00$          6,250.00$      18,750.00$          5,000.00$      15,000.00$          

71. Manhole, 48 inch dia 2 EA 5,500.00$      11,000.00$          3,500.00$      7,000.00$            4,000.00$      8,000.00$            

72. Manhole, 60 inch dia 4 EA 7,000.00$      28,000.00$          6,250.00$      25,000.00$          6,500.00$      26,000.00$          

73. Manhole, 72 inch dia 1 EA 10,000.00$    10,000.00$          8,100.00$      8,100.00$            9,000.00$      9,000.00$            

74. Manhole, 48 inch dia, Over Existing Sewer 1 EA 7,500.00$      7,500.00$            6,000.00$      6,000.00$            4,200.00$      4,200.00$            

75. Manhole, 60 inch dia, Over Existing Sewer 3 EA 9,000.00$      27,000.00$          9,500.00$      28,500.00$          6,200.00$      18,600.00$          

76. Manhole, 48 inch dia, w/ 2' Sump, Over Existing 

Sewer

1 EA 7,000.00$      7,000.00$            6,400.00$      6,400.00$            5,000.00$      5,000.00$            

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2023\9-23(S)_REDDING\Bidding\Bid_Tab\Bid_Tab_9-23S Page 35H



BID TABULATION Bids Due: November 21, 2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

REDDING ROAD SEWER AND WATER MAIN IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT

CONTRACT #9-23(S)

F.D.M. Contracting Inc. Pamar Enterprises, Inc Diponio Contracting

49156 Van Dyke 31604 Parmar Court 51251 Simone Industrial Dr

Shelby Twp, Michigan 48317 New Haven, Michigan 48048 Shelby Twp, Michigan 48316

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

77. Manhole, 60 inch dia, w/ 2' Sump, Over Existing 

Sewer

1 EA 10,000.00$    10,000.00$          10,500.00$    10,500.00$          7,000.00$      7,000.00$            

78. Manhole, 72 inch dia, w/ 2' Sump, Over Existing 

Sewer

1 EA 18,000.00$    18,000.00$          18,000.00$    18,000.00$          15,000.00$    15,000.00$          

79. Manhole, 84 inch dia, w/ 2' Sump and Weir Wall 1 EA 23,000.00$    23,000.00$          22,500.00$    22,500.00$          20,000.00$    20,000.00$          

80. Dr Structure, Add Depth, 48 inch dia, 8ft to 15ft 0.6 VF 200.00$         120.00$               55.00$          33.00$                160.00$         96.00$                

81. Dr Structure, Add Depth, 60 inch dia, 8ft to 15ft 5.5 VF 300.00$         1,650.00$            65.00$          357.50$               240.00$         1,320.00$            

82. Dr Structure, Add Depth, 72 inch dia, 8ft to 15ft 0.6 VF 400.00$         240.00$               75.00$          45.00$                400.00$         240.00$               

83. Dr Structure, Add Depth, 84 inch dia, 8ft to 15ft 0.9 VF 500.00$         450.00$               80.00$          72.00$                500.00$         450.00$               

84. Reconstruct Manhole (If & Where Needed) 20 VF 100.00$         2,000.00$            400.00$         8,000.00$            600.00$         12,000.00$          

85. Hydrodynamic Separator Structure A 1 EA 70,000.00$    70,000.00$          125,000.00$   125,000.00$        56,000.00$    56,000.00$          

86. Hydrodynamic Separator Structure D 1 EA 120,000.00$   120,000.00$        125,000.00$   125,000.00$        100,000.00$   100,000.00$        

SUBTOTAL DIVISION 3: SEWER 757,970.00$     824,784.98$     697,456.00$     

DIVISION 4 : WATER MAIN

87. Water Main, HDPE, Dr 11, HDD, 8 inch 240 LF 275.00$         66,000.00$          355.00$         85,200.00$          250.00$         60,000.00$          

88. Water Main, DI CL 54, Open Cut, 6 inch 53 LF 200.00$         10,600.00$          225.00$         11,925.00$          250.00$         13,250.00$          

89. Water Main, DI CL 54, Open Cut, 8 inch 715 LF 210.00$         150,150.00$        265.00$         189,475.00$        260.00$         185,900.00$        

90. Water Main, DI CL 54, Open Cut, 12 inch 863 LF 240.00$         207,120.00$        297.00$         256,311.00$        270.00$         233,010.00$        

91. Reconnect Water Service 9 EA 900.00$         8,100.00$            1,750.00$      15,750.00$          1,600.00$      14,400.00$          

92. Gate Valve & Box, Rem 10 EA 100.00$         1,000.00$            90.00$          900.00$               500.00$         5,000.00$            

93. Gate Valve & Box, 6 inch 1 EA 3,500.00$      3,500.00$            2,500.00$      2,500.00$            2,200.00$      2,200.00$            

94. Gate Valve & Box, 8 inch 1 EA 4,000.00$      4,000.00$            3,000.00$      3,000.00$            2,700.00$      2,700.00$            

95. Gate Valve & Well, 8 inch 9 EA 8,500.00$      76,500.00$          6,750.00$      60,750.00$          6,000.00$      54,000.00$          

96. Gate Valve & Well, 12 inch 4 EA 10,000.00$    40,000.00$          8,800.00$      35,200.00$          8,000.00$      32,000.00$          

97. Water Main Connection, 6 inch to ex 6 inch 4 EA 6,500.00$      26,000.00$          7,500.00$      30,000.00$          8,000.00$      32,000.00$          

98. Water Main Connection, 8 inch to ex 8 inch 5 EA 7,500.00$      37,500.00$          8,000.00$      40,000.00$          9,000.00$      45,000.00$          

99. Fire Hydrant, Rem 2 EA 1,000.00$      2,000.00$            1,100.00$      2,200.00$            800.00$         1,600.00$            

100. Fire Hydrant Assembly, Complete 7 EA 7,500.00$      52,500.00$          9,000.00$      63,000.00$          7,000.00$      49,000.00$          

101. Water Main, Abandon 1753 LF 7.00$            12,271.00$          1.00$            1,753.00$            3.00$            5,259.00$            

102. Hydra-Stop Line Stop, 6 inch (As Needed) 3 EA 100.00$         300.00$               1,000.00$      3,000.00$            9,000.00$      27,000.00$          

103. Hydra-Stop Line Stop, 8 inch (As Needed) 5 EA 200.00$         1,000.00$            1,500.00$      7,500.00$            9,400.00$      47,000.00$          

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2023\9-23(S)_REDDING\Bidding\Bid_Tab\Bid_Tab_9-23S Page 45H



BID TABULATION Bids Due: November 21, 2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

REDDING ROAD SEWER AND WATER MAIN IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT

CONTRACT #9-23(S)

F.D.M. Contracting Inc. Pamar Enterprises, Inc Diponio Contracting

49156 Van Dyke 31604 Parmar Court 51251 Simone Industrial Dr

Shelby Twp, Michigan 48317 New Haven, Michigan 48048 Shelby Twp, Michigan 48316

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

104. Insta-Valve Insertion Valve, 6 inch (As Needed) 2 EA 800.00$         1,600.00$            2,500.00$      5,000.00$            10,000.00$    20,000.00$          

105. Insta-Valve Insertion Valve, 8 inch (As Needed) 2 EA 1,000.00$      2,000.00$            3,000.00$      6,000.00$            11,000.00$    22,000.00$          

SUBTOTAL DIVISION 4 :  WATER MAIN 702,141.00$     819,464.00$     851,319.00$     

DIVISION 5 : SIDEWALK

106. Tree, Rem, 19 inch to 36 inch 1 EA 2,500.00$      2,500.00$            2,000.00$      2,000.00$            2,400.00$      2,400.00$            

107. Tree, Rem, 6 inch to 18 inch 26 EA 500.00$         13,000.00$          1,350.00$      35,100.00$          275.00$         7,150.00$            

108. Sidewalk, Rem 336 SY 10.00$          3,360.00$            11.00$          3,696.00$            25.00$          8,400.00$            

109. Handicap Ramp Truncated Domes 99 LF 160.00$         15,840.00$          120.00$         11,880.00$          120.00$         11,880.00$          

110. Sidewalk, Conc, 4 inch 2721 SF 7.00$            19,047.00$          6.50$            17,686.50$          9.00$            24,489.00$          

111. Sidewalk, Conc, 6 inch 1512 SF 8.00$            12,096.00$          11.00$          16,632.00$          13.00$          19,656.00$          

112. Sidewalk, Conc, 4 inch, w/ Integral Curb 2404 SF 11.00$          26,444.00$          7.50$            18,030.00$          10.00$          24,040.00$          

SUBTOTAL DIVISION 5 : SIDEWALK 92,287.00$        105,024.50$     98,015.00$        

DIVISION 6 : RETAINING WALL

113. Modular Concrete Block Retaining Wall 1174 SF 100.00$         117,400.00$        74.00$          86,876.00$          60.00$          70,440.00$          

SUBTOTAL DIVISION 6 : RETAINING WALL 117,400.00$     86,876.00$        70,440.00$        

DIVISION 7 : GENERAL ITEMS

114. Mobilization, Max 5% 1 LS 130,000.00$   130,000.00$        172,000.00$   172,000.00$        155,000.00$   155,000.00$        

115. Tree Protection, 3" Dia or Greater 50 EA 125.00$         6,250.00$            25.00$          1,250.00$            200.00$         10,000.00$          

116. Project Cleanup 1 LS 50,000.00$    50,000.00$          2,500.00$      2,500.00$            10,000.00$    10,000.00$          

117. Minor Traf Devices 1 LS 10,000.00$    10,000.00$          88,000.00$    88,000.00$          35,000.00$    35,000.00$          

118. Traf Regulator Control 1 LS 10,000.00$    10,000.00$          15,000.00$    15,000.00$          15,000.00$    15,000.00$          

119. Reimbursed Permit Fees 2000 DLR 1.00 2,000.00$            1.00 2,000.00$            1.00 2,000.00$            

120. Inspection Crew Days $650.00 WDAY 110.00 71,500.00$          90.00 58,500.00$          110.00 71,500.00$          

SUBTOTAL DIVISION 7 : GENERAL ITEMS 279,750.00$     339,250.00$     298,500.00$     

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2023\9-23(S)_REDDING\Bidding\Bid_Tab\Bid_Tab_9-23S Page 55H



BID TABULATION Bids Due: November 21, 2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

REDDING ROAD SEWER AND WATER MAIN IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT

CONTRACT #9-23(S)

F.D.M. Contracting Inc. Pamar Enterprises, Inc Diponio Contracting

49156 Van Dyke 31604 Parmar Court 51251 Simone Industrial Dr

Shelby Twp, Michigan 48317 New Haven, Michigan 48048 Shelby Twp, Michigan 48316

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

DIVISION 8 : BRIDGE MAINTENANCE

121. Conc Sidewalk Replacement 38 SF 25.00$          950.00$               55.00$          2,090.00$            100.00$         3,800.00$            

122. Wing Wall Cap Replacement 89 CF 35.00$          3,115.00$            689.00$         61,321.00$          400.00$         35,600.00$          

123. Reinforcement, Steel Epoxy Coated 231 LB 5.00$            1,155.00$            5.00$            1,155.00$            5.00$            1,155.00$            

124. Adhesive Anchoring of Vertical Bars, 3/4 inch 30 EA 12.00$          360.00$               45.00$          1,350.00$            20.00$          600.00$               

125. Precast Conc Repair 2 CF 1,000.00$      2,000.00$            4,435.00$      8,870.00$            4,500.00$      9,000.00$            

SUBTOTAL DIVISION 8 : BRIDGE MAINTENANCE 7,580.00$          74,786.00$        50,155.00$        

DIVISION 9 : MILL RACE STORM IMPROVEMENTS

126. Pavt, Rem 65 SY 20.00$          1,300.00$            15.00$          975.00$               50.00$          3,250.00$            

127. Erosion Control, Silt Fence 200 LF 5.00$            1,000.00$            1.65$            330.00$               5.00$            1,000.00$            

128. Aggregate Base, 8 inch, 21AA, MDOT 60 SY 40.00$          2,400.00$            12.00$          720.00$               75.00$          4,500.00$            

129. Aggregate Base, 6 inch, 21AA, MDOT 10 SY 30.00$          300.00$               11.00$          110.00$               100.00$         1,000.00$            

130. Maintenance Aggregate 20 TON 50.00$          1,000.00$            20.00$          400.00$               100.00$         2,000.00$            

131. HMA, 5EML 8 TON 450.00$         3,600.00$            395.00$         3,160.00$            500.00$         4,000.00$            

132. HMA, 3EML 11 TON 450.00$         4,950.00$            395.00$         4,345.00$            400.00$         4,400.00$            

133. Barricade, Type III, High Intensity, Double Sided, 

Lighted, Oper

3 EA 200.00$         600.00$               75.00$          225.00$               75.00$          225.00$               

134. Barricade, Type III, High Intensity, Double Sided, 

Lighted, Furn

3 EA 1.00$            3.00$                  0.01$            0.03$                  0.01$            0.03$                  

135. Channelizing Device, 42 inch, Fluorescent, Furn 10 EA 50.00$          500.00$               16.00$          160.00$               16.00$          160.00$               

136. Channelizing Device, 42 inch, Fluorescent, Furn 10 EA 1.00$            10.00$                0.01$            0.10$                  0.01$            0.10$                  

137. Curb and Gutter, Conc, 18" Wide (Birmingham 

Roll)

35 LF 60.00$          2,100.00$            115.00$         4,025.00$            100.00$         3,500.00$            

138. Turf Establishment 80 SY 30.00$          2,400.00$            28.50$          2,280.00$            10.00$          800.00$               

139. Storm Sewer, C1 IV, 12 inch, Tr Det A 57 LF 150.00$         8,550.00$            210.00$         11,970.00$          180.00$         10,260.00$          

140. Manhole Cover, Type 1040B 1 EA 1,000.00$      1,000.00$            500.00$         500.00$               800.00$         800.00$               

141. Dr Structure Cover, Type 5000M4 2 EA 1,000.00$      2,000.00$            550.00$         1,100.00$            800.00$         1,600.00$            

142. Dr Structure, 24 inch dia 1 EA 5,000.00$      5,000.00$            3,000.00$      3,000.00$            2,500.00$      2,500.00$            

143. Manhole. 48 inch dia, Over Existing Sewer 1 EA 12,000.00$    12,000.00$          6,000.00$      6,000.00$            4,500.00$      4,500.00$            

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2023\9-23(S)_REDDING\Bidding\Bid_Tab\Bid_Tab_9-23S Page 65H



BID TABULATION Bids Due: November 21, 2023

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

REDDING ROAD SEWER AND WATER MAIN IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT

CONTRACT #9-23(S)

F.D.M. Contracting Inc. Pamar Enterprises, Inc Diponio Contracting

49156 Van Dyke 31604 Parmar Court 51251 Simone Industrial Dr

Shelby Twp, Michigan 48317 New Haven, Michigan 48048 Shelby Twp, Michigan 48316

Item Quantity Unit Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

144. Dr Structure, 48 inch dia 2 EA 10,000.00$    20,000.00$          3,500.00$      7,000.00$            4,000.00$      8,000.00$            

SUBTOTAL DIVISION 9 : MILL RACE STORM IMPROVEMENTS 68,713.00$        46,300.13$        52,495.13$        

2,957,637.00$  3,107,762.02$  3,167,893.54$  

TOTAL AMOUNT BID 2B - ASHPALT 2,925,983.00$  3,061,973.42$  3,174,964.94$  

Other Bids Received:

Major Contracting Group: Bid 2A 3,391,026.54$      *

Bid 2B 3,435,602.94$      *

Corrected By Engineer*

TOTAL AMOUNT BID 2A - CONCRETE

H:\Shared\CONTRACTS FOR 2023\9-23(S)_REDDING\Bidding\Bid_Tab\Bid_Tab_9-23S Page 75H



5H



MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Department  

DATE: December 28, 2023  

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager

FROM: Melissa A. Coatta, City Engineer

SUBJECT: Edgewood Road Project #6-24 (S) 
Hearing of Necessity for Water and Sewer Lateral Special Assessment 
District (SAD) 

INTRODUCTION: 
A number of the water and sewer leads will be replaced as part of the Engineering Department’s 
planned project for the sewer and water main improvements on Edgewood Road between E. 
Lincoln St. and E. Southlawn Blvd. The City proposes to replace private water and sewer laterals 
that meet “useful life” criteria within the right-of-way (ROW) in an effort to protect public 
investments.  

BACKGROUND: 
Edgewood Road has been planned for a road reconstruction starting in FY 17-18 budget with 
planned construction in FY 20/21. In the FY 20-21 budget, additional money was allocated for 
sewer repairs on Edgewood Road between E. Lincoln St. and Catalpa Dr., and a new watermain 
on Edgewood Road between Catalpa Dr. and E. Southlawn Blvd. The pavement surface evaluation 
and rating (PASER) of this road is 3 out of 10, which is poor condition. The recommended 
pavement repair for a poor condition is reconstruction of the road.  

Edgewood Road – E. Lincoln St. to Catalpa Dr.: 
The existing water main in this location is 8” diameter and was installed in 1999.  The existing 
sewer in this location was installed in 1929 and ranges in size from 10” to 18” diameter.  These 
sewers were reviewed for trenchless repair by lining the existing sewer, and it is not 
recommended due to the pipe offsets, and existing pipe conditions. 

Edgewood Road – Catalpa Dr. to E. Southlawn Blvd.: 
Currently, there are no existing utilities located in this section of Edgewood Road. During the 
construction of E. Southlawn Blvd. in 2006, a water main was stubbed towards the north on 
Edgewood Road for a future water main installation.   In 2014, Catalpa was under construction, 
and a water main was stubbed towards the south on Edgewood for a future connection. The 

8A



 

 

 

 

 

2 

 

water model currently recommends an 8" diameter water main in this section of Edgewood since 
it improves water pressure and flow in this area.   
 
In accordance with current City policy established to protect the public investment being made 
with capital improvement projects in the public roadway, we intend to replace all sewer laterals 
that are 50 years of age or older or of material that are not acceptable for City standards, as well 
as all water services less than 1-inch diameter as part of this project.  All unsuitable sewer services 
will be replaced with 6” schedule 40 PVC, and water services less than 1-inch in diameter will be 
replaced with a new 1-inch diameter service, for service lengths located within the public ROW.  
 
The parcels within the project zone that are subject to sewer and water lateral special assessment 
are highlighted on the attached map.  Appended to this report is a list of properties that the 
department plans to include in the Assessment district, along with the estimated construction 
costs to be assessed at the Hearing of Confirmation.  

 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
Chapter 94 – Special Assessments of the Birmingham City Code outlines the process by which a 
special assessment is conducted in the City of Birmingham. This project will follow the prescribed 
City Code procedures.  The City Attorney has no objections. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
Revenue generated from the water and sewer lateral SAD for the Edgewood Road project will 
defray the costs incurred by the City for the construction of these improvements.  One hundred 
percent of the costs for laterals within the ROW will be paid by the property owners. The cost can 
be paid back in either a lump sum or over up to a 5-year period with interest.  The interest rate 
will be confirmed at the Confirmation of Roll.  
 
SUSTAINABILITY: 
N/A 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Notice of the Hearing of Necessity was distributed by the Clerk’s Office.  The Engineering 
Department sent a letter to all property owners explaining the scope of work and will have a 
resident meeting prior to starting the project in March 2024, weather dependent.  
 
SUMMARY: 
The Engineering Department recommends that the City Commission declare necessity and 
approve a special assessment district for water and sewer laterals as part of the Edgewood Road 
project. Should the Commission approve the special assessment district, a public hearing for 
confirmation of the Roll should be set for the City Commission meeting on January 22, 2024.  
 
ATTACHMENTS:   

• Map of proposed special assessment district of water and sewer replacement (6 pages) 
• Edgewood road project Plans (25 pages) 
• Spreadsheet with estimated cost of services (2 pages) 
• Clerk’s confirmation of public hearing notice (8 pages) 

 
 

8A



 

 

 

 

 

3 

 

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 
WHEREAS, Notice was given pursuant to Section 94-7 of the City Code, to each owner or 
party-in-interest of property and lots to be assessed, by first class mail, and by publication in a 
newspaper generally circulated in the City; and  
 
WHEREAS, The City Commission has conducted a public hearing and has determined to 
proceed with the project of replacing sewer services 50 years of age or older or of material that 
are not acceptable for City standards and replacing water services that are less than 1 inch in 
diameter on Edgewood Road between E. Lincoln Street and E. Southlawn Blvd.; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City has previously established a policy requiring replacement of sewer 
services 50 years of age or older or of material that are not acceptable for City standard and 
water services less than 1 inch in diameter and the City street is open for repairs or reconstruction; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, The City Commission, after the public hearing, has determined that the Edgewood 
Road Project, the replacement of sewer services that are 50 years of age or older or of material 
that are not acceptable for City standards, the replacement of water services that are less than 1 
inch in diameter, is a necessity and is in the best interest of the City; and  
 
WHEREAS, The Commission has approved the detailed plans and estimates of cost prepared 
by the City Engineer; and 
 
WHEREAS, Formal bids have been received and the actual cost of sewer service and water 
service replacement has been determined; and 
 
WHEREAS,  The City Engineer has determined the boundaries of sewer service lateral and 
water service laterals located within the limits of the following streets shall be installed as part of 
the Edgewood Road Project (Contract #4-23(S)): 
   
  Edgewood Road – E. Lincoln Street to E. Southlawn Blvd.; and  
 
WHEREAS, The formula used in making the assessment is 100% of the contractor’s charge 
for replacing the lateral service that is 50 years of age or older or constructed of materials that 
are not acceptable for City standard and water service that is less than 1 inch in diameter within 
the public right-of-way between the utility and the property line (calculated at the rate of $170.00 
per foot of sewer service pipe and $110.00 per foot of water service pipe). 
 
THEREFORE LET IT BE RESOLVED, The City Commission has determined that the scope of the 
public improvement as described is in the best interest of the City and will benefit the properties 
listed in the assessment roll, and the City Commission directs the Manager to prepare a Special 
Assessment Roll and present the same to the City Commission for confirmation and further set a 
Public Hearing and give notice on January 22, 2024.  
 

 
 
 
 

8A



 

 

 

 

 

4 

 

 
Sewer Lateral SAD 

Parcel ID / Sidewell 

Number 
Street Address 

19-36-402-049 280 E. Lincoln 

19-36-403-032 400 E. Lincoln 

19-36-402-023 1204 Edgewood 

19-36-402-024 1212 Edgewood  

19-36-402-025 1236 Edgewood 

19-36-402-027 1260 Edgewood 

19-36-402-028 1272 Edgewood 

19-36-402-030 1300 Edgewood 

19-36-402-032 1332 Edgewood 

19-36-402-033 1348 Edgewood 

19-36-402-035 1416 Edgewood 

19-36-402-036 1450 Edgewood 

19-36-402-038 1486 Edgewood 

19-36-402-039 1498 Edgewood 

 

Water Lateral SAD 

Parcel ID / Sidewell 

Number 
Street Address 

19-36-402-023 1204 Edgewood 

19-36-402-027 1260 Edgewood 

19-36-402-029 1288 Edgewood 

19-36-402-030 1300 Edgewood 

19-36-402-032 1332 Edgewood 

19-36-402-035 1416 Edgewood 

19-36-402-036 1450 Edgewood 

19-36-402-037 1472 Edgewood 

19-36-402-039 1498 Edgewood 

 

8A



Edgewood Road Project Area 

Water Lateral Special Assessment District Map 
 

 

MATCH LINE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROPERTIES INCLUDED 

IN PROPOSED WATER 

LATERAL SPECIAL 

ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 

 

8A



Edgewood Road Project Area 

Water Lateral Special Assessment District Map 
 

MATCH LINE PREVOUS PAGE 

 

MATCH LINE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROPERTIES INCLUDED 

IN PROPOSED WATER 

LATERAL SPECIAL 

ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 

8A



Edgewood Road Project Area 

Water Lateral Special Assessment District Map 
 

M ATCH LINE PREVOUS PAGE 

 

 

 

8A



Edgewood Road Project Area 

Sewer Lateral Special Assessment District Map 
 

 

MATCH LINE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROPERTIES INCLUDED 

IN PROPOSED SEWER 

LATERAL SPECIAL 

ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 

8A



Edgewood Road Project Area 

Sewer Lateral Special Assessment District Map 
 

MATCH LINE PREVOUS PAGE 

 

MATCH LINE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROPERTIES INCLUDED 

IN PROPOSED SEWER 

LATERAL SPECIAL 

ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 

8A



Edgewood Road Project Area 

Sewer Lateral Special Assessment District Map 
 

M ATCH LINE PREVOUS PAGE 

 

 

 

8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



8A



Parcel ID / Sidewell Number Street Address
Sewer Service Footage 

(Sewer Main to Prop. Line)

Estimated 

Cost 

19-36-402-049 280 E. Lincoln 37.0 3,774.00$      

19-36-402-049 280 E. Lincoln 40.0 4,080.00$      

19-36-403-032 400 E. Lincoln 16.0 1,632.00$      

19-36-403-032 400 E. Lincoln 16.0 1,632.00$      

19-36-402-023 1204 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-024 1212 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-025 1236 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-027 1260 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-028 1272 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-030 1300 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-032 1332 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-033 1348 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-035 1416 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-036 1450 Edgewood 35.0 3,570.00$      

19-36-402-038 1486 Edgewood 34.0 3,468.00$      

19-36-402-039 1498 Edgewood 34.0 3,468.00$      

Sewer Lateral Special Assessment District (SAD)

Edgewood Street Project

8A



Parcel ID / Sidewell Number Street Address
Water Service Footage 

(WM to Prop. Line)

Estimated 

Cost

19-36-402-023 1204 Edgewood 20.0 2,220.00$      

19-36-402-027 1260 Edgewood 20.0 2,220.00$      

19-36-402-029 1288 Edgewood 20.0 2,220.00$      

19-36-402-030 1300 Edgewood 22.0 2,442.00$      

19-36-402-032 1332 Edgewood 20.0 2,220.00$      

19-36-402-035 1416 Edgewood 22.0 2,442.00$      

19-36-402-036 1450 Edgewood 20.0 2,220.00$      

19-36-402-037 1472 Edgewood 20.0 2,220.00$      

19-36-402-039 1498 Edgewood 20.0 2,220.00$      

Edgewood Street Project

Water Lateral Special Assessment District (SAD)

8A



MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

January 3, 2024

Melissa Coatta, City Engineer 

Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

Clerk’s Confirmation of Public Hearing Notice: Edgewood Road 
Water Lateral Improvement 

The public hearing notice process has been completed for Edgewood Road Water 
Lateral Improvement. Please see attachments for further confirmation. 

Mailing Date: 12/21/2023 
Test Mail Return Date: 12/26/2023
Publishing Dates in the Oakland Press: 12/31/2023 and 1/7/2024 
Posted in www.bhamgov/publicnotices: 12/21/2023 

Attachments: 
1. Public Hearing Notice
2. Addresses
3. Mailing Letter
4. Mail Machine Counter Report
5. Proof of publishing for 12/31/2023.

8A



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARINGS 
BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION 
PUBLIC HEARING OF NECESSITY 

PUBLIC HEARING OF CONFIRMATION 
Meeting Date, Time, 
Location: 

HEARING OF NECESSITY FOR SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT 
Monday, January 8, 2024, 7:30 PM 
Municipal Building, 151 Martin, Birmingham, MI 48009 

Meeting Date, Time, 
Location: 

HEARING FOR CONFIRMATION OF THE ROLL 
Monday, January 22, 2024, 7:30 PM 
Municipal Building, 151 Martin, Birmingham, MI 48009 

Project Location: Edgewood Road between East Lincoln Street and East Southlawn 
Boulevard 

Nature of 
Improvement: 

Replacement and improvement of water and sewer laterals meeting 
the requirements for assessment, for all properties within the project 
area.  Affected addresses are as follows: 

280 E. Lincoln Street 19-36-402-049
400 E. Lincoln Street 19-36-403-032
1204 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-023
1212 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-024
1236 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-025
1248 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-026
1260 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-027
1272 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-028
1288 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-029
1300 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-030
1322 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-031
1332 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-032
1348 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-033
1360 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-034
1416 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-035
1450 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-036
1472 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-037
1486 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-038
1498 Edgewood Road 19-36-402-039

 

City Staff Contact: Melissa Coatta, City Engineer 
mcoatta@bhamgov.org, (248)530-1839 

Notice 
Requirements: 

News Paper Notice and First Class Mail to affected property owners 
10 days prior. Publish 12/31/2023 and 1/07/2024 

Approved minutes 
may be reviewed 
at: 

City Clerk’s Office or www.bhamgov.org/commissionagendas 

Should you have any statement regarding the above, you are invited to attend the meeting in person 
or virtually through ZOOM:  https://zoom.us/j/655079760       Meeting ID: 655 079 760 
You or your agent may appear at the hearings to express your views; however, if you fail to protest 
either in person or by letter received on or before the date of the hearing, you cannot appeal the amount 
of the special assessment to the Michigan Tax Tribunal.  Mail any correspondence to:  City Clerk, P.O. 
Box 3001, Birmingham, MI 48012. 
The property owner may file a written appeal of the special assessment with the State Tax Tribunal 
within 30 days after the confirmation of the special assessment roll if that special assessment was 
protested at the hearing held for the purpose of confirming the roll. 

8A

mailto:mcoatta@bhamgov.org
http://www.bhamgov.org/commissionagendas


All special assessments, including installment payments, shall, from the date of the confirmation 
thereof, constitute a lien on the respective lots or parcels assessed, and until paid shall be charged 
against the respective owners of the lots or parcels assessed. 

Persons  with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should 
contact the City Clerk's Office at  248.530.1880 (voice) or 248.644.5115 (TDD) at least one day in 

advance to request mobility, visual, hearing or other assistance. 

8A



PARCEL NAME ADDRESS CITY STATE ZIP

19‐36‐402‐023 GRACE BAPTIST CHURCH 280 E LINCOLN ST BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐024 ADAM KADRO 1212 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐025 SHARON FIERENS KELLN TRUST 1236 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐026 MICHAEL CLIFFORD FRANCIS 2126 S PRIMROSE AVE ALHAMBRA CA 91803

19‐36‐402‐027 PATRICIA J BABICH LVNG TRUST 1260 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐028 NITIN GOEL 1272 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐029 ANTHONY WILLIAMS 1288 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐030 KAREN K TOOR 1300 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐031 JANET C MOELLER 1322 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐032 SUSAN L GALLAGHER 1332 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐033 PETER STICKNEY 1348 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐034 MICHAEL POHLOD JR 1360 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐035 A BRADFORD BABBITT III 2240 E HAMMOND LAKE DR BLOOMFIELD HILLS MI 48302

19‐36‐402‐036 ALBERT BABBITT TRUST 2240 E HAMMOND LAKE DR BLOOMFIELD HILLS MI 48302

19‐36‐402‐037 PATRICIA A DIEFENBACH 1472 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐038 DANA L MARCUS 1486 EDGEWOOD AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐039 SCOTT MARCUS 1486 EDGEWOOD RD BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐045 JOSEPH CAREY 375 CATALPA DR BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐402‐049 GRACE BAPTIST CHURCH 280 E LINCOLN AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐403‐016 CITY OF BIRMINGHAM PO BOX 3001 BIRMINGHAM MI 48012

19‐36‐403‐017 CRAIG HALSETH 411 BENNAVILLE AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐403‐032 YMCA 400 E LINCOLN AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐404‐001 SAYF AL‐KATIB 410 BENNAVILLE AVE BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐404‐013 DAVID M HONIGMAN 425 CATALPA DR BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐451‐016 MARLENE SHAYOTA 380 CATALPA DR BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐451‐027 MARIA CECILIA HOWARD 385 E SOUTHLAWN BLVD BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐452‐001 JEFFREY ALAN KINANE LIVING TRUST 410 CATALPA DR BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐452‐012 JAMES M WHITE III 409 E SOUTHLAWN BLVD BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

19‐36‐453‐004 BIRMINGHAM SCHOOL DISTRICT 31301 EVERGREEN RD BEVERLY HILLS MI 48025

19‐36‐454‐001 RYAN BLUNDY 410 E SOUTHLAWN BLVD BIRMINGHAM MI 48009

8A



Thursday, December 21, 2023 

TO: Parcel Number 
Name 
Address 
City/State/Zip code 

RE: Edgewood Road Water and Sewer Laterals Special Assessment District (SAD) 

The City of Birmingham is proposing the construction of the Edgewood Road Paving Project in the spring 
of 2024.  This project includes the replacement of the combined sewer on Edgewood Road between East 
Lincoln Street and Catalpa Drive, the extension of water main between Catalpa Drive and East Southlawn 
Blvd., and the repaving of the Edgewood from East Lincoln Street to East Southlawn Blvd.  Construction 
on this project is anticipated to start in March 2024 and be substantially completed by the end of June 
2024.   

As part of the project, the city intends to replace private sewer and water laterals meeting certain useful 
life criteria in the right-of-way (ROW).  All sewer laterals that are 50 years of age or older, as well as all 
water services less than 1-inch diameter will be replaced from the main to the property line in accordance 
with current City policy established to protect the public investment being made with capital improvement 
projects in the public roadways.   

Not all property owners in the project area will need the replacement of their sewer and/or water laterals 
and be subject to this special assessment. Replacement during infrastructure projects protects the city’s 
investment by reducing the chance of a lateral failure or water service replacement within the right-of-
way area. City ordinance establishes private sewer and water laterals only benefit one property and they 
are not considered a part of the city’s public sewer and water systems. Therefore, the maintenance and 
repair of the laterals from the building to the connection at the public utility is the responsibility of each 
property owner and are completed at the property owner’s expense.  

With this letter, you are receiving a notification for two public hearings regarding this project: 
 The Public Hearing of Necessity to form a Special Assessment District for the replacement of water

and sewer laterals meeting the requirements as part of the Edgewood Road Paving Project is
Monday, January 8, 2024, at the regularly scheduled City Commission meeting at 7:30 p.m. in
City Hall at 151 Martin Street. Official estimates of replacing the water and sewer laterals will be
provided at the Hearing of Necessity.

 If necessity is determined at the January 8 hearing, a Public Hearing for Confirmation to confirm
the Special Assessment District will follow on Monday, January 22, 2024, at the regularly
scheduled City Commission meeting at 7:30 p.m. in City Hall at 151 Martin Street.

The actual cost of replacing the water and sewer laterals charged to you will vary depending on the 
actual location of the city mains, and any other obstacles, such as trees that are in the way. Property 

8A

http://www.bhamgov.org/
http://www.bhamgov.org/
http://www.bhamgov.org/
http://www.bhamgov.org/
http://www.bhamgov.org/


owners are only charged for the actual length of service replaced if their service qualifies for assessment 
as described above.  

After the work is completed, an invoice will be generated and sent to the property owner of record for 
the length of service replaced. Payment in full will be expected within 30 days of receipt. If you are not 
in a position to pay off the charge in one payment, it can be broken into as many as 5 annual payments. 
The interest rate will be confirmed at the Confirmation of Roll hearing. 

If you have any questions or concerns, please contact the Engineering Office at (248) 530-1850. You 
have the opportunity to speak directly to the City Commission at the Public Hearing of Necessity that will 
be held on January 8, 2024.   

Sincerely, 

Melissa A. Coatta, P.E. 
City Engineer 

8A

http://www.bhamgov.org/
http://www.bhamgov.org/
http://www.bhamgov.org/
http://www.bhamgov.org/
http://www.bhamgov.org/


Available: $6,428.32 PBP Account Number: 35884980 
Used: $19,706.68 lndicia Number: 0008029208 

Funds I Total Pieces: 27888 Meter Number: 8029208 
Report Control Sum: $26,135.00 Meter Name: 

Resettable Piece Count: 31 Printed: DEC 21 2023 4:01 PM 
Piece Count Value: $19.53 

•

8A



8A



MEMORANDUM 
ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 

DATE: January 3, 2024 

TO: Jana Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Melissa Coatta, Engineering Director 
Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 
Ryan Kearney, Police Lieutenant 

SUBJECT: Shirley Rd. & Arlington St. Interim Report for City-Initiated Unimproved Street 
Project 

INTRODUCTION: 
As part of the City’s annual Capital Improvement Plan and budget for Fiscal Year 2023-2024, 
Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. have been selected by the City’s Engineering Department for water 
main replacement and some sewer improvements. Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. are both 
considered unimproved streets. This the second project under the City’s new policy for initiating 
improvement projects for unimproved streets.  

This report serves as the Interim Report for City-Initiated Unimproved Street Project, as outlined 
in the updated 2021 policy statement on procedures for City street improvements. Once a 
recommendation is made by the City Commission for sewer, water, and road design, the City 
Engineering Department will proceed with final designs. The City Commission will then have a 
public hearing on a future date to establish a special assessment district for the making of the 
public improvement. 

BACKGROUND: 
In 2017, the City of Birmingham created an Ad Hoc Unimproved Street Study Committee for the 
purpose of developing a long term plan addressing unimproved roads in the City. The committee 
was composed of seven total members with two elected City Commissioners, three residents 
living on an unimproved street from different areas of the City, one resident living on an improved 
street, and one member with a background in road design. The Committee held 15 public 
meetings between 2018 to 2020 for policy review and recommendations. A central item for 
discussion involved how to approach infrastructure improvements for unimproved streets. A 
common concern was that the City’s current policy of a resident led petition created undesireable 
conflict between neighbors. The Committee wanted the City’s professional engineers and staff 
to have more say on the matter.  

On December 21, 2020, the City Commission accepted the Ad Hoc Unimproved Street Study 
Committee’s Final Report. One recommendation of the Final Report was for the City to create a 
policy enabling the City’s Engineering Department to initiate road improvements projects without 
a citizen led petition. It was also recommended that the City conduct a system wide infrastructure 

8B

https://www.bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/ad_hoc_unimproved_street_study_committee.php
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Ad%20Hoc%20Unimproved%20Street%20Study%20Committee/!!FINAL%20DRAFT%20AHUSSC%20POLICY%20DOCUMENT-%20112520.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Ad%20Hoc%20Unimproved%20Street%20Study%20Committee/!!FINAL%20DRAFT%20AHUSSC%20POLICY%20DOCUMENT-%20112520.pdf


2 

ranking of all unimproved streets to prioritize the initiation of projects. The rankings and prioritized 
projects would be presented in the five-year capital improvement plan through the annual 
budgeting process. The information presented during the 2023 budgetary meeting for FY 23/24 
regarding Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. is included in the attachments. 

On October 25, 2021 (Agenda – Minutes), the City Commission adopted the “Procedure for City 
Street Improvements” policy and amended the subsequent Municipal Code Chapter 94, Sections 
94-4 through 94-8 related to initiating special assessments. This new policy aligns with a number
of the recommendations from the Ad Hoc Unimproved Street Study Committee. Road
improvements may still be initiated by residents with a petition, however unimproved street
projects may also be initiated by the City Engineering Department. Such projects would be
determined by a ranking system and presented during Capital Improvements Planning.

Updates to Chapter 94, Section 94-4 Initiation of Improvement by Commission of the Municipal 
Code reads as follows: 

(1) Proceedings for making public improvements within the city may be 
commenced by resolution of the city commission, on its own initiative, making the 
improvement and special assessment mandatory. 

(2) In order to ascertain whether 50% of property owners to be assessed for a 
special improvement, the City Commission may choose to direct staff to circulate 
an expression of interest form. Or, the Commission may receive a petition 
presented by property owners. 

(3) The commission shall carefully consider any petition or expression of interest 
forms received, but both petitions and expression of interest forms shall be 
advisory only. Petitions or expression of interest forms shall in no event be 
mandatory upon the commission. 

Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. improvements were included in the FY 23-24 budget and 
Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), however, the project was budgeted for replacement of an 
unimproved road. The Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. project is now being proposed under the
recently adopted City-Initiated Project policy for unimproved streets (the first being Westwood 
in June of 2022). Both streets were in the budget since FY 17-18 with construction planned 
to occur in FY 21-22.  This timeline was pushed back in 2020 due to COVID.

With this project, improvements will be made to the sewer and water mains, the cost for which 
is paid from the Sewer and Water Funds, and are not subject to a special assessment. If 
a water/sewer lateral connecting a home to the main does not meet current City 
standards, a special assessment to the homeowner for lateral replacement is typical for these 
types of projects. 
The sewer and water mains are located beneath the public street, hence the proposed 
project will also include a new pavement surface. The cost for the street pavement on 
unimproved roads with cape seal treatment or improved roads with aggregate base and either 
concrete or asphalt pavement will be subject to a special assessment to the adjoining property 
owners that benefit from the street improvement project. The special assessment process is 
a long-standing City policy when unimproved streets are improved.  Special assessments for 
drive approaches, are typically included for these type of projects.   

8B

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Department/City%20clerk/City%20Commission/20211025%20AGENDA%20PACKET%20FINAL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/20211025%20Minutes.pdf


3 

Proposed infrastructure work includes the following components: 
 Replace the existing 6” water main (originally installed in 1927) on both Shirley Rd. and

Arlington St. with a new 8” water main meeting current City sizing requirements. New
valves and fire hydrants will be replaced within the project area.  Some of the existing fire
hydrants in this area do not meet current goals for available water flow.  Water system
modeling considering the new mains to be installed with this project indicate significant
improvement in water flows, and the improvement will allow the system to meet current
goals for residential areas.

 Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. both have combined sewers ranging from 10” to 24” in size
that were originally installed in 1927. In 1968, a relief size was installed on the south
portion of Arlington St, and on Shirley Rd. ranging from 15” to 27” in diameter. The City
will be extending the relief sewer along the north portion of Arlington and separating some
of the storm runoff in this area.

 Sidewalk improvements will be completed as needed, especially at intersection crosswalks,
to meet current ADA requirements.  We are considering employing the use of limited
“bump-outs” to improve pedestrian safety by shortening the distance they have to be in
the crosswalk, which have also been shown to have a traffic calming effect and reduce
average traffic speeds.

On October 16th, 2023, City staff held an informational meeting with residents of Shirley and 
Arlington to go over engineering topics related to sewer and water for each street, along with the 
upcoming design, approval, and special assessment process associated with infrastructure 
projects. Participants at the meeting raised questions regarding the street design and sidewalk 
placements. Those inquiring were informed that such topics will be discussed with the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board and the City Commission at upcoming meetings. 

Following the process used in 2022 for the Westwood improvements, surveys for the proposed 
project were distributed to residents in September of 2023. The City has received responses 
from 44 out of the 80 properties (49 total surveys – multiple responses from single 
properties). As noted in Chapter 94, Section 94-4 of the Municipal Code, both petitions 
and expressions of interest forms shall be advisory only. The results of the surveys 
are as follows: 
Category Yes No No Repsonse 
Sewer: 18 (23%) 26 (33%) 36 (45%) 
Water: 18 (23%) 26 (33%) 36 (45%) 
Improved Street: 12 (15%) 30 (38%) 38 (48%) 
Sidewalks: 8   (10%) 36 (45%) 36 (45%) 

The current timeline for this project is to complete the final design of the project after receiving 
direction from the City Commission related to pursuing a potential special assessment for 
defraying the costs of street improvements.  The final design will take several months to complete, 
and the intent would be to advertise the project for bids in April or May of 2024, with construction 
beginning in the summer of 2024.  A three to four month construction period is anticipated. 

Multi-Modal Transportation Board Review: 
In 2018, the City Commission directed the Multi-Modal Transportation Board to create a 
residential street width policy after a public hearing debate regarding the improvement of 
Bennaville Ave. The Board proceeded to discuss this item on March 1, 2018 (Agenda – Minutes), 
April 5, 2018 (Agenda – Minutes), and May 3, 2018 (Agenda – Minutes). The City’s transportation 

8B

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Multi-Modal%20Transportation%20Board/Agendas/2018/Full%20Agenda%20-%20March%201,%202018.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Multi-Modal%20Transportation%20Board/Minutes/2018/03-01-18-MULTI-MODALmin%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Multi-Modal%20Transportation%20Board/Agendas/2018/Full%20Agenda%20-%204-5-18.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Multi-Modal%20Transportation%20Board/Minutes/2018/04-05-18-MULTI-MODALmin%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Multi-Modal%20Transportation%20Board/Agendas/2018/Full%20Agenda%20-%20May%203,%202018.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Multi-Modal%20Transportation%20Board/Minutes/2018/05-03-18-MULTI-MODALmin%20-%20FINAL.pdf


4 

consultants presented national standards and best practices for residential streets recommended 
by the Transportation Research Board, the Institute of Transportation Engineers, the Urban Land 
Institute, the National Association of City Transportation Officials (NACTO), and the American 
Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). Upon review of best 
practices, it was determined that the 26’ pavement width was best practice for residential streets. 

There was general consensus from the Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MMTB) that 26’ was 
an appropriate policy for residential street width. Doing so allowed a 5’ sidewalk and appropriate 
curblawn space for trees on each side of the street within a typical 50’ right-of-way. The MMTB 
also agreed that exceptions should be considered under certain conditions. The Board 
recommended that each street be reviewed on a case-by-case basis and factors such as vehicular 
counts, vehicular speeds, on-street parking, emergency access, bus routes, and street trees be 
considered each time. 

On July 23, 2018 (Agenda – Minutes), the City Commisison reviewed the recommendations of the 
Multi-Modal Transportation Board and approved the Birmingham Residential Street Design 
Standards. Such standards include a residential street width of 26’ (28’ back of curb to back of 
curb), with a curblawn for street trees and a 5’-6’ sidewalk. The policy also includes exceptions 
for consideration and standards for review. The approved residential street width policy is 
included in the packet as noted below.  

On September 7th, 2023 (Agenda – Minutes), the Multi-Modal Transportation Board began 
preliminary discussions regarding Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. within the context of the City’s 
Residential Street Width Policy. The Board initially indicated an interest in pusuing a sidewalk on 
just one side of the street within the existing 33’ curb to curb space. Doing so would avoid 
disturbing the natural features and enable a City standard 26’ street width.  

On October 5th, 2023 (Agenda – Minutes), the Multi-Modal Transportation Board reviewed 
schematic concepts provided by staff for potential sidewalk locations and held a discussion 
regarding preferences. City staff commented that when there is a 50’ right-of-way of City 
property, staff recommends maximizing the health, safety, and welfare of the entire space for 
the public good. In this case, that would entail finding a way to use all 50’ of the right-of-way to 
place sidewalks on both sides of the street that includes a typical curb lawn between the sidewalk 
and road to act as a buffer between vehicles and pedestrians. After discussion, staff indicated 
more detailed concepts would be provided for the November meeting. 

On November 2nd, 2023 (Agenda – Minutes), City staff presented a detailed topographic survey 
with four design concepts for street widths and sidewalk locations. Data from a detailed survey 
of all trees within the public right-of-way conducted by Davey Environmental was also discussed. 
The intent was to address concerns regarding the natural features in the right-of-way. The memo 
provided online Friday October 27th, 2023 included tree data taken between 2012 to 2023, 
however staff received an expedited survey from Davey Environental to reflect existing conditions 
to present at the meeting on November 2nd, 2023. The MMTB moved to approve a public hearing 
on the street width of Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. for December 5, 2023.  

On December 5th, 2023 (Agenda), the MMTB held a public hearing to make a recommendation of 
street width and design to the City Commission. City staff presented on the City’s relevant policies 
and master plans for residential roads, the existing conditions of Shirley and Arlington, the City’s 
street tree policy, and the necessary traffic, parking, and vehicular speed data for reviewing 
changes to residential street widths – all of which are included as noted below.  

8B

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2018/072318.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2018/CC_072318.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/September%207th,%202023%20MMTB%20Agenda%20-%20FULL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/2%20-%20MMTB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED)%20-%209-7-23.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/MMTB%20October%205th,%202023%20Agenda%20-%20FULL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/REVISED%20-%20MMTB%20Minutes%20(APPROVED)%20-%2010-5-23.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/November%202,%202023%20MMTB%20Agenda%20-%20FULL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/11-2-23%20-%20MMTB%20Minutes%20Approved.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Dec%205,%202023%20MMTB%20Agenda%20-%20Final.pdf


5 

City staff and the Multi-Modal Transportation Board refer to the City’s Complete Streets Resolution 
(2011), the Multi-Modal Transportation Plan (2013), the 2040 Birmingham Plan, and the 
Residential Street Width Standards policy (2018) as guidelines for making recomendations.  

On July 11th, 2011, the Birmingham City Commission adopted a resolution in support of a complete 
streets policy encouraging safe transportation design for all users. The resolution concludes with 
the following:  

“Now, therefore, be it resolved, that the City of Birmingham City Commission 
hereby declares its support of complete streets policies and further directs City 
staff to develop a set of proposed policies and procedures to implement Complete 
Streets practices to make the City more accommodating to all modes of travel, 
including walkers, bicyclists and transit riders, of all ages and abilities.” 

In 2013, the City Commission approved the Multi-Modal Transportation Plan which goes into more 
detail regarding recommendations to enhance pedestrian safety and multi-modal connectivity. 
The Multi-Modal Transportation Plan categorizes the subject area as a neighborhood where 
sidewalks should be completed. It recommends that the City pursue sidewalks on all sides of the 
street, particularly when the City is undertaking a road reconstruction process. 

In 2023, Birmingham’s City Commission adopted a new Master Plan titled “The Birmingham Plan 
2040”. The creation and adoption of this plan involved 45 public meetings over the span of four 
years. Chapter 3 of the Birmingham Plan 2040, “Retain Neighborhood Quality” has a section titled 
“Keep Streets Pedestrian-oriented”. This section discusses how widening streets encourages 
higher speeds and cut through traffic. It provides that street design must consider 
pedestrian comfort and safety and street trees for public health, stating (pg 56):

Today, sidewalks are missing in numerous places, which should be surveyed and 
remedied. Similarly, street intersections which do not have accessible ramps to 
crossings should be remedied. These changes may cause trees to be removed, 
which should be replaced nearby to maintain the street tree canopy… 

The tree lawn is critical to street trees; sufficient root area results in greater 
canopy. Canopy health is very closely related with the health of residents, mental 
and physical, the ease of walking or biking along streets, and the success of 
children in school. In fact, programs exist across the country to re-establish urban 
tree canopies to improve the health outcomes of children. In neighborhoods, 
tree lawns should not be sacrificed for pavement width. 

In addition, the following section of Chaper 3 “Retain Neighborhood Quality” is titled “Replace 
Unimproved Streets”. This section of the Master Plan recommends that the City pursue 
recommedations of the Ad-Hoc Unimproved Streets Committee in order to remedy unimproved 
streets throughout the City. 

Chapter 3 “Retain Neighborhood Quality” of the Birmingham Plan also has a section titled “Retain 
Street Tree Canopy”. This section states that Birmingham’s downtown and neighborhoods benefit 
from a rich tree canopy, increasing house values, public health, and sustainability. This section 
comments that the street tree canopy should be protected, well maintained, and prepared for a 

8B

https://greenwaycollab.com/projects/birmingham-multi-modal-transportation-plan/#toggle-id-4


6 

changing climate. Recommended actions for a Canopy Improvement Plan relevant to Shirley and 
Arlington include the following (pg. 59): 

i. Select large canopy species for streets and parks, native to the region and resilient 
for its’ future climate, retaining the character of each neighborhood’s distinctive 
canopy. 

ii. Minimize overly-used or exotic species, such as Crab Apple, Honey 
Locust, and Pear Trees. 

In regards to existing conditions, the 33’ road width is located within a 50’ public right-of-way. 
Thus, the 8’-9’ feet of property located on each side of the road along Shirley and Arlington is
City property. Staff pointed out that a number of landscaping features have been planted in the 
public right-of-way without a special treatment permit. Staff also discussed that when a special 
treatment permit to plant or install features in the right-of-way is obtained, the agreement has 
a clause stating the City may remove such features during a public project at no cost or liability. 
The City owns the entire 50’ right-of-way and is permitted to use the space 
for the public good, regardless of any improvements installed by others. 

City staff also discussed the presence of 136 street trees within the right-of-way along Shirley Rd. 
and Arlington St. An updated survey of species and conditions was obtained by Davey 
Environmental in November of 2023. The data indicated that 93 of the 136 trees were either 
prohibited species or in poor to fair condition. The prohibited species include 16 Pear Trees, 
(Callery Cleveland Select), 11 Norway Maples, 7 Silver Maples, and 3 Red Maples which are 
considered non-native and invasive. The data also indicated that 31-38 trees have the potential 
to be relocated given their species and a diameter at breast height of 5 inches or less. The Crab 
Apple is the most populated tree throughout the subject area with a count of 18 (14 of which 
were illegally installed without a special treatment permit on City property without City 
approval.) As previously mentioned, The Birmingham Plan 2040 recommendation under
“Maintain Tree Canopy” is to minimize the use of Crab Apple and Pear Trees (pg. 59). 

City staff, including the staff arborist, toured Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. with arborist Lawrence 
Sobson from the Michigan Department of Natural Resources (DNR). Mr. Sobson was able to 
attend the Multi-Modal Transportation Board meeting on December 5, 2023 and answer questions 
on tree species, recommended street trees, and why some species are not recommended as 
street trees. The City of Birmingham’s arborist staff maintains a prohibited tree species list and a 
recommended tree species list that aligns with recommendations of the Michigan DNR. To learn 
more about prohibited species, the DNR has a webinar series “Not MI Species” titled “Where the 
Sidewalk Ends: Choosing Resilient Trees for Tomorrow’s Urban Environments” (select link to view, 
see mins 8:00-20:00 for prohibited species, and 34:00 for recommended species).    

City staff representatives from the Department of Public Services (DPS) were also available to 
answer questions for the Multi-Modal Transportation Board. DPS commented that if the City were 
to pursue a complete streets policy on Arlington St. and Shirley Rd., the City would plant 200-250 
new trees that were permitted species and intended to provide a long-term healthy tree canopy. 
DPS also provided a detailed memo on the street trees of Arlington St. and Shirley Dr. which is 
included in the attachments. 

Staff then proceeded to review the Birmingham Residential Street Design Standards Section 4, 
“Exceptions and Modifications to the Width Standards” which includes the following: 

8B

https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5
https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5


7 

Any modification must be consistent with the Intent of these standards and the 
engineering publications upon which they are based. Street width exceptions may 
only be approved to a minimum of 20 ft. and a maximum of 30ft.  If residents 
express a desire for a non-standard street width at a public meeting or through a 
public survey of street residents, those preferences shall be considered (either 
wider or narrower) only if one or more of the following conditions exist: 

a. High or low frequency of use of on-street parking. When surveyed on-street 
parking is utilized 15% or less overnight, the width may be reduced. When 
parking density is classified as highly utilized, defined as over 
25%occupancy throughout the day or more than 50% of the available curb 
space used overnight, the width may be increased. For calculation of 
parking, a minimum length of 22 ft. shall be used and not include 
driveways, spaces adjacent to fire hydrants, or other locations where 
parking is not allowed. 

Parking counts were taken by the City’s Police Department from Thursday 
November 9th, 2023 to Saturday November 11th, 2023 at 10am, 2pm, and 
12am each day. Arlington’s highest parking count was 39 at 10am on a 
Friday, while Shirley’s highest parking count was 23 at 10am on a 
Thursday. Shirley and Arlington have approximately 7,892 feet of curb 
space, thus a parking capacity of approximately 359 vehicles. The highest 
utilization rate during the daytime was 11% for Arlington and 6% for 
Shirley. Meanwhile, the nighttime utilization rate was between 0%-1% for 
both streets. It has been noted that there are a number of construction 
workers and landscaping companies parked on the street during the 
daytime. Staff does not recommend deviating from City standards to 
accommodate parking space for contractors and landscapers. Thus, the 
Shirley and Arlington parking counts qualify the road width to be 
less than the City standard of 26’, however the parking counts do 
not qualify the subject area to modify the street width standard 
to be wider than 26’.  

b. Daily traffic volumes exceed 1500 vehicles.

Daily traffic counts were taken on Arlington and Shirley from November 
14th to November 17th, 2023. Traffic counts ranged from 263 to 1,563 per 
day. Shirley Rd. exceeded 1,500 vehicles on two occasions but Arlington 
St. peaked at 1,420 vehicles. Thus, Shirley may qualify for this 
exception, however Arlington does not. 

Arlington Arlington

Parking Counts 10am 2pm 12am Parking Occupancy 10am 2pm 12am

Thursday 11.09.23 32 36 0 Thursday 11.09.23 9% 10% 0%

Friday 11.10.23 39 30 0 Friday 11.10.23 11% 8% 0%

Saturday 11.11.23 3 3 0 Saturday 11.11.23 1% 1% 0%

Shirley Shirley

Parking Counts 10am 2pm 12am Parking Occupancy 10am 2pm 12am

Thursday 11.09.23 23 17 2 Thursday 11.09.23 6% 5% 1%

Friday 11.10.23 21 15 1 Friday 11.10.23 6% 4% 0%

Saturday 11.11.23 6 8 4 Saturday 11.11.23 2% 2% 1%

8B



8 

c. The street is a published school bus route used by the Birmingham Public 
Schools or is a frequent emergency response route. 
Shirley and Arlington are published school bus routes. The Fire Department
has indicated that the subjects roads are not frequent emergency response
routes. Thus, Shirley and Arlington may qualify for this exception.

d. Street is adjacent to a school, religious institution, City park, multiple-family 
residential development, or other use with access that generates higher 
traffic volumes. 
Arlington and Shirley are not adjacent to uses considered to generate
higher traffic volumes. Shirley is adjacent to the Rouge Trail and Linden
park, however this site does not have a parking lot and does not generate
large amounts of vehicular traffic. The house on the corner of Arlington
and Maple belongs to a religious institution (Birmingham First United
Methodist Church), however vehicular access to the church is off of W.
Maple. Thus, Shirley and Arlington do not qualify for this
exception.

e. Presence of street trees, especially healthy, mature trees, such that 
rebuilding the road as proposed would result in the removal of two or more 
trees on any given block. 
There are 136 trees within the public right-of-way along Shirley and
Arlington. A review of existing trees by Davey Environmental, City staff
Arborists, and a DNR arborist has determined that the majority of street
trees are either prohibited species, in poor to fair condition, or have the
potential to be transplanted. Also, if the City were to pursue complete
streets design with a 26’ wide road, sidewalks on eack side of the street,

and a 6’ curblawn, the City would plant 200-250 new trees that align with
the City’s permitted street tree policy to enable a healthy, longlasting tree

canopy.
It is also of note that reducing the road width from 33’ to 26’ will not impact

any trees – the replacement of trees would be related to the pursuit of
sidewalks. Given the existing road width and tree conditions in the
subject area, Shirley and Arlington do not qualify for this
exception.

f. A speed study confirms that the 85th percentile speed is more than 5 miles 
per hour over the posted speed limit and/or city police or engineering 
departments have documented operational or safety concerns related to 
traffic patterns along the street. 

November 2023 Tue 14 Wed 15  Thur 16 Fri 17  

Arlington 854 1,349 1,420 263

Shirley 1,145 1,522 1,563 291

8B



9 

The Police Department consistently collects speed and volume counts for 
all residential streets on a rotating basis using clandestine recording 
devices. 

The most recent data for Shirley indicates an 85% speed of 30 mph and 
32 mph for Arlington. Given the recorded speeds in the 85th percentile of 
5-7 mph over the speed limit, the Police and Engineering Department are
MORE inclined to recommend that the street width be reduced from
existing 33’ to the City standard of 26’ in order to reduce speeds. The Police
and Engineering Department also want to reitereate that speed bumps
cannot be installed on unimproved streets with cape seal such as Arlington
and Shirley due to the lack of road foundation. Thus, Shirley and
Arlington do not qualify for an exception to widen the street width
to more than 26’, however they do qualify for consideration to
reduce the street width to less than 26’.

g. Street may be as narrow as 20 ft. with parking on one side only if right-of-
way is less than 50 ft. 

The right-of-way along Shirley and Arlington is 50’ wide. Thus, Shirley 
and Arlington do not qualify for this exception. 

Thus, Shirley and Arlington meet the criteria for consideration of exceptions to the residential 
street width standard due to being a school bus route and Shirley having a recorded daily vehicle 
traffic volume exceeding 1,500. In addition, having recorded 85th percentile vehicular speeds of 
5-7 mph over the speed limit supports a narrowing of the street to a width less than 26’.

Four alternative design concepts for Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. were presented. Exhibit A 
included a City standard street maximizing the public right-of-way with a 26’ wide street 
accomodated by a 6’ greenspace and 5’ sidewalk on each side. Based upon a review of relevant 
master plans and the City’s residential street width policy, City staff recommended Exhibit A for 
approval. Staff emphasized that this is a generational project and Exhibit A would provide safe 
sidewalks and a healthy new tree canopy for multiple generations of Birmingham residents to 
come. 

Staff also commented that the City wants to be proactive, not reactive, when it comes to pursuing 
sidewalks and safe pedestrian spaces. Staff brought up the fact that the City had 
recommendations for enhanced pedestrian safety at Woodward near Maple and Forest for years, 
but it was not until there were two pedestrian deaths in 2021 that the City acted upon the 
recommendations of its plans.  

Upon review, discussion, and public comment, the Multi-Modal Transportation Board motioned to 
recommend approval of Exhibit A which includes a City standard 26’ wide street and sidewalks 
on both sides to the City Commission by a vote of 4-2. 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the suggested resolutions and has no objection.

8B



10 

FISCAL IMPACT:
This project has been planned and is included in the approved FY 23/24 budget as a 
standard cape seal replacement. The budget includes $270,000 in  Local Streets account 
202-449.001-981.0100, $390,000 in Sewer Fund account 590-936.001-981.0100, and
$1,700,000 in Water Fund account 591-537.004-981.0100. Therefore, the total project
budgeted is $2,360,000. If a full reconstruction of the streets as shown in Exhibit A is
selected, a budget amendment would be required for the Local Street Fund. Preliminary
estimate of the road reconstruction as an improved street is $3,300,000, thus there
will be a shortfall of $3,030,000 in the Local Streets account with approximately
$2,750,000 in potential special assessment revenue over a 10-year payback. Installing
a 5' wide sidewalk on both sides of Arlington and Shirley will be approximately
$500,000. The FY 23/24 budget has $200,000 for sidewalk gap closure and
potential sidewalk assessment revenue for new sidewalk installation. Thus, City Commission
would have to amend the budget and approve the use of an additional
$1,530,000 from the Local Streets fund, transfer an additional $1,500,000 from the
General Fund, and amend the sidewalk budget for $300,000.

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
A “Notice of Upcoming Project and Expression of Interest Survey for Street Improvement” dated 
September 25, 2023 was sent to all properties along Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. City staff 
received a total of 49 responses from 44 properties. 

Notices were sent to all residents along Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. to notify of 
the public hearing with the Multi-Modal Transportation Board that was set for December 5, 
2023. Public Notice signs were also placed at all stop signs along Arlington and Shirley 
to notify of the hearing.  

The item was presented in a public setting at the Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
in September, October, November, and December of 2023. Staff presented 
timelines of anticipated hearings and discussed that the final hearing would likely be 
held with the City Commission on January 8, 2024. 

SUMMARY: 
Based upon review of the existing water, sewer, and road conditions, the City’s Ad Hoc 
Unimproved Streets Study Committee Final Report, the City Commission’s 2011 Complete 
Streets Resolution, the Multi-Modal Transportation Plan, the 2040 Birmingham Plan, the 
Residential Street Width Policy, and the City’s street tree program, City staff recommends 
that Shirley Rd. and Arlington St. be designed as an improved street 
with dimensions 
indicated in Exhibit A with 5’ sidewalks on both sides of the street, a curb lawn for City trees 
on each side, and a street width of 26’ consisting of a concrete surface.  

Staff recommends implementing Exhibit A as an improved street to 
provide quality infrastructure, a safe pedestrian design, and a healthy tree canopy 
for the existing residents as well as generations of Birmingham residents to come.   

Once a recommendation is made by the City Commission for sewer, water, and road 
design, the City Engineering Department will proceed with final designs. The City 
Commission will then have a public hearing on a future date to establish a special 
assessment district for the making of the public improvement. 

8B



11 

ATTACHMENTS:  
• Staff Report – Fire Department
• Staff Report – Department of Public Services
• Draft Minutes – Multi-Modal Transportation Board December 5, 2023
• Exhibit A – Conceptual street design and sidewalk location
• Exhibit A – Intersection Recommendations
• Upcoming Capital Improvements Projects – 2023 Long Range Planning
• Procedure for City Street Improvements, October 25, 2021
• Residential Street Width Standards, July 23, 2018
• Complete Streets Resolution, July 11th, 2011
• Multi-Modal Transportation Plan (2013) – relevant sidewalk recommendations
• The Birmingham Plan (2023) – Chapter 3. “Retain Neighborhood Quality”
• Sidewalk location map – 2021
• Special Treatment Permit and right-of-way liability language
• "Not MI Species" Webinar – “Where the Sidewalk Ends: Choosing Resilient Trees

for Tomorrow’s Urban Environments” by Michigan DNR
• Table and Charts of Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. tree species
• Birmingham prohibited tree species list
• Birmingham permitted tree species list
• Maps of street tree conditions and species
• Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. speed data
• Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. vehicle counts
• Arlington St. and Shirley Rd. parking counts
• Slides from staff meeting with residents – October 19, 2023
• Resident letters
• Map of survey respondents and surveys
• Exhibit B – Conceptual sidewalk location reviewed by MMTB
• Exhibit C – Conceptual sidewalk location reviewed by MMTB

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to direct the Engineering Department to proceed with
final design of the Arlington Street and Shirley Project to include the planned improvements to 
the sewer and water systems, and the full reconstruction of the streets within the project area 
that will meet the City standards for an improved street with a 5 foot sidewalk on each side of 
the road as indicated in Exhibit A.

8B



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM FIRE DEPARTMENT

572 SOUTH ADAMS • BIRMINGHAM, MICHIGAN 48009 • 248.530.1900  FAX 248.530.1950

 
FIRE MARSHAL

MATTHEW J. BARTALINO

ASSISTANT CHIEF / OPERATIONS

PAUL A. WELLS

FIRE CHIEF

Jeffrey G. Scaife 
Fire Marshal

Throughout the City, some areas need immediate improvements to the water system for fire 
suppression needs.  Arlington and Shirley Roads are two of these locations.  The fire hydrants 
located down these streets as you get closer to the middle do not meet the water 
requirements for fire suppression. Hydrants that are painted red on the caps are not used for 
fire suppression because they potentially do not provide enough water for a single fire hose. 

Every fire hydrant in the City is color-coded based on the available amount of water that can 
be produced. A blue hydrant produces more than 1,500 gallons per minute (GPM), a green 
hydrant is 1,000 to 1,499 GPM, an orange hydrant is 500 to 999 GPM, and a red hydrant is 
less than 500 GPM.

For fire suppression operations to be effective, there should be a bare minimum of 1,000 
GPM for a residential fire. Based on the fire hydrants on Arlington and Shirley there is 
insufficient coverage with the current water flows. Should a fire occur on one of these roads, 
fire crews are trained not to use a red cap fire hydrant and only an orange cap if a green or 
blue is not within 500 feet.  Knowing neither can support the demand for multiple hose lines 
or master streams from fire engines or ladder trucks. 

Last winter a house under renovation on an adjacent street had a red hydrant nearby.  That 
hydrant was not capable of any fire suppression needs.  Multiple 4-inch supply hoses had to 
be deployed hundreds of feet to the much better hydrants located near Maple Road and 
Lincoln Street to extinguish the fire.  This additional step in obtaining a sufficient water supply 
is very labor intensive and time consuming when responding to a residential house fire.  
Delays in the time to obtain a sufficient water supply can allow the fire to grow in size, 
causing the amount of fire damage to increase.  In this case, the fire was a defensive one 
upon arrival, however, a successful offensive attack was needed to protect the neighboring 
homes from the fire exposure.

Most notably, the reduced water supply from red and orange-rated hydrants has impaired our 
last Insurance Services Office (ISO) rating. Although the fire department’s overall ISO rating 
improved in 2023, it landed a substantial hit in the water supply category.  Certainly, 
improving the water system on Arlington and Shirley would help with our ISO rating; most 
importantly, however, it would provide a more viable means of water flow for fire suppression 
crews should a situation arise. 

Respectfully Submitted,

Arlington and Shirly Roads Water Supply Recommendations

8B



1 
 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 
(Department of Public Services) 
 

 
DATE:  December 5, 2023  
 
TO:  Brooks Cowan, City Planner 
 
FROM:  Brendan McGaughey, Parks and Forestry Foreman 
  Scott Zielinski, Director of Public Services 
   
SUBJECT:  Forestry Comments re: Shirley and Arlington Engineering Project 
 
 
INTRODUCTION:  
The Multi-Modal Transportation Board and Engineering Department have been reviewing 
potential construction design options in order to make a recommendation regarding installation 
of sidewalks on Shirley and Arlington streets. In general, sidewalk installation in any capacity 
will potentially cause conflicts with City-owned trees and landscaping within the easement, as 
well as nearby private trees and landscaping. The Department of Public Services is responsible 
for the maintenance of the City’s urban forest, and are consulted on both potential and 
upcoming engineering projects as they relate to public and private trees.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
As sustainability is at the forefront of the City’s efforts – it’s a key goal of the City Commission 
which declared a climate emergency and instituted an Ad Hoc Environmental Sustainability 
Committee in early 2023. The Planning Department is currently working on the Birmingham Green 
Healthy Climate Plan and recently completed the 2040 Birmingham Master Plan (in which 
sustainability is encouraged throughout the plan). Finally, the ongoing development of the 2024-
2028 Parks and Recreation Master Plan recommends sustainable landscaping and green 
infrastructure as a primary focus for all future park development.  The definition of “sustainability” 
can take on many different forms when it’s used in the instances of environmental preservation 
and public policy, but ultimately they all trend to growing and sustaining green infrastructure 
(additional trees, storm water capture, etc.) long into the future to have a healthier climate.  
 
Birmingham’s urban forest, located in street right-of-ways, parks and public property, is 
undoubtedly the most valuable and important part of green infrastructure owned by the City.  Our 
current inventory of 15,547 trees provide the following environmental benefits: 

 1,189,646 pounds of carbon dioxide is sequestered annually 
 2,771,413 gallons of runoff is avoided annually 
 12,683,407 gallons of rainfall is intercepted annually – approximately 253,668,139 gallons 

of rainfall intercepted over the next 20 years 
 

8B



2 
 

A recent inventory of Shirley and Arlington by Davey Resource Group (DRG) identified 
approximately 136 trees either within the City right-of-way or encroaching into the defined project 
area. Prohibited species (42) and non-prohibited trees in poor to fair condition (51) comprise 93 of 
the 136 (68%) of the trees in consideration. An onsite visit was also conducted by staff along with 
Lawrence Sobson of Michigan’s Department of Natural Resources.  Staff reviewed each approved 
species and recommended for use as a residential street tree in good or excellent condition with a 
DBH of greater than 5”, and were unable to find any trees that should prevent sidewalk installation 
in the City standard location (which is approximately 1’ from private property in the easement).  
 
If a “carriage” sidewalk placement is used to prioritize the preservation of as many City trees as 
possible, 68% of which have been inventoried as prohibited species or already in fair or poor 
condition, the trees will likely suffer root damage anyway and they will not be replaced once they 
are eventually removed.  The City does not plant trees on the private side of sidewalks to avoid 
liability and damage to private property, so eventually this option would eliminate City trees 
entirely if a carriage sidewalk is used.  Furthermore, a carriage sidewalk placement would cause 
additional maintenance issues and would provide a less safe walking path without approximately 6’ 
of grassy easement which helps separate pedestrians from traffic. DPS is firmly against this option 
as we want to sustain a long term urban forest on residential streets for hundreds of years, not 
just for the next 5-20 years. 
 
DPS recommends conforming with residential improved road standards (28’ width and a sidewalk 
on both sides of the roads placed ~12” from private property). This option will allow for a 
healthier, sustainable and successful urban forest where at least 200-250 trees could be planted 
following the majority of construction activities. These trees would all be approved species, 
conform to proper spacing guidelines and will all be recommended for use as residential street 
trees. The total amount of City-owned trees (approximately 130) would be increased by 
approximately 70-120 trees, which would provide numerous environmental and green 
infrastructure benefits to the entire community and help achieve the City’s ongoing efforts to 
become more sustainable.  
 
 
 
 

8B



 

1 

City Of Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
Thursday, December 5, 2023 

151 Martin Street, City Commission Room 205, Birmingham, MI 

Minutes of the regular meeting of the City of Birmingham Multi-Modal Transportation Board held 
Thursday, December 5, 2023. Chair White convened the meeting at 6:00 p.m.  

A. Rollcall 
Present: Chair Doug White; Board Members Mark Doolittle, David Hocker, Joe Zane;  

Alternate Board Members Gordon Davies, Patrick Hillberg 
 
Absent: Vice Chair Tom Peard; Board Member Victoria Policicchio; Student  

Representatives Sophie Hanawalt, Angie Sharma 
 
Staff:   Senior Planner Cowan; City Engineer Coatta, City Transcriptionist Eichenhorn,  

Police Captain Kearney, Parks & Forestry Foreman McGaughey, Department of  
Public Services Director Zielinski 

 
DNR:  Lawrence Sobson 
 
F&V:  Julie Kroll 
 
MKSK: Brad Strader 
 
B. Introductions & Chair Comments  
 
The Chair provided the Board’s introductory comments.  
 
C. Review of the Agenda 
D. Approval of MMTB Minutes of November 2, 2023 
 
Motion by Mr. Hillberg 
Seconded by Mr. Zane to approve the MMTB Minutes of November 2, 2023 as 
submitted. 
 
Motion carried, 6-0.  
 
VOICE VOTE  
Yeas:  Doolittle, Davies, White, Zane, Hillberg, Hocker  
Nays:  None  
 
E. Unfinished Business 

1. Arlington Rd. and Shirley Dr. 
 
SP Cowan presented the item and Staff answered informational questions from the Board. Ms. 
Kroll, and Mr. Strader also answered questions from the Board.  

8B



Multi-Modal Transportation Board Proceedings 
December 5, 2023 

2 

 
Lawrence Sobson, an arborist of the Michigan Department of Natural Resources, was also in 
attendance and answered questions regarding the DNR's recommendations for street trees and 
prohibited species. 
 
Public Comment 
Midge Moran made comments about safety on Arlington and Shirley. 
 
Kathleen Devereaux supported the preservation of mature City trees. 
 
Heidi Pinkert spoke about the safety of sidewalks, sustainability in the City, and the applicability 
of the 2040 Plan. 
 
Ron Sawyer spoke about street widths’ impact on traffic safety and whether narrowing the streets 
would represent an increase in maintenance costs for the homeowners. 
 
Creagh Milford questioned whether there was data to support the City’s tree and pedestrian safety 
recommendations. 
 
David Mendelson thanked the Board members for their service and received brief answers from 
Staff regarding the project’s timing and impact on setbacks. 
 
Richard Silbergleit and James Mirro supported Arlington and Shirley remaining as-is. 
 
Chris Gaudette thanked the Board members for their work and supported Exhibit A. Tony Trease 
concurred, emphasizing the long-term benefit. 
 
Alex Davis said she would send videos to Staff demonstrating the difficulty of driving Arlington 
and Shirley. 
 
Mike Vansyckle and Fremont Scott opposed adding sidewalks, narrowing the road, and removing 
the trees. They acknowledged the necessity of other improvements.  
 
Brian Connolly expressed appreciation for the Board, opposed adding sidewalks and the attendant 
expense, and asked that local opposition to the project be taken into account. 
 
Niharika Ramdev thanked the Board and asked two questions about trees. 
 
Mike Minelli said he felt that residents’ feedback was not being given genuine consideration. Alice 
Silbergleit concurred. 
 
John Graham supported water, sewer, and road surface improvements and opposed sidewalks 
and reducing the streets’ width. 
 
At some point during the Board members’ discussion, members of the public boo’ed the Board 
members, yelled ‘Shame on you’, and a member of the public made a repeated thumbs-down 
gesture at the Board members. While more gestures may have been made by the public, a limited 
portion of the public was visible on the recording. 

8B



Multi-Modal Transportation Board Proceedings 
December 5, 2023 

3 

 
At a few different points, the Chair and Staff paused the proceedings to remind audience members 
not to interrupt and to maintain proper decorum while the Board was deliberating. 
 
Board members made the following comments in the course of discussion: 

● SP Cowan was to be commended for his presentation; 
● While the removal of trees can be disappointing, experts have explained that the present 

tree canopy along Arlington and Shirley will not be long-lasting. It was explained that 
there needs to be an increase in tree biodiversity in the area, and the Board is a 
generational decision rather than a shorter-term one; 

● The City elected the Commission, which then adopted and implemented the complete 
streets plan, the Multi-Modal Transportation Plan, and the 2040 Plan. Those plans provide 
the context within the Board must make its recommendations; 

● At the same time, as a resident, it is possible to understand being opposed to the outcome 
of those plans for one’s own street; 

● It might be more appropriate to add sidewalks to Arlington and Shirley when there has 
been more resident turnover and a possible increase in neighborhood support for the 
project; 

● The desire to not remove snow because other streets do not remove snow was not a valid 
argument for opposing changes to Arlington and Shirley; 

● In reply to some residents’ stated sustainability concerns, the neighborhood probably 
generates about three times the emissions in lawn maintenance as the trees in the 
neighborhood collect. Additionally, residents said that the streets need to remain wide in 
order to have enough room for landscaping trucks, which promotes activities that generate 
emissions; 

● While Arlington is a beautiful road, one of the Board members who coaches cross country 
at Seaholm is not able to take the cross country team on Arlington due to the lack of 
sidewalks. This demonstrates how members of the community may avoid using Arlington 
because of its lack of sidewalks; 

● A more uniform tree program on Arlington and Shirley may enhance the streets in the 
next decade, and renderings showing what it might look like once the proposed tree 
replacements mature could be beneficial to the conversation; 

● It was noted that while Exhibit C would be a compromise, there seemed to be little 
enthusiasm for that option among the public or among the Board; and, 

● It was recalled that one member of the public at a prior meeting had opined that Exhibit 
C would be unfair since some of the costs would be borne by residents only on one side 
of the roads. 

 
Motion by Mr. Doolittle 
Seconded by Mr. Hillberg to recommend to the City Commission that Arlington St. and 
Shirley Rd. be constructed per the City’s residential street standards as indicated in 
Exhibit A with a 26’ street width and a 6’ curblawn for street trees and 5’ sidewalk on 
each side of the street. 
 
Public Comment 
Stuart Borman noted that he was encouraged to attend the meeting by a 
Commissioner and used coarse language to describe his dissatisfaction with the 
process. 

8B



Multi-Modal Transportation Board Proceedings 
December 5, 2023 

4 

 
Mr. Silbergleit made a comment about the necessity of installing sidewalks given his 
estimation that Arlington and Shirley are a suburban, not an urban, part of the City. 
 
Ms. Moran and Mr. Mirro expressed support for moving Arlington and Shirley to the 
bottom of the list for street narrowing and sidewalk implementation. 
 
Ms. Ramdev disagreed that sidewalks inherently represent a safety improvement for 
pedestrians. 
 
Pam Minelli made a comment about how this project would affect her property. She 
asserted that protesters would physically block changes to the street and stated that 
the Board members should ‘not ever plan to run for office again’.  
 
Mr. Zane noted that the Board members are volunteers, not elected officials, that they 
do not get paid for the work they do, and that this particular process was no more 
enjoyable for the Board members than it was for the members of the public who had 
spoken.  
 
Mr. Davies recommended that the Commission consider Exhibit C in the event that no 
consensus is achieved for Exhibit A. 
 
Mr. Doolittle noted that no members of the public had expressed support for Exhibit 
C. 
 
Mr. Hillberg noted that members of the public who opposed Exhibit C did so on the 
basis of some of the costs being borne only by residents on one side of the streets. 
 
Mr. Zane noted that the cost allocations of projects were not within the purview of 
the Board. 
 
Motion carried, 4-2.  
 
VOICE VOTE  
Yeas:  Doolittle, Davies, White, Hillberg  
Nays:  Zane, Hocker  
  
F. New Business 

1. Columbia Ave All-Way Stop Review  
 
SP Cowan introduced the item and Ms. Kroll presented the item. Ms. Kroll answered informational 
questions from the Board. 
 
Motion by Mr. Zane 
Seconded by Chair White to recommend All-way stop control to the City Commission 
at the intersections of Columbia St & Villa Rd and Columbia St & Haynes St. 
 
Motion carried, 6-0.  

8B



Multi-Modal Transportation Board Proceedings 
December 5, 2023 

5 

 
VOICE VOTE  
Yeas:  Doolittle, Davies, White, Hillberg, Zane, Hocker 
Nays:  None 
 
G. Meeting Open to the Public for items not on the Agenda 
H. Miscellaneous Communications 

1. Maple & Baldwin 
2. Oak & Lakepark 
3. Ruffner Cut Through 

I. Next Meeting 
J. Adjournment  
 
No further business being evident, the Board adjourned at 8:34 p.m.  
 
 
 

 

Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 
 

8B



B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BENCHMARK

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BENCHMARK

34
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

37
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

350 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

300 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

288 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

252 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

226 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

188 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.
100 SH

IR
LEY D

R
.

1331 W
. M

APLE R
D

.

50
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

13
70

 A
R

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

10
00

 S
H

IR
LE

Y 
D

R
IV

E

97
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

91
4 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

88
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

82
2 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

77
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

70
8 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

64
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

55
0 S

HIR
LE

Y 
DRIV

E

11
4 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

13
6 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

14
4 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

17
6 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

20
0 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

23
0 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

25
2 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

34
5 S

HIR
LE

Y R
D

36
1 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

38
1 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

42
1 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

44
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

46
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

48
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

50
3 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

58
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

61
9 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

66
3 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

73
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

81
1 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

85
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

90
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

95
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

78
9 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
( 5

0'
 R

.O
.W

.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

( 5
0' 

R.
O

.W
.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

( 5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

( 5
0' 

R.
O

.W
.)

SHIRLEY DRIVE

( 5
0' R

.O.W
.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

( 5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

W. MAPLE ROAD ( R.O.W. VARIES)

W.LINCOLN AVE. ( R.O.W. VARIES)

1"
 =

 2
0'

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

NF

N

N
F

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

W
W

W
.n

f
e

-
E

N
G

R
.C

O
M

8B

ptulikangas
Engineer
EXHIBIT A' - EAST5' WIDE SIDEWALK, BOTH SIDES OF ARLINGTON & SHIRLEY, TYPICAL BACK/WALK ALIGNMENT 1' OFF R.O.W.REDUCE ROAD WIDTH TO 27' (B-B). INCLUDE ROAD GEOMETRY AND PEDESTRIAN CROSSING LOCATIONS SIMILAR TO "EXHIBIT C". SEE STANDARD "EXHIBIT A" FOR DETAILED LOCATIONS WHERE CONCEPT SIDEWALK ALIGNMENT CREATES CONFLICTS W/ TREES, LANDSCAPING, UTILITY POLES, ETC.  

ptulikangas
Engineer
NOTE: CONDITION OF EXISTING CARRIAGE WALK WOULD NEED TO BE REVIEWED AFTER PAVEMENT REMOVAL TO DETERMINE IF IT SHOULD REMAIN OR IF REPLACEMENT IS REQUIRED. 

ptulikangas
Engineer
BRANDON ST.50' WD. R.O.W.



BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
N

C
H

M
AR

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
N

C
H

M
AR

K
B

E
N

C
H

M
A

R
K

BE
N

C
H

M
AR

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BENCHMARK

11
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

17
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

24
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

26
9 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

30
9 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

30
9 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

34
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

37
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

350 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

15
89

 W
. M

AP
LE

 R
O

AD
21

8 
AR

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

22
2 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

28
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

31
6 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

40
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

41
4 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

43
2 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

44
4 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

50
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

55
0 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

60
0 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

70
0 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

73
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

77
6 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
80

0 
AR

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

86
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
89

8 
AR

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

92
4 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

96
8 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

99
2 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

10
40

 W
. L

IN
COLN

 AVE.

50
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

57
7 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

64
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

73
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

77
9 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

84
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

88
1 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

94
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

97
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

10
57

 A
RLIN

GTO
N R

OAD

13
70

 A
R

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

91
4 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

88
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

82
2 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

77
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

70
8 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

64
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

55
0 S

HIR
LE

Y 
DRIV

E

42
1 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

44
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

46
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

48
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
( 5

0'
 R

.O
.W

.)

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

( 5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
( 5

0'
 R

.O
.W

.)

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
( 5

0'
 R

.O
.W

.)

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

( 5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

( 5
0' 

R.
O

.W
.)

W.MAPLE ROAD ( R.O.W. VARIES)

W.LINCOLN AVE.
( R.O.W. VARIES)

1"
 =

 2
0'

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

NF

N

N
F

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

W
W

W
.n

f
e

-
E

N
G

R
.C

O
M

8B

ptulikangas
Engineer
EXHIBIT A' - WEST5' WIDE SIDEWALK, BOTH SIDES OF ARLINGTON & SHIRLEY, TYPICAL BACK/WALK ALIGNMENT 1' OFF R.O.W.REDUCE ROAD WIDTH TO 27' (B-B). INCLUDE ROAD GEOMETRY AND PEDESTRIAN CROSSING LOCATIONS SIMILAR TO "EXHIBIT C". SEE STANDARD "EXHIBIT A" FOR DETAILED LOCATIONS WHERE CONCEPT SIDEWALK ALIGNMENT CREATES CONFLICTS W/ TREES, LANDSCAPING, UTILITY POLES, ETC.  



• Reduces the wide 

expanse of unnecessary 

pavement 

• Reduces stormwater and 

drainage issues 

• Eases Pedestrian 

Crossings 

• Reduces traffic Speeds 

• Actual design is 

dependent on sidewalk 

alternative 

Intersection Redesign   
Traffic Calming Features

8B



Upcoming Capital Projects 
2023

Engineering 
Department

Date:  January 21, 2023

Work Planned for 2023 and Future Plans

8B



Upcoming Capital Projects

Overview:

2023 Calendar Year Construction Projects
Projects beginning in 2022 will continue into 2023, weather permitting

New Construction Projects starting in 2023
Road improvements

Sidewalk maintenance programs

Infrastructure Improvements 

Golf Course Improvements 

Capital Improvement Program
2024 Construction Season

2025 Construction Season 

8B



Carry Over Projects from 2021-2022

2023 Construction Projects: 
Parking Lot No. 5 Resurfacing and Slope Repair

2022 and 2023 Concrete Sidewalk Program

2022 and 2023 Trip Elimination Services 

Water Tower Maintenance and Coating 

Cranbrook Non-Motorized Shared Use Path

Redding Road Improvement

Westwood Drive / Oak Street / Rayanle Street

2022 - 2023 Cape Seal Program

2022-2023 Asphalt Resurfacing

Sewer Rehabilitation Program 

Lincoln Hills Golf Course Tee No. 1 Project 

Brown Street 

Pierce Street

8B



2023 Calendar Year Capital Projects Map

8B



Lincoln Hills Golf Course Tee No. 1 

Improvements to the cart path, retaining walls, 
and staircase to Tee No. 1 are currently out for 
bids. 

Project Schedule
Currently out for bids 

February 2023: Award project

March 2023: Start construction, weather 
dependent

April 2023: Substantial completion to allow the 
use of the cart path 

June 2023: Final completion

8B



Brown Street: S. Old Woodward Ave. to Woodward Ave.

Reduce the roadway to three lanes, improve pedestrian traffic and turning 
movements, and minor street scape improvements. 

Tentative Milestone Dates
Public Meeting with Property Owners (date TBD)

February – March 2023: Bidding for project

March 2023: Public Hearing of Necessity for SAD’s 

April 2023: Award project

May 2023: Start construction 

July 2023: Final completion

8B



Brown Street: S. Old Woodward Ave. to Woodward Ave.

8B



Pierce Street, 14 Mile Road to Lincoln Street

Replacing the existing 6-inch water main on the east side of the street from 
Lincoln Street to 14 Mile Road, ADA ramp upgrades, full-depth road 
reconstruction for trench end excavations, and other road repair sections. 

Tentative Milestone Dates
Public Meeting with Property Owners (date TBD)

April 2023: Project Bidding

May 2023: Public Hearing of Necessity for SAD’s 

June 2023: Award project

Middle of June 2023: Start construction 

October 2023: Final completion

Coordination with Pierce Elementary School 

8B



Future Capital Improvement Program

8B



2024 Capital Improvement Program 

Note: All projects are subject to City Commission approval and City’s budget

8B



2025 Capital Improvement Program 

Note: All projects are subject to City Commission approval and City’s budget

8B



1 

MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Department 

DATE: October 20, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: James J. Surhigh, Consulting City Engineer 

SUBJECT: Unimproved Streets Policy Modifications – 
Process for City-Initiated Projects 

INTRODUCTION: 
On September 13, 2021, the City Commission conducted their second workshop to explore 
the key recommendations made by the Ad Hoc Unimproved Streets Study Committee in their 
final report to the City Commission, and hear the Staff’s recommendations for moving forward 
with changes to the process for converting unimproved streets to improved status.   The City 
Commission is being asked to modify the City’s current ordinance associated with converting 
an unimproved street to an improved street by allowing the City to initiate such street 
improvements.  The Engineering Department policy statement regarding the modified 
ordinance for improving unimproved streets and associated improvements is also attached 
for the Commission’s information. 

BACKGROUND: 
There are ninety (90) miles of existing roadway in the City of Birmingham.  Approximately 
30% (26 miles) of them are classified as “unimproved” streets.  An unimproved road is a 
gravel road, with or without curbs, that has been maintained with chip or cape seal to provide 
a relatively smooth and dust-free driving surface.  These unimproved streets exist due to the 
majority of neighborhoods in the City being subdivided and open for development prior to 
1930.  During this time local streets were built with gravel roads with no provision for storm 
drainage.  Residents with unimproved roads often experience issues with flooding and 
deteriorating road surfaces as a more common occurrence than their neighbors with improved 
roads.    

Today, unimproved streets may be converted to an improved street with construction of 
engineered pavement and drainage improvements only when a majority of residents on a 
residential block submit a petition to the City for such an improvement.  In order, to convert 
a road from unimproved to improved, residents must pay a percentage of the total cost via 
special assessment. 

The City Commission heard an increasing number of complaints from residents over the past 
several years concerning issues with drainage and the condition of the road surface on 
unimproved streets.  In response, the Commission passed a resolution creating an Ad Hoc 
Unimproved Street Study Committee (AHUSC).  The charge of the committee was to conduct 
a City-Wide study of unimproved streets and provide a recommendation outlining a long-term 
plan for improving these streets. 

7F8B



2 
 
 

 
The AHUSC convened from June 2018 until December 2020, when it concluded its charge and 
presented a Final Report to the City Commission on December 21, 2020.  The report provides 
details regarding the various topics related to the issue, and follows with actionable 
recommendations to modify the City’s existing policy and procedures associated with 
converting an unimproved street to an improved street.  The Committee unanimously believes 
that there are three key areas that should be the focus of their recommendations.  These 
include the: 

1) Initiation of the petition process by the City and not only by the citizens,  
2) Selection of the road surface and design alternatives, and  
3) Identification of funding sources that may allow the City to accelerate the conversion 

of unimproved roads. 
 
On April 12, 2021, the City Commission held a workshop meeting to discuss these key 
recommendations, along with a fourth item related to planning for the street improvement 
projects.  On April 26, 2021, the City Commission expressed support of making certain 
changes to the policies associated with converting unimproved streets to improved status, 
and gave direction to Staff to further develop the proposed changes.   
 
On September 13, 2021, the City Commission held a second workshop meeting to discuss the 
recommendations made by the AHUSC, in conjunction with the Staff’s recommendations for 
specific modifications to policies and ordinances that would move the City towards being more 
proactive with respect to converting unimproved streets to improved status.  This report 
presents changes to the project initiation policy, and related ordinance modifications, for the 
City Commission to act upon.   
 
With adoption of the proposed changes described herein, the City will be allowed to initiate a 
project on an unimproved street without waiting for a citizen-led petition effort.  With the 
City-initiated process, an expression of interest survey will be distributed to affected property 
owners to ascertain the level of support for the proposed project during the preliminary 
planning stage, and before significant effort is expended by Staff and the City’s consultants.  
At the conclusion of the preliminary planning stage, an interim project report will be presented 
to the City Commission to act upon and direct Staff to proceed with final design of the project.  
The existing process for a citizen-led petition effort to initiate a project will remain an option 
for property owners along unimproved streets.  

 
LEGAL REVIEW: 

This report, proposed ordinance, and resolutions contained herein have been reviewed by the 
City Attorney, and found to be in order. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

There is no fiscal impact associated with the resolutions contained herein, as no changes are 
proposed to the existing policies related to assessment of costs for street improvements. 

 
  

8B



3 
 
 

SUMMARY: 
Staff recommends that the City Commission adopt modifications and additions to the 
ordinance language to allow the City to be proactive in identifying the need of street 
improvements and initiating such street improvements, and for the creation of Special 
Assessment Districts to defray the costs of these improvements.  Further, to develop the 
petition process to allow for City-initiated projects and the use of a tool for an “expression of 
interest” in order to gauge the level of support from property owners in a particular project 
area before the City expends significant resources towards development of the design of a 
project, while retaining the ability of property owners to directly petition for a street 
improvement project.  
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
• Ordinance to Amend Part II of the City Code, Chapter 94, Sections 94-4 through 94-8 

(“redline” version). 
• Ordinance to Amend Part II of the City Code, Chapter 94, Sections 94-4 through 94-8 

(final amended version). 
• Existing policy statement for local road improvements. 
• Proposed policy statement for local road improvements (“redline” version). 
• Proposed policy statement for local road improvements (final amended version). 

 
SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 

Make a motion adopting the proposed Ordinance to amend the City Code, Part II, Chapter 
94, Sec. 94-4. – Initiation of Improvement, Sec. 94-5. – Petitions, Sec. 94-6. City Engineer’s 
Report, Sec. 94-7. – Notice of Public Hearing and Sec. 94.8. – Determination of Necessity by 
Commission. 

 

8B



 
Page 1 of 3 

 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND PART II OF THE CITY CODE, CHAPTER 94 – SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS:  SEC. 94-4.-INITIATION OF IMPROVEMENT, SEC. 94-5. – PETITIONS, 
SEC. 94-6. CITY ENGINEER’S REPORT, SEC. 94-7. – NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
94.8. – DETERMINATION OF NECESSITY BY COMMISSION 
 
THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 
 

The City Code, Part II, Chapter 94-4. – Initiation of Improvement, Sec. 94-5. – Petitions, 
Sec. 94-6. City Engineer’s Report, Sec. 94-7. – Notice of Public Hearing and Sec. 94.8. – 
Determination of Necessity by Commission, shall read as follows: 
 
 

Sec. Sec. 94-4. Initiation of improvementImprovement by Commission. 

(1) Proceedings for the making of public improvements within the city may be commenced 
by resolution of the city commission, on its own initiative, making the improvement and 
special assessment mandatory.  

(12) The commission, inIn order to ascertain whether 50% or not a satisfactory number of 
property owners to be assessed for a special desire any particular improvement, the 
City Commission may choose to direct staff to circulate an expression of interest form.  
Or, the Commission may to be made, may request and receive a petition presented by 
property owners. therefor, or may receive a petition voluntarily presented.  

(23) The commission shall carefully consider any petition or expression of interest forms 
received, but both petitions and expression of interest forms shall be advisory only. and 
shall not be jurisdictional. Petitions or expression of interest forms shall in no event be 
mandatory upon the commission.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97) 

Sec. 94-5. Petitions. Property owners may petition for an improvement. 

(a) All property owners initiating petitions shall be circulated and signed on blank forms 
furnished by the city engineer. Such petitions shall contain, in addition to the signature of 
the owner(s), a brief description of the property owned by the respective signers thereof, 
along with a description of the requested improvementsand the requested . improvement.  

(b) Petitions shall be verified by the affidavit(s) of the petition circulator(s) attesting that 
signatures on the petition are genuine and that the persons signing are owners of the 
described properties.  

(c) Petitions shall be filed with the city engineer.  
(d) All petitions shall be referred by the city engineer to the city manager and city clerk. The city 

manager clerk shall check verify the petitions and signatures to determinedetermining 
whether they conform to the foregoing requirements and shall report his or her the city 
clerk’s findings to the city engineer and city manager.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97; Ord. No. 1962, 4-21-08) 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

8B



 

     

Page 2 of 3 

Sec. 94-6. City engineer's report. 

(a) Before the commission shall decide on making any public improvements, whether initiated 
by commission or property owners through the petition process, the city engineer shall 
prepare and submit a preliminary report to the city commission which shall include a general 
description of the nature and scope of the project, a recommended approach to the project 
including coordination of other city projects and finding funding sources, preliminary 
estimates of cost, an estimate of the life of the improvement, a description of the proposed 
assessment district(s), and such other pertinent information as may enable the commission 
to determine the cost, scope, extent and necessity of the proposed improvement and 
whether any portion of the cost should be paid by the city at large. A copy of the city 
engineer's report shall also be filed with the city clerk for public examination.  

(b) Whenever any property interest is acquired by condemnation or otherwise for the purpose 
of any public improvement, the cost thereof and of the proceedings required to acquire such 
property interest may be added to the cost of such public improvement.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97) 

Sec. 94-7. Notice of public hearing. 

(a) After the filing of the city engineer's report under section 94-6, above, a public hearing before 
the city commission on the advisability of proceeding to establish a special assessment 
district for the making of the public improvement shall be set, which hearing shall be held 
not less than ten days after notice thereof has been both published in a newspaper published 
or generally circulated in the city, and sent by first-class mail to all property owners in the 
proposed special assessment district as shown by the current property tax roll of the city. 
The notice shall include a statement that appearance and protest at the public hearing is 
required in order to appeal the special assessment to the Michigan Tax Tribunal, and that 
an owner or interested party, or his or her agent, may appear and protest in person or by 
letter, if received by the commission prior to the public hearing. The hearing required by this 
section may be held at any regular or special meeting of the commission.  

(b) At the public hearing on the proposed improvement, all persons interested shall be given an 
opportunity to be heard.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97) 

Sec. 94-8. Determination of necessity by commission. 

(a) Following the hearing, the commission may determine whether it is necessary to continue 
to proceed, or to modify the scope of the public improvement, if necessary, in such a manner 
as it deems to be in the best interest of the city, provided that if the amount of work is 
increased or properties are added to the district, then another public hearing shall be held 
pursuant to notice as prescribed in section 94-7.  

(b) If the commission determines to continue to proceed with the improvement, the commission 
shall adopt a resolution:  
(1) Determining the necessity of the improvement;  

8B



 

 
Page 3 of 3 

(2) Approving the detailed plans and estimates of cost prepared by the city engineer;  
(3) Prescribing what portion of the cost of such improvement shall be paid by special 

assessment upon the property especially benefited, determining what benefits will be 
received by affected properties and what portion, if any, of the cost shall be paid by 
the Ccity;  

(4) Delineating the boundaries of the special assessment district;  
(5) Determining the method or formula to be used in making the assessment; and  
(6) Directing the city manager to prepare a special assessment roll and present the same 

to the commission for confirmation (unless the special assessment roll was previously 
prepared).  

(c) The commission may modify the resolution to proceed that was adopted pursuant to 
subsection (b) at any time, but if any modification will increase the cost or scope of the 
improvement or add properties to the assessment district, a further public hearing shall be 
held and notice given as prescribed in section 94-7.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97; Ord. No. 1962, 4-21-08) 

All other Sections of Chapter 94. – SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS, shall remain unaffected. 
 
Ordained this _____ day of __________________, 2021.  Effective upon publication. 

 
          
    Pierre Boutros, Mayor 
  
          
    Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 
     

 
 

I, Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, do hereby certify that the 
foregoing ordinance was passed by the Commission of the City of Birmingham, Michigan at a regular 
meeting held ___________________, 2021 and that a summary was published 
_____________________, 2021. 
 

_____________________________________ 
Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 

 

8B



 
Page 1 of 3 

 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND PART II OF THE CITY CODE, CHAPTER 94 – SPECIAL 
ASSESSMENTS:  SEC. 94-4.-INITIATION OF IMPROVEMENT, SEC. 94-5. – PETITIONS, 
SEC. 94-6. CITY ENGINEER’S REPORT, SEC. 94-7. – NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
94.8. – DETERMINATION OF NECESSITY BY COMMISSION 
 
THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS: 
 

The City Code, Part II, Chapter 94-4. – Initiation of Improvement, Sec. 94-5. – Petitions, 
Sec. 94-6. City Engineer’s Report, Sec. 94-7. – Notice of Public Hearing and Sec. 94.8. – 
Determination of Necessity by Commission, shall read as follows: 
 
 

Sec. Sec. 94-4. Initiation of Improvement by Commission. 

(1) Proceedings for making public improvements within the city may be commenced by 
resolution of the city commission, on its own initiative, making the improvement and 
special assessment mandatory.  

(2) In order to ascertain whether 50% of property owners to be assessed for a special 
improvement, the City Commission may choose to direct staff to circulate an expression 
of interest form.  Or, the Commission may receive a petition presented by property 
owners. 

(3) The commission shall carefully consider any petition or expression of interest forms 
received, but both petitions and expression of interest forms shall be advisory only. 
Petitions or expression of interest forms shall in no event be mandatory upon the 
commission.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97) 

Sec. 94-5.  Property owners may petition for an improvement. 

(a) All property owners initiating petitions shall be circulated and signed on forms furnished by 
the city engineer. Such petitions shall contain, in addition to the signature of the owner(s), 
a brief description of the property owned by the respective signers thereof, along with a 
description of the requested improvements. 

(b) Petitions shall be verified by the affidavit(s) of the petition circulator(s) attesting that 
signatures on the petition are genuine and that the persons signing are owners of the 
described properties.  

(c) Petitions shall be filed with the city engineer.  
(d) All petitions shall be referred by the city engineer to the city manager and city clerk. The city 

clerk shall verify the petitions and signatures determining whether they conform to the 
foregoing requirements and shall report the city clerk’s findings to the city engineer and city 
manager.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97; Ord. No. 1962, 4-21-08) 

8B



 

     

Page 2 of 3 

Sec. 94-6. City engineer's report. 

(a) Before the commission shall decide on making any public improvements, whether initiated 
by commission or property owners through the petition process, the city engineer shall 
prepare and submit a preliminary report to the city commission which shall include a general 
description of the nature and scope of the project, a recommended approach to the project 
including coordination of other city projects and funding sources, preliminary estimates of 
cost, an estimate of the life of the improvement, a description of the proposed assessment 
district(s), and such other pertinent information as may enable the commission to determine 
the cost, scope, extent and necessity of the proposed improvement and whether any portion 
of the cost should be paid by the city at large. A copy of the city engineer's report shall also 
be filed with the city clerk for public examination.  

(b) Whenever any property interest is acquired by condemnation or otherwise for the purpose 
of any public improvement, the cost thereof and of the proceedings required to acquire such 
property interest may be added to the cost of such public improvement.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97) 

Sec. 94-7. Notice of public hearing. 

(a) After the filing of the city engineer's report under section 94-6, above, a public hearing before 
the city commission on the advisability of proceeding to establish a special assessment 
district for the making of the public improvement shall be set, which hearing shall be held 
not less than ten days after notice thereof has been both published in a newspaper published 
or generally circulated in the city, and sent by first-class mail to all property owners in the 
proposed special assessment district as shown by the current property tax roll of the city. 
The notice shall include a statement that appearance and protest at the public hearing is 
required in order to appeal the special assessment to the Michigan Tax Tribunal, and that 
an owner or interested party, or his or her agent, may appear and protest in person or by 
letter, if received by the commission prior to the public hearing. The hearing required by this 
section may be held at any regular or special meeting of the commission.  

(b) At the public hearing on the proposed improvement, all persons interested shall be given an 
opportunity to be heard.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97) 

Sec. 94-8. Determination of necessity by commission. 

(a) Following the hearing, the commission may determine whether it is necessary to continue 
to proceed, or to modify the scope of the public improvement, if necessary, in such a manner 
as it deems to be in the best interest of the city, provided that if the amount of work is 
increased or properties are added to the district, then another public hearing shall be held 
pursuant to notice as prescribed in section 94-7.  

(b) If the commission determines to continue to proceed with the improvement, the commission 
shall adopt a resolution:  
(1) Determining the necessity of the improvement;  

8B



 

 
Page 3 of 3 

(2) Approving the detailed plans and estimates of cost prepared by the city engineer;  
(3) Prescribing what portion of the cost of such improvement shall be paid by special 

assessment upon the property especially benefited, determining what benefits will be 
received by affected properties and what portion, if any, of the cost shall be paid by 
the City;  

(4) Delineating the boundaries of the special assessment district;  
(5) Determining the method or formula to be used in making the assessment; and  
(6) Directing the city manager to prepare a special assessment roll and present the same 

to the commission for confirmation (unless the special assessment roll was previously 
prepared).  

(c) The commission may modify the resolution to proceed that was adopted pursuant to 
subsection (b) at any time, but if any modification will increase the cost or scope of the 
improvement or add properties to the assessment district, a further public hearing shall be 
held and notice given as prescribed in section 94-7.  

(Ord. No. 1637, 3-24-97; Ord. No. 1962, 4-21-08) 

All other Sections of Chapter 94. – SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS, shall remain unaffected. 
 
Ordained this _____ day of __________________, 2021.  Effective upon publication. 

 
          
    Pierre Boutros, Mayor 
  
          
    Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 
     

 
 

I, Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, do hereby certify that the 
foregoing ordinance was passed by the Commission of the City of Birmingham, Michigan at a regular 
meeting held ___________________, 2021 and that a summary was published 
_____________________, 2021. 
 

_____________________________________ 
Alexandria D. Bingham, City Clerk 

 

8B



 

 

ENGINEERING DEPT. POLICY STATEMENT 
 

PROCEDURE TO REQUEST CITY STREET PAVEMENT IMPROVEMENTS 
(Current 2021 Version on City Website) 

 
 

LOCAL ROAD PAVEMENT IMPROVEMENTS 
 
Most of the subdivisions built in Birmingham were complete and in place prior to the 
Great Depression.  The expectations of a public street were different in that era. Cities 
and villages accepted gravel streets with little provision for drainage.  
 
Subdivisions built today are required to provide public roads with an engineered 
pavement built to last anywhere from 20 to 40 years. Handling storm drainage is an 
important part of the design. The cost of the pavement and storm sewer system is paid for 
by the developer, and that cost is then passed on to the first homeowners who purchase a 
home or property within the development. After the new street is installed and approved 
to their standards, the local City then takes over ownership of the pavement, and promises 
to maintain it into the future. 
 
Birmingham, like other cities built by the 1920’s, accepted gravel roads without storm 
sewer systems to serve as their local streets. By the end of World War II, the public’s 
expectations about what a public road should look like, and how it should function, was 
changing. Many cities took on ambitious construction programs, funded by bonds, and 
paid back through special assessments to the adjoining, benefitting properties. 
Birmingham took a more passive approach, electing to chip seal its gravel roads 
beginning in the late 1940’s. The chip seal helped solve many of the problems of a gravel 
road, but did not resolve the more complex issues of drainage. 
 
Road Improvement Petitioning Process 
Most streets in Birmingham have been financed through the creation of a Special 
Assessment District.  The district was authorized by the City Commission because a 
petition was submitted indicating that over half of the owners on the street were in favor 
of having their street paved, and that they were prepared to be charged for a portion of the 
cost. If your property is located on an unimproved road (one surfaced with a temporary 
cape seal surface consisting of asphalt emulsion and stone chips), then the property has 
never been included in a special assessment to cover the cost of such an improvement.   
 
Residents interested in having their streets paved are encouraged to call the Engineering 
Dept. at 248-530-1850, to get the process started. Usually, one or two residents take 
charge of the process. A petition with the appropriate language is prepared by the 

8B



 

 

Engineering Dept., and forwarded to the petition circulator.  They are then responsible for 
talking to their neighbors, and collecting signatures on the petition, documenting those 
that initially support the proposal. 
 
Every street is unique. That is why we ask that petition circulators discuss the specifics 
with the Engineering Dept. prior to collecting signatures. Generally speaking, a new 
street will include the following features: 

1. New concrete pavement with integral curbs to control drainage, built at 26 ft. 
wide between the face of the curbs. The 26 ft. width provides just enough 
room for a car to pass through, if other cars are parked on both sides. 

2. The City will review the current conditions of the sewer and water systems. 
Unimproved streets often need some or all of these systems replaced. The cost 
of these improvements would be charged to the City’s Sewer and Water 
Funds, and would not be included in the special assessment. 

3. In addition to the mains, the City also looks at the age and size of each home’s 
individual water and sewer laterals serving their homes. These pipelines are 
considered a part of the private system serving each property. If the pavement 
is being replaced, and these pipes are either too old or too small, they will also 
be replaced as a part of the project. These costs are charged to the benefitting 
property, in a separate special assessment. 

4. Each driveway approach is removed and replaced to meet the current 
driveways operating on the street. The size of the approach is measured and 
billed to the benefitting property. Trees and sidewalks are left in place as 
much as possible. The grass lawn area between the sidewalk and the new 
street is removed and regraded to help ensure that the new sidewalk drains 
correctly. The new lawn area is sodded for quick, high quality restoration. 
Individual parking areas that may have been built along the edge of the road 
are removed, and not replaced. The new street is wide enough to support 
parked cars in most cases. 

 
If a petition is submitted showing over 50% are in favor, the Engineering Dept. will 
prepare an informational booklet detailing the project being considered, and the costs 
involved. It is mailed to all owners in the potential district, and a neighborhood meeting 
is conducted for those that would like to discuss and learn more about what is being 
considered. 
 
If over 50% remain in favor of the project after this process, it will be moved forward to 
the City Commission for a public hearing, and possibly authorization. If the project is 
authorized, it will be designed and built by the City as soon as funding and construction 
schedules permit. 

8B



 

 

 
Special Assessment Costs 
Since costs change over time, you are encouraged to contact the Engineering Dept. for 
current numbers.  Property owners can expect to be charged based on the following 
general schedule: 

• Paving Assessment – Charged based on a unit rate times the footage of your 
property facing the street being improved. The unit rate is based on all paving 
related costs incurred to complete the project, minus 15% paid for by the City. If 
the property is on a corner, and the long side is being improved, the owner will be 
charged 33% of the unit rate, while the other 67% is paid for by the City. 

• Driveway – Each property that has a driveway or driveways needing approaches 
to the new street will be charged by the square foot that the contractor charged the 
City to install them. 

• Sewer lateral replacement – Each home served by a sewer lateral that is over 50 
years old will have a new PVC pipe installed to replace the existing one. Sewer 
laterals built under such projects are usually at least half off the cost of getting 
this work done on an individual basis, reducing the chance that the new pavement 
will not be damaged by utility cuts in the future. 

• Water lateral replacement – Many homes have ¾” dia. pipes serving their homes, 
some of which are lead. Such pipelines no longer meet current standards. If the 
home is significantly improved or replaced in the future, the pipeline would have 
to be replaced at that time, resulting in damage to the new pavement. The cost of 
this work is generally significantly less if done in conjunction with a City project. 

 
Special assessments can be paid off when due, or paid over a 10 year period, with interest 
charged on the remaining balance at 1% above the prime rate. 

8B



 

 

ENGINEERING DEPT. POLICY STATEMENT 
 

PROCEDURE FOR CITY STREET IMPROVEMENTS 
(proposed 2021 version) 

 
Most of the subdivisions built in Birmingham were complete and in place prior to the Great 
Depression.  The expectations of a public street were different in that era. Cities and villages 
accepted gravel streets with little provision for drainage.  
 
Subdivisions built today are required to provide public roads with an engineered pavement built 
to last anywhere from 20 to 40 years. Handling storm drainage is an important part of the design. 
The cost of the pavement and storm sewer system is paid for by the developer, and that cost is 
then passed on to the first homeowners who purchase a home or property within the 
development. After the new street is installed and approved to their standards, the local City then 
takes over ownership of the pavement, and promises to maintain it into the future. 
 
Birmingham, like other cities built by the 1920’s, accepted gravel roads without storm sewer 
systems to serve as their local streets. By the end of World War II, the public’s expectations 
about what a public road should look like, and how it should function, was changing. Many cities 
took on ambitious construction programs, funded by bonds, and paid back through special 
assessments to the adjoining, benefitting properties. Birmingham took a more passive approach, 
electing to chip seal its gravel roads beginning in the late 1940’s. The chip seal helped solve 
many of the problems of a gravel road, but did not resolve the more complex issues of drainage. 
 

ROAD IMPROVEMENT OPTIONS 

A. Citizen-Initiated Project: 
Street improvement projects in Birmingham have historically been financed through the 
creation of a Special Assessment District (SAD).  The district was authorized by the City 
Commission after consideration of a petition that was submitted indicating that over half 
of the property owners on the street were in favor of having their street paved, and that 
they were prepared to be charged for a portion of the cost. If your property is located on 
an unimproved road (one surfaced with a temporary cape seal surface consisting of 
asphalt emulsion and stone chips), then the property has never been included in a special 
assessment district to cover the cost of constructing a fully-improved road.   
 
Residents interested in having their streets paved are encouraged to call the Engineering 
Dept. at 248-530-1850, to get the process started. Usually, one or two residents take 
charge of the process. A petition with the appropriate language is prepared by the 
Engineering Department., and forwarded to the petition circulator.  They are then 

8B



 

 

responsible for talking to their neighbors, and collecting signatures on the petition, 
documenting those that initially support the proposal. 
 
Every street is unique. That is why we ask that petition circulators discuss the specifics 
with the Engineering Dept. prior to collecting signatures. Generally speaking, a new 
street will include the following features: 

1. New concrete pavement with integral curbs to control drainage, built at 26 ft. 
wide between the face of the curbs. The 26 ft. width provides just enough room 
for a car to pass through, if other cars are parked on both sides.  An asphalt 
pavement section, designed to provide an equivalent performing pavement as 
compared to concrete, along with concrete curb and gutter, may be considered as 
an alternate pavement design on a case-by-case basis. 

2. The City will review the current conditions of the sewer and water systems in the 
public right-of-way, referred to as “mains”.  Unimproved streets often need some 
or all of these systems replaced. The cost of these improvements would be 
charged to the City’s Sewer and Water Funds, and would not be included in the 
special assessment. 

3. In addition to the mains, the City also looks at the age and size of each home’s 
individual water and sewer laterals serving their homes. These pipelines are 
considered a part of the private system serving each property. If the pavement is 
being replaced, and these pipes are either too old or too small, they will also be 
replaced as a part of the project. These costs are charged to the benefitting 
property in a separate special assessment from that established for the road 
paving. 

4. Each driveway approach is removed and replaced to meet the current standards 
for driveways operating on the street. The size of the approach is measured and 
billed to the benefitting property through the road paving special assessment. 
Trees and sidewalks are left in place as much as possible. The grass lawn area 
between the sidewalk and the new street is removed and regraded to help ensure 
that the new sidewalk drains correctly. The new lawn area is sodded for quick, 
high quality restoration. Individual parking areas that may have been built along 
the edge of the road are removed, and not replaced. The new street is wide enough 
to support parked cars in most cases. 

 
If a petition is submitted showing over 50% are in favor of the road improvement, the 
Engineering Department will prepare an informational booklet detailing the project being 
considered, and an estimate of the costs involved. It is mailed to all owners in the 
potential district, and a neighborhood meeting is conducted for those that would like to 
discuss and learn more about what is being considered. 

8B



 

 

 
If over 50% remain in favor of the project after this process, it will be moved forward to 
the City Commission for a public hearing, and possibly authorization. If the project is 
authorized, it will be designed and built by the City as soon as funding and construction 
schedules permit. 

 
B. City-Initiated Project: 

From time to time, the City Engineering Department may determine that construction of a 
project on an unimproved street should be initiated by the City.  The main factors for 
making this determination would be where public sewer and/or water system 
improvements are needed, and construction of those utilities would necessitate removal 
of a portion of the existing roadway.  Instead of simply restoring the cape-seal road 
surface after the utility construction, the City may start the process by engaging the 
property owners on the street about constructing an improved road.  The City-initiated 
process would include the following steps: 

 
1. The Engineering Department will identify project areas as part of the usual 

Capital Improvement Planning (CIP) process, where projects are planned over the 
upcoming 5 year time period.  Occasionally, the need for a project is more 
unexpected by nature, and may not be part of the 5-year CIP. 

2. Before starting the detailed design phase of a project on an unimproved street, the 
Engineering Department may engage the property owners that are in the project 
area to survey their opinions on the project by sending them an Expression of 
Interest form.  Information and questions on the Expression of Interest form could 
include: 
a. Project description and explanation of the purpose of the project 

(improvements to sewer or water system, or other reason) – including 
anticipated street width, pavement material, construction period, and 
estimated SAD cost ranges. 

b. Ask if they are supportive of the project to improve the sewer and/or water 
system along the street. 

c. Ask if they are supportive of constructing an improved street upon completion 
of the underground utility work. 

d. Ask their opinion if the finished road surface paving material should be 
concrete or asphalt. 

This preliminary Expression of Interest Survey will be communicated to the 
affected property owners by mail, and email if that has been provided to the City.  
General communications can be posted on the City’s website and social media 

8B



 

 

outlets to inform the public in general that design of the project will be starting, 
and if you are one of the affected properties, to look for the survey.  The survey 
would be open for a minimum of 30 days. 

3. Begin preliminary design of the project: performing topographic survey; 
reviewing sewer and water system needs; preparing preliminary plans; and 
refining cost estimates. 

4. Prepare an informational booklet for the project, as described in the Citizen-
Initiated Project process section of this procedure document.  The information 
booklet will be mailed to all property owners in the potential SAD, and a 
neighborhood meeting will be conducted for those that would like to discuss and 
learn more about what is being considered. 

5. Prepare an Interim Report for City-Initiated Unimproved Street Project and 
present to the City Commission.  Interim report would include:  Expression of 
Interest survey results; feedback from public information meeting; cost estimate 
update including SAD component; and suggested resolution to proceed with final 
design of the project. 

6. Set public hearing dates for road paving SAD and sewer & water lateral 
replacement SAD; hold public hearings of necessity; and hold public hearings 
confirming the assessment rolls. 

7. Complete project design, and issue bid documents (with alternate paving design if 
warranted). 

8. Present project to City Commission for award of construction contract, and 
decision on alternates (if any). 

 
With City-initiated projects, the Special Assessment District process and development of 
costs to be assessed is exactly the same as that followed for petition-initiated projects.   

 
 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT COSTS 
 
Since costs for constructing road improvement projects change over time, you are encouraged to 
contact the Engineering Dept. for current estimated costs.  Property owners can expect to be 
charged based on the following general schedule: 

• Paving Assessment – Charged based on a unit rate times the footage of your property 
facing the street being improved. The unit rate is based on all paving related costs 
incurred to complete the project, minus 15% paid for by the City. If the property is on a 
corner, and the long side is being improved, the owner will be charged 33% of the unit 
rate, while the other 67% is paid for by the City. 

8B



 

 

• Driveway Assessment – Each property that has a driveway or driveways needing 
approaches to the new street will be charged by the square foot that the contractor 
charged the City to install them.  The driveway assessment cost will be added to the 
paving assessment for each benefitting property in the district. 

• Sewer Lateral Replacement Assessment – Each home served by a sewer lateral that is 
over 50 years old, or constructed with materials or pipe size not meeting current City 
standards, will have a new 6” PVC pipe installed to replace the existing one. Sewer 
laterals built with the road improvement projects are usually at least half off the cost of 
getting this work done on an individual basis, and reduces the chance that the new 
pavement will need to be damaged by utility cuts in the future. 

• Water Lateral Replacement Assessment – Each home having a ¾” dia. pipe, or any 
size that is constructed with materials not meeting current City standards, will have a new 
1” dia. pipe installed to replace the existing one (or larger size to match existing).   If the 
home is significantly improved or replaced in the future, the water lateral would have to 
be replaced at that time, resulting in damage to the new pavement. The cost of this work 
is generally significantly less if done in conjunction with the road improvement project as 
compared to undertaking the water lateral replacement separately. 

 
Special assessments for Paving Assessments, as well as Sewer and Water Lateral Replacement 
Assessments, can be paid off when due, or paid over a period of time (typically 10 years), with 
interest charged on the remaining balance, as determined by the City Commission at the special 
assessment hearing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8B



 

 

ENGINEERING DEPT. POLICY STATEMENT 
 

PROCEDURE FOR CITY STREET IMPROVEMENTS 
(proposed 2021 version) 

 
Most of the subdivisions built in Birmingham were complete and in place prior to the Great 
Depression.  The expectations of a public street were different in that era. Cities and villages 
accepted gravel streets with little provision for drainage.  
 
Subdivisions built today are required to provide public roads with an engineered pavement built 
to last anywhere from 20 to 40 years. Handling storm drainage is an important part of the design. 
The cost of the pavement and storm sewer system is paid for by the developer, and that cost is 
then passed on to the first homeowners who purchase a home or property within the 
development. After the new street is installed and approved to their standards, the local City then 
takes over ownership of the pavement, and promises to maintain it into the future. 
 
Birmingham, like other cities built by the 1920’s, accepted gravel roads without storm sewer 
systems to serve as their local streets. By the end of World War II, the public’s expectations 
about what a public road should look like, and how it should function, was changing. Many cities 
took on ambitious construction programs, funded by bonds, and paid back through special 
assessments to the adjoining, benefitting properties. Birmingham took a more passive approach, 
electing to chip seal its gravel roads beginning in the late 1940’s. The chip seal helped solve 
many of the problems of a gravel road, but did not resolve the more complex issues of drainage. 
 

ROAD IMPROVEMENT OPTIONS 

A. Citizen-Initiated Project: 
Street improvement projects in Birmingham have historically been financed through the 
creation of a Special Assessment District (SAD).  The district was authorized by the City 
Commission after consideration of a petition that was submitted indicating that over half 
of the property owners on the street were in favor of having their street paved, and that 
they were prepared to be charged for a portion of the cost. If your property is located on 
an unimproved road (one surfaced with a temporary cape seal surface consisting of 
asphalt emulsion and stone chips), then the property has never been included in a special 
assessment district to cover the cost of constructing a fully-improved road.   
 
Residents interested in having their streets paved are encouraged to call the Engineering 
Dept. at 248-530-1850, to get the process started. Usually, one or two residents take 
charge of the process. A petition with the appropriate language is prepared by the 
Engineering Department., and forwarded to the petition circulator.  They are then 

8B



 

 

responsible for talking to their neighbors, and collecting signatures on the petition, 
documenting those that initially support the proposal. 
 
Every street is unique. That is why we ask that petition circulators discuss the specifics 
with the Engineering Dept. prior to collecting signatures. Generally speaking, a new 
street will include the following features: 

1. New concrete pavement with integral curbs to control drainage, built at 26 ft. 
wide between the face of the curbs. The 26 ft. width provides just enough room 
for a car to pass through, if other cars are parked on both sides.  An asphalt 
pavement section, designed to provide an equivalent performing pavement as 
compared to concrete, along with concrete curb and gutter, may be considered as 
an alternate pavement design on a case-by-case basis. 

2. The City will review the current conditions of the sewer and water systems in the 
public right-of-way, referred to as “mains”.  Unimproved streets often need some 
or all of these systems replaced. The cost of these improvements would be 
charged to the City’s Sewer and Water Funds, and would not be included in the 
special assessment. 

3. In addition to the mains, the City also looks at the age and size of each home’s 
individual water and sewer laterals serving their homes. These pipelines are 
considered a part of the private system serving each property. If the pavement is 
being replaced, and these pipes are either too old or too small, they will also be 
replaced as a part of the project. These costs are charged to the benefitting 
property in a separate special assessment from that established for the road 
paving. 

4. Each driveway approach is removed and replaced to meet the current standards 
for driveways operating on the street. The size of the approach is measured and 
billed to the benefitting property through the road paving special assessment. 
Trees and sidewalks are left in place as much as possible. The grass lawn area 
between the sidewalk and the new street is removed and regraded to help ensure 
that the new sidewalk drains correctly. The new lawn area is sodded for quick, 
high quality restoration. Individual parking areas that may have been built along 
the edge of the road are removed, and not replaced. The new street is wide enough 
to support parked cars in most cases. 

 
If a petition is submitted showing over 50% are in favor of the road improvement, the 
Engineering Department will prepare an informational booklet detailing the project being 
considered, and an estimate of the costs involved. It is mailed to all owners in the 
potential district, and a neighborhood meeting is conducted for those that would like to 
discuss and learn more about what is being considered. 

8B



 

 

 
If over 50% remain in favor of the project after this process, it will be moved forward to 
the City Commission for a public hearing, and possibly authorization. If the project is 
authorized, it will be designed and built by the City as soon as funding and construction 
schedules permit. 

 
B. City-Initiated Project: 

From time to time, the City Engineering Department may determine that construction of a 
project on an unimproved street should be initiated by the City.  The main factors for 
making this determination would be where public sewer and/or water system 
improvements are needed, and construction of those utilities would necessitate removal 
of a portion of the existing roadway.  Instead of simply restoring the cape-seal road 
surface after the utility construction, the City may start the process by engaging the 
property owners on the street about constructing an improved road.  The City-initiated 
process would include the following steps: 

 
1. The Engineering Department will identify project areas as part of the usual 

Capital Improvement Planning (CIP) process, where projects are planned over the 
upcoming 5 year time period.  Occasionally, the need for a project is more 
unexpected by nature, and may not be part of the 5-year CIP. 

2. Before starting the detailed design phase of a project on an unimproved street, the 
Engineering Department may engage the property owners that are in the project 
area to survey their opinions on the project by sending them an Expression of 
Interest form.  Information and questions on the Expression of Interest form could 
include: 
a. Project description and explanation of the purpose of the project 

(improvements to sewer or water system, or other reason) – including 
anticipated street width, pavement material, construction period, and 
estimated SAD cost ranges. 

b. Ask if they are supportive of the project to improve the sewer and/or water 
system along the street. 

c. Ask if they are supportive of constructing an improved street upon completion 
of the underground utility work. 

d. Ask their opinion if the finished road surface paving material should be 
concrete or asphalt. 

This preliminary Expression of Interest Survey will be communicated to the 
affected property owners by mail, and email if that has been provided to the City.  
General communications can be posted on the City’s website and social media 

8B



 

 

outlets to inform the public in general that design of the project will be starting, 
and if you are one of the affected properties, to look for the survey.  The survey 
would be open for a minimum of 30 days. 

3. Begin preliminary design of the project: performing topographic survey; 
reviewing sewer and water system needs; preparing preliminary plans; and 
refining cost estimates. 

4. Prepare an informational booklet for the project, as described in the Citizen-
Initiated Project process section of this procedure document.  The information 
booklet will be mailed to all property owners in the potential SAD, and a 
neighborhood meeting will be conducted for those that would like to discuss and 
learn more about what is being considered. 

5. Prepare an Interim Report for City-Initiated Unimproved Street Project and 
present to the City Commission.  Interim report would include:  Expression of 
Interest survey results; feedback from public information meeting; cost estimate 
update including SAD component; and suggested resolution to proceed with final 
design of the project. 

6. Set public hearing dates for road paving SAD and sewer & water lateral 
replacement SAD; hold public hearings of necessity; and hold public hearings 
confirming the assessment rolls. 

7. Complete project design, and issue bid documents (with alternate paving design if 
warranted). 

8. Present project to City Commission for award of construction contract, and 
decision on alternates (if any). 

 
With City-initiated projects, the Special Assessment District process and development of 
costs to be assessed is exactly the same as that followed for petition-initiated projects.   

 
 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT COSTS 
 
Since costs for constructing road improvement projects change over time, you are encouraged to 
contact the Engineering Dept. for current estimated costs.  Property owners can expect to be 
charged based on the following general schedule: 

• Paving Assessment – Charged based on a unit rate times the footage of your property 
facing the street being improved. The unit rate is based on all paving related costs 
incurred to complete the project, minus 15% paid for by the City. If the property is on a 
corner, and the long side is being improved, the owner will be charged 33% of the unit 
rate, while the other 67% is paid for by the City. 

8B



 

 

• Driveway Assessment – Each property that has a driveway or driveways needing 
approaches to the new street will be charged by the square foot that the contractor 
charged the City to install them.  The driveway assessment cost will be added to the 
paving assessment for each benefitting property in the district. 

• Sewer Lateral Replacement Assessment – Each home served by a sewer lateral that is 
over 50 years old, or constructed with materials or pipe size not meeting current City 
standards, will have a new 6” PVC pipe installed to replace the existing one. Sewer 
laterals built with the road improvement projects are usually at least half off the cost of 
getting this work done on an individual basis, and reduces the chance that the new 
pavement will need to be damaged by utility cuts in the future. 

• Water Lateral Replacement Assessment – Each home having a ¾” dia. pipe, or any 
size that is constructed with materials not meeting current City standards, will have a new 
1” dia. pipe installed to replace the existing one (or larger size to match existing).   If the 
home is significantly improved or replaced in the future, the water lateral would have to 
be replaced at that time, resulting in damage to the new pavement. The cost of this work 
is generally significantly less if done in conjunction with the road improvement project as 
compared to undertaking the water lateral replacement separately. 

 
Special assessments for Paving Assessments, as well as Sewer and Water Lateral Replacement 
Assessments, can be paid off when due, or paid over a period of time (typically 10 years), with 
interest charged on the remaining balance, as determined by the City Commission at the special 
assessment hearing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8B



MEMORANDUM
Engineering Dept.

Planning Department
Police Dept.

DATE: July 13, 2018

TO: Joseph A. Valentine, City Manager

FROM: Jana Ecker, Planning Director
Scott Grewe, Police Dept.
Paul O’Meara, City Engineer

SUBJECT: Residential Street Width Standards

On January 22, 2018, the City Commission considered future street widths for Bennaville, 
Chapin and Humphrey.  Several residents appeared on behalf of Bennaville Ave., and additional 
residents appeared on behalf of the one block of Chapin Ave.  After much discussion, the City 
Commission endorsed the recommendations of the Multi-Modal Transportation Board (“MMTB”) 
with regards to the future street width.  However, during the discussion, the Commission 
expressed confusion as to what the City’s policy is for determining the width of a new street. 
As a result, the MMTB was asked to study the issue in further detail, and send information and 
policy direction back to the Commission.  

In March 2018, the MMTB began their discussion by identifying goals for residential road width 
standards, and reviewed the national standards and best practices from professional 
organizations and peer cities.  The board agreed that standards should be created, but that 
there may be factors to permit some modifications if certain criteria are met.  

On May 3, 2018, the MMTB passed a unanimous motion to recommend approval of Residential 
Street Width Standards to the City Commission.  

On June 4, 2018, the City Commission reviewed the proposed Residential Street Width 
Standards recommended by the MMTB.  After much discussion, the City Commission directed 
the standards back to the MMTB for further refinement in the following areas:

Expand on the introduction and policy goals section to clarify purpose of standards;
Identify clearly the professional organizations on which the standards are based;
Change language in (2) from mandatory (shall) to optional (may);  and
Emphasize the role of public involvement by adding language to (4).

8B



Accordingly, City staff made the changes requested by the City Commission to the Residential 
Street Width Standards and took the issue back to the MMTB on July 12, 2018.  Board members 
recommended minor revisions, and then voted unanimously to recommend approval of the 
revised standards to the City Commission.

Please find attached all research considered by the MMTB, draft standards and all staff reports 
and minutes from the MMTB discussions for your review.

Suggested Action:

To approve the Residential Street Width Standards as recommended by the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board on May 3, 2018, and as further refined and recommended on July 12, 
2018. 

8B



POLICY STATEMENT:
BIRMINGHAM RESIDENTIAL STREET DESIGN STANDARDS

INTRODUCTION: The City Commission asked the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board (MMTB) to establish a City policy for determining the
width of a new street. Accordingly, the MMTB identified goals for
residential road width standards, and reviewed the national standards and
best practices from professional organizations and peer cities. The board
created standards and allowed for modifications if certain criteria are met.

INTENT: The purpose of these standards is to provide consistent street
widths throughout the city but with flexibility for very specific situations. The
goals for identifying a standard road width for residential roads include the
following:

Functionality;
Consistency with adjacent streets;
Accident reduction and public safety;
Adhering to Complete Streets principles;

o Enhancing walkability;
Character of community;

o Block length;
o Size of lots;
o Building setback and lengths;

Traffic calming;
Expediency in planning and engineering;

8B



Infrastructure costs; and/or
Storm water runoff management.

 

The following standards are based on residential street design recommendations
published by American Association of State Highway and Transportation 
Officials (AASHTO), the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), the Urban Land
Institute (ULI), the Congress for New Urbanism, National Association of City 
Transportation Officials (NACTO), and those used by peer cities. Using those
standards as a base, these standards are also based on emergency response
access, winter weather, the existing street widths in the city, and the characteristics of 
different neighborhoods in the City. These widths typically allow for parking along both
sides of the street with room for a vehicle to pass in one direction. When there is
opposing traffic (vehicles going both ways) one of the motorists will need to yield to
the other. This is commonly classified as a “Yield” or “Courtesy” Street.

STREET DESIGN STANDARDS (see also attached flow chart):

1. NEW AND EXISTING, UNIMPROVED RESIDENTIAL STREETS THAT ARE
BEING IMPROVED
When streets are improved or newly constructed, the standards below shall be
strictly generally be applied.  Exceptions may be considered when factors,
such as those described in Section 4, are evident.

a. Standard Streets: 26 ft. in width from curb to curb.
b. If the right-of-way is less than 50 ft., the street width shall be a minimum of

20 ft. with parking allowed on one side only (generally the side without
fire hydrants).

 

2. EXISTING, IMPROVED RESIDENTIAL STREETS
When previously built streets are reconstructed, this standard shall generally be
applied. Exceptions may be considered when factors, such as those described in
Section 4, are evident.

Standard Streets: 26 ft. in width from curb to curb.
Existing Street is 28 feet or less in width: If existing street width is 28 ft.
or less in width, street shall may generally be reconstructed at the existing
width provided there is a reason present under section 4.

3. PUBLIC NOTICE AND PUBLIC HEARING
Whenever there is a street project where a change in the existing width is
being considered, the Multi-Modal Transportation Board shall have a Public Hearing to
inform residents of the project and provide an opportunity for comment. The City shall
post a sign along the street that announces street project. Design details shall be
advertised and posted on the City’s website. If residents express a desire for a non-

8B



standard street width at a public meeting or through a public survey of street
residents, those preferences shall be considered. However, engineering or safety
factors listed in Section 4 must also be present to support a design exception.

4. EXCEPTIONS AND MODIFICATIONS TO THE WIDTH STANDARDS
Any modification must be consistent with the Intent of these standards and the
engineering publications upon which they are based. Street width exceptions may only
be approved to a minimum of 20 ft. and a maximum of 30ft. If residents express 
a desire for a non-standard street width at a public meeting or through a 
public survey of street residents, those preferences shall be considered
(either wider or narrower) Modifications to street widths may only be considered if
one or more of the following conditions exist:

a. High or low frequency of use of on-street parking. When surveyed on-street
parking is utilized 15% or less overnight, the width may be reduced. When 
parking density is classified as highly utilized, defined as over 25%
occupancy throughout the day or more than 50% of the available curb space
used overnight, the width may be increased. For calculation of parking, a
minimum length of 22 ft. shall be used and not include driveways, spaces
adjacent to fire hydrants, or other locations where parking is not allowed.

b. Daily traffic volumes exceed 1500 vehicles.
c. The street is a published school bus route used by the Birmingham

Public Schools or is a frequent emergency response route.
d. Street is adjacent to a school, religious institution, City park, multiple-

family residential development, or other use with access that generates
higher traffic volumes.

e. Presence of street trees, especially healthy, mature trees, such that rebuilding
the road as proposed would result in the removal of two or more trees on
any given block.

f. A speed study confirms that the 85th percentile speed is more than 5 miles
per hour over the posted speed limit and/or city police or engineering
departments have documented operational or safety concerns related to traffic
patterns along the street.

g. Street may be as narrow as 20 ft. with parking on one side only if right-of-way
is less than 50 ft.

5. BOULEVARD STREETS
Reconstruction of streets with a boulevard, median, or other unique design feature,
shall be reconstructed to match the current configuration unless geometric
changes are needed based on safety or engineering analysis.

 

8B



 

 

U
ni

m
pr

ov
ed

 (N
ew

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n)
 

St
an

da
rd

 2
6 

ft
 

Parking Demand If > 25% daytime or > 50% overnight, may 
widen.  If <15% overnight, may narrow. 

Traffic Volume If >1500 ADT, or if published school bus or 
emergency route, may vary from standard. 

Right-of-Way If < 50 ft, restrict parking to one side, may 
reduce width to 20 ft. 

Traffic Speed / 
Known Traffic Issue 

Measure 85th % speed more than 5 miles over posted limit  

or documented safety issues, may vary from standard. 

Is
 c

ur
re

nt
 st

re
ee

t 2
8 

ft
. o

r l
es

s 
in

 w
id

th
? 

No 
Do documented factors 

for an exception in 
Section 4 exist? 

Yes 
Rebuild as is, max 30 ft., 

unless condition warrants 
further study. 

No Reconstruct to 26 ft. 

Yes 

Do documented factors 
for an exception in 

Section 4 exist? 

Yes 
Analysis required to 

determine appropriate 
width 

No Reconstruct at current 
width 

RECONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVED STREET 

FACTORS THRESHOLD TO CONSIDER EXCEPTION 

8B



8B



8B



 

Page 48  

 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM MULTIMODAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN         

PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.2    SIDEWALKS  

DESCRIPTION 

Sidewalks are the unsung heroes of a multi-modal 
system.  They are usually the first facilities to be 
constructed and provide a backbone to a complete 
multi-modal network.  They are one of the key 
components to a walkable community and should be 
completed on both sides of all roads in an urban area.   

A community’s long term goal should be to provide 
sidewalks on both sides of the roadway along all roads.  
Sidewalks are proven to reduce pedestrian crashes and are critical to children safely walking to 
school, especially in dark conditions.  Providing a complete sidewalk network along all roadways 
is important from a safety and connectivity standpoint and the city should work towards 
completing its network. 

For the most up-to-date guidelines please refer to AASHTO’s Guide for the Planning, Design, 
and Operation of Pedestrian Facilities. 

All newly constructed and reconstructed sidewalks and shared use pathways should be in 
compliance with Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA).  Please refer to the 
Accessible Public Rights-of-Way: Planning and Designing for Alternatives guide for more 
information. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

The first priority is to provide sidewalks along all the major roadways.  In the near-term the City 
should focus on completing sidewalk gaps along S Cranbrook Road to connect to the high 
school and dog park and along S Old Woodard to connect on-street parking to the businesses 
along the corridor.  Please refer to the Network Implementation Plan for more details. 

The second priority should be to complete the sidewalk gaps in neighborhoods that already 
have an existing sidewalk system partially in place. 

The third priority should be to complete sidewalks in all neighborhoods.   

In general, sidewalks should be installed by developers when constructing or reconstructing 
buildings or homes and by local city, county or state agencies during a roadway improvement 
project.  Sidewalks should be a minimum of 5’ wide.  6’ is preferred along Collector roadways 
and 8’ is preferred along Arterial roadways.   

Please refer to Fig. 3.2A for a map of the proposed sidewalks.  

Sidewalk 

8B



   November 25, 2013 

 

Page 49 

 

FIGURE 3.2A PROPOSED SIDEWALKS 

 

APPROXIMATELY 2.5 
MILES OF SIDEWALK ARE 
PROPOSED ALONG 
PRIMARY ROADS IN THE 
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 

  

Web Survey Results: 

 About 38% of respondents walk to work and/or the store daily or weekly 

 About 80% of respondents walk for fun and/or exercise daily or weekly 

 Around 79% of respondents feel a complete sidewalk system is very important to non-
motorized trips actually happening in the future 

8B



Keep Streets Pedestrian-oriented
Ch 3. Retain Neighborhood Quality

The Birmingham Plan | Draft 08/22/2256

Keep Streets Pedestrian-oriented
Streets are the most pervasive public space in a city, and  
generally, Birmingham’s streets are exceptionally beautiful 
and pleasant (See Fig. 37). However, moving cars is too often 
primary focus of street design, which results in widening to 
make driving easier. In most cases, widening neighborhood 
streets reduces their safety for pedestrians and bicyclists, 
reduces street tree canopy, and increases vehicle speeds. 
Fortunately, Birmingham has resisted calls to widen streets. 
As a result, the city retains a extensive tree canopy and 
pleasant streets to walk and bike along.

Yet today, calls for wider streets continue. If widened, cars 
will move more quickly and those streets become conve-
nient ways to cut around areas of congestion. There are 
some streets in Birmingham are too narrow, like Westchester 
Way, paved approximately 16 feet yet operating two-way 
with parking. Streets narrower than 20 feet paved and oper-
ating two-way with on-street parking should be considered 
for a change to one-way or removal of some street parking, 
perhaps widening. Most other streets should not.

Beyond the space to accommodate automobiles, street 
design must consider pedestrian comfort and safety, bicy-
clist comfort and safety, and street trees for public health.

Pedestrian comfort and safety is influenced by the size and 
location of sidewalks. Birmingham’s historic neighborhood 
standard was a minimum 4 foot sidewalk, which is insufficient 
by today’s standards. In most neighborhoods, sidewalks 
should be a minimum of 5 feet wide, and 6 feet in neighbor-
hoods near mixed-use districts or streets with multi-unit hous-
ing. The recently passed Residential Street Design Standard 
specifies a 5 foot minimum, which works for most places. 
In areas with smaller lots and multi-unit housing, sidewalks 

should be at least 6 feet wide. In a mixed-use context, side-
walks should be wider, no less than 14 feet from curb to 
edge of right-of-way assuming a paved tree lawn with tree 
wells. Shared space streets are a special exception to be 
handled on a case-by-case basis.

Today, sidewalks are missing in numerous places, which 
should be surveyed and remedied. Similarly, street inter-
sections which do not have accessible ramps to crossings 
should be remedied. These changes may cause trees to be 
removed, which should be replaced nearby to maintain the 
street tree canopy.

Bicyclist and micro-mobility comfort and safety is principally 
influenced by the speed of vehicles and availability of dedi-
cated facilities. In most streets, narrow lanes result in slow 
car movement, which provide for bike and micro-mobility 
needs. But more so than cars, frequent stopping is extremely 
inconvenient. Bicycle boulevards should be considered 
to solve this issue, arranging intersection control to prefer 
bike and micro-mobility through movement and diverting 
cars to avoid cut through movement. Strategically located 
bicycle boulevards can also be used to reduce cut-through 
traffic, such as that between Quarton, Maple, Lincoln, and 
14-Mile. Along streets with speeds above 25mph, however, 
dedicated facilities should be provided or other means of 
slowing traffic pursued.

The tree lawn is critical to street trees; sufficient root area 
results in greater canopy. Canopy health is very closely 
related with the health of residents, mental and physical, the 
ease of walking or biking along streets, and the success of 
children in school. In fact, programs exist across the coun-
try to re-establish urban tree canopies to improve the health 
outcomes of children. In neighborhoods, tree lawns should 
not be sacrificed for pavement width.

With these concerns in mind, the ideal 
roadway width will depend upon the 
right-of-way width and what the street 
should best accommodate. Lincoln is 
perhaps the most difficult decision point 
in Birmingham. It needs on-street parking 
but is also an important route for cyclists. 
Certainly Lincoln needs to sustain its tree 
canopy. And as a major vehicular connec-
tor, Lincoln must accommodate cars. With 
recent crosswalk improvements, the means 
of accommodating bicycles must be care-
fully considered. Today, Lincoln is too busy 
a street to feel safe for many bicyclists.

Standards were set for residential streets by 
the Multi-modal Transportation Board and 
City Commission due to recurring resident Figure 37. A pleasant, right-sized street in the Quarton district.

8B



Keep Streets Pedestrian-oriented
Ch 3. Retain Neighborhood Quality

The Birmingham Plan | Draft 08/22/22 57

requests for wider streets. The current policy sets a stan-
dard residential street at 26 feet from curb-to-curb where 
the right-of-way is 50 feet or greater and 20 feet with parking 
along one side where the right-of-way is less than 50 feet. 
The policy provides for modifications for a number of specific 
conditions that may legitimately require greater paving, such 
as school bus routes. Generally these standards align with 
best safety practices.

Current street roadway standards should be retained, and 
augmented to simplify the exception criteria, aligning it with 
future land use. Minor modification is also needed to accom-
modate wider sidewalks along district seams. The residential 
street standards provide a modification of roadway width 
from 26 feet to 28 feet where on-street parking is in more 
active use. Because on-street parking will be more actively 
used in neighborhoods with high intensity fabric, the stan-
dard here may default to 28 feet. Similarly, neighborhoods 
with low intensity fabric will have low on-street parking usage 
and should be less justified to allow for wider streets.

To further support pedestrian and bicycling safety, the stan-
dard residential street posted speed should be lowered to 
20 mph. Unfortunately current leglisation does not permit 
posting speeds below 25 mph. Across the world, including 
in other US states, “20 is Plenty” campaigns have reduced 
speeds on residential streets to 20mph or below. Legislative 
change is necessary to improve pedestrian and bicycle 
safety on neighborhood streets.

The main remaining issue with streets is parking beyond the 
roadway on unimproved streets as it encourages cut-through 
traffic and speeding. Once streets are improved this issue 
will be resolved.

MASTER PLAN ACTIONS
1. Update the Residential Street Standards, align-

ing the following streetscape elements with Future 
Land Use categories. Update the Multi-modal Plan 
accordingly. Additionally, Advocate for state legis-
lation permitting municipalities to reduce posted 
speed limits below 25 mph.
a. Sidewalk width;
b. Planter width and type;
c. Type and extent of on-street parking;
d. Frequency of curb cuts; and
e. Width of roadway.

2. Update the Multi-modal Plan, including:
a. Study bicycle accommodation alternatives 

along Lincoln.
b. Complete gaps in sidewalks, add accessible 

corner ramps where not already specified, and 
replace street trees which are displaced by the 
process.

STREETSCAPE BEST PRACTICES BY LAND-USE 
CATEGORY
1. Mixed-use Center: 8 foot sidewalks or wider, 

excluding a paved tree lawn area; 5-to-6 foot tree 
lawn principally paved with tree wells; on-street 
parking both sides.

2. High Intensity Fabric: 6 foot sidewalk; tree lawns 
6 feet or wider, appropriate for long tree wells or 
continuous planters; on-street parking both sides.

3. Medium and Low Intensity Fabric: 5 foot sidewalk; 
tree lawns 8 feet or wider; on-street parking on one 
or both sides.

4. High and Medium Intensity District Seam: 6-to-8 
foot sidewalk; tree lawns 6 feet or wider, appro-
priate for long tree wells; on-street parking both 
sides.

5. Low Intensity District Seam: 6 foot sidewalk, tree 
lawns 6 feet or wider; on-street parking both sides.

8B



Replace Unimproved Streets
Ch 3. Retain Neighborhood Quality

The Birmingham Plan | Draft 08/22/2258

Replace Unimproved Streets
Many neighborhood streets in Birmingham are in disrepair. 
Residents are confused about the process to improve streets, 
which is exacerbated by unique situations in two parts of 
the community.

As is readily apparent, many neighborhood streets are in 
very poor condition. The situation is historic, related to the 
standards in place as far back as each neighborhood was 
initially developed. It has been incumbent upon neighbors to 
choose to improve their streets, and pay into that improve-
ment based upon how much lot frontage they have along 
the street. To date, a significant number of residents have 
done just that, yet it leaves nearly 26 linear miles of streets 
unimproved. Most unimproved streets are easily recognizable 
in that they do not have curbs. Yet, to confuse the matter, 
about half of the unimproved streets have historic curbs. And 

lastly, there is a section of Birmingham where sewer service 
is located in the rear lot, not in the street, which requires 
special consideration when improving streets.

The City Commission convened an Ad-hoc Unimproved 
Streets Committee (AHUSC) to study this issue. In late 2020, 
the committee issued its recommendations. A high-level 
summary of those recommendations are to: 1) change the 
process of initiating street repair to be instigated by the 
City; 2) use the City’s general fund to pay for the non-utility 
improvements to streets and bonds to pay for the utility portion 
of improvements, reimbursed by residents through special 
assessment and utility rate fees; and 3) to prefer construc-
tion of concrete streets over asphalt for their longevity, with 
exceptions for low volume conditions.

With these well researched recommendations in place, 
adjustments to unimproved streets policy and the city budget 
are required, along with a strategy for prioritizing streets to 

Figure 38. Unimproved Streets, Citywide.

Unimproved Streets

Unimproved with Curbs

8B



Retain Street Tree Canopy
Ch 3. Retain Neighborhood Quality

The Birmingham Plan | Draft 08/22/22 59

improve. A consistent approach is recommended, ensur-
ing funds are regularly allocated to carry on improvements. 
From a priority standpoint, the current condition of unim-
proved streets should be surveyed to categorize the state 
of disrepair. The stormwater condition of streets is a partic-
ularly important element to consider as streets with storm-
water problems will deteriorate more quickly than others 
and work done to improve streets can also address some 
or all of the stormwater issues. To work through the list of 
repairs, consideration should be given to equitably distribute 
repairs throughout the city so that one Planning District is 
not prioritized over another. This can be done by ensuring 
that more than one Planning District receives repairs in any 
year. Some districts, like Quarton and Seaholm, are almost 
entirely unimproved and may receive a greater share of 
improvements than others as a result.

MASTER PLAN ACTIONS
1. Adopt policy recommendations specified by the 

Ad-hoc Unimproved Streets Committee (AHUSC), 
including the following:
a. Establish a yearly budget to remedy unim-

proved streets, considering the general fund 
plus bond strategy and repayment timelines 
recommended by the AHUSC.

b. Survey the current condition of unimproved 
streets, categorized by the current quality 
such that streets in the most extreme states 
of disrepair can be prioritized for improve-
ment. Stormwater issues should receive special 
priority.

c. Remedy unimproved streets according to the 
repair priority and budget, ensuring improve-
ments occur in multiple Planning Districts each 
year.

Retain Street Tree Canopy
Birmingham’s downtown and neighborhoods benefit from a 
rich tree canopy, increasing house values, public health, and 
sustainability. This street tree canopy should be protected, 
well maintained, and prepared for a changing climate. At 
present, the City works to diversify tree species, which is 
important in avoiding disease. Considerations should also 
be made to select species that will better fit the area’s future 
climate. Much of the community is well stocked with trees 
but some streets, like Brown and 14 Mile, have gaps in the 
street tree canopy, sometimes spanning an entire block.

Most substantially, the City’s commercial districts have severe 
street tree gaps, including entire streets without trees. Maple 
and Woodward have more consistent trees than elsewhere, 
with limited gaps such as Willits. However, streets like Merrill 
appear to have insufficient root area, resulting in small and 
ineffective trees. New plantings with the recent Woodward 
and future Maple streetscape projects have extended the 
root area to support a healthier tree stock, which is neces-
sary elsewhere. The Triangle and Rail Districts have few 
street trees at all and are in need of streetscape redesign. 
Plantings are especially needed in these areas to fight the 
urban heat island by shading sidewalks and roadways, and 
to provide relief for pedestrians.

MASTER PLAN ACTIONS 
1. Create a Tree Canopy Improvement Plan, including:

a. Establish comprehensive policies for trees in 
streets and open spaces.
i. Select large canopy species for streets and 

parks, native to the region and resilient for 
its’ future climate, retaining the character of 
each neighborhood’s distinctive canopy.

ii. Minimize overly-used or exotic species, 
such as Crab Apple, Honey Locust and 
Pear Trees.

b. Create 5-, 10-, and 15- year goals to expand 
tree canopy cover.

c. Study the condition of neighborhood tree cano-
pies in parks and private spaces and potential 
improvements.

d. Require that trees removed due to construction 
be replaced, as well as mandatory contribu-
tions to fund new off-site trees.

e. Prevent existing, healthy trees from being 
removed due to new construction.

f. Survey areas with constrained root area and 
establish a plan to add additional soil volume.

8B



Maple

Oak

Eton

Adam
s

Bates

Bird

Lincoln

Pierce

Cole

Fa
irf

ax

Pi
lg

rim

Torry

Villa

Su
ffi

el
d

H
enrietta

Pu
rit

an

Redding

Southfield

Fairway

Ann

Raynale

Park

Brown

Old W
oodward

G
rant

Smith

Derby

Holland

Hazel

Lake P
ark

La
ke

si
de

C
he

st
er

fie
ld

Pleasant

Elm

Willits

Quarton

C
hester

M
elton

Pembroke

Webster

Abbey

Midvale

Stanley

Larchlea

Davis

Merrill

Ar
lin

gt
on

Purdy

Harmon

G
lenhurst

Shipm
an

O
xford

Henley

Yosemite

M
aryland

Sheffie
ld

Frank

Wimbleton

Taunton

Bowers

Ar
gy

le

Haynes

Hanna

W
estw

ood Woodward

Yorkshire

Humphrey

Edgew
ood

W
estchester

C
ranbrook

Martin

Madison

C
oolidge

Windemere

W
ashington

W
atkins

C
roft

Manchester

Birm
ingham

Chapin

La
th

am

Rivenoak

Oakland

Aspen

W
illow

Buckingham

C
edar

George

Knox

Baldw
in

Forest

Avon

Bradford

Poppleton

Emmons

Linden

R
ugbyDorchester

G
reenw

ood

W
ar

w
ic

k

Edenborough

Be
rw

yn

Ruffner

C
olum

bia

Vinewood

Wallace

Penistone

W
orth

Townsend

Pine

Mohegan

Catalpa

C
um

m
ings

Banbury

Kennesaw

Shirley

G
raefield Saint Andrew

s

Ridgedale

Ferndale

H
aw

thorne

Northlawn

M
ansfield

Chestnut

Bennaville

Wakefield

Shepardbush

Lakeview

W
el

le
sl

ey

Br
oo

kw
oo

d

Hi
lls

id
e

Norfolk

W
oodlea

Br
yn

 M
aw

r

Tottenham

W
oodland

Westboro

Lewis

Euclid

C
am

bridge

G
ol

fv
ie

w

C
lark

Hamilton

Ki
m

be
rle

y

Rav
ine

Ly
on

hu
rs

t

Floyd

Fairview

Daines

Landon

Putney

Randall

Br
oo

ks
id

e

Devon

Southlawn

Colonial

O
akdale

Arden

Midl
an

d

14 Mile

Tooting

Gordon

G
reenlaw

n

Winthrop

Canterbury

Graten

C
he

rr
y

Worthington

H
an

le
yPo

lo

Kenwood

Stra
thmore

Peabody

Dun
sta

ble

Riverside

D
onm

ar

M
ill

ra
ce

Brandon

M
aple H

ill

M
erritt

Bloomfield

Lawndale

C
om

m
er

ce

O
ld S

alem

Norwich

Big Beaver

Valley V
iew

Fo
re

st
 H

ill
s

W
at

er
fa

ll

Haynes

Eton

Hazel

NorthlawnG
olfview

Bennaville

Buckingham

Bowers

Southlawn

Emmons

Northlawn

Shirley Fl
oy

d

G
ra

ef
ie

ld

Pine

Yorkshire
Ba

ld
w

in

Stanley

Lakeside
Humphrey

Chapin

Manchester

Bowers

W
orth

Poppleton

Frank

Southlawn

Villa

C
ra

nb
ro

ok

Dorchester

Ruffner

Oakland

G
le

nh
ur

st

O
akdale

2013 MMP Sidewalk Areas
Areas with Sidewalks

Areas with Sidewalk Gaps

Areas without Sidewalks

2021 No Sidewalk

Priority Streets

Neighborhood Connector Route

2021 Sidewalk Project Grant

Future Sidewalk Construction Recomendation Priorities

8B



Maple

Oak

Eton

Adam
s

Bates

Bird

Lincoln

Pierce

Cole

Fa
irf

ax

Pi
lg

rim

Torry

Villa

Su
ffi

el
d

H
enrietta

Pu
rit

an

Redding

Southfield

Fairway

Ann

Raynale

Park

Brown

Old W
oodward

G
rant

Smith

Derby

Holland

Hazel

Lake P
ark

La
ke

si
de

C
he

st
er

fie
ld

Pleasant

Elm

Willits

Quarton

C
hester

M
elton

Pembroke

Webster

Abbey

Midvale

Stanley

Larchlea

Davis

Merrill

Ar
lin

gt
on

Purdy

Harmon

G
lenhurst

Shipm
an

O
xford

Henley

Yosemite

M
aryland

Sheffie
ld

Frank

Wimbleton

Taunton

Bowers

Ar
gy

le

Haynes

Hanna

W
estw

ood Woodward

Yorkshire

Humphrey

Edgew
ood

W
estchester

C
ranbrook

Martin

Madison

C
oolidge

Windemere

W
ashington

W
atkins

C
roft

Manchester

Birm
ingham

Chapin

La
th

am

Rivenoak

Oakland

Aspen

W
illow

Buckingham

C
edar

George

Knox

Baldw
in

Forest

Avon

Bradford

Poppleton

Emmons

Linden

R
ugbyDorchester

G
reenw

ood

W
ar

w
ic

k

Edenborough

Be
rw

yn

Ruffner

C
olum

bia

Vinewood

Wallace

Penistone

W
orth

Townsend

Pine

Mohegan

Catalpa

C
um

m
ings

Banbury

Kennesaw

Shirley

G
raefield Saint Andrew

s

Ridgedale

Ferndale

H
aw

thorne

Northlawn

M
ansfield

Chestnut

Bennaville

Wakefield

Shepardbush

Lakeview

W
el

le
sl

ey

Br
oo

kw
oo

d

Hi
lls

id
e

Norfolk

W
oodlea

Br
yn

 M
aw

r

Tottenham

W
oodland

Westboro

Lewis

Euclid

C
am

bridge

G
ol

fv
ie

w

C
lark

Hamilton

Ki
m

be
rle

y

Rav
ine

Ly
on

hu
rs

t

Floyd

Fairview

Daines

Landon

Putney

Randall

Br
oo

ks
id

e

Devon

Southlawn

Colonial

O
akdale

Arden

Midl
an

d

14 Mile

Tooting

Gordon

G
reenlaw

n

Winthrop

Canterbury

Graten

C
he

rr
y

Worthington

H
an

le
yPo

lo

Kenwood

Stra
thmore

Peabody

Dun
sta

ble

Riverside

D
onm

ar

M
ill

ra
ce

Brandon

M
aple H

ill

M
erritt

Bloomfield

Lawndale

C
om

m
er

ce

O
ld S

alem

Norwich

Big Beaver

Valley V
iew

Fo
re

st
 H

ill
s

Brookdale

W
at

er
fa

ll

Haynes

Eton

Hazel

NorthlawnG
olfview

Bennaville

Buckingham

Bowers

Southlawn

Emmons

Northlawn

Shirley Fl
oy

d

G
ra

ef
ie

ld

Pine

Yorkshire
Ba

ld
w

in

Stanley

Lakeside
Humphrey

Chapin

Manchester

Bowers

W
orth

Poppleton

Frank

Southlawn

Villa

C
ra

nb
ro

ok

Dorchester

Ruffner

Oakland

G
le

nh
ur

st

O
akdale

Prioritized Sidewalk Installation
1: Major Roads, Improved Streets, & Neighborhood Connector Route

2: Neighborhoods without Sidewalks

3: Neighborhoods with Sidewalk Gaps 

4: Neighborhoods & Commercial Areas with Majority Sidewalks

Unimproved Streets

2021 Sidewalk Project Grant

2013 MMTP Sidewalk Priority Areas 
Areas with Sidewalk Gaps

Areas without Sidewalks

Areas with Majority Sidewalks

Future Sidewalk Construction Recomendations

8B



8B



12/1/23, 10:21 AM Fwd: 10/3/23 Not MI Species Webinar Recording Available - bcowan@bhamgov.org - City of Birmingham MI Mail

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?tab=rm&ogbl#search/not+mi+species/FMfcgzGwHVPSmbqWTWBxwcBvHFmwKdGX 1/1

 
Thank you for your interest in the Not MI Species Webinar Series Webinar “Where the Sidewalk Ends: Choosing
Resilient Trees for Tomorrow’s Urban Environments” that we held on Tuesday.
                                                                                                                         
You can now access a recording of the webinar at https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHr
UfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5.
 
If you attended the webinar or viewed the recording, and haven’t done so already, please take a moment to complete a short
 evaluation for the webinar at Where the Sidewalk Ends: Choosing Resilient Trees for Tomorrow’s Urban Environments-
10/03/23 Survey (surveymonkey.com).
 
RESOURCES

Michigan’s Invasive Species Webpage: www.michigan.gov/invasives
Not Mi Species Webinar Information: www.michigan.gov/egle/outreach/not-mi-species-webinar-series

DNR Tree Species Lists (Also added as an excel attachment): Recommended trees for community planting
(michigan.gov)
Michigan DNR Urban and Community Forestry Webpage (Grant Programs and other information): Urban and
community forestry (michigan.gov)
Recent canopy inventories of Detroit and Grand Rapids and more: Common Tree Species, Planting Initiatives, and
Diversity: An Analysis of Over 5 Million Urban Trees in 63 US Cities (treevitalize.com)

 

Upcoming Webinar
 
Tuesday, November 7, 9:00 a.m. to 10:00 a.m.

Must You Find Another Shrubbery? Understanding the Impacts of Invasive Box Tree
Moth in Michigan

Box tree moth (Cydalima perspectalis) was first detected in Michigan in fall 2022. This

invasive pest, native to East Asia, poses a major threat to the boxwood plant, an

ornamental shrub that is a valuable part of the U.S. (and Michigan) nursery and

horticultural industry. Join Susie Iott, MDARD invasive species program specialist, to learn

more about identification, impacts and the state’s response to limit the spread of this

invasive pest.
 
Thanks!
 
Ryan Blazic
Water Resources Liaison
Environmental Support Division
Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE)
517-732-1187 | 800-662-9278
Follow Us | Michigan.gov/EGLE

8B

https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5
https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5
https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5
https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5
https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5
https://us06web.zoom.us/rec/share/rnTXF5f1Wla4jpDN12mhhuIxWinYHrUfQS61mQdgnlGe_7QvVqOoOzjHmvrU3_k-.bM_s-GGS9jxSpIX5
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/WRD-NotMiSpecies-WhereTheSidewalkEnds-100323
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/WRD-NotMiSpecies-WhereTheSidewalkEnds-100323
http://www.michigan.gov/invasives
http://www.michigan.gov/egle/outreach/not-mi-species-webinar-series
http://www.michigan.gov/egle/outreach/not-mi-species-webinar-series
http://www.michigan.gov/egle/outreach/not-mi-species-webinar-series
https://www.michigan.gov/dnr/managing-resources/forestry/urban/recommended-trees
https://www.michigan.gov/dnr/managing-resources/forestry/urban/recommended-trees
https://www.michigan.gov/dnr/managing-resources/forestry/urban
https://www.michigan.gov/dnr/managing-resources/forestry/urban
https://treevitalize.com/most-common-trees-in-us-cities/#section1.1
https://treevitalize.com/most-common-trees-in-us-cities/#section1.1
https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_mdF0Gfu1TAumPhrPxmZd_w
https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_mdF0Gfu1TAumPhrPxmZd_w
https://www.michigan.gov/egle/0,9429,7-135-3306-388510--,00.html
http://www.michigan.gov/EGLE


 

8B



 

 

1

1

1

2

3

7

11

16

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18

buckthorn, common

elm, Siberian

mulberry, white

maple, red

catalpa, northern

maple, silver

maple, Norway

pear, Callery'cleveland select'

Prohibited Species (42)

8B



 

 

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

2

2

3

3

4

5

6

18

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20

linden, littleleaf

hickory, shagbark

elm, Chinese

yellowwood

Elm, hybrid 'Frontier'

oak, swamp white

lilac, Japanese tree

oak, English

ginkgo

yew, spp.

elm, American

sweetgum, American

hornbeam, European

walnut, black

arborvitae spp.

elm, hybrid

redbud, eastern

crabapple, flowering

Permitted Species Count (53)

8B



 

 

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

2

2

2

2

3

3

3

3

5

6

7

7

7

11

16

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18

pine, Scotch

elm, hybrid

mulberry, white

linden, littleleaf

hickory, shagbark

elm, Chinese

yellowwood

Elm, hybrid 'Frontier'

oak, English

redbud, eastern

buckthorn, common

elm, Siberian

yew, spp.

elm, American

hemlock, eastern

maple, Freeman

maple, hedge

maple, red

spruce, Colorado

walnut, black

maple, sugar

catalpa, northern

crabapple, flowering

spruce, Norway

horsechestnut, red

maple, silver

horsechestnut

maple, Norway

pear, Callery'cleveland select'

Prohibited Species or Poor to Fair Condition (93)

8B



 

 

1

1

1

3

3

4

5

13

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

lilac, Japanese tree

ginkgo

sweetgum, American

hornbeam, European

elm, hybrid

arborvitae spp.

redbud, eastern

crabapple, flowering

Good Condition, Transplantable, <= 5 DBH

8B



APPENDIX B 

PROHIBITED SPECIES LIST 
 

 

Common Name Scientific Name 

Ash Fraxinus spp. 

Boxelder Acer negundo 

Catalpa Catalpa spp. 

Common Buckthorn Rhamnus cathartica 

Common Privet Ligustrum vulgare 

Cottonwood Populus deltoides 

Dame’s Rocket Hesperis matronalis 

Elm (except disease-resistant varieties) Ulmus spp. 

English Ivy Hedera helix 

Euonymus Euonymus spp. 

Garlic Mustard Alliaria petiolata 

Honeysuckle Lonicera spp. 

Horse Chestnut (nut bearing) Aesculus hippocastanum 

Japanese Barberry Berberis thunbergii 

Kentucky Bluegrass Poa pratensis 

Mulberry Trees Morus spp. 

Multiflora Rose Rosa multiflora 

Norway Maple Acer platanoides 

Orchard Grass Dactylis glomerata 

Oriental Bittersweet Celastrus orbiculatus 

Periwinkle Vinca spp. 

Poison Ivy Toxicodendron radicans 

Poplar Populus spp. 

Purple Loosestrife Lythrum salicaria 

Quack Grass Elymus repens 

Ribes (Gooseberry) Ribes spp. 

Siberian Elm Ulmus pumila 

Soft Maple (Red, Silver) Acer rubrum, Acer saccharinum, Acer freemanii 

Succulent fruit bearing trees   

Tree of Heaven Ailanthus altissima 

White Clover Trifolium repens 

Willow Salix spp. 

Winged Wahoo Euonymus alatus 

 

8B



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

baldcypress Taxodium distichum Pyramidal Native to adjacent states Drought and flood tolerant, tolerant of salt spray, prefers acidic soil, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

beech, American Fagus grandifolia Round Native May be difficult to find in nurseries, prefers acidic soil Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

beech, European Fagus sylvatica Pyramidal, Round Non-native Drought and flood intolerant, salt intolerant Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

birch, river Betula nigra Pyramidal, Round Native
Flood tolerant, intolerant of alkaline soil, ALB host, recommended cultivars 'Dura-Heat' 
and 'Heritage'

Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

corktree, Amur Phellodendron amurense Open, Round Non-native
Plant male cultivars only (male trees are fruitless, female trees have invasive 
potential), moderately tolerant of drought and salt, flood intolerant

Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

cucumbertree Magnolia acuminata Oval, Pyramidal Native to Ohio and Indiana Showy flowers, salt intolerant, drought and flood intolerant, no serious pests Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

elm, American Ulmus americana Vase Native
Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, highly tolerant of urban conditions, ALB 
host, plant Dutch elm disease resistant cultivars, recommended cultivars: Jefferson, 
New Harmony, Princeton, Valley Forge

Currently few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

elm, Chinese Ulmus parvifolia Round Non-native Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, ALB host Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

elms, hybrid Ulmus x
Vase, Arching, Oval, 
Upright

Non-native, various hybrids between native 
American elms and European and Asian elm 
species

Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, highly tolerant of urban conditions, ALB 
host, resistant to Dutch elm disease, recommended varieties: Accolade, Frontier, 
Homestead, Patriot, Pioneer, Regal

Currently few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

ginkgo Ginkgo biloba Broad, Pyramidal, Upright Non-native
Drought tolerant, no serious pests, plant male trees only, columnar cultivars are 
available for sites with restricted aboveground space

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hackberry Celtis occidentalis Oval, Round, Vase Native ALB host, drought and flood tolerant Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hazel, Turkish Corylus colurna Oval, Pyramidal Non-native Drought tolerant, salt intolerant, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

APPENDIX A
RECOMMENDED TREE SPECIES

Deciduous Trees

Large Deciduous Trees: Greater than 45 Feet in Height at Maturity

8B



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

hickory, bitternut Carya cordiformis Oval, Round, Upright Native May be difficult to find in nurseries, edible fruit Currently very few
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

hickory, shagbark Carya ovata Irregular, Oval Native May be difficult to find in nurseries, drought tolerant, edible fruit, attractive bark Currently very few
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

hickory, shellbark Carya laciniosa Oval Native
May be difficult to find in nurseries, prefers moist soil, intolerant of alkaline soil, edible 
fruit

Currently very few
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

honeylocust, thornless 
Gleditsia triacanthos f. 
inermis

Broad, Round Native Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, no serious pests
Use sparingly, species 
currently overrepresented

Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

Japanese pagoda tree Styphnolobium japonicum Round Non-native
Drought tolerant, salt tolerant, messy fruit, potentially invasive, avoid planting near 
natural areas

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree

katsura tree Cercidiphyllum japonicum Oval, Pyramidal, Round Non-native ALB host, flood tolerant, salt tolerant, drought intolerant, plant in protected sites Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

Kentucky coffeetree Gymnocladus dioicus Irregular, Oval Native
Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, no serious pests, leaves and seeds are 
poisonous when ingested, male cultivars are fruitless

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

larch, eastern Larix laricina Pyramidal Native
May be difficult to find in nurseries, flood tolerant, prefers wet sites, drops needles in 
winter

Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

larch, European Larix decidua Irregular, Pyramidal Non-native Drought and flood intolerant, drops needles in winter Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

linden, American Tilia americana Oval, Pyramidal, Round Native Salt intolerant, no serious pests Currently few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

linden, littleleaf Tilia cordata Oval, Pyramidal, Upright Non-native Salt intolerant, drought tolerant, no serious pests Currently few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

linden, silver Tilia tomentosa Pyramidal Non-native Salt tolerant, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

London planetree Platanus × acerifolia Pyramidal, Rounded Non-native Drought and flood tolerant, ALB host, often early leaf drop due to anthracnose Currently few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

maple, black
Acer saccharum subsp. 
nigrum

Oval, Round, Upright Native Salt intolerant, prefers acidic soil, salt intolerant, flood intolerant
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

Large Deciduous Trees: Greater than 45 Feet in Height at Maturity (continued)

8B



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

maple, Freeman's Acer freemanii
Columnar, Oval, 
Pyramidal, Upright

Native ALB host, moderately tolerant of salt spray, flood tolerant
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

maple, red Acer rubrum
Irregular, Oval, Round, 
Cultivars come in various 
forms

Native ALB host, salt intolerant, flood tolerant
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

maple, sugar Acer saccharum Oval, Round, Upright Native ALB host, salt intolerant, fall color
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

oak, bur Quercus macrocarpa Upright, Oval, Spreading Native
Drought and flood tolerant, moderately salt tolerant, no serious pests, some 
resistance to oak wilt

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

oak, English Quercus robur Oval, Rounded Non-native
Drought tolerant, moderately tolerant of salt spray, columnar cultivars are available 
for sites with restricted aboveground space, some resistance to oak wilt

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

oak, overcup Quercus lyrata Oval, Rounded Native to Illinois and Indiana Drought and flood tolerant, some resistance to oak wilt Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

oak, swamp white Quercus bicolor Upright, Oval, Rounded Native
Drought and flood tolerant, moderately salt tolerant, no serious pests, some 
resistance to oak wilt

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

oak, white Quercus alba Broad, Irregular, Round Native
Fall color, intolerant of alkaline soil, drought and flood intolerant, some resistance to 
oak wilt

Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

redwood, dawn
Metasequoia 
glyptostroboides

Upright, Pyramidal Non-native Flood tolerant, intolerant of alkaline soil, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

sweet-gum, American Liquidambar styraciflua Pyramidal, Oval Native to Ohio and Illinois
Recommended cold hardy cultivar 'Moraine', fall color, messy gumball fruit, no serious 
pests, intolerant of alkaline soil, columnar cultivar 'Slender 'Silhouette' for sites with 
restricted aboveground space

Currently few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

tuliptree Liriodendron tulipifera Pyramidal, Oval Native Showy flowers, no serious pests, salt intolerant, weak wood Currently few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

tupelo, black Nyssa sylvatica Pyramidal, Oval Native Fall color, intolerant of alkaline soil, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

walnut, black Juglans nigra Round Native
May be difficult to find in nurseries, messy fruit, can stunt growth of other trees, plant 
near trees tolerant of black walnut toxicity

Currently very few
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

zelkova, Japanese Zelkova serrata Vase Non-native
Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, no serious pests, cultivars come in various 
sizes and forms, columnar cultivar 'Musashino' for sites with restricted aboveground 
space

Currently few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

Large Deciduous Trees: Greater than 45 Feet in Height at Maturity (continued)

8B



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

buckeye, Ohio Aesculus glabra Round Native
Moderately drought and flood tolerant, intolerant of soil salt, prefers acidic soil, ALB 
host

Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

cherry, amur choke Prunus maackii Pyramidal, Rounded Non-native Drought tolerant, heat intolerant, plant in protected sites Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

cherry, Sargent Prunus sargentii Vase Non-native
Salt tolerant, showy flowers, susceptible to black knot, columnar cultivar 'Columnaris' 
for sites with restricted aboveground space

Currently very few or none
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

golden rain tree Koelreuteria paniculata Rounded Non-native
Drought and flood tolerant, salt tolerant, no serious pests, columnar cultivars 
'Fastigiata' and 'Gold Candle' for sites with restricted aboveground space

Currently very few or none
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hardy rubbertree Eucommia ulmoides Broad, Round Non-native Drought and flood tolerant, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hophornbeam, eastern Ostrya virginiana Oval, Rounded Native Drought tolerant, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hornbeam, European Carpinus betulus Oval, Upright Non-native
Drought and flood tolerant, salt intolerant, columnar cultivar 'Fastigiata' for sites with 
restricted aboveground space

Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

horse-chestnut, red Aesculus × carnea Upright, Oval Non-native Drought and flood intolerant, tolerant of salt spray, prefers acidic soil, ALB host Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

maackia, Amur Maackia amurensis Round, Vase Non-native Drought tolerant, showy flowers, attractive exfoliating bark, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

maple, three-flowered Acer triflorum Oval, Upright Non-native Flood intolerant, intolerant of alkaline soil
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

mountain silverbell Halesia tetraptera Broad, Rounded Native Prefers acidic soil, no serious pests Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

parrotia, Persian Parrotia persica Rounded, Vase Non-native Drought tolerant, salt intolerant, flood intolerant Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

smoketree, American Cotinus obovatus
Irregular, Oval, Upright, 
Shrub

Native to southern United States Showy flowers, fall color Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

yellowwood, American Cladrastis kentukea Rounded, Vase Native to adjacent states Showy flowers, fall color, no serious pests Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

Medium Deciduous Trees: 31 to 45 Feet in Height at Maturity

8B



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

cherry, common choke Prunus virginiana
Irregular, Oval, Round, 
Thicket-forming

Native Showy flowers, drought tolerant, susceptible to many pests and diseases Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

cherry, Japanese flowering Prunus serrulata Round, Vase Non-native
Showy flowers, salt tolerant, drought and flood intolerant, susceptible to many pests 
and diseases, columnar cultivar 'Amanogawa' for sites with restricted aboveground 
space

Currently very few or none
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

crabapple, flowering Malus spp. Rounded Native to region
Drought tolerant, flood intolerant, moderately salt tolerant,  prefers acidic soil, choose 
disease resistant cultivars, columnar cultivars are available for sites with restricted 
aboveground space

Currently few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

dogwood, cornelian cherry Cornus mas
Multi-stemmed, Oval, 
Round

Non-native Showy flowers, showy fruit, fall color Currently very few or none
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

dogwood, flowering Cornus florida Round Native
Showy flowers, drought and flood intolerant, salt intolerant, plant in protected sites 
with part shade, requires acidic soil, no serious pests

Currently very few
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

dogwood, Kousa Cornus kousa Round Non-native
Showy flowers, flood intolerant, plant in protected sites with part shade, prefers acidic 
soil, no serious pests

Currently very few
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

fringetree, Chinese Chionanthus retusus Round, Vase Non-native Showy flowers, drought and flood intolerant, salt intolerant Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

fringetree, white Chionanthus virginicus Oval, Rounded Native to Ohio
Showy flowers, drought and flood intolerant, intolerant of salt spray, may have 
potential to become emerald ash borer host

Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hawthorn species Crataegus spp. Round Native
Showy fruit and flowers, drought tolerant, salt intolerant, many suitable species and 
varieties, choose rust resistant varieties or plant away from Juniperus  spp.

Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

hornbeam, American Carpinus caroliniana Round Native Salt intolerant, flood tolerant, no serious pests Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

lilac, Japanese tree Syringa reticulata Oval, Rounded Non-native Showy flowers, moderately drought tolerant, salt tolerant, no serious pests Currently very few
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

lilac, Pekin Syringa pekinesis
Multi-stemmed, Oval, 
Round, Upright

Non-native Attractive peeling bark, showy flowers, moderately salt tolerant Currently very few or none
Commercial street tree, Residential 
street tree, Parks, Yard tree

magnolia, saucer Magnolia x soulangeana Pyramidal, Round Non-native
Showy flowers, drought and flood intolerant, salt intolerant, plant in protected sites 
with full sun or part shade, no serious pests

Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

magnolia, star Magnolia stellata Multi-stemmed, Round Non-native
Showy flowers, drought and flood intolerant, moderately salt tolerant, plant in 
protected sites with full sun or part shade, no serious pests

Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

Small Deciduous Trees: 15 to 30 Feet in Height at Maturity

8B



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

maple, Japanese Acer palmatum
Broad, Multi-stemmed, 
Round, Weeping, Shrub-
like

Non-native Drought intolerant, plant in protected sites with part shade, rarely ALB host
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Parks, Yard tree

maple, paperbark Acer griseum Oval, Round, Upright Non-native Flood tolerant, ALB host
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

maple, Shantung Acer truncatum Oval, Round, Upright Non-native Drought tolerant, prefers acidic soil, fall color, ALB host
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

maple, trident Acer buergerianum Oval, Rounded Non-native Drought tolerant, salt tolerant, ALB host
Use sparingly, genus 
currently overrepresented

Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

redbud, eastern Cercis canadensis Rounded, Irregular, Vase Native
Showy flowers, sensitive species, drought and flood intolerant, salt intolerant, plant in 
protected sites with part shade, no serious pests

Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

serviceberry, Allegheny Amelanchier laevis
Irregular, Multi-stemmed, 
Narrow, Round

Native
Flood tolerant, salt intolerant, showy flowers, edible fruit, no serious pests, columnar 
cultivar 'Cumulus' for sites with restricted aboveground space

Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

serviceberry, downy Amelanchier arborea Upright Native Drought and flood tolerant, prefers acidic soil, edible fruit, showy flowers Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

serviceberry, juneberry Amelanchier x grandiflora
Multi-stemmed, Round, 
Upright

Native, hybrid of native Amelanchier  spp. Flood intolerant, edible fruit, showy flowers Currently very few Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

snowbell, Japanese Styrax japonicus Rounded Non-native Drought tolerant, prefers acidic soil, no serious pests Currently very few or none Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

witch-hazel, common Hamamelis virginiana
Shrub, Irregular, Round, 
Upright

Native Drought intolerant, salt tolerant, no serious pests Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

Small Deciduous Trees: 15 to 30 Feet in Height at Maturity (continued)

8B



Common Name Scientific Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

cedar, Atlantic white Chamaecyparis thyoides Columnar, Narrow Native to eastern United States Drought intolerant, prefers acidic soil, no serious pests Currently very few or none
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

falsecypress, Nootka 
Chamaecyparis 
nootkatensis

Columnar, Pyramidal, 
Upright

Native to western United States Cold hardy, no serious pests Currently very few or none
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks, Yard tree

fir, balsam Abies balsamea Mounded, Pyramidal Native Cold hardy, salt intolerant Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

fir, Douglas Pseudotsuga menziesii Pyramidal Native to western United States Moderately salt tolerant, drought and flood intolerant Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

fir, fraser Abies fraseri Pyramidal Native to southeastern United States May be difficult to find in nurseries, prefers acidic soil, no serious pests Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

fir, white Abies concolor Pyramidal Native to western United States Cold hardy, drought tolerant, salt intolerant, no serious pests Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

hemlock, eastern Tsuga canadensis Pyramidal Native Cold tolerant, salt intolerant, drought and flood intolerant, heat intolerant Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

holly, American Ilex opaca Pyramidal Native to Indiana and Ohia Salt tolerant, prefers acidic soil, marginally hardy Currently very few or none
Residential street tree (use sparingly), 
Parks (use sparingly), Yard tree (use 
sparingly)

pine, eastern white Pinus strobus Broad, Irregular, Pyramidal Native Cold tolerant, salt intolerant, drought intolerant Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

spruce, Norway Picea abies Pyramidal Non-native
Drought and flood intolerant, moderately salt tolerant, susceptible to several diseases 
and pests

Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

spruce, Oriental Picea orientalis Pyramidal Non-native Salt intolerant Currently very few or none Parks, Yard tree

spruce, Serbian Picea omorika Narrow, Pyramidal Non-native
Flood intolerant, moderately drought tolerant, salt intolerant, shelter from strong 
winds

Currently very few or none Parks, Yard tree

spruce, white Picea glauca Pyramidal Native Drought and flood intolerant,  salt intolerant Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

Large Evergreen Trees: Greater than 45 Feet in Height at Maturity

Evergreen Trees

8B



Scientific Name Common Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

cedar, eastern red Juniperus virginiana
Narrow, Pyramidal, 
Upright

Native Salt tolerant, drought tolerant Currently very few
Commercial street tree (use sparingly), 
Residential street tree, Parks, Yard tree

pine, lacebark Pinus bungeana Broad, Pyramidal Non-native Flood intolerant, salt intolerant Currently very few or none Parks, Yard tree

pine, limber Pinus flexilis Upright, Pyramidal Native to western United States Drought tolerant, no serious pests Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

pine, Swiss stone Pinus cembra
Columnar, Narrow, 
Pyramidal, Upright

Non-native Tolerant of salt spray, drought tolerant, cold tolerant Currently very few or none Parks, Yard tree

arborvitae Thuja occidentalis Narrow, Pyramidal, Round Native Moderately salt tolerant, medium to large tree Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

Scientific Name Common Name Growth shape Native to Michigan Additional Information
Species Abundance in 

Birmingham
Recommended Use

pine, mugo Pinus mugo Mounded, Shrub-like Non-native Tolerant of alkaline soil, flood intolerant Currently very few or none Parks, Yard tree

yew, Japanese Taxus cuspidata
Broad, Irregular, 
Pyramidal, Upright

Non-native Flood intolerant Currently very few Parks, Yard tree

juniper, Chinese Juniperus chinensis
Creeping, Narrow, Oval, 
Pyramidal, Round, Upright

Non-native
Rust host, plant in full sun, moderately salt tolerant, drought tolerant, sizes vary by 
cultivar

Currently very few or none Parks, Yard tree

This recommended species list was compiled through the use of the references Dirr's Hardy Trees and Shrubs (Dirr, 2003), Manual of Woody Landscape Plants (5th Edtion) (Dirr, 1998), The Morton Arboretum's Tree Selector (mortonarb.org), Missouri Botanical 
Garden Plant Finder (missouribotanicalgarden.org), and the USDA Forest Service species fact sheets and website.

Medium Evergreen Trees: 31 to 45 Feet in Height at Maturity

Small Evergreen Trees: 15 to 30 Feet in Height at Maturity

8B



Maple

Arlington

Aspen

Lincoln

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

W
at

er
fa

l l

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

444

400

1589

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880

860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Tree Condition (136)
Good (47)

Fair (66)

Poor (22)

Critical (1)

Special Treatment Permits (12)

Landscaping & No Permit (26)

Existing Tree Conditions & R.O.W. Landscaping Conflicts

8B



Maple

Arlington

Aspen

Lincoln

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

W
at

er
fa

l l

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

444

400

1589

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880

860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Species Use Category
Permitted (53)

not recommended (34)

overpopulated (7)

Prohibited (42)

Tree Species Use Category 

8B



Maple

Arlington

Aspen

Lincoln

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

W
at

er
fa

ll

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

444

400

1589

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880
860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Poor, Fair, Critical or Prohibited (93)

Poor, Fair, Critical Condition or Prohibited Species

8B



Maple

Arlington

Aspen

Lincoln

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

W
at

er
fa

ll

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

444

400

1589

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880
860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Transplantable (Potential)
Good, Permitted, & DBH <=5 inches (31)

Good Condition, Permitted, and DBH <= 5 Inches

8B



Maple

Arlington

Aspen

Lincoln

Linden

Shirley

Hawthorne

Gordon

Brandon

W
at

er
fa

ll

Shirley

W
at

er
fa

ll

444

400

1589

975
970

316

432

280

414

445

1370

487

500

463

503

708

550

1000

663

309

421

945

1420

585

600

252

1057

288

226

737

645

222

843

218

381

881

700

361

619

117

779

735

503

175

350

776

730

770

243

811

640

300

1331

992

822

789

377

269

855

914

800

404

968

880
860

898

924

100

905

436

955

252

345

680

114

345

648

188

550577

230

136

610

582

144

200

562

176

508

484

460

294

312

380

344

Species Use Category
Permitted (3)

Not Recommended (5)

Prohibited (2)

Good Condition, Permitted, and DBH >= 10 Inches

8B



Birmingham Police Department
SPEED DATA ANALYSIS

8B



Birmingham Police Department
SPEED DATA ANALYSIS

8B



Birmingham Police Department
Location 1: Shirley
Location 2:  Between
Lincoln & Brandon
Start Date:  11-14-23 0.000000
End Date:  11-27-23 Averaged Daily Totals 0.000000

Combined
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

Sund
ay

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mon
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tues
day

13 18 23 25 39 79 133 155 201 179 149 72 37 14 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,145

Wed
nesda

y

14 12 20 34 48 82 132 175 249 278 242 122 62 33 14 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,522

Thur
sday

22 18 32 32 58 118 156 223 268 235 186 132 48 18 7 8 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,563

Frida
y

4 7 8 12 8 12 25 47 46 54 38 20 8 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 291

Satur
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 53 55 83 103 153 291 446 600 764 746 615 346 155 65 30 13 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 04,521

South, 1
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

Sund
ay

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mon
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tues
day

7 9 11 15 19 37 60 67 94 76 72 37 19 4 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 535

Wed
nesda

y

11 4 15 16 27 36 70 81 121 133 129 61 32 21 5 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 763

Thur
sday

17 11 19 15 28 54 69 100 109 117 97 64 24 11 4 6 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 747

Frida
y

4 4 6 5 2 7 11 19 20 21 21 9 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 135

8B

BCowan
Highlight



Birmingham Police Department
Location 1: Shirley
Location 2:  Between
Lincoln & Brandon
Start Date:  11-14-23 0.000000
End Date:  11-27-23 Averaged Daily Totals 0.000000
Satur

day
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 39 28 51 51 76 134 210 267 344 347 319 171 81 36 16 7 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 02,180

North, 2
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

Sund
ay

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mon
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tues
day

6 9 12 10 20 42 73 88 107 103 77 35 18 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 610

Wed
nesda

y

3 8 5 18 21 46 62 94 128 145 113 61 30 12 9 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 759

Thur
sday

5 7 13 17 30 64 87 123 159 118 89 68 24 7 3 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 816

Frida
y

0 3 2 7 6 5 14 28 26 33 17 11 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 156

Satur
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 14 27 32 52 77 157 236 333 420 399 296 175 74 29 14 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 02,341

8B



Birmingham Police Department
Location 1: Arlington
Location 2:  Between
Maple & Shirley
Start Date: 11-14-23 0.000000
End Date:  11-17-23 Averaged Daily Totals 0.000000

Combined
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

Sund
ay

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mon
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tues
day

5 16 18 24 35 53 74 120 126 138 104 64 47 17 11 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 854

Wed
nesda

y

6 23 58 54 76 135 138 145 172 177 136 107 61 33 13 7 4 1 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,349

Thur
sday

14 28 38 44 53 87 114 153 161 186 221 142 80 41 30 20 1 1 0 1 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,420

Frida
y

3 6 8 20 12 14 31 36 29 29 27 22 12 5 2 6 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 263

Satur
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 28 73 122 142 176 289 357 454 488 530 488 335 200 96 56 35 5 2 1 1 6 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 03,886

South, 1
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

Sund
ay

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mon
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tues
day

5 5 5 6 12 34 43 60 61 59 36 22 16 3 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 369

Wed
nesda

y

6 14 24 23 40 73 77 80 90 66 46 32 8 6 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 589

Thur
sday

14 9 12 22 30 41 61 93 96 100 117 79 12 3 5 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 697

Frida
y

1 2 4 4 8 10 21 23 17 10 8 9 3 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 121

8B

BCowan
Highlight



Birmingham Police Department
Location 1: Arlington
Location 2:  Between
Maple & Shirley
Start Date: 11-14-23 0.000000
End Date:  11-17-23 Averaged Daily Totals 0.000000
Satur

day
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 26 30 45 55 90 158 202 256 264 235 207 142 39 12 9 5 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 01,776

North, 2
<=
10

>10
to 12

>12
to 14

>14
to 16

>16
to 18

>18
to 20

>20
to 22

>22
to 24

>24
to 26

>26
to 28

>28
to 30

>30
to 32

>32
to 34

>34
to 36

>36
to 38

>38
to 40

>40
to 42

>42
to 44

>44
to 46

>46
to 48

>48
to 50

>50
to 52

>52
to 54

>54
to 56

>56
to 58

>58
to 60

>60
to 62

>62
to 64

>64
to 66

> 66 Total

Sund
ay

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mon
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tues
day

0 11 13 18 23 19 31 60 65 79 68 42 31 14 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 485

Wed
nesda

y

0 9 34 31 36 62 61 65 82 111 90 75 53 27 10 6 4 1 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 760

Thur
sday

0 19 26 22 23 46 53 60 65 86 104 63 68 38 25 18 1 1 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 723

Frida
y

2 4 4 16 4 4 10 13 12 19 19 13 9 5 2 5 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 142

Satur
day

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 2 43 77 87 86 131 155 198 224 295 281 193 161 84 47 30 5 2 1 0 6 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 02,110

8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



 

     151 Martin Street • P.O. Box 3001 • Birmingham, MI 48012-3001 

        (248) 530-1800  •  Fax (248) 530-1080  •  www.bhamgov.org  
 

     

NOTICE OF UPCOMING PROJECT AND  

EXPRESSION OF INTEREST SURVEY FOR STREET IMPROVEMENT  

SHIRLEY RD, LINCOLN TO MAPLE 

ARLINGTON ST, LINCOLN TO MAPLE  

 

September 25, 2023  

 

Dear Property Owner, 

 

The City of Birmingham has selected Shirley Road and Arlington Street to improve the water main and relief 

sewer, and install sidewalk. Because these streets are currently considered to be unimproved, the cost 

related to either cape seal or reconstructing the street with an improved permanent surface (concrete or 

asphalt) will be subject to a special assessment to the adjoining property owners, as has been the policy of 

the City for many years. Costs related to the improvements to the water main and sewer systems (not 

including the sewer or water laterals) are covered by the City and not part of the street improvement 

special assessment. This project will take place in 2024. 

 

Introduction:  

The City Commission adopted a modified policy related to special assessments on October 25, 2021. 

Changes were made to Sections 94-4 through 94-8 of City Code that provide for the City to initiate a public 

improvement project that may result in a special assessment to the property owners that benefit from the 

project. The main purpose for making these modifications is to allow the City to better plan and budget for 

necessary infrastructure improvements on unimproved streets. 

 

Your answers to the enclosed survey questions will help us ascertain the level of interest that the 

neighborhood has for completing the street improvement project. The answers you provide on this form are 

not binding in any way, and you will have another opportunity to express your official position on these or 

other issues related to the project at the Public Hearings that are required to be before any Special 

Assessment District (SAD) can be established by the City Commission. 

 

Upcoming Meetings:  

There will be several upcoming meetings for this project.  Because the existing street width of 33’ in the 

project areas do not match the adopted City standards for residential street widths, a street width public 

hearing will be scheduled by the MMTB and the required notices will be sent out by the City Clerk’s office. 

Below is information for each meeting, which will be held in person in the City Commission Room at City 

Hall located at 151 Martin Street.  

 

Thursday, October 5, 2023, 6 p.m.: Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MMTB) –Sidewalk Locations  

Thursday, October 19, 2023, 5:30-7:00 p.m.: Resident Meeting  

8B



 

     151 Martin Street • P.O. Box 3001 • Birmingham, MI 48012-3001 

        (248) 530-1800  •  Fax (248) 530-1080  •  www.bhamgov.org  
 

Thursday, November 2, 2023, 6 p.m.: Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MTTB) – Public Hearing Road 

Width  

 

The MMTB meetings are also online via Zoom (www.zoom.us; meeting ID 824 7795 4435). The MMTB 

meetings will be recorded and can be watched afterward at your convenience.  

 

The resident meeting will present more information about the project, including specific design details and 

updated schedule for finalizing the design and starting construction, and allow us to answer questions you 

may have before the project initiation process moves to City Commission for consideration. Attendance is 

not mandatory, regardless of your position on these issues. However, we encourage you to attend. At your 

discretion, it may be constructive to share this information with tenants if appropriate.  

 

The final decision to proceed with the street improvement special assessment rests with the City 

Commission. It has been the Commission’s preference to hear feedback from affected property owners 

when considering their decisions. If the City Commission elects to proceed with the street improvement, 

they will schedule a date for the Public Hearing of Necessity and Public Hearing of Confirmation, which are 

required by City Ordinance for all potential special assessment districts. The City Clerk’s office will notify all 

property owners by mail of any public hearings that are scheduled. 

 

Preliminary Estimated Improving Permanent Surface SAD Costs: 

The costs associated with constructing the new, improved street section are considered to be subject to 

special assessment by City policy and precedence. Assessable costs include grading, street surfaces, 

driveway approaches, sidewalks, curb and gutter, drainage structures and final restoration. Typically, the 

City pays 15% of the paving costs, and the remaining 85% are included in the paving special assessment to 

the adjacent property owners. Based on recent similar paving projects, the preliminary estimated paving 

assessment cost is $290 to $400 per foot of frontage, depending on the width of the street, as measured 

along the side of the lot fronting the street being paved. Note that on corner properties, if the side street is 

being paved, the paving assessment will be charged for one-third of the lot length along the side street. 

Other special assessments may also apply for replacing the driveway approaches and sewer or water 

laterals that do not meet current City standards. The cost of these other special assessments will vary from 

property to property, and property owners usually cover 100% of the actual costs for the work. 

 

Interest Survey Response:  

The policy for a City-initiated street improvement project requires that the affected property owners be 

engaged early in the project design process so they have ample opportunity to express their opinions 

related to the project. This notice is the first in a series of engagement opportunities. Please fill out the 

attached “Expression of Interest Survey” and return by Wednesday October 4, 2023. The contact 

information you provide will also help assist us with future communication efforts. 

 

If you have any questions relative to the meetings, or the project in general, please contact the Engineering 

Department by email provided below, or by phone at 248-530-1840.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

Melissa A. Coatta, P.E. 

City Engineer 

mcoatta@bhamgov.org  

8B



 

     151 Martin Street • P.O. Box 3001 • Birmingham, MI 48012-3001 

        (248) 530-1800  •  Fax (248) 530-1080  •  www.bhamgov.org  
 

 

EXPRESSION OF INTEREST SURVEY FOR STREET IMPROVEMENT 

SPECIAL ASSESSMENT COST EXAMPLE 

 

This example is provided to illustrate how the special assessment costs are calculated for a typical residential 
property. Assuming a 100-foot wide lot is used with a double-car drive approach (20-ft wide), and need to 
replace the sewer and water lateral (located 20-ft and 30-ft from the property line, respectively): 

 
 

Paving Assessment: 100 ft @ $300.00 per ft = $ 30,000 
Drive Approach: 200 sq ft @ $10.00 per sq ft = $ 2,000 
Sewer Lateral Replacement: 20 ft @ $100.00 per ft = $ 2,000 
Water Service Replacement: 30 ft @ $90.00 per ft = $ 2,700 

  TOTAL = $ 36,700 

Note that special assessments related to the street improvements illustrated here are payable over a 10-year 
period (with interest rate to be set at time of special assessment roll being confirmed). 
 
 
Questionnaire: 

1. Are you supportive of the project to improve the water system along your street?   

 

2. Are you supportive of the project to improve the sewer system along your street?   

 

3. Are you supportive of constructing an improved street upon completion of the underground utility 
work?            ______  

 

4. Are you supportive of constructing sidewalk along the street?    

 

 
 

*PLEASE SUBMIT A SCAN OR PHOTO OF THIS FORM TO MCOATTA@BHAMGOV.ORG BY 

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER, 2023.* 

 

Contact Information: 
 

Name:   Phone Number:   
 

Address:   Email:   
 

 

8B



Shirley Road and 
Arlington Street

Engineering 
Department

Date:  October 19, 2023

Resident Meeting

8B



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Overview

• Existing Utilities Information

• Selecting City Projects 

• Future Utilities Improvements 

• General Construction Information 

• Unimproved vs. Improved Road Special Assessments

• Sidewalk Assessments 

• Future Steps and Meetings 

8B



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Existing Utility Information 

• Arlington Street:

• Water: 6” Cast Iron Pipe, installed 1927 

• Sewer: 

• South of Shirley: 10”- 15” Sewer drains to Lincoln, installed 1927

• North of Shirley: 10”- 12” Sewer drains to Shirley, installed 1927 

15” – 24” Relief sewer, installed 1968

• Shirley Road:

• Water: 6” Cast Iron Pipe, installed 1927 

• Sewer: 

• 10” - 24” Sewer drains towards Lincoln, installed 1927 

• 18” - 27” Relief sewer, installed 1968 

8B



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Selecting City Projects

• Scoring Process 
• Road: 0-100 points

• Sewer: 0-100 points

• Water: 0-100 points 

• Higher points: Required Replacement

• Max Point: 300 points 

8B



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Utilities, Foundations, Underground Parking, and Building

Selecting City Projects

8B



Shirley Road and Arlington Street
Selecting City Projects

8B



Shirley Road and Arlington Street
Selecting City Projects

8B



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Future Utility Improvements 

• Arlington Street:

• Water: new 8” water main

• Sewer: 

• South of Shirley: install separated storm sewer 

• North of Shirley: convert relief sewer into separate storm sewer 

• Shirley Road:

• Water: new 8” water main

• Sewer: 

• Convert relief sewer into separate storm

8B



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

General Construction Information 

• Construction Season 2024

• Special Features in Right of Way / Special Treatment Permit 

• Landscaping

• Irrigation 

• Decorative driveway approaches

• Rear Yard Storm Drainage/System 

8B



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

General Construction Information 

• Water Lateral Replacement

• 50 years of age or older

• Less than 1” in size

• Special Assement - 100% Property Owner:  20ft @ $100/ft = $2,000.00 

• Sewer Lateral Replacement 

• 50 years of age or older

• Material that are not acceptable for City standards (orangeburg, wedge-lok)

• Less than 4” in size

• Special Assement – 100% Property Owner: 30ft @ $90/ft = $2,700.00

8B



Shirley Road and Arlington Street
Unimproved vs. Improved Road

8B



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Unimproved vs. Improved Road

• Cape Seal Special Assement:

• 85% of the front-foot costs for improvement are assessed on all properties fronting on 
the improvement.  City pays 15% of costs.

• 25% of the side-foot costs for improvement are assessed on all residential properties 
siding on the improvement. City pays 75% of costs.

• Unimproved to Improved Road Special Assement: 

• 85% of the front-foot costs for improvement are assessed on all properties fronting on 
the improvement. City pays 15% of costs

• For single family houses, if the longer side of a corner property faces the street being 
constructed, the City will pay two-thirds (2/3) of the cost of the assessment for that 
property. The property owner will be charged the remaining third (1/3). If the short 
side of a corner property faces the street to be constructed, the owner pays 100% of 
the assessment.

• The preliminary estimated paving assessment cost is $290 to $400 per foot of 
frontage, and $10 per square foot for approaches 

8B



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Sidewalks 

• Sidewalk Assement:

• 85% of the front-foot costs for sidewalk improvement are assessed on all 
properties fronting on the improvement. City pays 15% of costs 

• 25% of the side-foot costs for improvement are assessed on all residential 
properties siding on the improvement. City pays 75% of costs.

• The preliminary estimated sidewalk costs assessment cost is $45/lft

• 100 Foot Lot: 100’ x $45 = $4,500

8B



Shirley Road and Arlington Street

Future Steps and Meetings 

• Return Expression of Interest Survey for Street Improvements

• Thursday, November 2, 2023, 6 p.m.: Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
(MTTB): Recommendation of Sidewalk Locations 

• Thursday, December 7, 2023, 6 p.m.: Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
(MTTB): Public Hearing Road Width and Recommendation of Road 
Width 

• Monday, January 8, 2024, 7:30 p.m.: City Commission: Direct 
Engineering Department to proceed with Final Design 

• Spring 2024: Special Assement Process 

8B



To: Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
From: A concerned resident who prefers to remain anonymous 
Re: Arlington/Shirley road improvements 
Date: October 5, 2023 
 
This project is special because it is a large improvement project, in both scope and expense, and one of 
the first unimproved streets to be improved since the commission adopted the Ad Hoc Unimproved 
Streets Committee recommendations.  
 
It presents many opportunities: 

• To show that the city can successfully execute on projects that require buy-in and significant 
investment by property owners.  

• To innovate on design and recognize that one size can’t fit all while also imposing some 
important standards such as street width and sidewalk installation. 

• To develop a communications and engagement template that gains as much consensus as 
possible among property owners and decision makers. 

 
It’s very important that you get it right, and I urge everyone involved to take their time. No one is 
interested in a rush job, and it’s better to do it right than do it on time. 
 
So what will doing it right look like? What will achieve the greatest consensus?  
 
Any design MUST: 

• Retain the stately character of the neighborhood. Large lots. Big lawns. Deep setbacks. 
Sweeping curves.  

• Calm traffic and reduce the appeal to cut-through traffic.  

• Provide a safe pedestrian experience, measured not by accidents or number and speed of cars, 
but by pedestrian perception. 

• Strictly limit the use of curb-adjacent sidewalks, which should be used only as last resort. 

• Respect existing trees and other significant landscaping in the right-of-way.  

• Dignify entrance(s) to park.  
 

Please consider the following: 

• Including Brandon in the project scope. This street is in terrible shape. At least cape seal it and 
improve the park entrance. 

• A sidewalk on one side, possibly crossing from side to side as appropriate; wider than normal; 
designed as a “path” or “trail” that meanders, not necessarily following property lines. 

• Speed humps or speed tables. 

• Seeking easements where necessary to preserve existing landscaping. Though this may take 
time, it is worth it if necessary. 

• Reducing the size of the two Shirley/Arlington intersections with bump-outs or small, 
landscaped roundabouts. 

• A treatment of the east side of Shirley just south of Maple, a unique condition where the right-
of-way is adjacent to rear lots and treatment varies according to property owner whim. 

• Bio-swales and biodiverse plantings where appropriate. 

8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



1/3/24, 3:57 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Multi-Modal Transportation Board

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=3bd1619bfb&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1784502620442564696&simpl=msg-f:1784502620442564696 1/1

Brooks Cowan <bcowan@bhamgov.org>

Multi-Modal Transportation Board
1 message

tony.trease@comcast.net <tony.trease@comcast.net> Tue, Dec 5, 2023 at 10:44 PM
To: BCowan@bhamgov.org
Cc: ndupuis@bhamgov.org, Lynn.Trease@comcast.net

Mr. Cowan,

 

Thank you very much for your very informative presentations at the past several Multi-Modal Transportation Board
meetings.  They were extremely thorough and well organized.  And also a huge thanks for maintaining order and keeping
the discussions on topic during the meetings while also demonstrating a professional demeanor.  Your job performance
reflects very well on the City of Birmingham staff.

 

Sincerely,

 

Tony Trease

905 Shirley Rd.

8B



12/8/23, 12:33 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Shirley and Arlington perposal

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=3bd1619bfb&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1784735868445995234&simpl=msg-f:1784735868445995234 1/1

Brooks Cowan <bcowan@bhamgov.org>

Shirley and Arlington perposal
1 message

Cheryl Pollack <cherbear1648@yahoo.com> Fri, Dec 8, 2023 at 12:32 PM
To: bcowan@bhamgov.org

 my iPhone thankyou for taking the time out of your busy day to listen to my concerns. Live on linden and also have
property on Shirley Street, I don’t know how this will affect me. It will be a financial burden to me and many others. To
have are streets torn up, construction trucks everywhere would create such havoc for the homeowners please take this
into consideration when making your decision. Cheryl POLLACK

8B



., 

Dou las and Doroth Friedel & Famil 
577 Arlington Rd., Birmingham MI 48009 

City of Birmingham 
Office of Mayor Elaine McLain 
151 Martin St. 
Birmingham Ml 48009 

Wednesday, December 6, 2023 

My name is Douglas Friedel and my family has a house at 577 Arlington Road. I 
have watched the discussion process of the proposed Arlington & Shirley Road 
construction from the beginning and I cannot believe the current level of fear-mongering, 
obfuscation, lying, and bad behavior by some of the residents of my neighborhood -
especially by the Coryell Park Resident's Association of which I am a member. I would 
like to voice my opinion as a resident of the neighborhood. 

The Multi Modal Transportation Board has done a really good job answering 
community concerns. The facts discussed during this process show that the aging 
infrastructure needs to be replaced, narrowing the roadway will reduce vehicle speeds, 
the installation of sidewalks will make walking safer for pedestrians, and removing the 
non-conforming and unhealthy trees and replacing them with new healthy trees will 
beautify the area. The arguments against these facts are an emotional plea to delay 
improvement solely for delay's sake. 

Change, by its nature, is transformative. The proposed changes in the 
Arlington/Shirley area are a good thing if you want a better & safer neighborhood. In time, 
the residents will see that the construction made the area safer, more beautiful, and 
provided better services and future residents will appreciate the City's foresight. 

There is every reason to proceed and no valid argument to delay this work. 

People only sit in shade today because someone 
else planted a tree a long time ago. 

Douglas riedel Jr. 
Birmingham Resident 

Communication received 

by the City Clerk on 

12/18/23 at 7:25 p.m.

8B



c9ntrocJfarl(eting 
737 Arlington 

Birmingham, Ml 48009 
Fax: 248-540-5000; EIN: 38-2398166 

Loretta Mirro 
248-420-8665 
lmirro@intromarketing.com

Jim Mirro 
248-420-5113

jmirro@intromarketing.com 

Communication 
received by the City 
Clerk on 12/18/23 at 
7:25 p.m.

8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



'' 

DAWD� ANN 
Dawda, Mann, Mulcahy & Sadler, PLC 

CouNsELORs AT LAw 

January 3, 2024 

TO: BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION 

EDWARDC. DAWDA 

(DIRECT DIAL) 248 642 8696 

EMAIL EDAIVDA@DAIVDAMANN COM 

RE: Residents Opposed to the Street Narrowing and Sidewalk Installation Plan for 

Arlington and Shirley Streets 

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen: 

The City of Birmingham City Commission is considering whether to approve a plan to 
narrow Arlington and Shirley Streets, and to install sidewalks on both sides of each street (the 
1
1 Sidewalk Plan11

). The undersigned are counsel for Lisa Drake and Michael Walsh, 243 Arlington 
Street, who are expressing their views (and the views of other similarly situated homeowners) and 
strongly requesting that the City defer any decision on the Sidewalk Plan so that the issues 
generated by the Sidewalk Plan may be more carefully considered. As noted below, allowing 
Arlington and Shirley Streets to presently opt out is within the authority of the City Commission. 

Over 85% of the residents on Arlington and Shirley Streets who responded to a survey 
circulated by the City of Birmingham have expressed their opposition to the Sidewalk Plan. This 
position statement was drafted on behalf o[ Lisa Drake and Michael Walsh and certain other 
residents opposed to such plan, collectively referred to herein as the "Opposing Residents", to help 
consolidate input and provide a succinct and well-developed point of view for the Cammi sioners 
to consider before such a critical and life-style altering decision i made for the residents. This 
communication is intended to help the residents provide input that only they can give, as their daily 
lives are transacted on these two streets. 

The Opposing Residents request that the City Commission not approve the Sidewalk Plan 
for Arlington and Shirley Streets at the meeting scheduled for January 8, 2024.The deferral of such 
vote is requested, and is necessary, in order to ensure the City has a greater opportunity to more 
thoroughly evaluate the long-lasting impact and potential unintended consequences of the 
Sidewalk Plan on things such as property values character of the neighborhood, loss of esta:te
sized old growth trees and tree canopies, parking traffic flow, and damage to privately installed 
landscaping. Such additional time will also allow the Opposing Residents and the ity's planners 
to meet and confer to consider whether an alternative approach can be worked out with fewer 
negative impacts. 

The Opposing Residents believe that the Sidewalk Plan as currently presented for these 
two streets is a 1

1one- ize-fits-all 11 misinterpretation by the Multi-Modal Transportation Board
(MMTB) and its planners of a walkability goal being misapplied to a neighborhood and etting 
where a more tailored and less destructive approach, one that is more respectful of the unjque 

39533 Woodward Avenue, Suite 200 • Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304-5103 • 248.642.3700 (Fax) 248.642. 7791 • www.dawdamann.com 

Clerk's Office 
RCVD 1/3/24 
at 10:30am

8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



Category Yes No No Repsonse 
Sewer: 18 (23%) 26 (33%) 36 (45%) 
Water: 18 (23%) 26 (33%) 36 (45%) 
Improved Street: 12 (15%) 30 (38%) 38 (48%) 
Sidewalks: 8   (10%) 36 (45%) 36 (45%) 

Resident Survey Responses

8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



Melissa Coatta <mcoatta@bhamgov.org>

Arlington/Shirley plans
1 message

Fremont Scott <sawbone@comcast.net> Thu, Oct 5, 2023 at 9:00 AM
To: "mcoatta@bhamgov.org" <mcoatta@bhamgov.org>

 

Disagree with all proposal re Water/Sewers/Resurfacing and Sidewalks

 

Scott

776 Arlington

 

Sent from Mail for Windows

 

8B

https://go.microsoft.com/fwlink/?LinkId=550986


EXPRESSION OF INTEREST SURVEY FOR STREET IMPROVEMENT
SPECIAL ASSESSMENT COST EXAMPLE

This example is provided to illustrate how the special assessment costs are calculated for atypical residential
property. Assuming a100-foot wide lot is used with adouble-car drive approach (20-ft wide), and need to
replace the sewer and water lateral (located 20-ft and 30-ft from the property line, respectively):

$300.00 per ft =$30,000
200 sq ft @$10.00 per sq ft =$2,000

2,000

100 ft @Paving Assessment:
Drive Approach:
Sewer Lateral Replacement:
Water Service Replacement:

2 0 f t @ $100.00 per ft =
$90.00 per ft -S2JOO3 0 f t @

TOTAL =$36 ,700

Note that special assessments related to the street improvements illustrated here are payable over a10-year
period (with interest rate to be set at time of special assessment roll being confirmed).

Q u e s t i o n n a i r e :

1, Are you supportive of the project to improve the water system along your street?.

2. Are you supportive of the project to improve the sewer system along your street?.

3. Are you supportive of constructing an improved street upon completion of the underground utility
w o r k ? f \ 0

4. Are you supportive of constructing sidewalk along the street?.

*PLEASE SUBMIT ASCAN OR PHOTO OF THIS FORM TO MCOATTA@BHftMGOV.ORG BY
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER, 2023.*

C o n t a c t I n f o r m a t i o n :

o
'TCft fCl Phone Number:,Name:.

(
E m a i l :iAddress:.

151 Martin Street ●P.O, Box 3001 ●Bimiingham, Mi 48012-3001
(248) 530-1800 *Fax (248) 530-1080 ●www.bhamgov.org8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



8B



34
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

37
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

350 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

300 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

288 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

252 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

226 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

188 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.
100 SH

IR
LEY D

R
.

1331 W
. M

APLE R
D

.

50
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

13
70

 A
R

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

10
00

 S
H

IR
LE

Y 
D

R
IV

E

97
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

91
4 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

88
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

82
2 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

77
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

70
8 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

64
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

55
0 S

HIR
LE

Y 
DRIV

E

11
4 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

13
6 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

14
4 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

17
6 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

20
0 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

23
0 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

25
2 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

34
5 S

HIR
LE

Y R
D

36
1 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

38
1 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

42
1 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

44
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

46
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

48
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

50
3 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

58
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

61
9 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

66
3 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

73
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

81
1 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

85
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

90
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

95
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

78
9 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
( 5

0'
 R

.O
.W

.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

( 5
0' 

R.
O

.W
.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

( 5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

( 5
0' 

R.
O

.W
.)

SHIRLEY DRIVE

( 5
0' R

.O.W
.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

( 5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

W. MAPLE ROAD ( R.O.W. VARIES)

W. LINCOLN AVE. ( R.O.W. VARIES)

1"
 =

 2
0'

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

NF

N

N
F

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

W
W

W
.n

f
e

-
E

N
G

R
.C

O
M

8B

ptulikangas
Engineer
EXHIBIT B - EAST6.5' WIDE INTEGRAL WALK/CURB ("CARRIAGE WALK") ON EAST SIDES OF ARLINGTON & SHIRLEY (EXCEPT ON WEST SIDE OF SHIRLEY NORTH OF ARLINGTON). HOLD EXISTING OPPOSITE CURB LINES TO ALLOW FOR POSSIBLE RE-SURFACING AND TO MINIMIZE R.O.W. DISRUPTION OUTSIDE EX. ROAD LIMITS (TOTAL PROPOSED ROAD & WALK WIDTH ~ EX. 33' B-B TYPICAL ROAD WIDTH). NARROW BOTH TRAVEL LANES TO 13' (+/-) TO ACCOMMODATE CARRIAGE WALK.

ptulikangas
Engineer
REVISED ROAD C/L & CROWN ALIGNMENT (TYP.)

ptulikangas
Engineer
REVISED ROAD C/L & CROWN ALIGNMENT (TYP.)

ptulikangas
Engineer
ROAD IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN CENTERED IN BRANDON ST. R.O.W. FOR POSSIBLE FUTURE EXTENSION

ptulikangas
Engineer
BRANDON ST.50' WD. R.O.W.

ptulikangas
Engineer
MATCH INTO EX. CARRIAGE WALK DEAD-END ON EAST SIDE OF SHIRLEY, OR POSSIBLY REVIEW NARROWNING EX. ROADWAY TO LINCOLN AVE.



11
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

17
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

24
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

26
9 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

30
9 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

30
9 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

34
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

37
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

350 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

15
89

 W
. M

AP
LE

 R
O

AD
21

8 
AR

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

22
2 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

28
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

31
6 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

40
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

41
4 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

43
2 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

44
4 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

50
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

55
0 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

60
0 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

70
0 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

73
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

77
6 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
80

0 
AR

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

86
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
89

8 
AR

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

92
4 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

96
8 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

99
2 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

10
40

 W
. L

IN
COLN

 AVE.

50
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

57
7 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

64
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

73
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

77
9 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

84
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

88
1 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

94
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

97
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

10
57

 A
RLIN

GTO
N R

OAD

13
70

 A
R

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

91
4 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

88
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

82
2 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

77
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

70
8 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

64
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

55
0 S

HIR
LE

Y 
DRIV

E

42
1 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

44
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

46
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

48
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
( 5

0'
 R

.O
.W

.)

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

( 5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
( 5

0'
 R

.O
.W

.)

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
( 5

0'
 R

.O
.W

.)

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

( 5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

( 5
0' 

R.
O

.W
.)

W.MAPLE ROAD ( R.O.W. VARIES)

W.LINCOLN AVE.
( R.O.W. VARIES)

1"
 =

 2
0'

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

NF

N

N
F

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

W
W

W
.n

f
e

-
E

N
G

R
.C

O
M

8B

ptulikangas
Engineer
REVISED ROAD C/L & CROWN ALIGNMENT (TYP.)

ptulikangas
Engineer
REVIEW DESIRED ROAD WIDTH FOR ARLINGTON AT MAPLE ROAD INTERSECTION (VERIFY ALIGNMENT WITH PILGRIM AVE. NORTH OF MAPLE)

ptulikangas
Engineer
REVISED CROWN ALIGNMENT (TYP.)(REFINE W/ FINAL DESIGN TO CENTER BETWEEN LANES) 

ptulikangas
Engineer
REVISED ROAD C/L & CROWN ALIGNMENT (TYP.)

ptulikangas
Engineer
EXHIBIT B - WEST6.5' WIDE INTEGRAL WALK/CURB ("CARRIAGE WALK") ON EAST SIDES OF ARLINGTON & SHIRLEY (EXCEPT ON WEST SIDE OF SHIRLEY NORTH OF ARLINGTON). HOLD EXISTING OPPOSITE CURB LINES TO ALLOW FOR POSSIBLE RE-SURFACING AND TO MINIMIZE R.O.W. DISRUPTION OUTSIDE EX. ROAD LIMITS (TOTAL PROPOSED ROAD & WALK WIDTH ~ EX. 33' B-B TYPICAL ROAD WIDTH). NARROW BOTH TRAVEL LANES TO 13' (+/-) TO ACCOMMODATE CARRIAGE WALK.



B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BENCHMARK

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BENCHMARK

34
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

37
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

350 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

300 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

288 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

252 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

226 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

188 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.
100 SH

IR
LEY D

R
.

1331 W
. M

APLE R
D

.

50
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

13
70

 A
R

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

10
00

 S
H

IR
LE

Y 
D

R
IV

E

97
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

91
4 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

88
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

82
2 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

77
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

70
8 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

64
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

55
0 S

HIR
LE

Y 
DRIV

E

11
4 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

13
6 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

14
4 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

17
6 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

20
0 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

23
0 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

25
2 

LI
N

D
EN

 R
D

34
5 S

HIR
LE

Y R
D

36
1 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

38
1 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

42
1 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

44
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

46
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

48
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

50
3 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

58
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

61
9 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

66
3 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

73
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

81
1 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

85
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

90
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

95
5 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

78
9 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
( 5

0'
 R

.O
.W

.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

( 5
0' 

R.
O

.W
.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

( 5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

( 5
0' 

R.
O

.W
.)

SHIRLEY DRIVE

( 5
0' R

.O.W
.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

( 5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

W. MAPLE ROAD ( R.O.W. VARIES)

W. LINCOLN AVE. ( R.O.W. VARIES)

1"
 =

 2
0'

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

NF

N

N
F

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

W
W

W
.n

f
e

-
E

N
G

R
.C

O
M

8B

ptulikangas
Engineer
NOTE: CONDITION OF EXISTING CARRIAGE WALK WOULD NEED TO BE REVIEWED AFTER PAVEMENT REMOVAL TO DETERMINE IF IT SHOULD REMAIN OR IF REPLACEMENT IS REQUIRED. 

ptulikangas
Engineer
BRANDON ST.50' WD. R.O.W.

ptulikangas
Engineer
EXHIBIT C - EAST5' WIDE SIDEWALK ON EAST SIDES OF ARLINGTON AND SHIRLEY (EXCEPT ON SHIRLEY NORTH OF ARLINGTON, WHERE 5' WIDE WALK IS SHOWN ON WEST SIDE OF SHIRLEY). TYPICAL BACK/WALK ALIGNMENT 1' OFF R.O.W.REDUCE ROAD WIDTH TO 27' (B-B). INCLUDE ROAD GEOMETRY AND PEDESTRIAN CROSSING LOCATIONS SIMILAR TO "EXHIBIT B". SEE "EXHIBIT A" FOR DETAILED LOCATIONS WHERE CONCEPT SIDEWALK ALIGNMENT CREATES CONFLICTS W/ TREES, LANDSCAPING, UTILITY POLES, ETC.  



BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
N

C
H

M
AR

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
N

C
H

M
AR

K
B

E
N

C
H

M
A

R
K

BE
N

C
H

M
AR

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

BE
NC

HM
AR

K

B
E

N
C

H
M

A
R

K

BENCHMARK

11
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

17
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

24
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

26
9 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

30
9 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

30
9 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

34
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

37
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

350 SH
IR

LEY D
R

.

15
89

 W
. M

AP
LE

 R
O

AD
21

8 
AR

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

22
2 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

28
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

31
6 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

40
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

41
4 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

43
2 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

44
4 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

50
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

55
0 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

60
0 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

70
0 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

73
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

77
6 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
80

0 
AR

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

86
0 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
89

8 
AR

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

92
4 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

96
8 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

99
2 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

10
40

 W
. L

IN
COLN

 AVE.

50
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

57
7 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

64
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

73
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

77
9 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

84
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

88
1 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

94
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

97
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

10
57

 A
RLIN

GTO
N R

OAD

13
70

 A
R

LI
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
AD

91
4 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

88
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

82
2 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

77
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

70
8 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

D
R

IV
E

64
0 

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

55
0 S

HIR
LE

Y 
DRIV

E

42
1 

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

44
5 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

46
3 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

48
7 

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
( 5

0'
 R

.O
.W

.)

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD

( 5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
( 5

0'
 R

.O
.W

.)

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

 R
O

AD
( 5

0'
 R

.O
.W

.)

AR
LI

NG
TO

N 
RO

AD

( 5
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

SH
IR

LE
Y 

DR
IV

E

( 5
0' 

R.
O

.W
.)

W.MAPLE ROAD ( R.O.W. VARIES)

W. LINCOLN AVE.
( R.O.W. VARIES)

1"
 =

 2
0'

0
1
0

2
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

NF

N

N
F

c
i
v

i
l

 E
n

g
i
n

e
e

r
s

L
a

n
d

 S
u

r
v

e
y

o
r

s

L
a

n
d

 P
l

a
n

n
e

r
s

E
N

G
I
N

E
E

R
S

N
O

W
A

K
 &

 F
R

A
U

S
 E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
S

4
6

7
7
7
 W

o
o

d
w

a
r

d
 A

v
e

.

P
o

n
t

i
a

c
, 
M

I
 4

8
3
4

2
-
5
0

3
2

T
e

l
. 
(2

4
8

) 
3
3
2
-
7
9

3
1

F
a

x
. 
 (

2
4

8
) 

3
3
2
-
8

2
5
7

W
W

W
.n

f
e

-
E

N
G

R
.C

O
M

8B

ptulikangas
Engineer
EXHIBIT C - WEST5' WIDE SIDEWALK ON EAST SIDES OF ARLINGTON AND SHIRLEY (EXCEPT ON SHIRLEY NORTH OF ARLINGTON, WHERE 5' WIDE WALK IS SHOWN ON WEST SIDE OF SHIRLEY). TYPICAL BACK/WALK ALIGNMENT 1' OFF R.O.W.REDUCE ROAD WIDTH TO 27' (B-B).INCLUDE ROAD GEOMETRY AND PEDESTRIAN CROSSING LOCATIONS SIMILAR TO "EXHIBIT B".SEE "EXHIBIT A" FOR DETAILED LOCATIONS WHERE CONCEPT SIDEWALK ALIGNMENT CREATES CONFLICTS W/ TREES, LANDSCAPING, UTILITY POLES, ETC.

ptulikangas
Engineer
NOTE: SHOWN SIDEWALK ALIGNMENT 1' OFF R.O.W. TO BE REVIEWED/REFINED IN CONJUNCTION W/ ROAD GEOMETRY UPDATES DURING DETAILED DESIGN IF THIS OPTION IS CHOSEN.



MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Engineering Division 

DATE: January 3, 2023 

TO: Jana Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner  
Ryan Kearney, Police Lieutenant 
Melissa Coatta, Engineering Department 

SUBJECT: Capital Improvement Projects – Oakland Ave Between N. Old Woodward and 
Woodward Ave 

INTRODUCTION:  
Road construction is planned for Oakland Ave between N. Old Woodward and Woodward Ave this 
fiscal year. City staff is seeking approval of the road design before finalizing construction plans.  

BACKGROUND: 
On June 6, 2019 (Agenda – Minutes), the Multi-Modal Transportation Board reviewed the 
intersection of N. Old Woodward and Oakland Ave and made recommendations to the City 
Commission that involved changes to the traffic signal at N. Old Woodward Ave & Willits/Oakland 
intersection and potential enhancements to the intersection. 

On September 23, 2019 (Agenda – Minutes), the City Commission approved the recommended 
signal changes and a trial period of traffic improvements that involved painted bumpouts with 
bollards and a designated bus lane. The City Commission pursued the trial period to observe the 
traffic patterns and analyze the changes before making major capital investments in permanent 
infrastructure. 

The City is now considering making the trial period permanent with an updated streetscape when 
Oakland Ave is redone. This would involve additional greenery in the striped off portion between 
Oakland Ave and the triangular planting area. A concrete buffer island would be installed between 
the vehicle lane and bus stop parking area on N. Old Woodward, and a permanent bumpout 
would be installed on the northwest corner of N. Old Woodward and Willits St. This bumpout will 
decrease pedestrian crossing time along the northern leg of N. Old Woodward and Oakland Ave. 
The City’s traffic consultant MKSK has provided a rendering, which is attached for reference.  

On November 2, 2023 (Agenda – Minutes), the MMTB reviewed the proposed designs for a 
permanent improvement. The Board asked for additional right turn arrow paint leading up to the 

8C

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Multi-Modal%20Transportation%20Board/Agendas/2019/Full%20Agenda%20-%20MMTB%20-%206-6-19%20-%20Corrected.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/Multi-Modal%20Transportation%20Board/Minutes/2019/6_6%20MMTB%20Minutes%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Full%20Agenda%20Packet/2019/092319.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2019/CC_2019%2009%2023.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/November%202,%202023%20MMTB%20Agenda%20-%20FULL.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/11-2-23%20-%20MMTB%20Minutes%20Approved.pdf


intersection for westbound vehicles so they may get in the appropriate turn lane. The MMTB 
moved to recommend approval of the design unanimously. 
 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed the proposal and has no concern related to the form or content.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
The proposed enhancements for N. Old Woodward and Oakland Ave between Woodward Ave and 
N. Old Woodward have been anticipated in the Capital Improvements Fund and budgeted for in 
the FY 2023-2024 budget under Oakland Ave. Resurfacing.  
 
SUSTAINABILITY: 
Removing some of the existing road pavement and converting it to green space will decrease 
storm runoff entering the City’s system.  
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
The proposed concept designs were posted as agenda items for discussion during the November 
2, 2023 Multi-Modal Transportation Board meeting. No additional public comments are required 
for this agenda item. 
 
SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission consider the proposed design for N. Old 
Woodward and Oakland Ave between Woodward Ave and N. Old Woodward Ave with enhanced 
green space along Oakland Ave, a permanent bus stop loading area with an island, and a 
permanent bumpout at the northwest corner of N. Old Woodward and Willits St. as pictured in 
Exhibit A.  
 
The Engineering Division will proceed with final construction plans of Oakland Ave. once a design 
is approved. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   

• Exhibit A - recommended design for Oakland Ave  
• September 23, 2019 CC Memo for temporary intersection trial  

 
SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to approve the proposed design for N. Old Woodward and 
Oakland Ave between Woodward Ave and N. Old Woodward Ave with enhanced green space 
along Oakland Ave, a permanent bus stop loading area with an island, and a permanent bumpout 
at the northwest corner of N. Old Woodward and Willits St. as pictured in Exhibit A.  
 
 

8C



PROPOSED 
CURB

PROPOSED 
TREES (2)

EXISTING  
CURB

SHELTER/
STATUE AREA 
TO REMAIN

SHELTER/
STATUE AREA

BUMPOUT

BUS STOP 
LOADING AREA

BUS STOP 
LOADING AREA

CONCRETE 
BUFFER 
ISLAND

PAINTED BUS 
STOP BUFFER

MAST ARM
LIGHT POLE & 

UTILITY BOX

PA
R

K
IN

G

PA
R

K
IN

G

A
LLEY

A
LLEY

O
L

D
 W

O
O

D
W

A
R

D

O
L

D
 W

O
O

D
W

A
R

D

O A K L A N D  A V E

W I L L I T S  S T W I L L I T S  S T

O A K L A N D  A V E

8’ 11’ 11’ 11’

12.5’

10.5’
10’

11’ 11’

>65’
>73’

8’ 11’ 11’ 11’
12.5’

10.5’
10’

11’ 11’

PROPOSED CONCEPT
Existing drive remains. Pocket park 
expands.

EXISTING

CHALLENGES:
-Alley and dumpster access
-Crowded sidewalk north of drive
-Limited pocket park space
-Inconsistent streetscape
-Access management

BENEFITS: 
-Expands pocket park area by ~1600 sf (see Master Plan goals)
-Increased tree canopy
-Decrease crossing distance on Woodward Ave by ~8 ft

10/23/2023OLD WOODWARD AVENUE & WILLITS STREET PEDESTRIAN IMPROVEMENTS

Exhibit A

8C



1 

MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Dept. 

Planning Dept. 
Police Dept. 

DATE: September 12, 2019 

TO: Joseph A. Valentine, City Manager 

FROM: Jana Ecker, Planning Director  
Scott Grewe, Police Commander 
Paul O’Meara, City Engineer 

SUBJECT: Old Woodward Ave. & Willits St. Intersection 
Multi-Modal Transportation Board Review 

INTRODUCTION: 
The Old Woodward Ave. & Willits St. intersection was last reconstructed in 2007 as a part 
of the N. Old Woodward Ave. reconstruction project.  More recently, the south leg of the 
intersection was modified last year as a part of the 2018 Old Woodward Ave. 
reconstruction project.  The City Commission has raised concerns about the poor 
pedestrian environment for some aspects of this intersection, and requested that it be 
studied by the Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MMTB) for possible improvements. 

BACKGROUND: 
Staff requested the City’s traffic engineering consultant to review the existing conditions, 
and then make recommendations for improvements.  F&V prepared a draft report that 
was summarized by staff, and presented at the May 2, 2019 MMTB meeting.  The main 
focus of the discussion was the crosswalk that extends across N. Old Woodward Ave. on 
the north leg of the intersection.  Not only is the crosswalk very long at 75 ft., the traffic 
signal phasing encourages left turns from eastbound Willits St. on to N. Old Woodward 
Ave. at the same time that pedestrians have the right-of-way, which leaves pedestrians 
feeling vulnerable.  After input from the Board, it was clear that some of the 
recommendations needed further study, and that this topic should be returned to the 
Board at a later date. 

At the MMTB meeting of June 6, 2019, a more thorough report was presented by F&V.  
After discussion, the MMTB passed the following motion: 

To recommend to the City Commission a combination of three improvements as depicted 
in F&V’s report dated May 31, 2019: 

 To add bumpouts at both the NE and NW corners of the Old Woodward and Willits
St./Oakland Blvd. intersection (after completion of the Maple Rd. reconstruction 
project), and 

 To provide protected-only phasing for the east/west left turn movements from
Willits St. and Oakland Blvd. 

The recommendations are explained in further detail below: 

6C
8C



2 

1. Bumpouts at the Northwest and Northeast corners of the intersection:

Referring to Figure 5 in the F&V report from May 31, 2019 (attached), the suggested 
conceptual plan for bumpouts at the northwest and northeast corners has the following 
features: 

a. The left turn and through lanes for southbound Old Woodward Ave. traffic are left in
their current configuration.  The right turn lane has been moved east so that it is
adjacent to the through lane, removing the extra pavement between that currently
exists.  Moving this lane provides extra space for an 8 ft. bumpout at the northwest
corner.  Doing so not only reduces the crosswalk length, it also opens the opportunity
for an additional three metered parking spaces in front of 325 N. Old Woodward Ave.

b. At the northeast corner, the City has installed a bus shelter and landscaped urban park
area.  In order for the bus stop to function without disrupting the intersection
operation, the extra street pavement in this area has been left open and available for
busses.  However, it is much wider than it needs to be.  By reducing the bus lane to
the minimum necessary (10 ft.), the crosswalk can be reduced another 12 ft. at the
northeast corner.  (Figure 5 indicates a 12 ft. wide bus lane, but we are proposing
that this be constructed at 10 ft. wide, allowing the bumpout to extend another two
feet into the street.)

c. As long as bumpout improvements are being considered at this island, the third
westbound lane on Oakland Blvd. that is no longer being used could also be removed,
providing more green space and an enlarged island, as shown.  Doing so would also
reduce the length of the crosswalk for the east leg of the intersection (crossing
Oakland Blvd.).

If changes are implemented at both corners, this crosswalk could be reduced in length 
from 75 ft. to about 55 ft.  Clearly, bumpouts at this intersection would improve the 
pedestrian experience.  However, as was explained to the MMTB, Willits St. and Oakland 
Blvd. will be used as the detour route for westbound Maple Rd. in 2020 when that street 
is closed for reconstruction.  Constructing bumpouts in this area would conflict with the 
use of this area while it is needed for traffic management in 2020.  Further, all of Oakland 
Blvd. from Old Woodward Ave. to Woodward Ave. is in need of pavement repairs and 
other multi-modal improvements that have been identified in the Multi-Modal Master Plan.  
With that in mind, while these improvements are desirable, it is recommended that they 
be postponed until 2021, thereby allowing the Maple Rd. reconstruction project to be 
finished. 

2. Protected Left Turns from Willits St.

While it would be difficult to implement the bumpout recommendations at this time, the 
traffic signal changes that are also being recommended can be implemented much sooner. 

As described as Option #4 in the F&V memo dated May 31, 2019, the left turn phases for 
Willits St. and Oakland Blvd. traffic turning left on to Old Woodward Ave. currently have 
“protected” and “permissive” phases.  During the protected phase, drivers are given a 
solid green arrow to turn, during which time pedestrians are given a “DON’T WALK” red 
signal.  Later in the same cycle, left turn drivers are given a permissive phase.  The traffic 
signal has a flashing yellow left arrow, indicating that drivers can proceed to make their 

8C



3 

left turn if cross traffic is clear.  However, during this time, pedestrians are also given the 
white signal to proceed across the street.  Given the length of the north leg crosswalk, 
this is problematic. 

F&V has recommended that the permissive phase for left turns be removed from the cycle, 
and extending the protected left turn phase timing accordingly.  The timing adjustment 
would reduce the current uncertainty pedestrians feel when using this crossing.  The 
removal of the permissive left turn phase without other adjustments would reduce the 
Level of Service for eastbound traffic to an unacceptable level.  With that in mind, the 
protected left turn phase time must be increased.  F&V is recommending removal of the 
previously implemented LPI (Leading Pedestrian Interval) for this crosswalk in order to 
achieve the proper balance in the timing cycle.  Given the removal of the permissive left 
turns, this is considered a reasonable compromise.  

LEGAL REVIEW:  
No legal review is needed at this time. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
Implementing the traffic signal changes recommended above would require removal and 
replacement of the two left turn signals with new three-head signals that would operate 
the protected left turn phase for Willits St. and Oakland Blvd. traffic.  F&V estimates that 
these changes would cost approximately $17,000, which was not provided for in the 
current budget.  The City could hire the Road Commission for Oakland Co. to make these 
relatively simple changes, through an appropriation to the Major Street Fund. 

The cost estimates for the bumpout recommendations provided have not been thoroughly 
reviewed at this time.  We recommend a complete analysis of the Oakland Blvd. corridor 
at a later date with the assistance of the MMTB, and then making recommendations in 
conjunction with the planned Oakland Blvd. resurfacing project currently budgeted for the 
2021 construction season. 

SUMMARY 
It is recommended that the City Commission approve the recommendation of the Multi-
Modal Transportation Board traffic signal changes for the N. Old Woodward Ave. & Willits 
St./Oakland Blvd. intersection, to remove the permissive left turn phase for eastbound 
and westbound traffic.  Once a proposal has been received from the Road Commission for 
Oakland Co., approval of a budget appropriation will be requested.  

ATTACHMENTS:   
 Cover memo to the MMTB for the May 2, 2019 meeting.
 Detailed accompanying report from F&V dated January 26, 2019.
 Approved minutes of the MMTB meeting of May 2, 2019.
 Cover memo to the MMTB for the June 6, 2019 meeting.
 Detailed accompanying report from F&V dated May 31, 2019.
 Draft minutes of the MMTB meeting of June 6, 2019 meeting.

8C



4 

SUGGESTED RESOLUTION: 
To accept the recommendation of the Multi-Modal Transportation Board for traffic signal 
changes at the N. Old Woodward Ave. & Willits St./Oakland Blvd. intersection, to remove 
the permissive left turn phase for eastbound and westbound traffic and extending the 
protected left turn phase timing accordingly.   

8C



January 26, 2019 
 
 
 DRAFT VIA EMAIL 
Cmdr. Scott Grewe 
Operations Commander 
Birmingham Police 
151 Martin Street 
Birmingham, MI 48012 
 
RE: Old Woodward Avenue & Willits Street  
 Pedestrian Improvements Summary 
 
Dear Cmdr. Grewe: 

The purpose of this letter is to provide a summary of the pedestrian improvements for consideration at the 
intersection of Old Woodward Avenue & Willits Street.  It is our understanding that there are have been 
observed pedestrian/vehicle conflicts within the E/W crosswalk on the northside of the intersection as illustrated 
in Figure 1 below.  The purpose of this analysis is to evaluate mitigation alternatives to improve pedestrian 
safety at this intersection.  Included herein is project background information, improvements previously 
evaluated, and new improvements for consideration.   

Figure 1: Old Woodward Avenue & Willits Street Intersection 

 

8C



PROJECT BACKGROUND 
Fleis and VandenBrink previously prepared a report (dated February 2018) regarding a Leading Pedestrian 
Interval (LPI) program at several intersections throughout downtown Birmingham.  An LPI provides pedestrians 
with an opportunity to enter an intersection and establish their place in the crosswalk before the vehicles in the 
same direction of travel are given the green indication.  The benefits of an LPI are the increased visibility of 
pedestrians in the crosswalk, additional time for slower pedestrians, and decreased potential for conflicts 
between pedestrians and vehicles.  While LPIs are beneficial to pedestrian safety, they also reduce the available 
green time for vehicles and can cause additional delay at an intersection.  Based on the recommendations from 
the LPI study, the following LPIs are currently implemented at the Old Woodward Avenue and Willits Street 
intersection: 

• East/West crossing: 10 second LPI 
• North/South crossing: 7 second LPI 

However, since the East/West crosswalk length is approximately 75 feet on the north leg, the implemented LPI 
only provides pedestrians enough time to travel less than halfway across the street before left-turning vehicles 
are permitted to enter the intersection.  F&V further evaluated this intersection to develop several other 
alternatives that were also evaluated for consideration.  The analysis for each alternative evaluated is 
summarized herein. 

ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS 
F&V developed several potential pedestrian improvements that were evaluated for consideration.  The analysis 
for each improvement evaluated is summarized herein. 

1. CURB EXTENSIONS (NE CORNER) 
A bumpout extends the line of the curb out into the traveled way, reducing the amount of street space 
pedestrians have to cross.  This pedestrian improvement increases safety for slower pedestrians (children and 
the elderly) and improves pedestrian visibility to drivers; while also reducing the turning speed of vehicles, as a 
result of smaller curb radii. 

Currently, the northeast corner of the intersection of Old Woodward Avenue & Willits Street has a painted curb 
extension.  However, since the curb extension is painted, it does not physically reduce the crosswalk distance, 
in order to provide a raised, safe waiting, area for the pedestrian. 

Therefore, a paved curb extension was evaluated for the northeast corner of this intersection.  At this 
intersection, westbound right-turns are channelized to the north; therefore, this curb radius can be minimized, 
as the eastbound left-turn movement for trucks is the only turning movement that needs to be considered.  A 
curb extension at this location may also reduce the turning speeds for eastbound left-turning vehicles, by 
shrinking the available pavement to complete their turning movements.  This curb extension would reduce the 
existing 75-foot crosswalk distance on the north leg to approximately 65 feet.  This curb extension could also 
be expanded into the hatched-out area along the east leg of the intersection to reduce that crosswalk length.  
The proposed design for this curb extension is shown on the attached Figure 2. 

Key Findings 

• The total crosswalk distance is reduced from 75-feet to 65-feet. 

o A Smart bus stop is located where the proposed bump out is considered.  The bus stop would 
need to be relocated since a stop at this location has the potential to block the intersection with 
the addition of a bump out.  

• The curb extension could be expanded to the hatched-out portion of the east leg of the intersection, in 
order to reduce the total N/S crosswalk distance for the east leg. 

• Structure and fire hydrant relocation should be taken into consideration when designing curb 
extensions. 

  

8C



2. LANE REDUCTION & CURB EXTENSIONS (NW CORNER) 
This alternative considered a lane reduction for southbound Old Woodward Avenue at the intersection, in 
combination with a curb extension on the NW corner.  The southbound Old Woodward approach with Willits 
Street currently provides three lanes (left-turn, through, and right-turn lanes).  This alternative evaluated 
eliminating the southbound right-turn lane and converting the southbound through lane into a shared 
through/right lane.  By eliminating the right-turn lane, the NW curb could be extended through the existing right-
turn lane in order to reduce the existing 75-foot crosswalk distance to approximately 60 feet.  The proposed 
design for this curb extension is shown on the attached Figure 3. 

The primary concern with this alternative is the operational impacts of removing the exclusive right-turn 
movement and associated overlap phasing.  An analysis was performed to determine the measure-of-
effectiveness (MOE) of this alternative as compared to existing operations.  The MOE summary is provided in 
Table 1.  The results of the analysis show that eliminating the exclusive right-turn lane will increase both the 
vehicle delay (LOS) and the vehicle queueing.  The network simulations indicate that eliminating the southbound 
right-turn lane will result in longer vehicle queues for southbound traffic; resulting in the southbound left-turn 
lane becoming blocked for a portion of each peak hour.  Additionally, the increased vehicle queues for the 
southbound traffic will reduce the number of acceptable gaps available for northbound vehicles attempting to 
make permissive left-turns. 

Table 1: Lane Reduction MOE Summary 

Intersection Peak 
Period Approach 

Existing Conditions 
(Exclusive SB RT) 

Proposed Conditions 
(Shared SB Thru/Right) Difference 

Delay 
(s/veh) LOS Delay 

(s/veh) LOS Delay 
(s/veh) LOS 

Old 
Woodward 

Avenue 
& 

Willits Street 

AM 

EBL 13.1 B 21.0 C 7.9 B > C 
EBTR 20.9 C 29.6 C 8.7 - 
WBL 16.7 B 23.5 C 6.8 B > C 

WBTR 32.9 C 42.3 D 9.4 C > D 
NB 28.3 C 7.4 A -20.9 C > A 
SB 28.3 C 47.5 D 19.2 C > D 

Overall 23.9 C 31.0 C 7.1 - 

Mid-day 

EBL 23.3 C 23.7 C 0.4 - 
EBTR 48.9 D 54.0 D 5.1 - 
WBL 22.1 C 26.8 C 4.7 - 

WBTR 38.4 D 46.2 D 7.8 - 
NB 26.1 C 19.6 B -6.5 C > B 
SB 24.2 C 38.1 D 13.9 C > D 

Overall 27.1 C 31.7 C 4.6 - 

PM 

EBL 21.3 C 37.2 D 15.9 C > D 
EBTR 44.5 D 54.3 D 9.8 - 
WBL 21.6 C 23.9 C 2.3 - 

WBTR 37.2 D 40.0 D 2.8 - 
NB 30.7 C 20.6 C -10.1 - 
SB 32.4 C 63.2 E 30.8 C > E 

Overall 30.0 C 42.7 D 12.7 C > D 
  

8C



Intersection Peak 
Period Approach Average 

(ft) 
95th % 

(ft) 
Average 

(ft) 
95th % 

(ft) 
Average 

(ft) 
95th % 

(ft) 

Old 
Woodward 

Avenue 
& 

Willits Street 

AM 

EBL 71 134 106 191 35 57 
WBL 16 68 19 65 3 -3 
NBTR 55 110 27 66 -28 -44 
SBT 129 254 191 336 62 82 

Mid-day 

EBL 107 204 117 217 10 13 
WBL 36 79 36 75 0 -4 
NBTR 99 191 90 175 -9 -16 
SBT 144 312 187 336 43 24 

PM 

EBL 144 256 255 454 111 198 
WBL 40 118 35 92 -5 -26 
NBTR 103 184 87 177 -16 -7 
SBT 189 368 236 425 47 57 

Key Findings 

• The total crosswalk distance will be reduced from 75-feet to approximately 60-feet. 

• The vehicle delay (LOS) and vehicle queueing will increase. 

• The southbound right turn overlap phase will be eliminated. 

• Fire hydrant relocation should be taken into consideration when designing curb extensions. 

• This alternative could be constructed in conjunction with a curb extension on the NE corner to reduce 
the total crosswalk distance from the existing 75-feet to approximately 50-feet. 

3. PROTECTED LEFT TURNS (E/W APPROACH) 
One of the most common conflicts at signalized intersections is the competition between vehicles permissively 
turning left and pedestrians crossing during the concurrent parallel pedestrian signal phase.  Drivers typically 
focus on opposing traffic to identify gaps for left turns and may not pay due attention to pedestrians approaching 
or in the parallel crosswalk.  Additionally, permissive left turns at congested intersections contribute to drivers 
accepting smaller gaps, turning at higher speeds, and “sneaking” through the intersection during the yellow or 
all-red signal intervals.  Protected left-turn phasing provides a green arrow for left-turning vehicles while 
stopping both on-coming traffic and parallel pedestrians’ crossings, therefore eliminating all potential conflict.   

Currently, the intersection of Old Woodward Avenue & Willits Street provides protective/permissive phasing for 
E/W left-turns from Willits Street and provides permissive only phasing for the N/S left-turns from Old Woodward 
Avenue.  This alternative considered providing protected-only phasing for the E/W left-turn movements from 
Willits Street; removing the permissive phase in order to eliminate vehicle-pedestrians conflicts for the E/W 
pedestrian crossings.  By eliminating the potential vehicle-pedestrian conflicts during the E/W crossings, there 
is no longer the need to provide an LPI along the E/W crossings; therefore, the allotted all-red time (10 seconds) 
is available for additional green time elsewhere.  This additional green time within the cycle helps to minimize 
the impact of removing the E/W permissive phase.The primary concern with this alternative is the operational 
impacts of eliminating the permissive phase.  An analysis was performed to determine the measure-of-
effectiveness (MOE) of this alternative as compared to existing operations.  The MOE summary is provided in 
Table 2.  The results of the analysis show that eliminating the permissive movement will increase both the 
vehicle delay (LOS) and the vehicle queueing. 

  

8C



Table 2: Protected E/W Left-Turn MOE Summary 

Intersection Peak 
Period Approach 

Existing 
Perm/Prot 

E/W Protected 
Only Left-turn Difference 

Delay 
(s/veh) LOS Delay 

(s/veh) LOS Delay 
(s/veh) LOS 

Old 
Woodward 

Avenue 
& 

Willits Street 

AM 

EBL 13.1 B 44.7 D 31.6 B > D 
EBTR 20.9 C 15.5 B -5.4 C > B 
WBL 16.7 B 39.9 D 23.2 B > D 

WBTR 32.9 C 25.3 C -7.6 - 
NB 28.3 C 24.4 C -3.9 - 
SB 28.3 C 24.0 C -4.3 - 

Overall 23.9 C 23.6 C -0.3 - 

Mid-day 

EBL 23.3 C 44.1 D 20.8 C > D 
EBTR 48.9 D 24.1 C -24.8 D > C 
WBL 22.1 C 39.6 D 17.5 C > D 

WBTR 38.4 D 25.9 C -12.5 D > C 
NB 26.1 C 29.5 C 3.4 - 
SB 24.2 C 24.4 C 0.2 - 

Overall 27.1 C 27.2 C 0.1 - 

PM 

EBL 21.3 C 49.2 D 27.9 C > D 
EBTR 44.5 D 16.1 B -28.4 D > B 
WBL 21.6 C 49.3 D 27.7 C > D 

WBTR 37.2 D 27.9 C -9.3 D > C 
NB 30.7 C 32.8 C 2.1 - 
SB 32.4 C 32.3 C -0.1 - 

Overall 30.0 C 30.3 C 0.3 - 

Intersection Peak 
Period Approach Average 

(ft) 
95th % 

(ft) 
Average 

(ft) 
95th % 

(ft) 
Average 

(ft) 
95th % 

(ft) 

Old 
Woodward 

Avenue 
& 

Willits Street 

AM 

EBL 71 134 90 173 19 39 
WBL 16 68 17 46 1 -22 
NBTR 55 110 52 104 -3 -6 
SBT 129 254 122 234 -7 -20 

Mid-day 

EBL 107 204 110 192 3 -12 
WBL 36 79 40 81 4 2 
NBTR 99 191 114 200 15 9 
SBT 144 312 134 245 -10 -67 

PM 

EBL 144 256 149 275 5 19 
WBL 40 118 36 84 -4 -34 
NBTR 103 184 95 173 -8 -11 
SBT 189 368 188 389 -1 21 

 

8C



Key Findings 

• The LPI phase for the E/W crossings will be available as additional green time for other movements, 
due to eliminating the potential vehicle-pedestrian conflicts along the E/W crossings. 

• The vehicle delay (LOS) will increase for the E/W left turn movements; however, it will decrease for the 
E/W through movements. 

• All potential vehicle-pedestrian conflicts will be eliminated for pedestrians crossing in the E/W directions 

o Vehicle-pedestrian conflicts will still exist for N/S crossing pedestrians 

• The existing signal 4-section signal heads on the east and west approaches would need to be replaced 
with a 3-section signal heads to operate as protected only. 

4. BARNES DANCE (PEDESTRIAN SCRAMBLE) 
This pedestrian improvement restricts all vehicular movements at an intersection and provides a pedestrian 
only walking phase.  At intersections with this type of pedestrian treatment, an “X” crosswalk through the middle 
of the intersection is often implemented, in addition to the four typical crossings connecting each corner.  This 
type of treatment allows pedestrians to travel without any potential for vehicle-pedestrian conflicts; however, 
this is typically implemented at intersection locations in dense urban areas with high pedestrian volumes. 

Table 3: Protected E/W Left-Turn MOE Summary 

Intersection Peak Period Approach 
Existing LPI Pedestrian Phase Difference 

Delay 
(s/veh) LOS Delay 

(s/veh) LOS Delay 
(s/veh) LOS 

Old 
Woodward 

Avenue 
& 

Willits Street 

AM 

EBL 13.1 B 22.9 C 9.8 B > C 
EBTR 20.9 C 29.2 C 8.3 - 
WBL 16.7 B 30.6 C 13.9 B > C 

WBTR 32.9 C 47.0 D 14.1 C > D 
NB 28.3 C 38.1 D 9.8 C > D 
SB 28.3 C 50.9 D 22.6 C > D 

Overall 23.9 C 38.3 D 14.4 C > D 

Mid-day 

EBL 23.3 C 49.1 D 25.8 C > D 
EBTR 48.9 D 73.8 E 24.9 D > E 
WBL 22.1 C 42.3 D 20.2 C > D 

WBTR 38.4 D 57.0 E 18.6 D > E 
NB 26.1 C 63.0 E 36.9 C > E 
SB 24.2 C 44.1 D 19.9 C > D 

Overall 27.1 C 51.0 D 23.9 C > D 

PM 

EBL 21.3 C 129.0 F 107.7 C > F 
EBTR 44.5 D 60.2 E 15.7 D > E 
WBL 21.6 C 29.6 C 8.0 - 

WBTR 37.2 D 81.7 F 44.5 D > F 
NB 30.7 C 61.8 E 31.1 C > E 
SB 32.4 C 111.6 F 79.2 C > F 

Overall 30.0 C 85.3 F 55.3 C > F 
  

8C



Intersection Peak Period Approach Average 
(ft) 

95th % 
(ft) 

Average 
(ft) 

95th % 
(ft) 

Average 
(ft) 

95th % 
(ft) 

Old 
Woodward 

Avenue 
& 

Willits Street 

AM 

EBL 71 134 94 161 23 27 
WBL 16 68 16 54 0 -14 
NBTR 55 110 69 127 14 17 
SBT 129 254 177 336 48 82 

Mid-day 

EBL 107 204 138 248 31 44 
WBL 36 79 39 88 3 9 
NBTR 99 191 189 290 90 99 
SBT 144 312 236 444 92 132 

PM 

EBL 144 256 191 327 47 71 
WBL 40 118 105 258 65 140 
NBTR 103 184 143 254 40 70 
SBT 189 368 344 549 155 181 

Key Findings 

• Pedestrian movements will be fully separated from vehicular movements. 

• This treatment would require a reduction in green time for all movements; resulting in the vehicle delay 
(LOS) and vehicle queuing increasing along all approaches and movements. 

• Push-buttons or other pedestrian detection is recommended in order to minimize vehicle delays when 
pedestrians are not present. 

5. ADDITIONAL SIGNAGE 
The effectiveness that additional signage has on driver yielding compliance is 
influenced by several factors, including vehicular speed, traffic volume, and 
whether the driver perceives yielding as a courtesy or the law.  Enhancing signage 
with pedestrian activated lights or flashing beacons has been shown to be more 
effective than those signs that flash/blink continuously.  Pedestrian signage 
placed in advance of the crosswalk location has been shown to be effective at 
reducing vehicle-pedestrian conflicts.  

Key Findings  

• A “Left turns yield to pedestrians” sign would provide advanced warning 
for drivers making left-turns, ideally increasing their attention to crossing 
pedestrians.  

• Additional signage will only be effective for those motorists who observe and obey the signage. 

• Overuse of signs may breed noncompliance and disrespect. 

• Visibility of signs will be of difficulty due to on-street parking. 

SUMMARY & RECOMMENDATIONS 
The results of the alternative analysis indicate that Alternative 1 (NE Curb Extension) and Alternative 3 
(Protected-Only Left-Turns) provide a noticeable pedestrian improvement, without causing a significant impact 
to the intersection operations.   

• Alternative 1 will provide a reduced crosswalk distance (75-ft to 65-ft) for the north leg of the intersection 
without impacting vehicle operations; however, the Smart bus stop location will need to be relocated.   

• Alternative 3 will eliminate all potential vehicle-pedestrian conflicts for the E/W crossings; however, the 
vehicle delay (LOS) for the E/W left turn movements will be increased. 

An additional option for consideration is Alternative 5 and to provide a “Left turns yield to pedestrians” sign.  
This option would be the lowest cost alternative; however, it would rely on driver compliance and attentiveness. 

8C



Alternatives 2 and 4 are not recommended.  Alternative 2 has a similar cost to the other alternatives; however, 
the overall intersection operations will experience larger delays.  Alternative 4 provides the lowest cost to 
remove all potential vehicle-pedestrian conflicts; however, the vehicle operations on all approaches will 
experience significant increases in delay and queuing. 

Table 4: Pedestrian Improvement Cost Summary 

Intersection Treatment Estimated Cost 

1. NE Curb Extension $2,000 - $20,000 

2. NW Curb Extension $2,000 - $20,000 

3. E/W Protected-Only Phase ~ $17,000 

4. “X” crosswalk pavement 
markings ~$2,500 

5. Signage $200 - $600 per sign 

We hope that this information provides adequate clarification to address the questions of the City.  If you have 
any questions or concerns, please contact our office.  

 
Sincerely, 
 
FLEIS & VANDENBRINK  
 
 
 
 
Julie M. Kroll, PE, PTOE  
Sr. Project Manager 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
JJS2:maa:jmk 

8C



OAK
LA

ND A
VE

NUE

WILLITS STREET

N. OLD W
OODW

ARD AVENUE

N. OLD W
OODW

ARD AVENUE

PROPOSED
BUMPOUT

DESIGN. BUILD. OPERATE.

F
&

V
 
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 
N

O
.

8
2
3
8
0
1

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

IMPROVEMENT PLAN

NORTH

OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN

WILLITS ST. & WOODWARD AVE.

FIGURE 2A

NORTHEAST CORNER BUMPOUT

8C

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
40



OAK
LA

ND A
VE

NUE

WILLITS STREET

N. OLD W
OODW

ARD AVENUE

N. OLD W
OODW

ARD AVENUE

PROPOSED
BUMPOUT

DESIGN. BUILD. OPERATE.

F
&

V
 
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 
N

O
.

8
2
3
8
0
1

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

IMPROVEMENT PLAN

NORTH

OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN

WILLITS ST. & WOODWARD AVE.

FIGURE 2B

NORTHEAST CORNER

FULL BUMPOUT

8C

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
40



OAK
LA

ND A
VE

NUE

WILLITS STREET

N. OLD W
OODW

ARD AVENUE

N. OLD W
OODW

ARD AVENUE

PROPOSED
BUMPOUT

ADDITIONAL
PARKING

DESIGN. BUILD. OPERATE.

F
&

V
 
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 
N

O
.

8
2
3
8
0
1

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

IMPROVEMENT PLAN

NORTH

OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN

WILLITS ST. & WOODWARD AVE.

FIGURE 3

SOUTHWEST CORNER  BUMPOUT

8C

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE IN FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
40



7  October 28, 2019 

important to keep City Manager Valentine.  He deserves this based on merit and Commissioner 
Harris is in support of this resolution forward.  
Commissioner DeWeese expressed that there are many who disagree with the City Commission 
and the focus on the City Manager is misplaced.  The position of City Manager should be apolitical.  
Mr. Valentine has been respectful and does what the City Commission directs him to do.  The 
Commission has direct control over the City Manager’s personnel issues.  After considerable 
research, he found that the City is way underpaying Mr. Valentine.  Given a motion, he will support 
the vote tonight.  
Commissioner Sherman echoed Commissioner DeWeese’s comments. 
Mayor Pro Tem Boutros agrees that Mr. Valentines performance has been strong and an asset to 
the City. 
MOTION:  Motion by Commissioner Nickita, seconded by Commissioner Harris:  
To approve the resolution approving the amendment to the City Manager’s Employment 
Agreement as outlined in the Third Amended Employment Agreement and directing the Mayor to 
sign the Agreement on behalf of the City. 
VOTE:   Ayes:  5 
   Nays:  0 
   Absent: 2 
 

V. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
08-224 -19 TRAFFIC SIGNAL AT N. OLD WOODWARD AVE & WILLITS ST. 
Director Ecker presented this item. 
 Commissioner Nickita asked how the bus lane would be designated so that people would see 

it. 
 Director Ecker said that temporary bollards are proposed for bump outs with pavement 

markings for the bus lane. 
 Commissioner Sherman appreciates the staff looking at this on a test basis. 
 Commissioner Nickita asked for the next step in terms of clarifying some of these points.  
 City Manager Valentine expressed that the details can come either back as a staff report after 

the fact or see it again for approval. 
 Commissioner Nickita does not want to extend the issue but clarification needs to be provided 

by the consultants.  
 Julie explained that drawings are first and once implemented data collection would occur. 
 Commissioner DeWeese would like to approve as a concept, in the meantime implement this 

piece and additional costs could be brought back at a later meeting in the form of change 
orders. 

 
MOTION:  Motion by Commissioner Nickita, seconded by Commissioner Harris:  
To approve the resolution for the recommended modifications to the traffic signal timing at the 
N. Old Woodward Ave. & Willits St. /Oakland Blvd. intersection for a trial period as soon as 
possible, through March 2020, with the enhancement of the temporary bus lane at a total 
estimated cost of $9,200, including: 

1. Remove the permissive left turn phase of the traffic signal for eastbound and westbound 
traffic using Option 3 as a trial through March, 2020; 

2. Installing updated crosswalk markings on three legs of the intersection; and 

8C



8  October 28, 2019 

3. Installing lane modifications north of the intersection, marked by bollards, such that a 
bump out can be added on the northwest corner, and a separated bus lane will be created 
on the northeast corner. 
Further, approving the appropriation and amendment to the 2019-2020 fiscal year Major 
Street Fund budget as follows: 
Major Street Fund 

 
Revenues: 
Draw from Fund Balance  202-000.000-400.0000                                 $9,200 

Total Revenue Adjustments                          $9,200 
Expenditures: 
Other Contractual Service  202-449.001-981.0100                                 $9,200 

Total Expenditure Adjustments                      $9,200 
 
VOTE:   Ayes:  5 
   Nays:  0 
   Absent: 2 
 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 
08-225 -19  PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER ZONING AMENDMENT  
Mayor Pro Tem Boutros opened Public Hearing at 8:45 p.m.  
Brooks Cowan presented the item and explained that a SLUP is needed.  The majority located 
along Woodward between Oakland and Lincoln, to include All Seasons, Hazel Ravines, and Triple 
Nickel.  Nothing is eligible east of Woodward, MU5 and MU7.  

 Commissioner Sherman commented that the presentation should address the ordinance 
before the commission only, the Rail District as a whole, as opposed to the project 
specifications. 

 Commissioner Deweese expressed that people are concerned that there are going to be 
a lot of liquor licenses coming into a certain area.  He went on to say that the licenses are 
under total control of the commission, it is a tool to provide some catalyst to reinvigorate 
the area, but will not become over consumed with licenses. 

 Commissioner Nickita questioned if the district in the Master Plan called the S. Rail District, 
due to its eclectic nature, is consistent with what was proposed as the S. Rail District.  He 
further asked if we anticipated it being further north.  

 
Public Comment 

 Andrew Haig supported the whole point of addressing an area, he also suggested limiting 
to 2-3 parcels.  

o Mr. Cowan presented the original map proposed to the Planning Board. 
 Larry Bertollini expressed concern about the big chuck being changed.  He felt that the 

City should move more slowly.  While he is not opposed to spot zoning, sidewalk issues, 
and parking should be investigated.  He felt the residents in the area are not aware of the 
impact and should be given notification.  He noted that one of the suggestions of the new 
Master Plan was to get access to train and should concentrate on the Triangle District.  

 David Bloom supported comments by Mr. Haig and Mr. Bertollini.  
 
Public hearing closed at 9:09 

8C



Approving the resolution to accept the following recommendations of the Multi-Modal 
Transportation Board: 

1.  The installation of improved pedestrian crossings at the intersections of Cranbrook 
Rd. at both Midvale Rd. and Middlebury Lane, to be included in the upcoming 
resurfacing project to be completed by the Road Commission for Oakland County. 

2.    To direct staff to apply for a Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP) grant to 
obtain federal funds to cover up to 80% of the construction cost of multi-modal 
improvements to consist of: 
a.  The installation of a 10 ft. wide concrete mixed-use path for pedestrian and 

bicycle usage on the east side of Cranbrook Rd. from Midvale Rd. to Lincoln 
Ave., and on the west side of Cranbrook Rd. from Lincoln Ave. to 14 Mile 
Rd. 

b.  Extension of Neighborhood Connector Route signs and harrows on Midvale 
Rd. from Cranbrook Rd. to Larchlea Dr. 

c.  The installation of 5 ft. wide concrete sidewalks on the east side of 
Cranbrook Rd. from Lincoln Ave. to Northlawn Dr., and on the south side 
of Lincoln Ave., from Cranbrook Rd. to Golfview Blvd. 

d.  The installation of a 5 ft. wide concrete sidewalk on the north side of 14 
Mile Rd. from Crosswick Rd. to Cranbrook Rd. (Lincoln Hills Golf Course 
frontage). 

 
Commissioner Hoff commented that this is an example of how the Commission does focus on the 
best interest of the residents; coupled with the Lakeview Avenue street improvement project. 
These programs are specifically for the safety, convenience, and for the walkability for the 
residents in this area. 
 
VOTE:  Ayes,  7 

Nays,  0   
 

09-230-19 RESOLUTION ACCEPTING TRAFFIC SIGNAL CHANGES AT THE 
NORTH OLD WOODWARD AND WILLITS INTERSECTION. 

Julie Crowe, Fleis and Vandenbrink, presented the item. 
● Mayor Bordman feels secure knowing that there is a signal for the pedestrian only to get 

into the intersection without fear of a car turning right at the same time. 
● Pro Tem Boutros expressed that the only solution is to have no turn on red anywhere.  

However, he does not know the impact of enforcing not turn on red. 
● Commissioner Nickita asked how much traffic capacity this intersection has relative to the 

Brown and Old Woodward.  The information was not available. 
● Mayor Pro Tem Boutros noted that Maple and Old Woodward is believed to be unsafe by 

pedestrians. 
● Commissioner Hoff asked for accident statistics for the police chief.  He responded no and 

no and expressed that he does not know of the intersection being unsafe.  
● Commissioner Sherman suggested that this type of proposal does not require physical 

improvement; therefore, a test would be easy.  Mr O’Meara corrected him because there 
is a physical improvement involved of $17,000 to change the traffic signal. 

● City Manager Valentine asked what could be done on a trial basis that does not involve a 
capital improvement and provide benefit. 

8C

BCowan
Highlight

BCowan
Highlight

BCowan
Highlight

BCowan
Highlight

BCowan
Highlight



● Mr. O’Meara suggested moving right turn lanes closer to the center and use temporary
bump out markers on both sides of the street that do not influence the east west
movement but will affect Old Woodward crosswalk width.

● Commissioner Hoff believes that the improvements being offered for $17,000 and when
redesigned make the adjustments should be made and when the intersection is
redesigned, make the adjustments2.  She further suggests that any test should be done
during the summer when pedestrian traffic is heavy.

● Mayor Pro Tem Boutros agrees with Commissioner Hoff, but if the trial phase does not
work, will the light head be reusable. He expressed that he does not want a long trial.

● Commissioner Nickita believes that a 4-month test with minimal cost is appropriate.  He
also cannot see justification for a dedicated bus lane.

● Mayor Bordman noted that the proposed change does not a does not include a3 leading
pedestrian interval (LPI) and that is the part that should be tested.

MOTION: No action taken.  Mayor Bordman suggested without objection that this item be 
returned to the agenda later. 

09-231-19 RESOLUTION TO MEET IN CLOSED SESSION PURSUANT TO 
SECTIONS 8(E) AND 8(H) OF THE OPEN MEETINGS ACT 

MOTION:    Motion by Commissioner Sherman, seconded by Commissioner Hoff: 
To meet in closed session pursuant to the Open Meetings Act Section 8(e) regarding Baller/Bloom 
v. City of Birmingham and Section 8(h) to consider material exempt from discussion or disclosure
by state or federal statute.
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes: Mayor Bordman 

Mayor Pro Tem Boutros 
Commissioner DeWeese 
Commissioner Harris 
Commissioner Hoff 
Commissioner Nickita 
Commissioner Sherman 

Nays:  None 

No action expected after closed session. 

To closed session at 9:53 P.M. 

VII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA

VIII. COMMUNICATIONS

IX. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA
Michael Horowitz, new residents to Birmingham, apologized for not coming to a meeting before 
the August election.  He has seen the empty storefronts downtown and downtown does define 
the City.  He felt that the Bates Street project was very exciting.  Approximately ⅓ of the 

2 As corrected on October 7, 2019. 
3 As corrected on October 7, 2019. 

8C



MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 

DATE: December 28, 2023 

TO: Jana L. Ecker, City Manager 

FROM: Scott A. Grewe, Chief of Police 

SUBJECT: Speed Mitigation Report 

The Police Department routinely conducts traffic studies to monitor the speed and volume of 
vehicles on streets throughout the City of Birmingham.  These studies are used for a variety of 
projects in the City and are also used to assign targeted police patrols if a problem area is 
identified.  These studies are often used by the Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MMTB) and 
the City’s consultants when designing roadways.  When a complaint is received or a transportation 
project begins they are first reviewed by the City’s transportation team. That team includes 
representatives from the City’s Planning, Engineering, and Police Departments along with the 
City’s consulting traffic engineer and transportation planner. This group reviews data such as 
traffic counts, speed data, crash histories and other information.  If a problem is identified, traffic 
calming measures are often recommended as part of the project to address speed and volume 
concerns. Traffic calming is a method of reducing vehicle speeds through physical treatment of a 
roadway to alter motorist's behaviors. Traffic calming can also be utilized to improve streetscapes 
and the conditions for people living, walking, and biking in the community. These improvements 
can be implemented into the roadway (gateway treatments, medians, refuge islands, etc.) or can 
alter the pedestrian realm (bumpouts, sidewalks, curbs, etc.).   

Speed Boards 
The Police Department also utilizes six permanent speed boards (N. Eton, N and S Adams, W. 
Maple, Southfield, Saxon) that have been placed on streets with higher vehicular volumes and 
speeds.  These speed boards display vehicle speeds in real time to drivers.  In addition to these 
permanent boards, the Police Department has temporary speed boards that are placed to bring 
awareness to drivers of their speeds to encourage their compliance.  These temporary boards are 
placed at different locations based on our speed study results and complaints received from 
residents.  In 2023, these temporary speed boards were placed at 22 different locations, with 
each location operating from two weeks to two months. 

8E1



Speed Humps 
Recently there has been discussion over the potential installation of speed humps.  The MMTB 
further studied this issue in November of 2022.  City staff, consultants, and the MMTB discussed 
nearby cities, such as Farmington Hills, Rochester Hills, and Ann Arbor, with traffic calming and 
speed hump policies.  Consensus indicated that it is more common to implement speed humps 
along streets where the 85th percentile of speeds is 10+ mph above the speed limit.   

The Police Department is pleased to report that no residential streets in Birmingham met this 
criteria as we are not experiencing similar speeding issues to these other communities.  This 
information was included in the Manager's Report at the February 27, 2023, regular meeting of 
the City Commission and an additional report regarding this study was included in the August 14, 
2023 City Commission agenda packet. 

Other Speed Mitigation Design Options 
Traffic calming measures are a key element of any City evaluation or changes to a street. 
Fortunately, the traffic speeds are consistently near the posted speed on most residential streets. 
When the City investigates a perceived problem, a number of mitigation techniques can be 
considered, as noted in the City of Birmingham Traffic Calming Program attached to this report.  

When warranted, the installation of one or more of these options provides a long-lasting, often 
permanent, solution to address these issues.  While enforcement action is an effective tool, it is 
often temporary as officers address numerous issues and respond to calls for service throughout 
the community.  Therefore, reviewing and implementing design options that can address both 
the volume and speed of vehicles is the best long-term solution. 

As stated earlier, not all roadways can be reconstructed to address these concerns so we can look 
at other examples of ways the City has installed mitigation design options.  For example, on S. 
Eton, the roadway was narrowed by adding bump-outs and a bike lane using painted lines and 
bollards to mark those areas.  This initiative has helped to calm traffic, increase safety for 
pedestrians and reduce traffic accidents.  Also, along Lincoln, bump-outs and gateway treatments 
were added to narrow the roadway assisting in calming traffic.  And on Brown, gateway 
treatments were added at pedestrian crossings to help bring awareness to crosswalk locations, 
narrowing the roadway to further calm traffic. 

Enforcement Activity 
While these traffic calming measures can be the best way to address vehicle volume and speeding 
concerns, not every street can be redesigned, therefore the Police Department is active in several 
ways to address speeding concerns.  One of the primary responsibilities of a police officer is to 
monitor and enforce traffic violations to ensure the safety of all motorists, pedestrians, and all 
mode users.  In 2022, the Police Department issued 5,887 traffic citations which was an increase 
of 67% from the prior year, and in 2023, citations increased to 6,225 as traffic enforcement 
continues to be a priority for our department.  While these increases are partially due to the 
increased enforcement along Woodward Ave., they also represent an increase in activity 
throughout the City.  The Birmingham Police Department wrote over 2,300 more citations than 
any other agency out of the 48th District Court despite being the third largest agency. 

8E1



Grant Funding – Equipment Purchase 
The Police Department recently applied for and received a grant from the Office of Highway 
Safety Planning.  This grant included the purchase of two laser speed measuring devices to be 
used for enforcement and a speed monitoring/messaging trailer.  This trailer can be used to 
monitor and display speeds as well as provide messaging to drivers, a function our current devices 
do not have.  We are in the process of purchasing this new equipment and it will be available 
soon to increase our effectiveness with enforcement and prevention.  

Summary:
The Police Department will continue to monitor traffic trends to deploy resources appropriately. 
The department will also continue to communicate with complainants to determine the cause of 
the issues so a proper response can be implemented.  Whether it is the installation of a temporary 
speed board, targeted enforcement activity or a deeper review by our consultants and the MMTB, 
each complaint is taken seriously and a plan is implemented to address the issue.  Long-term 
solutions are accomplished during road improvements and the installation of traffic calming 
measures.  However, the Police Department will continue to be active in all the ways mentioned 
in this report to address traffic issues and keep our roadways safe.  Additionally, the Police 
Department will continue to review and monitor new technology as it is developed and alternative 
methods for addressing these concerns. 

8E1



CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
TRAFFIC CALMING PROGRAM 

8E1



CONTENTS 

WHAT IS TRAFFIC CALMING?. .............................. 2 

EXISTING CONDITIONS IN BIRMINGHAM .................. 3 

THE CITY’S CURRENT PROCESS. .......................... 4 

TRAFFIC CALMING MEASURES USED BY THE CITY ........ 5 

WHAT IS TRAFFIC CALMING? 

Traffic calming is a method of reducing vehicle speeds through 
physical treatment of a roadway to alter motorist's behaviors. 
Traffic calming can also be utilized to improve streetscapes and 
the conditions for people living, walking, and biking in the 
community. These improvements can be implemented into the 
roadway (gateway treatments, medians, refuge islands, etc.) or 
can alter the pedestrian realm (bumpouts, sidewalks, curbs, 
etc.) 

There are plenty of national resources available for those who 
want to learn more about traffic calming and methods that are 
available. These resources include, but are not limited to... 

• Michigan Manual on Uniform
Traffic Control Devices

• National Association of
Transportation Officials
(NACTO)

• Federal Highway Administration
(FHWA) Proven Safety
Countermeasures

8E1



EXISTING CONDITIONS IN BIRMINGHAM 
The City of Birmingham has approximately 85.05 miles of roads. Most 
are residential, and are either improved or unimproved. 

Improved Road – a road with curb and gutters which has a surface of 
concrete or asphalt. 

Unimproved Road – gravel road with or without curbs that has been 
treated with cape seal to provide a relatively smooth and dust free 
driving surface. The map below shows which roads within the City are 
identified as “improved” and “unimproved”. 

Improved vs Unimproved Roads in Birmingham, MI. 

Common complaints about residential streets by residents and 
businesses are: 

• Speeds are too high.
• Traffic volumes are too high.
• Traffic volumes have changed.
• Non-residents are parking in front of homes.
• It feels dangerous to cross the street.
• On-street parking, including landscaping or construction is

making the street unsafe.

Additional background regarding streets in Birmingham... 

• Woodward (M-1) is under control of the Michigan Dept of 
Transportation (MDOT). While the City works closely with MDOT, 
the final decisions on the design, traffic signals, and overall 
operations are made by MDOT.

• Speed limits - are set by the State Police, not by the City. The State 
Police use a “85th percentile” system where the speeds are often set 
so that 85% of people drive at or below that speed. Typically, the 
State Police will not allow the City to post speeds that are well 
below the speed that most people drive.

• The maximum speed limit on residential roads in Michigan is 25 
miles per hour. The City conducts regular speed studies. These 
speed studies have shown that the average speed on most streets 
are at or below 25 mph or just above it.

• The City current residential street design is for a 26 foot wide street 
with curbs, and a sidewalk along both sides of the street with a lawn 
between the street and the sidewalk. But Birmingham has a wide 
variety of street types with some streets being 33 feet or wider, 
some are very narrow, and there are many residential streets 
without sidewalks.

• The City has a guide for street design, pedestrian crossings types, 
parking dimensions and other standards. When there may be a 
need for pedestrian islands, bumpouts, signs, flashing  beacons
or other measures, the City relies on manuals such as NACTO, 
Michigan’s Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices, guidance 
documents from FHWA and other sources.

• About half the City’s Streets are considered unimproved. This 
means that the pavement is not intended for heavier trucks or high 
traffic volumes. An improved road has a deeper base and thicker 
pavement and curbs (though some unimproved roads may also 
have curbs). Some traffic calming techniques used by other cities, 
like speed humps, cannot be used on the City’s unimproved roads 
because the structure cannot physically support them.

8E1



THE CITY’S CURRENT PROCESS 

Birmingham has a Multi-Modal Transportation Board that meets 
monthly at City Hall, typically the first Thursday of each month at 6 
pm. Meetings are open to the pubic and comments are appreciated 
(Enter through the Police Department on the Pierce Street 
entrance). The Board reviews changes to street design, non-
motorized improvements, updates transportation plans, other 
transportation matters and gives direction to city staff or makes 
recommendations to the City Commission. 

One of the most common agenda items deal with questions or 
requests raised by residents and business about safety, traffic 
speeds, traffic volumes, the need for improved pedestrian crossings 
or parking issues. And when a street is scheduled for repaving or 
improvement, the Multi-Modal Board first reviews its plans and 
policies to see if there are any recommendations that need to be 
considered. 

Both complaints and transportation projects are first reviewed by 
the City’s transportation team, which includes representatives from 
the City’s Planning, Engineering, and Police Departments along with 
the City’s consulting traffic engineer and transportation planner. 
This group reviews data such as traffic counts, speed data, crash 
histories and other information. Information is presented to the 
Board for direction or action. 

What is the typical process? 

1. Information is recorded. The topic is reviewed by the
City’s transportation team that meets every other week.

2. The City’s transportation team reviews existing speeds, traffic 
counts, and assesses any recent crashes. If additional data is 
needed, studies are conducted.

3. In some cases, the City’s transportation planners and engineers 
conduct a Safety Audit to review operations, geometrics, signs, 
sidewalks and crossing, on-street parking use, bicycle use etc.

4. If some improvements need to be considered, recommendations 
are provided at a Multi-Modal Transportation Board meeting
(typically 1st Thursday, 6 pm at City Hall).

5. In some cases, there could be a notice to the affected property 
owners inviting them to a Board meeting or there could be a 
special meeting for major changes.

6. If there are costs to move the curbs, change intersection design or 
other significant capital investments, the project would need to be 
added to the Capital Improvement Plan by the City Commission.

8E1



TRAFFIC CALMING MEASURES USED BY THE CITY 

Traffic calming measures are a key element of any City 
evaluation or changes to a street. Fortunately, the traffic speeds 
are consistently near the posted speed on most residential 
streets. 

When the City investigates a perceived problem, a number of 
mitigation techniques can be considered, as noted below: 

Bump Outs 

Bump outs allow pedestrians to cross 
the street quicker by crossing a shorter 
distance. It also makes the neck of the 
street narrower to encourage drivers to 
slow down and pay closer attention. 

Example location in Birmingham: 
S Old Woodward Ave 

Crosswalks 

Visible crosswalks allow pedestrians to 
cross safely while increasing visibility to 
drivers. 

Pedestrian Refuge Island 

Stop Signs and Yield Signs 

Adding stop signs can help create gaps 
for pedestrians and allows traffic to move 
more efficiently through an intersection. 
However, stop signs are often not an 
effective speed management solution as 
they may not decrease overall speeds and 
can create a false sense of security. There 
are  State criteria or warrants that must 
be met for stop sign installation. 

Gateway Treatments 

Enhancements at the entrance of 
residential districts/neighborhoods that 
are intended to mark the transition to a 
slower speed street. 

Example location in Birmingham: 

E Lincoln St 

Refuge islands shorten the distance 
pedestrians cross by providing an island 
between lanes. 

Example location in Birmingham: 
N Old Woodward Ave 

8E1



Narrowing the Roadway 

The City’s standard for residential streets 
is 28 feet, curb to curb. Many streets are 
wider which could increase speeding 
incidents.  

ADDITIONAL TRAFFIC CALMING MEASURES BEING LOOKED AT BY 
THE CITY... 

Speed Humps 

Adding/Improving Sidewalks 

Sidewalks provide safety and allow 
enhanced mobility for pedestrians. 
Sidewalks separated from the roadway are 
preferred, however the addition of a 
sidewalk in any capacity increases 
pedestrian safety. 

Adding Curbs 

Curbs contribute to increased pedestrian 
safety by offering separation between the 
road and the sidewalk. 

Installing Speed Monitoring Signs 

Speed monitoring signs make road users 
more aware of the speed they are driving 
and decrease the number of speeding cars. 

Other cities with speeds more than 10 
mph over the speed limit use techniques 
like speed humps. However, few streets in 
Birmingham have that level of speeding. 
About 1/2 of the City’s streets are 
“unimproved” without curbs, meaning 
that the pavement cannot support speed 
humps. Speed humps must also have 
space away from storm sewers and 
driveways. Therefore, many City streets 
do not allow enough room for speed 
humps to be spaced properly. In addition, 
the City’s Fire Dept and Department of 
Public Services are not supportive of 
speed humps. 

8E1



NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO THE 
CABLECASTING BOARD  

At the regular meeting of Monday, April 8, 2024, the Birmingham City Commission intends to 
appoint three regular members to the Cablecasting Board to serve three-year terms expiring March 
30, 2027, one regular member to serve the remainder of a three-year term expiring March 
30, 2026, and one alternate member to serve the remainder of a three-year term expiring March 
30, 2025. Applicants must be residents of the City of Birmingham. 

Interested citizens may submit an application available at the City Clerk’s office or online at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities. Applications must be submitted to the City Clerk's office on 
or before noon on Wednesday, April 3, 2024.  These applications will appear in the public agenda 
for the regular meeting at which time the City Commission will discuss recommendations, and may 
make nominations and vote on the appointments. 

Duties of the Cablecasting Board 
1) Advise the municipalities on matters relating to cable communications;
2) Monitor the franchisee's compliance with the franchise agreement and the cable

communications ordinance;
3) Conduct performance reviews as outlined in Chapter 30, Article VII of the city code;
4) Act as liaison between the franchisee and the public; hear complaints from the public and

seek their resolution from the franchisee;
5) Advise the various municipalities on rate adjustments and services according to the

procedure outlined in Chapter 30; Article VI
6) Advise the municipalities on renewal, extension or termination of a franchise;
7) Appropriate those moneys deposited in an account in the name of the Cablecasting Board

by the member communities;
8) Oversee the operation of the education, governmental and public access channels;
9) Apprise the municipalities of new developments in cable communications technology;
10) Hear and decide all matters or requests by the operator (Comcast Cablevision);
11) Hear and make recommendations to the municipalities of any request of the operator for

modification of the franchise requirement as to channel capacity and addressable
converters or maintenance of the security fund;

12) Hear and decide all matters in the franchise agreement which would require the operator
to expend moneys up to fifty thousand dollars;

13) Enter into contracts as authorized by resolutions of the member municipalities;
14) Administer contracts entered into by the Board and terminate such contracts.

NOTE: All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 2, 
Article IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.  

Criteria/Qualifications of Open Position Date 
Applications Due 
(by noon) 

Date of 
Interview 

Members must be residents of the City 
of Birmingham. 

4/3/2024 4/8/2024 

11A1

http://www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities


NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO 
BOARD OF REVIEW 

At the regular meeting of Monday, January 22, 2024, the Birmingham City Commission 
intends to appoint two regular members with terms expiring December 31, 2025 and 
December 31, 2026 and also two alternate members one to serve a three-year term expiring 
December 31, 2026 and the other to serve the remainder of a three-year term set to expire 
December 31, 2025. Applicants must be property owners and electors of the City of 
Birmingham. 

The Board of Review, consisting of two panels of three local citizens who must be property 
owners and electors, is appointed by the City Commission for three-year terms.  Although a 
general knowledge of the City is very helpful, more important are good judgment and the 
ability to listen carefully to all sides of an issue before making a decision.  Approximately 
three weeks in March are scheduled for taxpayers to protest their assessments and one day 
each in July and December for correcting clerical errors and mutual mistakes of fact.  Two 
training sessions in February are also required.   

Interested citizens may submit an application available at the Clerk’s office or online at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities. Applications must be submitted to the City Clerk’s 
office on or before noon on Wednesday, January 17, 2024.  These documents will appear in 
the public agenda for the regular meeting at which time the City Commission will interview 
applicants and may make nominations and vote on appointments.  

Board members are paid $110 per diem. 

NOTE: All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 2, 
Article IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.   

Criteria/Qualifications of Open Position Date 
Applications Due 
(by noon) 

Date of 
Interview 

Members must be property owners and electors 
(registered voters) of the City of Birmingham. 

1/17/2024 1/22/2024 

11A2

http://www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities


NOTICE OF INTENTION TO APPOINT TO THE 
PARKS & RECREATION BOARD 

At the regular meeting of Monday, March 18, 2024, the Birmingham City Commission intends 
to appoint three regular members to the Parks and Recreation Board to serve three-year 
terms to expire March 13, 2027. 

Interested citizens may submit an application available at the City Clerk’s office or online at 
www.bhamgov.org/boardopportunities. Applications must be submitted to the City Clerk's 
office on or before noon on Wednesday, March 13, 2024.  These applications will appear in 
the public agenda for the regular meeting at which time the City Commission will discuss 
recommendations, and may make nominations and vote on the appointments. 

Responsibilities 
The Parks & Recreation Board consists of seven members who serve for three-year terms 
without compensation. The goal of the board is to promote a recreation program and a park 
development program for the City of Birmingham.  The Board shall recommend to the City 
Commission for adoption such rules and regulations pertaining to the conduct and use of 
parks and public grounds as are necessary to administer the same and to protect public 
property and the safety, health, morals, and welfare of the public. 

The meetings are held the first Tuesday of the month at 6:30 P.M. 

NOTE: All members of boards and commissions are subject to the provisions of City of Birmingham City Code Chapter 2, 
Article IX, Ethics and the filing of the Affidavit and Disclosure Statement.   

Criteria/Qualifications of Open Position Date 
Applications Due 
(by noon) 

Date of 
Interview 

Members must be electors (registered voters) of 
the City of Birmingham. 

3/13/2024 3/18/2024 

11A3



ANN ARBOR

Ann Arbor approves citywide ban on gas leaf blowers
Published: Dec. 19, 2023, 8:33 a.m.

IO

https://www.googleadservices.com/pagead/aclk?nis=4&sa=L&ai=CwXRmDEODZbCtIIaQhQas45GgBaWn5t909Ojvg8QRkOb2gdYcEAEgt8jTR2DJjraJkKToD6ABptbV_gPIAQngAgCoAwHIA8sEqgSFA0_QvMZjAH_dE1zhXB9GgDYo2Vm0m_ts2VLTP-BvAA4XEtJvoT4QvipH3mOQA7tpRm3B5q3mWX0wrKGDGd_oV7BLR7nAutVaK-uFELX3gajXty6w94JV9ySsyJDxWsValhx4hCWS0bQlhCaG2LemqgHPLAFYwkeBk19OBBCm1XWdrfw5mJQlzNIfbf2lgsj6iNWFWFV7-letBf2GF1g52cMQVPh8coa_RFxHfa9a69AHoLH73KhBzeIN34ZL_inFtAfCKzemkgKyKrhVWhPDCmOvzi5RGHM3x4QYPAGP5lcYPmwyTX291YPpY5-n0IxrOzF9zUJxKpCYxi4Q_5d71mHxqbsgJrotVvo9asmQzx3pmgFteASxCHFB0jw5Oe4BGvUFSNLMYAeIDKkbW2ijFPiLRc6ljL1NKkOrZSzyXg8ZKAlSvWbCuaGbDP7XhxSmDB9rT0vjBRM3PIq1Tr-jIHoVhzM5iRiNOpykU-CnLAmx-7xXmy_9yk4TRDFfZgHzMRjvdDSrwASvlenTggTgBAGIBcnLpI49wAUF-gUGCCUQARgAoAYugAfCqaoBqAfZtrECqAeOzhuoB5PYG6gH7paxAqgH_p6xAqgHpr4bqAeaBqgH89EbqAeW2BuoB6qbsQKoB4OtsQKoB_-esQKoB9-fsQKoB8qpsQKoB-ulsQLYBwDACAHSCB8IgGEQARgdMgKKAjoEgECAQEi9_cE6WMnL0a7inoMDgAoDigrQAWh0dHBzOi8vdHJhY2tpbmcuZGVlcHNlYXJjaC5hZGx1Y2VudC5jb20vYWRsdWNlbnQvUmVkaXJlY3Rvcj9yZXRhaWxlcj1mdWxsYmVhdXR5JmFkbF9jaGFubmVsPWdvb2dsZW1peGVkJmFkbF9za3U9MzAyNDE3MDc0LUNBJmFkbF9rd2lkPWF1dG9hZzAwMDB4MTY0MDkzODQwNDcmYWRsX2RldmljZT1jJmxvY2F0aW9uPTkwMTY3OTImdXJsPXt1bmVzY2FwZWRscHVybH2QCwOYCwHICwHgCwGADAGiDBQqEgoQ5LSxAu61sQK1uLECrLqxAtoMEQoLEJDRs9no0IfN9QESAgEDqg0CVVPIDQHiDRMIx4LSruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRU4BL6w6X5oZ-b_XnYEwvQFQGYFgH4FgGAFwE&ae=1&ase=2&gclid=EAIaIQobChMIsOPXruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRUEAEYASABEgIuXPD_BwE&num=1&cid=CAQSOwAvHhf_SmU0WBkrFiAs44NSys9NnxFZEYBJ__CtJiiW-j9x69qzaS3p--Th8UUsdlcxj94GyUo7ynw8GAE&sig=AOD64_1K96bwgzCD2ZLWKkdX5nwdc3-0XQ&ctype=5&client=ca-pub-2937494567949278&nb=19&adurl=https://www.catherines.com/products/printed-fleece-coat-with-sherpa-lining/302417074.html%3FglCountry%3DUS%26glCurrency%3DUSD%26utm_source%3Dgoogle%26utm_medium%3Dps_pla%26utm_campaign%3D%5BADL%5D%2B%5BPLA%5D%2BPMAX%2B-%2BTops%26affiliate_id%3D049%26affiliate_location_id%3D01%26utm_adid%3Dautoag0000x16409384047%26gclid%3DEAIaIQobChMIsOPXruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRUEAEYASABEgIuXPD_BwE
https://www.googleadservices.com/pagead/aclk?nis=4&sa=L&ai=CwXRmDEODZbCtIIaQhQas45GgBaWn5t909Ojvg8QRkOb2gdYcEAEgt8jTR2DJjraJkKToD6ABptbV_gPIAQngAgCoAwHIA8sEqgSFA0_QvMZjAH_dE1zhXB9GgDYo2Vm0m_ts2VLTP-BvAA4XEtJvoT4QvipH3mOQA7tpRm3B5q3mWX0wrKGDGd_oV7BLR7nAutVaK-uFELX3gajXty6w94JV9ySsyJDxWsValhx4hCWS0bQlhCaG2LemqgHPLAFYwkeBk19OBBCm1XWdrfw5mJQlzNIfbf2lgsj6iNWFWFV7-letBf2GF1g52cMQVPh8coa_RFxHfa9a69AHoLH73KhBzeIN34ZL_inFtAfCKzemkgKyKrhVWhPDCmOvzi5RGHM3x4QYPAGP5lcYPmwyTX291YPpY5-n0IxrOzF9zUJxKpCYxi4Q_5d71mHxqbsgJrotVvo9asmQzx3pmgFteASxCHFB0jw5Oe4BGvUFSNLMYAeIDKkbW2ijFPiLRc6ljL1NKkOrZSzyXg8ZKAlSvWbCuaGbDP7XhxSmDB9rT0vjBRM3PIq1Tr-jIHoVhzM5iRiNOpykU-CnLAmx-7xXmy_9yk4TRDFfZgHzMRjvdDSrwASvlenTggTgBAGIBcnLpI49wAUF-gUGCCUQARgAoAYugAfCqaoBqAfZtrECqAeOzhuoB5PYG6gH7paxAqgH_p6xAqgHpr4bqAeaBqgH89EbqAeW2BuoB6qbsQKoB4OtsQKoB_-esQKoB9-fsQKoB8qpsQKoB-ulsQLYBwDACAHSCB8IgGEQARgdMgKKAjoEgECAQEi9_cE6WMnL0a7inoMDgAoDigrQAWh0dHBzOi8vdHJhY2tpbmcuZGVlcHNlYXJjaC5hZGx1Y2VudC5jb20vYWRsdWNlbnQvUmVkaXJlY3Rvcj9yZXRhaWxlcj1mdWxsYmVhdXR5JmFkbF9jaGFubmVsPWdvb2dsZW1peGVkJmFkbF9za3U9MzAyNDE3MDc0LUNBJmFkbF9rd2lkPWF1dG9hZzAwMDB4MTY0MDkzODQwNDcmYWRsX2RldmljZT1jJmxvY2F0aW9uPTkwMTY3OTImdXJsPXt1bmVzY2FwZWRscHVybH2QCwOYCwHICwHgCwGADAGiDBQqEgoQ5LSxAu61sQK1uLECrLqxAtoMEQoLEJDRs9no0IfN9QESAgEDqg0CVVPIDQHiDRMIx4LSruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRU4BL6w6X5oZ-b_XnYEwvQFQGYFgH4FgGAFwE&ae=1&ase=2&gclid=EAIaIQobChMIsOPXruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRUEAEYASABEgIuXPD_BwE&num=1&cid=CAQSOwAvHhf_SmU0WBkrFiAs44NSys9NnxFZEYBJ__CtJiiW-j9x69qzaS3p--Th8UUsdlcxj94GyUo7ynw8GAE&sig=AOD64_1K96bwgzCD2ZLWKkdX5nwdc3-0XQ&ctype=5&client=ca-pub-2937494567949278&nb=9&adurl=https://www.catherines.com/products/printed-fleece-coat-with-sherpa-lining/302417074.html%3FglCountry%3DUS%26glCurrency%3DUSD%26utm_source%3Dgoogle%26utm_medium%3Dps_pla%26utm_campaign%3D%5BADL%5D%2B%5BPLA%5D%2BPMAX%2B-%2BTops%26affiliate_id%3D049%26affiliate_location_id%3D01%26utm_adid%3Dautoag0000x16409384047%26gclid%3DEAIaIQobChMIsOPXruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRUEAEYASABEgIuXPD_BwE
https://www.googleadservices.com/pagead/aclk?nis=4&sa=L&ai=CS-7bDEODZbCtIIaQhQas45GgBaWn5t909Ojvg8QRkOb2gdYcEAEgt8jTR2DJjraJkKToD6ABptbV_gPIAQngAgCoAwHIA8sEqgSFA0_QvMZjAH_dE1zhXB9GgDYo2Vm0m_ts2VLTP-BvAA4XEtJvoT4QvipH3mOQA7tpRm3B5q3mWX0wrKGDGd_oV7BLR7nAutVaK-uFELX3gajXty6w94JV9ySsyJDxWsValhx4hCWS0bQlhCaG2LemqgHPLAFYwkeBk19OBBCm1XWdrfw5mJQlzNIfbf2lgsj6iNWFWFV7-letBf2GF1g52cMQVPh8coa_RFxHfa9a69AHoLH73KhBzeIN34ZL_inFtAfCKzemkgKyKrhVWhPDCmOvzi5RGHM3x4QYPAGP5lcYPmwyTX291YPpY5-n0IxrOzF9zUJxKpCYxi4Q_5d71mHxqbsgJrotVvo9asmQzx3pmgFteASxCHFB0jw5Oe4BGvUFSNLMYAeIDKkbW2ijFPiLRc6ljL1NKkOrZSzyXg8ZKAlSvWbCuaGbDP7XhxSmDB9rT0vjBRM3PIq1Tr-jIHoVhzM5iRiNOpykU-CnLAmx-7xXmy_9yk4TRDFfZgHzMRjvdDSrwASvlenTggTgBAGIBcnLpI49wAUF-gUGCCUQARgBoAYugAfCqaoBqAfZtrECqAeOzhuoB5PYG6gH7paxAqgH_p6xAqgHpr4bqAeaBqgH89EbqAeW2BuoB6qbsQKoB4OtsQKoB_-esQKoB9-fsQKoB8qpsQKoB-ulsQLYBwDACALSCB8IgGEQARgdMgKKAjoEgECAQEi9_cE6WMnL0a7inoMDgAoDigrQAWh0dHBzOi8vdHJhY2tpbmcuZGVlcHNlYXJjaC5hZGx1Y2VudC5jb20vYWRsdWNlbnQvUmVkaXJlY3Rvcj9yZXRhaWxlcj1mdWxsYmVhdXR5JmFkbF9jaGFubmVsPWdvb2dsZW1peGVkJmFkbF9za3U9MzAyMTI5NzQ4LUNBJmFkbF9rd2lkPWF1dG9hZzAwMDB4MTY0MDkzODQwNDcmYWRsX2RldmljZT1jJmxvY2F0aW9uPTkwMTY3OTImdXJsPXt1bmVzY2FwZWRscHVybH2QCwOYCwHICwHgCwGADAGiDBQqEgoQ5LSxAu61sQK1uLECrLqxAtoMEQoLEJDRs9no0IfN9QESAgEDqg0CVVPIDQHiDRMIx4LSruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRU4BLH5fjszN2y0BPYEwvQFQGYFgH4FgGAFwE&ae=1&ase=2&gclid=EAIaIQobChMIsOPXruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRUEAEYASACEgLp8PD_BwE&num=1&cid=CAQSOwAvHhf_SmU0WBkrFiAs44NSys9NnxFZEYBJ__CtJiiW-j9x69qzaS3p--Th8UUsdlcxj94GyUo7ynw8GAE&sig=AOD64_1CDnoS0nC_QElNgU4M5SvbbW97Cg&ctype=5&client=ca-pub-2937494567949278&nb=9&adurl=https://www.catherines.com/products/georgette-peasant-poncho/302129748.html%3FglCountry%3DUS%26glCurrency%3DUSD%26utm_source%3Dgoogle%26utm_medium%3Dps_pla%26utm_campaign%3D%5BADL%5D%2B%5BPLA%5D%2BPMAX%2B-%2BTops%26affiliate_id%3D049%26affiliate_location_id%3D01%26utm_adid%3Dautoag0000x16409384047%26gclid%3DEAIaIQobChMIsOPXruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRUEAEYASACEgLp8PD_BwE
https://www.googleadservices.com/pagead/aclk?nis=4&sa=L&ai=CSLJ0DEODZbCtIIaQhQas45GgBaWn5t909Ojvg8QRkOb2gdYcEAEgt8jTR2DJjraJkKToD6ABptbV_gPIAQngAgCoAwHIA8sEqgSFA0_QvMZjAH_dE1zhXB9GgDYo2Vm0m_ts2VLTP-BvAA4XEtJvoT4QvipH3mOQA7tpRm3B5q3mWX0wrKGDGd_oV7BLR7nAutVaK-uFELX3gajXty6w94JV9ySsyJDxWsValhx4hCWS0bQlhCaG2LemqgHPLAFYwkeBk19OBBCm1XWdrfw5mJQlzNIfbf2lgsj6iNWFWFV7-letBf2GF1g52cMQVPh8coa_RFxHfa9a69AHoLH73KhBzeIN34ZL_inFtAfCKzemkgKyKrhVWhPDCmOvzi5RGHM3x4QYPAGP5lcYPmwyTX291YPpY5-n0IxrOzF9zUJxKpCYxi4Q_5d71mHxqbsgJrotVvo9asmQzx3pmgFteASxCHFB0jw5Oe4BGvUFSNLMYAeIDKkbW2ijFPiLRc6ljL1NKkOrZSzyXg8ZKAlSvWbCuaGbDP7XhxSmDB9rT0vjBRM3PIq1Tr-jIHoVhzM5iRiNOpykU-CnLAmx-7xXmy_9yk4TRDFfZgHzMRjvdDSrwASvlenTggTgBAGIBcnLpI49wAUF-gUGCCUQARgCoAYugAfCqaoBqAfZtrECqAeOzhuoB5PYG6gH7paxAqgH_p6xAqgHpr4bqAeaBqgH89EbqAeW2BuoB6qbsQKoB4OtsQKoB_-esQKoB9-fsQKoB8qpsQKoB-ulsQLYBwDACAPSCB8IgGEQARgdMgKKAjoEgECAQEi9_cE6WMnL0a7inoMDgAoDigrQAWh0dHBzOi8vdHJhY2tpbmcuZGVlcHNlYXJjaC5hZGx1Y2VudC5jb20vYWRsdWNlbnQvUmVkaXJlY3Rvcj9yZXRhaWxlcj1mdWxsYmVhdXR5JmFkbF9jaGFubmVsPWdvb2dsZW1peGVkJmFkbF9za3U9MzAwNzIzNjkxLUNBJmFkbF9rd2lkPWF1dG9hZzAwMDB4MTY0MDkzODQwNDcmYWRsX2RldmljZT1jJmxvY2F0aW9uPTkwMTY3OTImdXJsPXt1bmVzY2FwZWRscHVybH2QCwOYCwHICwHgCwGADAGiDBQqEgoQ5LSxAu61sQK1uLECrLqxAtoMEQoLEJDRs9no0IfN9QESAgEDqg0CVVPIDQHiDRMIx4LSruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRU4BLWipfHy7GC8cQB2BML0BUBmBYB-BYBgBcB&ae=1&ase=2&gclid=EAIaIQobChMIsOPXruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRUEAEYASADEgKkrfD_BwE&num=1&cid=CAQSOwAvHhf_SmU0WBkrFiAs44NSys9NnxFZEYBJ__CtJiiW-j9x69qzaS3p--Th8UUsdlcxj94GyUo7ynw8GAE&sig=AOD64_2spcCpeEZvQEH-4WuzrWOWejkb9w&ctype=5&client=ca-pub-2937494567949278&nb=9&adurl=https://www.catherines.com/products/3-pack-sleeveless-tank/300723691.html%3FglCountry%3DUS%26glCurrency%3DUSD%26utm_source%3Dgoogle%26utm_medium%3Dps_pla%26utm_campaign%3D%5BADL%5D%2B%5BPLA%5D%2BPMAX%2B-%2BTops%26affiliate_id%3D049%26affiliate_location_id%3D01%26utm_adid%3Dautoag0000x16409384047%26gclid%3DEAIaIQobChMIsOPXruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRUEAEYASADEgKkrfD_BwE
https://www.googleadservices.com/pagead/aclk?nis=4&sa=L&ai=COpTADEODZbCtIIaQhQas45GgBaWn5t909Ojvg8QRkOb2gdYcEAEgt8jTR2DJjraJkKToD6ABptbV_gPIAQngAgCoAwHIA8sEqgSFA0_QvMZjAH_dE1zhXB9GgDYo2Vm0m_ts2VLTP-BvAA4XEtJvoT4QvipH3mOQA7tpRm3B5q3mWX0wrKGDGd_oV7BLR7nAutVaK-uFELX3gajXty6w94JV9ySsyJDxWsValhx4hCWS0bQlhCaG2LemqgHPLAFYwkeBk19OBBCm1XWdrfw5mJQlzNIfbf2lgsj6iNWFWFV7-letBf2GF1g52cMQVPh8coa_RFxHfa9a69AHoLH73KhBzeIN34ZL_inFtAfCKzemkgKyKrhVWhPDCmOvzi5RGHM3x4QYPAGP5lcYPmwyTX291YPpY5-n0IxrOzF9zUJxKpCYxi4Q_5d71mHxqbsgJrotVvo9asmQzx3pmgFteASxCHFB0jw5Oe4BGvUFSNLMYAeIDKkbW2ijFPiLRc6ljL1NKkOrZSzyXg8ZKAlSvWbCuaGbDP7XhxSmDB9rT0vjBRM3PIq1Tr-jIHoVhzM5iRiNOpykU-CnLAmx-7xXmy_9yk4TRDFfZgHzMRjvdDSrwASvlenTggTgBAGIBcnLpI49wAUF-gUGCCUQARgDoAYugAfCqaoBqAfZtrECqAeOzhuoB5PYG6gH7paxAqgH_p6xAqgHpr4bqAeaBqgH89EbqAeW2BuoB6qbsQKoB4OtsQKoB_-esQKoB9-fsQKoB8qpsQKoB-ulsQLYBwDACATSCB8IgGEQARgdMgKKAjoEgECAQEi9_cE6WMnL0a7inoMDgAoDigrQAWh0dHBzOi8vdHJhY2tpbmcuZGVlcHNlYXJjaC5hZGx1Y2VudC5jb20vYWRsdWNlbnQvUmVkaXJlY3Rvcj9yZXRhaWxlcj1mdWxsYmVhdXR5JmFkbF9jaGFubmVsPWdvb2dsZW1peGVkJmFkbF9za3U9MzAxNTc4MTA2LUNBJmFkbF9rd2lkPWF1dG9hZzAwMDB4MTY0MDkzODQwNDcmYWRsX2RldmljZT1jJmxvY2F0aW9uPTkwMTY3OTImdXJsPXt1bmVzY2FwZWRscHVybH2QCwOYCwHICwHgCwGADAGiDBQqEgoQ5LSxAu61sQK1uLECrLqxAtoMEQoLEJDRs9no0IfN9QESAgEDqg0CVVPIDQHiDRMIx4LSruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRU4BLPlZfC5cDGqrEB2BML0BUBmBYB-BYBgBcB&ae=1&ase=2&gclid=EAIaIQobChMIsOPXruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRUEAEYASAEEgLjBvD_BwE&num=1&cid=CAQSOwAvHhf_SmU0WBkrFiAs44NSys9NnxFZEYBJ__CtJiiW-j9x69qzaS3p--Th8UUsdlcxj94GyUo7ynw8GAE&sig=AOD64_0dXLvZW2YtOcJs1q2Ma3HKKhy5hg&ctype=5&client=ca-pub-2937494567949278&nb=9&adurl=https://www.catherines.com/products/tiered-floral-3-4-sleeve-tunic/301578106.html%3FglCountry%3DUS%26glCurrency%3DUSD%26utm_source%3Dgoogle%26utm_medium%3Dps_pla%26utm_campaign%3D%5BADL%5D%2B%5BPLA%5D%2BPMAX%2B-%2BTops%26affiliate_id%3D049%26affiliate_location_id%3D01%26utm_adid%3Dautoag0000x16409384047%26gclid%3DEAIaIQobChMIsOPXruKegwMVBkjBCh2scQRUEAEYASAEEgLjBvD_BwE
https://www.mlive.com/news/ann-arbor
https://www.mlive.com/
https://www.mlive.com/
https://www.mlive.com/
https://www.mlive.com/


A leaf blower with a two-cycle engine on a contractor's trailer in Ann Arbor on May 8, 2019. Ryan Stanton | The Ann Arbor News

By Ryan Stanton | ryanstanton@mlive.com

ANN ARBOR, MI — Ann Arbor officials have decided gasoline-fueled leaf blowers are noisy, polluting
machines and present health risks to people using them.

A new law to gradually phase out and ban them citywide is now officially approved after weeks of discussion.

City Council voted 10-0 Monday night, Dec. 18, to give final approval to the ordinance sponsored by Council
Members Jenn Cornell, Dharma Akmon and Jen Eyer.

During a public hearing before the vote, council members heard mixed feedback, including from one lawn care
contractor who expressed concerns the transition to electric leaf blowers by 2028 could cost his business
thousands of dollars.

The four-year timeline for phasing in the ban is to ensure it does not cause economic hardship, especially for
small businesses, said Cornell, D-5th Ward. IO

https://www.mlive.com/staff/ryanstanton/posts.html
http://a2gov.legistar.com/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=6417563&GUID=635BB369-5818-44FE-ABB3-74524A3B9E09&Options=&Search=


The Ann Arbor City Council meeting on Dec. 18, 2023. (Ryan Stanton | MLive.com) Ryan Stanton | The Ann Arbor News

The new ordinance allows leaf blowers that burn gasoline and create harmful emissions to be used only
seasonally from October through May for the next four years before they’re fully prohibited starting Jan. 1,
2028. That means an immediate summertime ban takes effect in 2024.

Could gas lawn mowers be next after Ann Arbor bans gas leaf blowers?

Once the year-round ban takes effect in 2028, there still are a few special exceptions in the ordinance.

Gas leaf blowers still can be used by contractors when doing street, sidewalk and other paving construction
work, or during emergencies to protect health, safety and property, as well as to restore property after an
emergency, such as to clear a walkway, driveway or street from debris following a storm.

Towed or wheeled turbine blowers powered by four-stroke internal combustion engines also still can be used
on recreational fields, golf courses and at public facilities.

John Callewaert, a member of the city’s Environmental Commission, said he wished the ban could be
implemented in two years, rather than four. It will benefit workers, neighbors, wildlife and the community
overall as Ann Arbor joins many other communities with similar ordinances, he said.

IO

https://www.mlive.com/news/ann-arbor/2023/12/could-gas-lawn-mowers-be-next-after-ann-arbor-bans-gas-leaf-blowers.html


The Ann Arbor City Council meeting on Dec. 18, 2023. (Ryan Stanton | MLive.com) Ryan Stanton | The Ann Arbor News

Former Council Member Joan Lowenstein expressed thanks to council for the ordinance, saying it helps protect
lawn care workers who will be “happy to not be abused by having to wear gasoline backpacks and be
endangered every day.”

The city took an initial step toward limiting use of gas leaf blowers in 2019 when council banned outdoor
maintenance equipment with two-cycle combustion engines, but that only applied downtown and still allowed
four-cycle engines.

Former Council Member Jeff Hayner, who supported the measure four years ago, spoke out Monday,
expressing doubt it has had much of an impact based on what he’s seen.

“That doesn’t mean we shouldn’t do it, but it didn’t seem to make a difference,” he said.

IO



The Ann Arbor City Council meeting on Dec. 18, 2023. (Ryan Stanton | MLive.com) Ryan Stanton | The Ann Arbor News

City officials said the new ordinance will be complaint-driven, meaning officers will respond when people
report complaints and issue warnings or tickets. The penalty fine is $100 for a first offense and $250 for
additional offenses.

Council approved a companion resolution Dec. 4 to launch a campaign to educate residents and businesses on
the transition to electric lawn equipment and to put any penalty fines collected for violations toward helping
low-income residents and small businesses purchase electric leaf blowers.

The resolution also calls for launching a bulk-buy program to support purchasing electric lawn equipment for
any interested residents and businesses.

Want more Ann Arbor-area news? Bookmark the local Ann Arbor news page or sign up for the free “3@3 Ann Arbor”
daily newsletter.

Stories by Ryan Stanton

16-story Ann Arbor high-rise with pool terrace to rise next to
downtown library

$14M project to widen Michigan Medicine bridge in Ann Arbor
moving forward IO

https://www.mlive.com/topic/local-aa/index.html
https://link.mlive.com/join/6fh/signup
https://www.mlive.com/staff/ryanstanton/posts.html
https://www.mlive.com/news/ann-arbor/2023/12/16-story-ann-arbor-high-rise-with-pool-terrace-to-rise-next-to-downtown-library.html
https://www.mlive.com/news/ann-arbor/2023/12/14m-project-to-widen-michigan-medicine-bridge-in-ann-arbor-moving-forward.html

	20210108 City Commission Agenda
	5A 20240108 CC Minutes (DRAFT) - 12-18-23
	Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

	5B 20240108 ACH AND WARRANT LIST 12.20.2023
	5C 20240108 warrant list 20240104
	5D 20240108 Museum Fees Amendment
	20240108 Museum Fees Adjustment.pdf
	2024 Birmingham Fee Schedule REVIEW.pdf
	Museum


	5E 20240108 Columbia Street Stop Signs
	ADPE3D.tmp
	Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner


	5F 20240108 - 479 S. Old Woodward -  air lease agreement - FULL - 01.03.23
	20240108 - 479 S. Old Woodward - Air Rights Lease Agreement MEMO - 12.28.23
	20240108 - 479 S. Old Woodward -  air lease agreement - Attachments
	A - Air Space Lease (01850189-4x7A449)
	B - Exhibit A - property description
	C -Final Site Plan Approved - 03.22.23
	D - Birmingham Tower Partners Balcony Appraisal Final


	5G 20240108 C. Rose Resignation Packet BoR
	Cynthia Rose Resignation Board of Review

	5H Redding_Road_Contract-Award_CC_Memo_updated_w_attachments
	20240103_Redding_Road_Contract_Award_CC_Memo
	01_Project_Maps
	02_Bid_Tab_9-23S
	03_HRC_Recommendation_Letter

	8A 20240108_Edgewood_HofN_CC_Memo_w_attachments
	8B 20240108 - Shirley and Arlington  - FULL 01.03.24 Updated 2
	20240108 - Shirley and Arlington  - Attachments
	20240108 - Shirley and Arlington  - Attachments
	1a - FIRE Dept - Arlington-Shirley Letter January 8, 2024
	1b - DPS - MMTB Shirley and Arlington Memo
	1c - MMTB Minutes (DRAFT) - 12-5-23
	1d1 -9.1 - xSite-Layout-N758-Layout-ExA'-East
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	1d2 - 9.2 - xSite-Layout-N758-Layout-ExA'-West
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	1d3 - Arlington and Shirley crosswalk improvements
	1e - LRP_Upcoming_Capital_Projects_Presentation
	2 - 20211025 - Unimproved Streets Policy Amendment - improvement procedure
	2a - Residential Street Width Standards
	2b - 3B - Complete Streets Resolution 07.11.2011
	2c - Pages from Multi-Modal Transportation Plan - Sidewalks
	3 - 2040 Master Plan - Chap 3 - Retain Neighborhood Quality
	4 - Sidewalk Maps - 2021
	5 -  Not MI 7.5 - Species Webinar Recording Available - bcowan@bhamgov.org - City of Birmingham MI Mail
	7 - Birmingham Prohibited Species List
	7.5 - Birmingham Approved Species List
	8 - Tree Updated Maps - Combined
	10.1 - Shirley between Lincoln & Brandon - Speed Data 11-17-23
	10.2 - Arlington between Maple & Shirley - Speed Data (2) 11-17-23
	11.1 - Shirley between Lincoln & Brandon - Avg Daily 11-17-23
	11.2 - Arlington between Maple & Shirley - Avg Daily (2) 11-17-23
	12 - Arlington & Shirley Parking Counts (1)
	16 - Resident survey letter
	16.5 - Shirley_Arlington_Resident_Meeting Slides
	17 - resident letters
	Arlington-Shirley Letter to MMTB, 10-27-23.
	Arlington-Shirley Letter to MMTB, 10-30-23.
	Arlington-Shirley Letter to MMTB, 11-1-23.
	Westwood Street Pavement Failure, 10-30-23.
	Jim Mirro Letter, 11-15-23

	18.1 - Survey Respondents
	18.2 - Survey responses
	117_Arlington
	188_Shirley _New
	188_Shirley
	218_Arlington
	226_Shirley
	230 Linden
	243_Arlington
	252 Shirley
	252_Linden
	269 Arlington
	269 Arlington_2
	280_Arlington_02
	288_Shirley
	300_Shirley
	345_Shirley
	361_Shirley
	381_Shirley
	421_Arlington
	463_Arlington
	487_Arlington
	550_Shirley
	577_Arlington
	585_Shirley
	600_Arlington
	640_Shirley
	645_Arlington
	708_Shirely
	730_Arlington
	735_Shirley
	737_Arlington
	770_Shirley
	776_Arlington
	811_Shirley
	822_Shirley
	843_Arlington
	860 Arlington (2)
	880_Shirley
	881_Arlington
	905_Shirley
	924_Alrington
	968_Arlington
	970_Shirley
	992 Arlington
	1000_Shirley
	1420_West_Lincoln

	19.3 - xSite-Layout-N758-Layout-ExB-East
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	19.4 - xSite-Layout-N758-Layout-ExB-West
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	19.5 - xSite-Layout-N758-Layout-ExC-East
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	19.6 - xSite-Layout-N758-Layout-ExC-West
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1





	8C 20240108 - Oakland Ave Construction - FULL - 01.03.24
	20240108 Oakland Ave Intersection - MEMO - 12.28.23 DRAFT
	20240108 - Oakland Ave Attachments
	1 - 23_1023_Concept Rendering
	2 - CC Agenda 2019
	3 - CC Minutes - Postponement
	4 - CC_2019 09 23 Minutes - Approval


	8E1 20240108 Speed Mitigation Report
	WHAT IS TRAFFIC CALMING?
	Traffic calming is a method of reducing vehicle speeds through physical treatment of a roadway to alter motorist's behaviors. Traffic calming can also be utilized to improve streetscapes and the conditions for people living, walking, and biking in the...
	There are plenty of national resources available for those who want to learn more about traffic calming and methods that are available. These resources include, but are not limited to...

	EXISTING CONDITIONS IN BIRMINGHAM
	Additional background regarding streets in Birmingham...

	THE CITY’S CURRENT PROCESS
	TRAFFIC CALMING MEASURES USED BY THE CITY

	11A1 20240108 CABLE OF INTENTION - PRE-APPT
	11A2 20240108 BOR NOTICE OF INTENTION - PRE-APPT
	11A3 20240108 NOTICE OF INTENTION-PARKS & REC
	20240108 IO Ann Arbor approves citywide ban on gas leaf blowers - mlive.com



